
Page 1 of 3 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

DECEMBER 18, 2024 - 1:30 PM

Members of the public who wish to attend in person may do so at: 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor

Petaluma, CA 94954

The SMART Board of Directors will facilitate using a dual format with listening and participation 
available through Zoom and in-person. SMART provides several remote methods for viewing the 
SMART Board Meetings and providing Public Comment. 

HOW TO WATCH THE LIVE MEETING USING THE ZOOM
https://sonomamarintrain-org.zoom.us/j/88227285065?pwd=SWQ4eDBMcTlHZUgvVndIYlhHTzJPUT09
Webinar ID: 882 2728 5065
Passcode: 019592

TELECONFERENCE
Members of the public wishing to participate via teleconference can do so by dialing in the following 
number the day of the meeting: (669) 900-9128; Access Code: 882 2728 5065; Passcode: 019592. 

WATCH THE BOARD MEETING VIA LIVESTREAM
You are able to view live broadcasts of Board meetings online here: 
https://www.sonomamarintrain.org/meetings To view the meeting, select “View Event” at the time 
of the meeting.

HOW TO PROVIDE COMMENTS ON AGENDA ITEMS 
Prior To Meeting: Technology limitations may limit the ability to receive verbal public comments 
during the meeting. If you wish to make a comment you are strongly encouraged to please submit 
your comment to Board@SonomaMarinTrain.org by 5:00 PM on Tuesday, December 17, 2024.  

During the Meeting: The SMART Board Chair will open the floor for public comment during the Public 
Comment period on the agenda. Please check and test your computer settings so that your audio 
speaker and microphones are functioning. Speakers are asked to limit their comments to two (2) 
minutes. The amount of time allocated for comments during the meeting may vary at the 
Chairperson’s discretion depending on the number of speakers and length of the agenda. 

Page 1 of 324



Page 2 of 3 

     BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA

      DECEMBER 18, 2024 – 1:30 PM
Members of the public who wish to attend in person may do so at: 

5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor
Petaluma, CA 94954

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of the November 20, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes

3. Board Member Announcements

4. General Manager’s Report

5. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items

Consent Calendar
6a. Accept 2025 Board of Directors Meeting Schedule
6b. Accept Monthly Ridership Report – November 2024
6c. Approve Monthly Financial Status Report – October 2024
6d. Accept the Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Investment Report
6e. Authorize the General Manager to Execute Contract Amendment No. 5 with Nossaman, LLP for 

an amount of $200,000 to provide specialized legal support on an as-needed basis

Regular Calendar
7. Review and Accept SMART’s Fiscal Year 2023-24 Annual Financial Report and Single Audit –

Presented by Chief Financial Officer, Heather McKillop

8. Fiscal Year 2024 Budget to Actual Comparison – Presented by Chief Financial Officer, Heather
McKillop

9. Adopt a Resolution to Amend the Fiscal Year 2025 Adopted Budget to increase expenditure
authority and modify the position authorization for Freight (Budget Amendment #9) –
Presented by Chief Financial Officer, Heather McKillop

10. Authorize the General Manager to execute Contract No. OP-SV-24-013 with GrayMar
Environmental Services, LLC to provide as-needed removal, remediation, and disposal of
hazardous materials, including biohazardous materials, on an emergency or non-emergency
basis in an amount not-to-exceed $227,595 – Presented by Chief Operating Officer, Marc Bader

11. Adoption of the Fiscal Year 2025 - 2030 Strategic Plan – Presented by Planning Manager, Emily
Betts

Page 2 of 324



Page 3 of 3 

Closed Session 
12. Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957; Public Employee Performance

Evaluation; Title: General Manager

13. Report Out Closed Session

14. Next Board of Directors Meeting, January 15, 2025 – 1:30 PM – 5401 Old Redwood Highway,
1st Floor, Petaluma, CA  94954

15. Adjournment
______ _____ ________________________ 

ACCOMODATIONS:  
Public participation is solicited without regard to race, color, national origin, age, sex, gender identity, religion, disability or family status. Upon request, 
SMART will provide for written agenda materials in appropriate alternative formats, disability-related modification or other accommodation, to enable 
individuals to participate in and provide comments at/related to public meetings. Please submit a request, including your name, phone number and/or 
email address, and a description of the modification, accommodation, service, or alternative format requested at least two (2) days before the 
meeting.  Requests should be emailed to Leticia Rosas, Clerk of the Board at lrosas@sonomamarintrain.org or submitted by phone at (707) 794-3072. 
Requests made by mail SMART’s, 5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200, Petaluma, CA 94954 must be received at least two days before the meeting. 
Requests will be granted whenever possible and resolved in favor of accessibility.  

Page 3 of 324



Page 1 of 8 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES

NOVEMBER 20, 2024, 2024 – 1:30 PM
5401 Old Redwood Highway, 1st Floor

Petaluma, CA 94954

1. Call to Order

Chair Lucan called the meeting to order at 1:31pm. Directors Bagby, Coursey, Farac, Fudge,
Garbarino, Pahre, and Rogers was present. Directors Rabbitt and Sackett absent; Directors Colin
and Paulson arrived later.

Director Colin joined 1:32pm

Directors Colin and Farac were unable to attend in person due to a verified “Just Cause” and
requested to participate remotely via Zoom.  A roll call vote was held to approve the Directors
attendance.  MOTION: Director Pahre motion to approve and Director Rogers second. The motion 
carried 9-0 (Directors Rabbitt and Sackett absent; Director Paulson joined later)

2. Approval of the October 16, 2024, Board Meeting

MOTION: Director Garbarino moved approval of the October 16, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes as
presented. Vice Chair Bagby second. The motion carried 9-0 (Directors Rabbitt and Sackett
absent; Director Paulson joined later)

3. Board Members Announcements

Chair Lucan stated that today’s is Director Rogers last meeting with SMART and congratulated
him on his new role for State Assembly.

Director Garbarino congratulated Director Rogers and very excited for his new role.

Director Pahre congratulated Director Rogers and his family for his new role.

Director Fudge stated that she is very happy to have a SMART supporter at the State Assembly.

Page 4 of 324



Page 2 of 8 

Vice Chair Bagby stated that she is very proud of Director Rogers for taking the next step to 
represent the region. 

Director Coursey congratulated Director Rogers for his new role. 

Director Rogers stated that it has been a bittersweet week as he attends his last meetings, since 
we will be sworn in on December 2, 2024.  He is excited to continue to serve the public. He 
thanked the Board and SMART staff for the great experience. 

Steve Birdlebough is happy to hear that Director Rogers will continue to support SMART in his 
new role.  

4. Citizen’s Oversight Committee Announcement – Presented by Chair, Dani Sheehan-Meyer

COC Chair Sheehan-Meyer stated that COC had a productive meeting on November 13th with
presentations by Emily Betts. The committee asked many questions related to the presentations.
Communications and Marketing Manager, Julia Gonzales updated the COC members on the
Holiday Express train and toy drive.

SMART continues to make progress with the construction of the new stations, pathway, and
Windsor extension. She congratulated SMART for also receiving grant funds to continue
construction.

She said that the COC has met 4 times in 2024 and 3 seats on the COC are up for
new/reappointments.

Lastly, the COC recommends the Board accept the Fiscal Year 2025-30 Strategic Plan.

5. General Manager’s Report

General Manager Cumins provided an overview on the following:
Contracts/Procurement over $100k
Ridership Update
Healdsburg Extension Update
Construction Update
Pathway Wayfinding
Real-Time Information Display
Announcements
SMART Awards
Quarterly Awards
Questions

Contract/Procurement over $100k 
Precision Wireless Service Contract Agreement No. OP-PS-21-003 will provide for
maintenance and technical support for SMART’s Land Mobile Radio System in an amount not-
to-exceed $30,000 and total contract amount of $150,000.

Page 5 of 324



Page 3 of 8 

Knorr Brake Company, LLC Contract Award No. OP-SV-24-006 will provide for overhauling and
upgrading 23 Master Controller unites onboard the trains in an amount not-to-exceed
$192,000.

Ridership Update 
September ridership 96,599; 36% higher than October 2023
October Average Weekday ridership: 3,638; 32% over October 2023
November Average Weekday ridership: 3467; 29% over November 2023
Ridership Recovery: SMART continues to lead the Bay Area in ridership recovery. In
September 2024 SMART was at 147% from September 2019
September 2024 NTD:  92,855 boardings
Passenger Miles traveled (September 2024): 2M passenger miles; 26% of total and highest in
Marin/Sonoma
September Pathway trips: 80,610; 25% higher over October 2023

Healdsburg Extension Update 
October 2024 - SMART Healdsburg Project inclusion Plan Bay Area 2050 – Amendment
recommended for approval by the committee to full MTC Commission for consideration on
October 23rd.  State of California will release Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program Grant
award announcement later this month.
November 2024 - Caltrans and MTC submitting Solutions for Congested Corridors Program
grant for SMART Extension to Healdsburg (Award - May/June 2025). SMART submitting Local
Partnership Program Competitive grant for SMART Extension to Healdsburg (Award –
May/June 2025).
Two additional grants pending to close the gap between Healdsburg and Windsor: 1)
Solutions for Congested Corridors for $56M and 2) Local Partnership Program for $25M.

Construction Update 
The grade crossings at Schellville were repaired. 
Windsor Extension  

Roundabout photo
Hydroseeding for winter
Wiring grade crossings warning devices

Petaluma: 
Pathway paving
Petaluma North Station Parking lot construction
Installing parking lot light pole foundation
Penngrove: Pathway Retaining Wall Near Main Street

Pathway:  McInnis Pathway paving 

SMART Pathway Wayfinding 
Pathway wayfinding is being installed in SMART’s right of way through the end of December
In early 2025, signs will be installed on Pathway that is not in SMART’s right of way
Signs have been installed in Larkspur, San Rafael, Novato, Petaluma, Cotati, Rohnert Park and
Santa Rosa
Additional sign types will be installed in the coming weeks along the Pathway

Page 6 of 324



Page 4 of 8 

Real-Time Information Display 
Real-Time Information Display installation will be complete at all stations by mid-December
The left side of the screen shows real-time train departures, connecting services, and rider
alerts
The right side of the screen shows service updates and other communications
Each display includes a button with a text-to-speech function for visually impaired users

Announcement 
McInnis Parkway Event – The grand opening has been rescheduled to Saturday, January 25, 2025, 
at 11:00am. The postponement ensures the safety and enjoyment of all attendees in a more 
favorable weather condition.  

Holiday Express & Transit Toy Drive - The toy drive is scheduled for Saturday, December 7, 2024. 
The public is encouraged to bring a new unwrapped toy and ride SMART for free. 

Full System Closure - The full system closure is scheduled for December 14 and 15, 2024. 
Communications and Marketing have launched advance notification for riders 

General Manager Cumins announced that Matt Stevens will be retiring at the end of the year. 
He acknowledged his incredible career and contributions to the SMART Family.  He invited the 
public and members of the board to join his celebration on Wednesday, December 11, 2024, from 
3:00-5:00pm.  

SMART Awards 
SMART received two awards: 1) Excellence in Construction Award for the Petaluma North Project 
and 2) 2024 Annual Achievement of Excellence in Procurement. 

Employees of the Quarter 
General Manager Cumins announced 2024 Employees of the Quarter 3 winners: 
Nicole Masters, Procurement Technician (Administration/Finance Division) 
Noel Olvera, Track Maintainer (Operations Maintenance of Way Division) 
Ethan Jackson, Engineer-Conductor (Operations Transportation Division) 
Adam Davis, Inventory and Parts Clerk (Operations Vehicle Maintenance Division) 
Debbie Ternes, Administrative Assistant (Freight Division) 

Comments 
Mr. Stevens stated that it has been an honor to have a career at SMART. He is looking forward to 
retirement and will continue to support SMART.  The SMART train has become a game changer 
and will continue to improve the quality of life for many people.  

Dani Sheehan- Meyers congratulated Matt Stevens for his retirement. 

6. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items

None

Page 7 of 324



Page 5 of 8 

 
7. Consent  

a. Accept Monthly Ridership Report – October 2024 
b. Approve Monthly Financial Status Report – September 2024 
c. Authorize the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 6 to Contract No. OT-PS-16-004 

with Masabi, LLC in an amount of $67,750 for a not-to-exceed amount of $563,170 
d. Authorize the General Manager to execute Amendment No. 2 to Contract No. FR-SV-22-009 

with Summit Signal, Inc.  in an amount of $93,240 for a total not-to-exceed amount of 
$244,824 

 
Chair Lucan asked for Board and public comments on the proposed Consent Agenda. 
 
MOTION: Director Rogers moved approval of Consent Agenda as presented. Director Fudge 
second. The motion carried 9-0 (Directors Rabbitt and Sackett absent; Director Paulson joined 
later) 
  
Director Paulson joined 2:06pm 
 

8. Adopt a Resolution to Authorize the General Manager to execute Sole-Source Contract No. OP-SV-
24-007 with Knorr Brake Company LLC to perform railcar air brake and air supply unit overhaul 
services in the amount-not to-exceed $1,803,664 – Presented by Chief Operating Officer, Marc 
Bader  
 
Chief Operating Officer Marc Bader stated that Contract No. OP-SV-24-007 with Knorr Brake 
Company, LLC is to perform railcar air brake and air supply unit overhaul services. 
 
This contract will provide the following: disassembly and cleaning of components, replacing 
consumables and preselected material per the brake overhaul requirements, condition 
inspection of all not-kit parts prior to re-use and replacement based on inspection findings, 
reassembly utilizing new OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) wear components, testing, and 
final inspection. 
 
Federal Regulations require the train air brake systems to be inspected and overhauled every five 
years. Knorr Brake Company, LLC was the original design-builder for the specialized brake systems 
on SMART’s Diesel Multiple Units and is the only authorized provider to perform these required 
overhaul services.   
 
SMART issued a public Notice of Intent to Award a Noncompetitive, Negotiated Contract to Knorr 
Brake Company for these services and invited vendors to respond back if in fact they were able 
to fulfill this need. No responses were received by any other vendor and SMART proceeded with 
successfully negotiating a contract with Knorr Brake Company, LLC.      
 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the findings and authorize the General Manager to 
execute sole-source Contract No. OP-SV-24-007 with Knorr Brake Company LLC for a not-to-
exceed amount of $1,803,664 to perform the air brake system overhaul services. 
 
 

Page 8 of 324



Page 6 of 8 

Comments 
Director Pahre asked how often they are inspected.  Mr. Bader responded that they are internally 
inspected daily and required to be shipped. 
 
Chair Lucan stated that a vote is required to accept Director Paulson via Zoom. Clerk of the Board 
Ms. Rosas asked for a motion to accept Director Paulson to participate remotely via Zoom due to 
a verified “Just Cause”.  MOTION: Director Bagby motion to approve and Director Rogers second. 
The motion carried 10-0 (Directors Rabbitt and Sackett absent). 
 
MOTION: Director Pahre moved to Adopt a Resolution to Authorize the General Manager to 
execute Sole-Source Contract No. OP-SV-24-007 with Knorr Brake Company LLC to perform railcar 
air brake and air supply unit overhaul services in the amount-not to-exceed $1,803,664 as 
presented. Director Coursey second. The motion carried 10-0 (Directors Rabbitt and Sackett 
absent). 
 

9. Marin-Sonoma Coordinated Transit Service Plan (MASCOTS) Update – Presented by Planning 
Manager, Emily Betts 
 
Planning Manager, Emily Betts provided a presentation which is located on SMART’s website. 
Highlights include: 
 

  MASCOTS Introduction and Key Findings  
 Outline 
 Why MASCOTS 
 MASCOTS Purpose and Key Questions 
 MASCOTS Approach and Outcomes 
 MASCOTS Process 
 Key Findings: Travel Patterns 
 SMART has changed mobility between Marin and Sonoma Counties 
 GGT Service Effectiveness across GG Bridge 
 Ferries carry the majority of riders between Marin County and San Francisco 
 Sonoma County and Sonoma to Marin 
 Marin County 
 Next Steps 

 
Comments 
Director Coursey acknowledged the incredible work for this project. He asked if this is for the bus 
system to make the changes to build on the ferry and train.  Ms. Betts responded that since we 
are not able to make these stations more accessible for the first and last mile services, we need 
look at how to make that improvement. 
 
Director Pahre said that Golden Gate Bridge Transit system is losing ridership and over the next 
4 years you will see some changes. 
 
Vice Chair Bagby said that it is a tough time for transit all around. The analysis shows how 
interconnected and interdependent the transit system is. This is an important study because 

Page 9 of 324



Page 7 of 8 

commute and work patterns have changed drastically. It is important for all transit agencies  to 
be flexible and willing to adjust schedule  
 
Chair Lucan asked if connections into San Francisco from the San Rafael depot being considered.  
Ms. Betts responded that SMART is working on that and is the project of the MASCOTS. 
 
Jack Swearengen asked who the lead agency for this study and who asked SMART to participate. 
 
Steve Birdlebough stated that this a wonderful project and it will be constantly changing. There 
are 27 transit agencies in the region that need to work together. 
 
General Manager Cumins stated that SMART and transit operators in Marin County and Sonoma 
County participate in the MASCOTS.  The MASCOTS is a multi-agency planning effort to 
comprehensively analyze transit service in the Highway 101 corridor.  
 

10. Draft Fiscal Year 2025 – Fiscal Year 2030 Strategic Plan – Presented by Planning Manager, Emily 
Betts 
 
Planning Manager, Emily Betts provided a PowerPoint presentation, which is located on SMART’s 
website. Highlights include: 

 SMART Strategic Plan  
 2024 Strategic Plan Process 
 Vision, Mission, and Value 
 Focus Areas and Goals 
 Strategies and Actions 
 Funding Implementation 
 2024 Strategic Plan Timeline 
 Draft Documents 
 Questions and Feedback 

 
Comments 
Director Fudge asked if the COC received the comments from WTB-TAM. Clerk of the Board Ms. 
Rosas responded that WTB-TAM submitted comments to the COC Members and the Board of 
Directors. They submitted to the Board of Directors early due to a planned vacation. 
 
General Manager Cumins stated that he is concerned of over committing and not being able to 
deliver and this is an ambitious Plan.  
 
Director Garbarino stated that it is a comprehensive plan and well done. 
 
Director Pahre asked if staff plans to meet with WTB-TAM to discuss the comments submitted. 
General Manager Cumins responded that he will be happy to meet. 
 
Director Colin stated that we have wrestled with prioritization within our agencies. Perhaps there 
is way to communicate that in the plan because she believes it is important. 
 

Page 10 of 324



Page 8 of 8 

Patrick Seidler thanked the Board and SMART staff for continuing to make progress on the 
pathway. He has been participating on the SMART project since 2002 and this the best Strategic 
Plan process that has been undertaken in the entire length of SMART.  He would like staff to 
consider the segments in Exhibit E. 

Warren Wells stated that this is an impressive document and commended the staff for their 
attention and vision. They will be submitting their comments via letter regarding the plan. They 
are impressed by the quality of this document and look forward to working with SMART. 

Lastly, Chair Lucan thanked the members of the public that have submitted letters that are 
continuing to provide comment. That comment window is open until November 30, 2024.  

11. Next Regular Meeting Board of Directors, December 18, 2024 – 1:30 PM – 5401 Old Redwood
Highway, 1st Floor, Petaluma, CA  94954

12. Adjournment – Meeting adjourned 2:54pm

Respectfully submitted,

Leticia Rosas 
Clerk of the Board 

Approved on:  ____________ 

Page 11 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 6a

December 18, 2024

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: 2025 Regular Board of Directors Meeting Schedule

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Approve Board of Director meeting schedule. 

SUMMARY:  
The Board shall convene in regular meetings.  Unless otherwise directed by 
the Board, the Board shall hold a public meeting on the third Wednesday of 
each month. All meetings are scheduled to be held at 1:30 pm.  

2025 Regular Board of Directors 
Meeting Schedule
January 15, 2025

February 19, 2025
March 19, 2025
April 16, 2025

May 7, 2025 (Budget Workshop)
May 21, 2025
June 18, 2025
July 16, 2025

August 20, 2025
September 17, 2025

October 15, 2025
November 19, 2025
December 17, 2025

Please check the posted Agenda for confirmed meeting date, time, and 
location as they are subject to change. 

Very truly yours,

    /s/
Leticia Rosas 
Clerk of the Board

Page 12 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 6b 

December 18, 2024

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Monthly Ridership Report – November 2024 

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Accept Monthly Ridership Report

SUMMARY:
We are presenting the monthly ridership report for activity for the month of 
November 2024. This report shows trends in ridership for SMART by tracking total
riders, Average Weekday riders, and Average Saturday riders, Average 
Sunday/Holiday riders, as well as bicycles and mobility devices on board the trains. 
The report also includes total users counted on the SMART Pathway for the month, 
and total riders on the SMART Connect shuttles.

With the transition to the Automatic Passenger Counter (APC) in October 2022, 
SMART has a highly accurate method of tracking boardings and alightings at stations 
that does not depend on manual counts by the conductors. The APC system has been 
tested and validated at a 99% accuracy level and has been certified for passenger 
count use by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). Both APC-based ridership and 
fare-based collection rider counts are shown in the attached report to give a full 
picture of ridership. APC-based ridership captures all riders, including riders with 
passes who neglect to tag on or off, riders who fail to activate their mobile app 
tickets, as well as categories of riders such as children under five years old.

This report compares the most recent month to the same month during the prior 
year, as is standard industry practice for tracking trends over time. These reports 
also note relevant details associated with fare program discount usage and trends in 
riders bringing bicycles onboard as well as riders who use mobility devices.

SMART’s ridership data through November 2024 is posted on the SMART website 
(https://sonomamarintrain.org/RidershipReports).  

FISCAL IMPACT: None

REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance ___/s/______ [ x ] Counsel _____/s/_____

Respectfully,

/s/
Emily Betts
Planning Manager

Attachment(s):  Monthly Ridership Report – November 2024 Page 13 of 324



Page 14 of 324



Page 15 of 324



Page 16 of 324



Page 17 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 6c

December 18, 2024

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT:  Monthly Financial Status

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Consent Item

SUMMARY:  

This report provides information for the first (5) five months of Fiscal 
Year (FY) 2025.  This information includes the Board Adopted Budget 
and Budget Amendment #8.    

Budgeted revenues and actual expenditures for both passenger rail 
and freight are provided in separate charts in the attached document. 
The actual column reflects revenues and expenditures for the first (5) 
five months of FY 2025 (July – October).  In addition, for passenger 
rail, we have shown more detail regarding sales tax and fare revenues 
to show current and comparative information over the last five years
(FY 2021 – FY 2025).   

Information on the approved budget, actual expenditures, and 
remaining budget have been provided.  Please keep in mind that 
expenditures do not always occur on a straight-line basis, many large 
expenditures such as debt service only occur on specific intervals.   

We have also included information regarding SMART’s investment 
policy, where our funds are being held, and how much is currently 
being held.  In addition, we have shown the current obligations, 
reserves, and fund balance requirements for FY 2025.  

Sincerely,
  /s/
Heather McKillop
Chief Financial Officer

Page 18 of 324



Attachment(s): 
1) Monthly Financial Status Report
2) Contract Summary Report

Page 19 of 324



1 

MONTHLY FINANCIAL STATUS
October 2024

PASSENGER REVENUES

 FY 2024-25 
Approved Budget + 

Amendments #1 - #8 Actual
 Amount Over / 
(Under) Budget 

Revenues

Passenger Rail

Sales/Use Taxes 50,426,000$            7,443,475$         (42,982,525)$      

Interest and Lease 
Earnings 1,979,636$              1,143,155$         (836,481)$           

Miscellaneous/ Other 
Revenue 295,921$ 136,129$            (159,792)$           

Passenger Fares 2,215,290$              775,742$            (1,439,548)$        

Parking Fares 11,400$ 5,481$ (5,919)$               

Shuttle Fares 1,200$ 3,959$ 2,759$

State Grants 54,679,307$            -$ (54,679,307)$      

Federal Funds 8,332,676$              -$ (8,332,676)$        

Other Governments 3,305,915$              -$ (3,305,915)$        

Passenger Rail 121,247,345$          9,507,941$         (111,739,404)$    

Page 20 of 324



2 

Measure Q Sales Tax
Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 

Fiscal Year 2021-2025 Net Sales Tax Comparison
(by Quarter)

Time Period July - Sept. Oct - Dec. Jan. - March April - June

orecasted Sales Tax 3,900,000$   12,500,000$   12,600,000$   21,426,000$   
Actual 3,853,923$   3,589,552$     
Difference (46,077)$       (8,910,448)$   (12,600,000)$ (21,426,000)$ 

Page 21 of 324



3 

Fiscal Year 2021-2025 Cumulative Sales Tax Comparison

Page 22 of 324



4 

Fiscal Year 2021-2025 Fare Revenue Comparison

Fiscal Year 2021-2025 Monthly Fare Revenue Comparison

Page 23 of 324



5 

PASSENGER EXPENDITURES 

 FY 2024-25 
Approved Budget 

+ Amendments
#1 - #8 Actual

 Amount Over / 
(Under) Budget 

Passenger Expenditures

Administration

Salaries & Benefits 6,560,493$           2,104,910$      (4,455,583)$         

Services & Supplies 11,187,386$         2,508,034$      (8,679,352)$         

Administration Subtotal 17,747,879$         4,612,944$      (13,134,935)$       

Operations

Salaries & Benefits 18,782,237$         5,812,798$      (12,969,439)$       

Services & Supplies 7,453,524$           1,340,327$      (6,113,197)$         

Operations Subtotal 26,235,761$         7,153,125$      (19,082,636)$       

Capital

Salaries & Benefits 1,834,833$           348,708$         (1,486,125)$         

Services & Supplies 4,157,170$           345,973$         (3,811,197)$         

Capital Subtotal 5,992,003$           694,681$         (5,297,322)$         

Total Passenger Expenditures 49,975,643$         12,460,750$    (37,514,893)$       

Passenger (Capitalized) Expenditures

Facilities 47,152,112$         31,487,090$    (15,665,022)$       

Infrastructure 2,580,324$           1,636,077$      (944,247)$            

Equipment 2,725,605$           23,582$           (2,702,023)$         

Nonrevenue vehicles 1,037,906$           400,875$         (637,031)$            

Revenue vehicles -$  -$  

Land 1,307,750$           1,313,032$      5,282$  

Other Governments 1,293,812$           429,932$         (863,880)$            

Total Passenger (Capitalized) Expenditures 56,097,510$         35,290,588$    (20,806,922)$       

Passenger Expenditures + Capitalized 106,073,153$       47,751,338$    (58,321,815)$       

Page 24 of 324



6 

FREIGHT REVENUES 

 FY 2024-25 Approved 
Budget + 

Amendments #1 - #8 Actual
 Amount Over / 
(Under) Budget 

Revenues

Freight 

State Operating/ 
Capital Grant (42341) 393,549$  (393,549)$            

State Shortline Grant 399,776$  (399,776)$            

Freight Movement Fees 700,000$  263,790$         (436,210)$            

Leases 270,000$  52,796$           (217,204)$            

Freight Storage 104,800$  40,762$           (64,038)$              

45(g) Tax Credit & 
Misc. Revenues 593,000$  250,580$         (342,420)$            

Freight 2,461,125$  607,928$         1,853,197$          

Page 25 of 324



7 

FREIGHT EXPENDITURES 

 FY 2024-25 
Approved Budget 

+ Amendments
#1 - #8 Actual

 Amount Over 
/ (Under) 
Budget 

Freight Expenditures

Administration

Salaries & Benefits -$  -$  -$  

Services & Supplies -$  -$  -$  

Administration Subtotal -$  -$  -$  

Operations

Salaries & Benefits 870,099$              243,867$         (626,232)$        

Services & Supplies 1,742,478$           212,433$         (1,530,045)$     

Operations Subtotal 2,612,577$           456,300$         (2,156,277)$     

Capital

Salaries & Benefits -$  -$  -$  

Services & Supplies -$  -$  -$  

Capital Subtotal -$  -$  -$  

Total Freight Expenditures 2,612,577$           456,300$         (2,156,277)$     

Freight (Capitalized) Expenditures

Facilities -$  -$  

Infrastructure -$  -$  

Equipment -$  -$  

Nonrevenue vehicles -$  -$  

Revenue vehicles -$  -$  

Land -$  -$  

-$  -$  

Total Freight (Capitalized) Expenditures -$  -$  -$  

Freight Expenditures + Capitalized 2,612,577$           456,300$         (2,156,277)$     

Page 26 of 324



8 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Capital Project Report Oct-24

Total Project 
Budget

Expended in 
Prior 

Fiscal Years

Budgeted in 
FY25

Remaining to be 
Budgeted in Future 

Years
Project Status

Extension: Windsor Civil 55,560,845$    37,217,067$ 18,343,778$     -$  
Under construction. Action 
pending in Amended Budget to 
reduce FY25 Budget amount.

Extension: Windsor Systems 18,102,142$    8,392,880$    9,709,262$       -$  Under construction.

Extension: Windsor Pedestrian 
Undercrossing

4,300,000$      2,127,124$    2,172,876$       -$  Under construction as part of the 
Windsor Extension project.

Town of Windsor Util ity Crossing 407,100$          -$                407,100$           -$  Under construction as part of the 
Windsor Extension project.

Extension: Healdsburg 268,278,000$  -$                3,250,000$       265,028,000$           
Preparation for progressive design-
build process beginning early this 
fiscal year.

Station: Petaluma North 14,416,187$    5,131,792$    9,284,395$       -$  
Construction is in progress. Action 
pending in Amended Budget to 
reduce FY25 Budget amount.

SGR: McDowell Grade Crossing 4,005,892$      1,521,842$    2,484,050$       -$  Construction is in progress.

City of Petaluma North McDowell 
Paving Project

886,712$          174,760$       711,953$           -$  Construction is in progress.

Pathway: Golf Course to Bellevue 
and Southpoint to Penngrove 
Construction

20,814,815$    3,947,547$    16,847,271$     19,997$  Construction is in progress.

Pathway: Design for 7 Segments in 
Marin and Sonoma Counties

3,936,755$      2,408,679$    1,304,423$       223,653$  
Conducting engineering design and 
pursuing environmental permits to 
prepare for construction.

Pathway: Design for 5 Segments in 
Marin County 6,323,781$      1,663,579$    4,038,421$       621,781$  

Conducting engineering design and 
pursuing environmental permits to 
prepare for construction.

Pathway: Construction for Mcinnis 
to Smith Ranch

4,841,108$      1,645,339$    3,073,668$       122,101$  Under construction.

Pathway: Joe Rodota Trail 523,862$          56,108$         465,985$           1,769$  Construction planned to start in 
FY25.

City of Santa Rosa W. 3rd Street 
Grade Crossing Design

153,855$          122,719$       13,987$             17,149$  Currently in design.

Pathway: Hanna Ranch to Vintage 6,084,521$      -$                200,000$           5,884,521$                Currently in design and permitting. 

Pathway: Guernevil le Rd to Airport 
Blvd Pathway Construction

14,618,729$    17,325$         200,000$           14,401,404$             Pursuing NEPA clearance.

Puerto Suello Pathway Design and 
Permitting

708,227$          -$                708,227$           -$  Request for Proposal (RFP) is being 
prepared for procurement.

Schellvil le Grade Crossing Repair 141,633$          -$                141,633$           -$  Completed in October.

Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs 
(Phase 2) - Sears Point Drainage 225,000$          -$                225,000$           -$  

Determining next steps, timber 
purchase requires long lead times.

Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs 
(Phase 2) - Wingo (Sonoma Creek) 250,000$          -$                250,000$           -$  

Determining next steps, timber 
purchase requires long lead times.

Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs 
(Phase 2) - Novato Creek 132,920$          -$                132,920$           -$  

Bridge timbers purchased and 
delivered, once more information 
is known about the other Phase 2 
bridges, will  bid out repair work.

PASSENGER RAIL PROJECTS

FREIGHT RAIL PROJECTS

Page 27 of 324



9 

INVESTMENTS 

Investments are guided by the SMART investment policy adopted each year with the budget.  
The policy outlines the guidelines and practices to be used in effectively managing SMART’s 
available cash and investment portfolio.  District funds that are not required for immediate cash 
requirements are to be invested in compliance with the California Code Section 53600, et seq. 

SMART uses the Bank of Marin for day-to-day cash requirements and for longer term 
investments the Sonoma County Treasury Pool is used.  This chart reflects a point in time versus 
a projection of future fund availability. 

Cash On Hand
Bank of Marin 17,410,026$   
Sonoma County Investment Pool 
*

77,229,551$   

Total Cash on Hand 94,639,576$   

Reserves
Self-Insured 2,370,675$      
OPEB/ CalPERS 5,574,676$      
Operating Reserve 11,728,963$   
Capital Sinking Fund 11,317,250$   
Corridor Completion 7,000,000$      
Total Reserves 37,991,564$   

Cash Balance 56,648,012$   
Less: Current Encumbrances (56,760,269)$  
Balance (112,257)$        
Less: Estimated FY24 Year-end 
Fund Balance

(53,421,712)$  

Remaining Balance (53,533,969)$  
* Doesn't include trustee accounts

Page 28 of 324



Active contracts as of October 31, 2024

PASSENGER RAIL

Contractor Scope
 Fiscal Year 24/25

Projected 
A.J. Janitorial Service  $ 9,140 
Alcohol & Drug Testing Services, LLC DOT and FRA-regulated Drug and Alcohol Testing Services 45,000$
Allen, Glaessner, Hazelwood LLP Legal Services for Litigation and Rail Transit Issues 50,000$
Alliant Insurance Services Insurance Brokerage and Risk Management Services 50,000$
American Rail Engineers Corporation Railroad Bridge Inspections, Bridge Engineering, and Related Services 37,000$
Asbury Environmental Services (AES) Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Waste Removal and Disposal Services 2,575$  
Atlas CopCo Compressors, LLC Air Compressor Maintenance Services 1,003$  
BKF Engineers Design and Engineering Services for MUP Segments in Sonoma and Marin Counties 273,662$
Bolt Staffing Service, Inc. Temporary Staffing Services 45,000$
Bright Star Security, Inc. Security Patrol at SMART's Cal Park Tunnel 5,718$  
Bureau Veritas Technical Assessments, LLC Equal Access and ADA Consulting 25,000$
Cal Interpreting & Translations Real Time Translation and Related Services 13,000$
Cinquini & Passarino, Inc. Right-of-Way Land Surveying and Related Services 7,773$  
Clean Solutions Services Inc. Janitorial and Custodial Services for SMART’s Stations, Offices, and Park & Ride Lots 137,885$
Code 3 Entertainment Services, LLC Microtransit Operations and Maintenance Services 567,433$
Construction Testing Services 189,625$
Craft & Commerce 93,000$
CSW/Stuber-Stroeh Engineering Group Design and Engineering Services for 5 MUP Segments in Marin County 683,104$
CSW/Stuber-Stroeh Engineering Group Design and Engineering for Petaluma North Station, N. McDowell Grade Crossing, Segments 2 & 3 Pathway 382,800$
Data Ticket Processing Parking Fines for Illegal Parking 1,800$  
Dr. Lance O'Connor Occupational Health Screening Services 5,000$  
Dudek Biological and Cultural Resource Monitoring 195,000$
Dunnigan Psychological & Threat Assessments, LLC Employment-Related Psychological Evaluation Services 25,000$
Eide Bailly LLP Financial Audit Services 61,110$
eLock Technologies, LLC Station Bike Lockers - Ongoing Maintenance and Support Services 11,850$
Federated Indians of Graton Rancheria 20,000$
Fehr & Peers Comprehensive Quality of Life and Impact Assessment 413,113$
Foster & Foster (formerly Demsey, Filliger, & Associates, LLC) GASB Pension Compliance Services (Actuarial Calculations) 1,250$  
Front Signs (Square Signs, LLC) System-Wide Pathway Wayfinding Signage 599,447$
Gary D. Nelson Associates, Inc. Temporary Staffing and Placement Services 55,000$
George Hills Company, Inc. Third Party Claims Administration Services 30,000$
Ghilotti Bros, Inc. Construction of NMP McInnis to Smith Ranch 1,785,346$  
Golden Five, LLC Microsoft 365 Consulting Services 54,389$
Granicus, Inc. Media Streaming and Internet Broadcasting Services 13,503$
Hanford A.R.C. Implementation and Monitoring, San Rafael Creek Riparian Enhancement Project 29,841$
Hanford A.R.C. Maintenance and Monitoring the the Las Gallinas Creek Watershed Riparian Enhancement Planting 17,425$
Hanson Bridgett LLP Legal Services - Union Negotiations 120,000$
Hunt and Sons, Inc. Bulk Delivery of Motor Oil (15W40) 8,213$  
Integrated Security Controls, Inc. On-Call CCTV Maintenance Support 2,653$  
Intelligent Technology Solutions, LLC Maximo SaaS Development, Implementation, and Related Services 75,000$
Khouri Consulting, LLC California State Legislative and Advocacy Services 120,000$
Lewis, Brisbois, Bisgaard & Smith LLP Various legal services related to transit 65,000$
Lisa Wolper, LCSW, SAP Substance Abuse Professional Services 1,400$  
Masabi LLC SMART Mobile Ticketing Pilot Project 30,000$
MaxAccel FRA Regulatory Compliance Software 31,664$
MaxAccel Learning Management System 15,832$
Mickelson & Company, LLC 45G Tax Credit Advisory Services 15,035$
Mission Linen Supply Employee Uniform Rentals 24,077$
Mission Linen Supply Laundry and Dry Cleaning for SMART-Owned Uniforms 9,025$  
Modern Railway Systems, Inc. Monitoring and Maintenance  SMART's Communications Network and TDX System 15,726$
Modern Railway Systems, Inc. Design and Construction of Systems Improvements for the Windsor Extension Project 5,350,845$  

-$

-$

2,275$  

Contract Summary

 Fiscal Year 24/25         
Actuals 

23,568$
-$

-$
-$

140,639$
333$

8,586$  

30,386$
3,812$  

4,200$  
-$

10,275$

-$

Marketing and Community Outreach Services and Support
Construction Materials Testing Support Services

700$

29,772$

22,670$

450$

6,165$  

6,435$  

Tribal Monitoring for Ground-Disturbing Activities - SoCo Pathway 6,097$  

-$

13,503$
6,645$  
4,517$  
1,288$  

552$
1,673,691$  

13,450$

40,000$
51$

-$

Janitorial Services for all Stations Roblar, ROC and Fulton  $ 9,140 

-$

32,691$

1,003$  

-$

-$

-$

15,664$
3,885,228$  

15,000$
11,726$

138,130$

4,002$  

10,876$

-$

540$

15,035$

Page 1 of 2
Page 29 of 324



Contractor Scope
 Fiscal Year 24/25

Projected 
 Fiscal Year 24/25         

Actuals 
Modern Railway Systems, Inc. Real Time Train Arrival Digital Signage for Train Platforms 452,877$
MuniServices, LLC Sales Tax Recovery Services 30,000$
North Bay Bottling (Alex Ruiz Sr.) Drinking Water Delivery Service 3,260$  
North Bay Petroleum Provision of Fuel for DMUs 1,100,000$  
Nossaman LLP Litigation, Rail Transit Issues, and other related legal services 180,000$
Occupational Health Centers of CA Pre-Employment Evaluation Services 35,000$
Oracle Fusion ERP System 329,413$
Pape Machinery, Inc. Equipment Repair and Related Services 7,507$  
Parodi Investigative Solutions Pre-Employment Background Investigation Services 25,000$
PFM Financial Advisors, LLC Financial Advisory Services 5,000$  
Pitney Bowes, Inc. 701$
Pivotal Vision, LLC 2,750$  
Portola Systems, Inc. SMART Station Network Maintenance and Configuration Services 271,543$
Precision Wireless Tech Support and Maintenance for Land Mobile Radio 44,932$
RSE Corporation 42,500$
Sierra-Cedar, LLC Oracle Enterprise Resources Planning Software 152,000$
Sonoma County Fleet Operation Division Non-Revenue Fleet Vehicle Installation, Maintenance, and Repair Services 65,000$
SPTJ Consulting, Inc. Network Monitoring and Support Services 202,419$
Square Signs LLC dba Front Signs System-Wide Pathway Wayfinding Signage 599,447$
Stacy and Witbeck, Inc. Design/Build Construction of Civil, Track & Structures of Windsor Extension 17,936,174$
Stacy and Witbeck/Ghilotti Bros, A Joint Venture Construction of Petaluma North Station Platform, Grade Crossing Reconstruction, and Pathway 22,871,960$
Stacy and Witbeck/Ghilotti Bros, A Joint Venture Paving Work for the City of Petaluma as Part of the Petaluma North Project 582,187$
Survival CPR & First Aid, LLC Active Shooter Training and Related Services 2,970$  
Survival CPR & First Aid, LLC First Aid and CPR Training, AED Compliance Program Management 11,300$
TDG Engineering, Inc. Wayfinding System Planning and Design for the SMART Pathway 21,592$
The Routing Company Furnish, Implement, and Maintain a Microtransit Software Platform 12,000$
The Routing Company 6,200$  
Tom Hehir dba Aspire Consulting Leadership and Development Workshop Services 24,266$
Toshiba America Business Solutions, Inc. Printer Lease and Maintenance Agreement No 450-046953-000 32,494$
TRC Engineers, Inc. Construction Management Support Services 413,197$
Triangle Properties, Inc. SoCo Pathway Riparian Enhancement Implementation and Monitoring 39,080$
Triangle Properties, Inc. 523,270$
Triangle Properties, Inc. 41,932$
United Construction Management Corp 160,083$
Van Scoyoc Associates Federal Lobbying Services 30,000$
Vista Broadband Networks, Inc. Broadband Services 9,000$  
Ward Levy Appraisal Group, Inc. Real Estate Appraisals and Related Services 4,950$  
Web Master Designs, LLC As-Needed Monitoring, Management, and Support Services for Public-Facing Websites 5,580$  
WRA, Inc. As-Needed Environmental Consulting Services 78,900$

TOTAL 58,169,608$

FREIGHT RAIL

Contractor Scope
 Fiscal Year 24/25

Projected 
Freight Rail Tracking Software Freight Rail Tracking Software 6,000$  
GATX Rail Locomotive Group, LLC Freight Locomotive Lease Agreement 48,200$
HCI Systems, Inc. Fire Equipment Inspection and Certification 354$
Hue & Cry, Inc. Security System at Schellville Depot 994$
Lambertus J. Verstegen dba South West Locomotive Repair Locomotive Maintenance and Repair 18,984$
North Bay Petroleum Provision of Fuel for Freight Locomotives 90,000$
Summit Signal, Inc. Inspection, Testing, and Maintenance Services for Signal Equipment Along Brazos Branch 40,542$
Summit Signal, Inc. Freight Call-Out Maintenance and Repair Services 6,565$  
Wine Country Sanitary, Inc. Portable Toilet Rental and Maintenance 1,600$  

TOTAL 213,239$  
Actuals-To-Date include invoices that have been approved, but may not have been processed in SMART's Financial System, as of October 31, 2024

Helen Putnam Riparian Mitigation

54,207$
34,870,665$

 Fiscal Year 24/25         
Actuals 

-$

119,515$

1,463$  

83,742$

18,601$
27,028$

4,021$  
394$

1,228$  
13,237$

-$
249$

18,984$

-$

22,574$
33,012$

6,200$  

-$

32,525$

Security Software Licensing / Rail Network

3,701$  
Construction Management Support Services

Civil Engineering, Design, and Land Surveying

Windsor Creek Riparian Enhancement

Social Media Campaign for SMART Connect

2,367$  
-$

4,500$  
-$

Lease for Mail Machine

3,168$  

67,473$

4,054$  

-$

2,079$  

2,750$  

-$

183$

611$

371,217$
729$

20,000$

88,446$

3,000$  

187,732$
17,950$

-$

21,349$
5,687$  

11,417,263$
15,934,722$

-$

201,693$

60,540$

Page 2 of 2
Page 30 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 6d

December 18, 2024

Sonoma- Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 Year End Investment Report

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATIONS: Accept the Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 Year End 
Investment Report

SUMMARY:
In accordance with the SMART’s Board of Directors Investment Policy 
that is adopted each year with the annual budget, the Chief Financial 
Officer is required to submit to the Board a report that indicates the 
types of investment by fund, institution, date of maturity, amount of 
deposit, current market value, rates of interest, and expected yield to 
maturity.

As a reminder, the Board policy has three main objectives for 
investments:

Safety of Principal – Safety of principal is the foremost objective
of the investment program.  Investments of the District shall be
undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure that preservation
of capital in the overall portfolio.

Liquidity – Investments shall be made whose maturity date is
compatible with cash flow requirements and which will permit
easy and rapid conversion into cash without substantial loss of
value.

Return on Investment – The District’s investment portfolio shall
be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of
return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, considering
the district’s investment risk constraints and the cash flow
characteristics of the portfolio.

Page 31 of 324



SMART Board of Directors
December 18, 2024

Page 2 of 3 

As of June 30, 2024, SMART’s cash and investments on hand were $108,712,664.  This is 
down by $16,324,706 from last year.  This is mainly due to large projects currently under 
construction (McInnis to Smith Ranch Road, Petaluma North, Windsor Extension.)

Funds that are needed for short-term use are held with the Bank of Marin. Interest 
earnings from the Bank of Marin were $313,513 in FY 2024 which is over double the 
earnings in FY 23. The remaining funds are held in the Sonoma County Treasury Pool
administered by the Sonoma County Treasurer.  The funds that are held by the Trustee 
are for debt service payments. Total investment earnings in the pooled account for FY 
2024 were $3,034,804 of which $2,805,517 was unrestricted and $229,287 was restricted.  
These earnings are also more than double the earnings in FY 2023.  This change is due to 
(1) higher interest rates (2) higher balances.

The Sonoma County Treasury Pool is a pooled fund which is an authorized investment 
under the Board approved investment policy.  This pool tends to earn more interest than 
the funds kept in our operating accounts at the Bank of Marin.  Pooled interest earnings 
were 3.35% for the quarter ending June 30, 2024.  The chart below shows the comparison 
of the pool earnings verses the Fed Fund rate over time.  

Available Held By Trustee Total
Sonoma County Treasury Pool (SCT) 89,244,595$           5,957,529$           95,202,124$           
Bank of Marin 13,510,540$           -$ 13,510,540$           
Total 102,755,135$        5,957,529$           108,712,664$        

Page 32 of 324



SMART Board of Directors
December 18, 2024

Page 3 of 3 

For funds invested in the Sonoma County Investment Pool, interest is allocated at the end 
of each quarter.  SMART’s account is credited with a pro-rata share of the earned income 
during the quarter based on the average balance during the quarter as a percentage of 
the average balanced of the fund during the same quarter.  All members of the fund are 
allocated interest the same way.

The pool invests in a variety of instruments. The investments and the % of funds that are 
invested in those particular instruments are listed in the chart below.

Attached are the year-end investment statements provided by the Sonoma County 
Treasury Pool which details the required investment reporting per Board policy in detail.

FISCAL IMPACT:   No fiscal impact.  

Sincerely, 

  /s/
Heather McKillop
Chief Financial Officer

Attachment(s):  1)   GASB 31 Compliance Detail – Sonoma County Treasurer
2) GASB 40 Credit & Interest Rate Risk – Sonoma County Treasurer

Page 33 of 324



Page 34 of 324



Page 35 of 324



Page 36 of 324



Page 37 of 324



Page 38 of 324



Page 39 of 324



Page 40 of 324



Page 41 of 324



Page 42 of 324



Page 43 of 324



Page 44 of 324



Page 45 of 324



Page 46 of 324



Page 47 of 324



Page 48 of 324



Page 49 of 324



Page 50 of 324



Page 51 of 324



Page 52 of 324



Page 53 of 324



Page 54 of 324



Page 55 of 324



Page 56 of 324



Page 57 of 324



Page 58 of 324



Page 59 of 324



Page 60 of 324



Page 61 of 324



Page 62 of 324



Page 63 of 324



Page 64 of 324



Page 65 of 324



Page 66 of 324



Page 67 of 324



Page 68 of 324



Page 69 of 324



Page 70 of 324



Page 71 of 324



Page 72 of 324



Page 73 of 324



Page 74 of 324



Page 75 of 324



Page 76 of 324



Page 77 of 324



Page 78 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax:at 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 6e

December 18, 2024  

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Nossaman LLP Contract Amendment No. 5 

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize the General Manager to execute Contract Amendment No. 5 to 
Contract No. LG-PS-21-001 with Nossaman, LLP, in an amount of 
$200,000. 

SUMMARY:
Nossaman LLP has provided SMART with specialized legal services in 
varying rail transit and government agency matters. Since 2021, Nossaman 
LLP has assisted SMART on an as needed basis to provide litigation support, 
and advice on construction issues, regulatory, and railroad right-of way, as 
well as eminent domain and related proceedings. Staff anticipates the 
continued need for the firm’s specialized expertise and litigation support. 

Staff recommends that the District continue to retain the services of 
Nossaman LLP for supplemental specialized legal support on an as-needed 
basis.  Contract Amendment No. 5 increases the not-to-exceed amount by 
$200,000.   

FISCAL IMPACT: The funds are available in the Fiscal Year 2025 budget 
and assumed in future years.

REVIEWED BY:  [ x   ] Finance ___/s/____  [   ] Counsel _______

Very truly yours,

   /s/
Jessica Sutherland
General Counsel

Attachment(s):  Nossaman LLP Contract Amendment No. 5 

Page 79 of 324



NOSSAMAN LLP
FIFTH AMENDMENT
LG-PS-21-001 Page 1 of 2

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN
THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT 

AND NOSSAMAN LLP

This Fifth Amendment dated as of December 18, 2024 (the “Fifth Amendment”), to the
Legal Services Agreement by and between Nossaman LLP (hereinafter referred to as 
“ATTORNEYS”) and the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (hereinafter referred to as 
“SMART”), dated as of April 30, 2021 (the “Original Agreement,” as amended and 
supplemented by the First, Second, Third, Fourth and now this Fifth Amendment, the 
“Agreement”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Attorneys and SMART previously entered the Original Agreement on April 
30, 2021 to provide various legal services regarding litigation, rail transit issues, including
railroad right of way, construction projects, eminent domain proceedings and related issues; and

WHEREAS, SMART and Attorneys previously entered into various Amendments to the 
Agreement between September 21, 2021 and July 17, 2024 to increase the not-to-exceed amount 
of the Agreement, extend the term of the Agreement, and modify the Exhibit A Schedule of 
Rates; and

WHEREAS, SMART desires to amend the Agreement again to increase the not-to-
exceed amount by $200,000, for a total not-to-exceed amount of $1,325,000; and

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. “ARTICLE 4. COMPENSATION” The last sentence of Article 4 of the
Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

“Total compensation under this Agreement shall not exceed $1,325,000.”

Page 80 of 324



NOSSAMAN LLP
FIFTH AMENDMENT
LG-PS-21-001 Page 2 of 2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Fifth Amendment as of
the date first set forth above.

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________
Eddy Cumins, General Manager

NOSSAMAN LLP

Dated: _____________ By__________________________________
Brad Kuhn, Partner

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Dated: _______________ By______________________________
District Counsel

Page 81 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 7

December 18, 2024

Sonoma- Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Draft Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) and the 
Single Audit for Fiscal Year 2023-2024

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Review and Accept SMART’s Draft Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) and Single Audit 

SUMMARY:
Following the close of each fiscal year, SMART’s finance staff prepares a 
summary of our financial activities for the year following best practices 
and guidelines issued by the Government Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB).  Our financial reports are reviewed, tested, and adjusted by our 
independent auditor.

Included in the packet are three documents:  SMART’s Draft Fiscal Year 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), the Federal Awards 
Report, and the Governance Letter provided by Eide Bailly, our 
independent auditor.  

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR)
The ACFR is a best practice in government for presenting annual financial 
information.  For the eleventh year in a row, the report contains our 
annual achievement award from the Government Finance Officers 
Association for our 2023 report.  The contents of the annual report are 
consistent from year to year.  In addition to basic audited financial 
statements and notes, the report contains a Letter of Transmittal which 
provides an overview of the district, its activities and financial practices, a 
Management Discussion providing an overview of the statements and a 
statistical section which provides general, historical, and regional 
information.  It also contains the Independent Auditor’s Report which 
states that the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the district as of June 30, 2024. 

Page 82 of 324



SMART Board of Directors 
December 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 2 

Key measurements of the District’s financial status are outlined in the Management Discussion and 
Analysis.   It includes the following: 

Passenger revenues were $22.6 million higher in Fiscal Year 2023-2024 which was a result of higher
capital contributions.
Passenger operating expenses were down $385,145 (1%) from Fiscal Year 2022-2023.
Freight revenues were $2.5 million less than Fiscal Year 2022-2023 due to reduced funds available
from state grants.
Freight operating expenditures were down $1.7 million due to reduced revenues.
Capital assets increased $16.5 million.  This is a result of projects under construction such as McInnis 
to Smith Ranch Road, Petaluma North Station and pathways, and the Windsor Extension.
SMART has $77.5 million in debt outstanding which was a reduction of $14.8 million from Fiscal
Year 2022-2023.

Federal Awards Report 
In addition to the regular audit, SMART is required to undergo a separate audit process related to significant 
expenditures of federal funds, called the Single Audit.  This audit is to ensure compliance with Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations CFR Part 200 Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles and Audit 
requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  When completed, this audit document is provided 
to our federal funding agencies.  We are pleased to report that there are no material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies identified during this process.  The Single Audit for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 reviewed 
several different grants including 5307 Preventive Maintenance, 5307 funds for McInnis to Smith Ranch 
Road, and FRA.  SMART had no audit findings related to these funds. 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
In this communication to the Board, Eide Bailly reports that they identified no material weakness.  

This year’s report is in draft form as it is still going through the due diligence process at Eide Bailly.  No 
material changes are anticipated as a result of this process.  This process is usually complete prior to the 
Board acting on the document; however, there have been delays in completing the audit, so it is still not 
finalized.  The audit must be accepted by the Board of Directors in December so we can file with all of the 
required agencies prior to December 31, 2024. 

If there are any material issues discovered through the due diligence process, staff will bring the document 
back for reconsideration by the Board of Directors at their January meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT:   No fiscal impact.   

REVIEWED BY:   [    ] Finance _________ [ x ] Counsel ____/s/______ 

Sincerely, 
    /s/ 
Heather McKillop 
Chief Financial Officer 

Attachments: 1) Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
2) Federal Awards Reports in Accordance with Uniform Guidance
3) Governance Letter
4) Power Point Presentation by Eide Bailly

Page 83 of 324



Page 84 of 324



This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

Page 85 of 324



SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL 
TRANSIT DISTRICT 

PETALUMA, CALIFORNIA 

ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 

PREPARED BY THE FINANCE DEPARTMENT

Page 86 of 324



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Table of Contents 

June 30, 2024 

Introductory Section 

Letter of Transmittal ......................................................................................................... ......................... i 
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement ...................................... ix 
Principal Officials ........................................................................................................... ............................ x 
Organization Chart ............................................................................................................ ....................... xi 
System Map .................................................................................................................... ........................ xii 

Financials 

Independent Auditor’s Report .................................................................................................. .................... 1 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis .......................................................................................... ............. 4 

Statement of Net Position ..................................................................................................... ................. 15 
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position ............................................................ 16 
Statement of Cash Flows ....................................................................................................... ................. 17 
Notes to the Financial Statements ............................................................................................. ............. 19 

Required Supplementary Information 

Schedule of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Pension Plan .................. 45 
Schedule of Contributions – Pension Plan .............................................................................................. 46 
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios ..................................................... 47 

Statistical Section 

Financial Trends 

Net Position by Component ..................................................................................................... ............... 49 
Changes in Net Position ....................................................................................................... ................... 50 
Changes in Net Position ....................................................................................................... ................... 51 
Non-Capital Expense by Category ............................................................................................... ............ 52 

Revenue Capacity 

General Revenue by Source ..................................................................................................... ............... 53 
Revenue Base and Revenue Rate ............................................................................................................ 54 
Overlapping Governments and Sales Tax Rates ................................................................................... .. 55 
Principal Revenue Payers ...................................................................................................... .................. 56 

Debt Capacity 

Debt Services Coverage-Pledged Sales Tax Revenue .............................................................................. 57 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt (Unaudited) ........................................................................................ ........ 58 

Demographic and Economic Information 

Demographic and Economic Statistics (Unaudited) ...............................................................................  59 
Major Employers (Unaudited) ................................................................................................... ............. 60 

Operating Information 

Operating Information (Unaudited) ............................................................................................. ........... 61 
Employees-Full-Time Equivalent (Unaudited) .................................................................................... .... 62 

Page 87 of 324



i 

Eric Lucan, Chair 
Marin County Board of Supervisors  

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Kate Colin 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Chris Coursey 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Rachel Farac 
Transportation Authority of Marin 

Debora Fudge 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Barbara Pahre 
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District 

Gabe Paulson 
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association 

Mary Sackett 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Eddy Cumins 
General Manager 

5401 Old Redwood Highway 
Suite 200 
Petaluma, CA 94954 
Phone: 707-794-3330 
Fax: 707-794-3037 
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

 
Report Date 

To the Board of Directors, Residents, and Stakeholders of the 
Sonoma- Marin Area Rail Transit District: 

State law requires that the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
{SMART) "cause a post audit of the financial transactions and records of 
the district to be made at least annually by a certified public accountant." 
Pursuant to that requirement, the Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report of the District for the fiscal year end June 30, 2024, is hereby 
issued. 

The report consists of management's representation concerning the 
finances of SMART. Consequently, management assumes full 
responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all the information 
presented in this report. To provide a reasonable basis for making these 
representations, management has established a comprehensive internal 
control framework that is designed both to protect the government's 
assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient, reliable 
information for the preparation of SMART's financial statements in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The 
cost of internal controls should not outweigh the benefits, SMART's 
comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to 
provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial 
statements will be free from material misstatement. As the General 
Manager, I assert that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this 
financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects. 

SMART's financial statements have been audited by Eide Bailly, LLP, a firm 
of licensed certified public accountants. The goal of the independent 
audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements 
of SMART for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024, are free from material 
misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test 
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. The independent auditor concluded, based 
upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an 
unmodified opinion that SMART's financial statements for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2024, are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP.

Page 88 of 324



ii 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

The report consists of three sections: 

The Introduction section includes this letter of transmittal, SMART's organization chart and
officials, a map of the SMART system and certificate of achievement.
The Financial section includes the report of the independent auditors, the Management's
Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), SMART's basic financial statements and the
accompanying notes to the financial statements. Required supplementary information
other than the MD&A is also included in the financial section.
The Statistical section includes selected financial and demographic information, on a multi-
year basis.

The independent audit of the financial statements of SMART was part of a broader, federally 
mandated "Single Audit" designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The 
standards governing Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not only 
on the fair presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited government's internal 
controls and compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and 
legal requirements involving the administration of federal awards. 

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to 
accompany the financial statement in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). 
This letter of transmittal is designed to complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction 
with it. SMART's MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent 
auditors. 

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT (SMART) 

The Sonoma Marin Area Rail Transit {SMART) District was established by the California Legislature 
through the enactment of AB 2224 in 2002. The SMART District includes both Sonoma and Marin 
Counties and was created for the purpose of providing unified and comprehensive structure for the 
ownership and governance of passenger and freight rail system within Sonoma and Marin Counties 
and to provide passenger and freight train service along the existing publicly owned railroad right- 
of-way. 

Passenger 

SMART passenger rail service began in August of 2017 with two-way passenger train service on 43 
miles to 10 stations between Downtown San Rafael in Marin County and Airport Boulevard in 
Sonoma County. In late 2019, two new stations were completed in Downtown Novato and Larkspur 
near the regional Ferry to San Francisco. These two stations in Marin County brought rail service to 
its current total of 45 miles with 12 passenger stations. SMART also manages approximately 12 miles 
of an ancillary bicycle/pedestrian pathway on its right of way connecting to the SMART's stations 
where cyclists can find secure parking at the station or on-board the train for their bikes. 

Train service is provided in state-of-the-art diesel multiple unit (DMU) rail vehicles utilizing one of 
the first Positive Train Control systems for passenger rail. 

Page 89 of 324



iii 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

Freight 

SMART was granted freight common carrier status by the Surface Transportation Board in June 2021 
and began operating those services in 2022. SMART was granted ownership of the railroad between the 
Mendocino County line and Healdsburg in 2021 from the State of California and maintains freight 
accommodations on the SMART-owned rail line between American Canyon and through Novato 
northward, as authorized in SMART’s enabling and subsequent legislation. 

In 2022, SMART assumed the freight operations from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company (NWP 
Co), which had been operating service from American Canyon in Napa County to Petaluma since 2011.  
SMART has provided accommodation to freight along the corridor including gauntlet tracks at each 
station, upgraded freight rail sidings, passenger rail vehicles that meet applicable Federal Railroad 
Administration safety standards for interaction with freight equipment, and installation of “positive train 
control” equipment on all SMART-owned freight locomotives and along the entire right-of-way. SMART 
became the freight common carrier on the railroad with a Surface Transportation Board approval to 
assume freight operator responsibilities from the private freight operator on the corridor (June 11, 
2021, STB Docket 1310X).  SMART’s Board authorized the hiring of freight-only employees to operate 
the short-line freight services; SMART began operations with our own staff on July 1, 2022. 

GOVERNANCE 

SMART is governed by a 12-member Board of Directors, made up of two Supervisors from each 
County, three City Council members from each County and two representatives from the Golden 
Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District. The Board has the authority under State law to 
own, operate, manage, and maintain a rail system within the territory of the SMART District. 

SMART is primarily funded by a one-quarter of one cent sales tax approved by voters in the SMART 
District in 2008, a District which encompasses the two Counties of Sonoma and Marin. 

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when it is 
considered in the broader perspective of the specific environment within which SMART operates. 

SMART's passenger service and pathways currently operate in Marin and Sonoma Counties. These 
two counties are home to a mix of tourism, recreation, agriculture, and industry. The major 
population centers of Marin and Sonoma are located along the Highway 101 corridor and the 
parallel SMART rail line. 

Page 90 of 324



iv 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

SMART's finances have relied on the strength of its voter-approved sales tax revenue which was 
approved in 2008 and in Fiscal Year 2024 provided 49% of SMART's annual revenues. Sales tax 
revenue is directly linked to local employment rates and median incomes. The district is home to a 
wealthy taxpayer base. The per capita income in Marin County is $180,575 and Sonoma County is 
$83,408. In addition, the most recent unemployment data shows Marin County's and Sonoma 
County's unemployment rate at 3.9% and 4.1% respectfully compared to the State of California at 
5.4%. SMART also receives significant funding from the State of California for its transit services 
ultimately derived from state fuel and sales taxes. 

Since the start of SMART service seven years ago, there have been multiple federal disaster 
declarations in Sonoma and Marin counties, including wildfires, flooding, extended public utility 
shut offs and the COVID-19 pandemic. SMART has experienced service disruption in several of these 
events, including evacuation of SMART's rolling stock and temporary closure of the northernmost 
stations, along with service reductions due to COVID-19.  

SMART initiated service in August 2017 with 34 trips/weekday, and increased to 38 trips/weekday in 
January 2020, with the opening of the Larkspur extension. SMART modified services in March 2020 due 
to the pandemic, with weekend service annulled, and weekday service reduced to 16 trips. In May 2021, 
SMART added back 10 weekday trips. Saturday service was restored in May 2021, and Sunday service in 
May 2022. In June 2022, SMART added 10 additional weekday trips, and in October 2022, SMART added 
two additional midday trips, for a schedule of 38 trips per weekday. During Summer 2023, SMART ran a 
pilot weekend evening service, known as the Starlighter, in response to rider requests. In October 2023, 
again increased weekend service, running 16 trips total on both Saturday and Sunday. In August 2024, 
SMART will be adding four additional trips for a total of 42 trips each weekday. 

As of 2024, SMART is operating more service than ever before and is more affordable than pre-
pandemic.  Ridership is hitting record highs, with SMART achieving the highest ridership recovery rate in 
the Bay Area, and the second highest rate for commuter rail in the nation. Unlike many rail systems 
nationwide, which are designed to carry commuters into a central business district, SMART’s ability to 
serve origins and destinations throughout the corridor, with strong bidirectional travel, enabled the 
system to recover from the pandemic and begin expanding into new markets.  

SMART carried over 850,000 passengers in FY24, which exceeded the highest year pre-pandemic, FY19, 
by 19%. Ridership is anticipated to exceed 1 million riders in FY25, with the opening of Petaluma North 
and Windsor Stations. On the SMART Pathway, the installation of 10 bicycle & pedestrian counters has 
enabled data tracking on pathway usage; in FY24 the pathway averaged 63,610 users per month, for a 
total count of 763,325 for the year. 

Page 91 of 324



v 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

FINANCIAL PLANNING 

Since the passage of Measure Q in 2008, SMART has completed a Strategic Plan every five years.  In 
2009, SMART prepared and approved its first Strategic Plan, which focused on initiation of the SMART 
capital project and the funding available for that project. The Great Recession was just beginning to 
make its impacts felt, affecting the sales tax starting in 2008 through 2010; this initial reduction meant 
an overall reduction in the sales tax revenue stream for bonding purposes in 2011. Ultimately the 
difference in the 20-year stream between the SMART initial sales tax proposal and later plans meant a 
loss of over $100 million for SMART.  This fact led SMART to reevaluate the capacity to deliver the full 
70-mile system, in the face of a falling revenue stream, cost increases tied to new regulatory
requirements, the realities of construction in an active freight corridor, and significant environmental
mitigation expectations.  Board policy conversations with regional input outlined the initial plan for
SMART’s phasing.  With that consensus, SMART proceeded with steps to secure the grants, financing
and contracts needed to build the first operating segment.

The 2014 Strategic Plan summarized the subsequent decision-making by the Board to build the SMART 
project in phases and provided updates on the decisions made as part of the capital buildout. The ini al 
opera ng segment was under construc on at that me, from downtown San Rafael to Railroad Square in 
Santa Rosa.  SMART’s ability to move quickly during a slow economic me led to favorable bid results, 
construc on savings, greater con dence in the success of the project and ul mately further project 
expansions.  Favorable contract nego a ons resulted in the expansion of the rst phase project to 
include the Novato San Marin Sta on and the Santa Rosa North Sta on.  State and regional funding 
agencies were willing to grant more funds to SMART as a “shovel-ready” project with momentum and 
the track was able to be fully rebuilt between Santa Rosa North and the SMART Rail Opera ons Center 
with a sta on added at Airport Boulevard in Sonoma County.  The 2014 Strategic Plan included more 
informed es mates for the cost of opening and opera ng rail passenger service u lizing state of the art 
trains, tracks, signals and related infrastructure.  Between the 2014 Strategic Plan and its successor 
document, SMART secured funding to add two addi onal miles and two sta ons (Larkspur and 
Downtown Novato) into the system.  These projects were being brought online for passenger use as the 
2019 Strategic Plan was being nalized.  

The 2019 Strategic Plan was the rst plan since SMART completed construc on of the ini al opera ng 
segment and began opera ng passenger rail service in August of 2017. The Plan documented the progress 
to date and focused on a path forward, which included plans to seek voter approval to extend the current 
sales tax past its 2029 expira on date through a 2020 ballot ini a ve. Consistent with the direc on of the 
2019 Strategic Plan, SMART placed the sales tax reauthoriza on ballot ini a ve, Measure I, on the March 
2020 ballot, just as the pandemic arrived. The reauthoriza on e ort failed to receive the two-thirds super 
majority required to pass, instead receiving 54% across the SMART District of Sonoma and Marin Coun es. 
In addi on to the unfavorable outcome of the 2020 ballot ini a ve, the COVID-19 Pandemic drama cally 
altered condi ons for SMART’s transit services as extended stay-at-home mandates and prolonged social 
distancing protocols altered the public’s travel behavior and required SMART opera ons to adjust to the 
reduced travel and increased public health and safety protocols.   

Page 92 of 324



vi 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

SMART is currently in the process of updating the FY 2025 – FY 2030 Strategic Plan.  Extensive 
outreach has been conducted and the plan is expected to be adopted by SMART’s Board of Directors in 
December 2024. 

In April of 2021, the Board of Director's adopted the first Capital Plan. This plan forecasts revenues 
and expenditures related to capital expenditures for the period July 1, 2021-June 30, 2029. In 
addition, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) requires each transit operator 
receiving federal funds to prepare, adopt, and submit a Short-Range Transit Plan. The Short-Range 
Transit Plan is required to clearly describe the basis for SMART's capital and operating budgets and 
provides MTC and the public with information on projects and programs of regional significance. 
The plan was submitted to MTC in November of 2021 and has been updated several times since. 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

SMART's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure 
designed to ensure that assets are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and that adequate 
accounting data are compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with GAAP. SMART has designed its internal control structure to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes 
that: (1) the costs of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived and (2) the 
valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgment by management. 

Single Audit: As a recipient of federal assistance, SMART is responsible for ensuring that an 
adequate internal control structure is instituted to ensure compliance with appliable laws and 
regulations related to those programs. This internal control structure is subject to periodic 
evaluation by management. 

As part of SMART's single audit, tests are made to determine the adequacy of the internal control 
structure, including that portion related to federal financial assistance programs, as well as to 
evaluate SMART's compliance. SMART's single audit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, found 
no instances of material weakness in the internal control structures or significant violations of 
applicable laws and regulations. 

Independent Audit: SMART's enabling legislation requires an annual audit by an independent 
certified public accountant. The accounting firm of Eide Bailly, LLP, is performing the audit. This 
audit is also designed to meet the requirements of the Federal Single Audit 2 CFR 200.501, Uniform 
Grant Guidance and related 2 CFR 200, Uniform Grant Guidance - Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements. The auditor's report on the financial 
statements and schedules are included in the Financial Section of this report. 

Investment Policy: SMART's investment policy is intended to outline the guidelines and practices to 
be used in effectively managing SMART's available cash and investment portfolio. In accordance 
with California Government Code Section 53600.5, and in order of importance, the Chief Financial 
Officer of SMART is required to adhere to the following three criteria: (1) Safety of Principal (2) 
Liquidity (3) Return on Investment. 

Page 93 of 324



vii 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

Risk Management: SMART purchases insurance in its efforts to protect assets and control and 
prevent losses. Commercial insurance policies provide coverage including Railroad Protective and 
Railroad Liability, Auto, General Liability, Property, Worker's Compensation, Crime, Public Officials 
Liability & Employment Practices, and Deadly Weapons Response Program.  

AWARDS 

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail 
Transit District {SMART) for its annual comprehensive financial report for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2023. This is the e l e v e nt h  consecutive year that SMART has achieved this prestigious award. 

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable 
and efficiently organized annual comprehensive financial report. This report must satisfy both 
generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 

The Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current 
annual comprehensive financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement 
Program's requirements and we are submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another 
certificate. 

CONCLUSION 

The financial statements presented here show the magnitude of the public assets that have resulted 
from the voters' approval of the SMART sales tax measure in 2008. Measure Q revenues have made 
possible not only the construction of a world-class transit system, but also the ongoing operation 
and maintenance of that system in the future. Certainly, the challenges of the COVID pandemic have 
had an impact on SMART and our customers but with continued leadership from the Board, ongoing 
vigilance on maintaining necessary reserves, and planning for future financial challenges, SMART's 
current and future operations will remain on solid footing. 

Page 94 of 324



viii 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Letter of Transmittal 

June 30, 2024 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Timely preparation of the annual comprehensive financial report was made possible by the 
dedicated service of the Finance Department led by Heather McKillop, Chief Financial Officer. 
Special thanks go to Kathy Holt, SMART's Accounting Manager. I extend my sincere appreciation to 
each of them for their contributions. Moreover, I thank the Board of Directors for its continued 
support and leadership. 

Sincerely, 

Eddy Cumins  
General Manager 

Heather McKillop 
Chief Financial Officer 

Page 95 of 324



ix 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) Certificate of Achievement 

June 30, 2024 

Page 96 of 324



x 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Principal Officials 

June 30, 2024 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Board of Directors 

Fiscal Year 2023– 2024 

Eric Lucan – Chair 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby – Vice Chair 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers 

Association 
Kate Colin  

Transportation Authority of Marin 
Chris Coursey 

Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 
Rachel Farac 

Transportation Authority of Marin 
Debora Fudge 

Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers 
Association 

Patty Garbarino 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway/Transportation 

District 

Barbara Pahre 
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway/Transportation 

District 
Gabe Paulson 

Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers 

David Rabbitt 
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors 

Chris Rogers 
Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers 

Association 

Mary Sackett 
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Organizational Structure 

The Board of Directors appoints a General Manager for the District. In addition, to the General Manager, 
the Board also appoints the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel. 

General Manager – Eddy Cumins 
Chief Financial Officer – Heather McKillop 

General Counsel – Tom Lyons & Jessica Sutherland 

Page 97 of 324



xi 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Organization Chart 

June 30, 2024 

Page 98 of 324



xii 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
System Map 

June 30, 2024 

Page 99 of 324



This Page Intentionally Left Blank.

Page 100 of 324



1 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Governing Board of the 
 Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Petaluma, California  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the passenger and freight enterprise funds 
of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and 
the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the passenger and freight enterprise fund of the Sonoma-
Marin Area Rail Transit District, as of June 30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position, 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Page 101 of 324



2 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the District’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related 
matters that we identified during the audit.  

Page 102 of 324



3 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, schedule of the district’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, 
schedule of pension contributions, and a schedule of changes in the total OPEB liability and related 
ratios be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility 
of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance 
with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information comprises the introductory and statistical sections but does not include the basic financial 
statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the basic financial statements do not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and 
the basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated [REPORT 
DATE] on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the District’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Eide Bailly Signature 

Menlo Park, California 
Report Date 

Page 103 of 324



This Page Intentionally Left Blank. 

Page 104 of 324



Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
June 30, 2024 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
District 

Page 105 of 324



4 

 Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Management's Discussion and Analysis 

As management of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART or District), we offer readers of 
the District’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the 
District for the year ended June 30, 2024. We encourage readers to combine the information presented 
here with the District’s basic financial statements and the accompanying notes to the basic financial 
statements. 

Financial Highlights 

Passenger Service 

In Fiscal Year 2024, SMART celebrated its sixth year of passenger service. We initiated service in August 
2017 with 34 trips/weekday, and increased to 38 trips/weekday in January 2020, with the opening of the 
Larkspur extension. We modified services in March 2020 due to the pandemic, with weekend service 
annulled, and weekday service reduced to 16 trips. In May 2021, 10 weekday trips were added back. 
Saturday service was restored in May 2021 and Sunday service in May 2022. In June 2022, there were 10 
additional weekday trips added, and in October 2022, we added two additional midday trips, for a 
schedule of 38 trips per weekday. During Summer 2023, we ran a pilot weekend evening service, known 
as the Starlighter, in response to rider requests. In October 2023, we increased weekend service, 
running 16 trips total on both Saturday and Sunday. In August of 2024, we are planning on adding four 
additional trips for a total of 42 trips each weekday. 

Average daily ridership in Fiscal Year 2024 set records for weekday, Saturday, and Sunday boardings.  
Fiscal Year 2024 ridership was 33% higher than Fiscal Year 2023.  There were over 760,000 pathway trips 
and 13% of passenger brought a bicycle on board.   

In Fiscal Year 2025, a new station in Petaluma will open as well as an extension of the passenger rail line 
to Windsor.   

The largest funding source for passenger rail is sales tax. Sales tax makes up approximately half of total 
revenues.  In addition, we have received state and federal grants to assist in funding new stations, 
pathways, and the extension to Windsor. 

Financial Statistics - Passenger 

Net Sales tax collections were $48,837,349 in Fiscal Year 2024 which was $812,026 less than Fiscal
Year 2023 by 2%.
Fare revenues were 22% higher than in Fiscal Year 2023.
Operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization expense, were $38.3 million in
Fiscal Year 2024 which is a $385,145 decrease from Fiscal Year 2023.
Assets increased $4.8 million or 1% increase over Fiscal Year 2023.
Assets exceeded liabilities at the close of the year ended June 30, 2024, by $604.1 million (net
position). Of this amount, $137.9 million is unrestricted.

Page 106 of 324



5 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Freight 

California S.B. 1029 authorized SMART to operate freight service by rail. It also provided funding in the 
amount of $4 million for the acquisition of freight rights and equipment from the Northwestern Pacific 
Railroad Company (NWPCo.). In July 2021, SMART officially became the freight common carrier for the 
rail line the runs from Novato (MP B25.6) to just east of the Napa River (MP B49.80) and from Larkspur 
(MP 15) to the Sonoma/ Mendocino County line (MP 89). NWPCo. continued to operate the line and 
collect the associated revenues until March 1, 2022, when final close took place. SMART hired a 3rd party 
operator to operate freight services on behalf of SMART until SMART could onboard the necessary 
employees to run the freight operations in-house. On July 1, 2022, SMART took over operations with 
internal staff.    

Financial Statistics - Freight 

Total revenues for Freight service were $2.3 million or $2.5 million less than Fiscal Year 2023.
Operating expenses were $2.3 million which was $1.6 million less than Fiscal Year 2023.
Assets decreased by $1.9 million or 12% from Fiscal Year 2023.
Assets exceeded liabilities at the close of the year ended June 30, 2024, by $13 million (net
position). Of this amount, $1.2 million is unrestricted.

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to the District’s basic financial 
statements which are comprised of financial statements and the notes to the basic financial statements. 
the District provides its financial information utilizing enterprise fund reporting. This type of fund 
reporting is used for funds whose activities are financed with bonds secured solely by a pledge of net 
revenues from fees or charges of the activity and for which fees are designed to recover costs, as a 
matter of policy. These requirements apply to the District. 

Basic Financial Statements 

The financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the District’s 
finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net position presents information on all the District’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflow of resources, with the difference between the four reported 
as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating. 

The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position presents information showing how 
the District’s net position changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon 
as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash 
flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected rental revenue and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Page 107 of 324



6 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the financial statements. The notes can be found on pages 21-46 
of this report. 

Analysis of the Financial Statements 

The financial statements provide both short-term and long-term information about the District’s overall 
financial condition. This analysis addresses the financial statements of the District as a whole. As noted 
earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. The 
District’s net position was $617.1 million on June 30, 2024. 

The largest portion of the District’s net position (77%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
stations, track and crossings, pathway, bridges, and tunnels (net of capital related debt). The District 
uses these capital assets to provide passenger rail services to its customers and a pathway for the 
general public; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. 

Passenger and Freight Combined - Statement 
of Net Position

2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Assets
Current and Other Assets 163,323,762$  148,653,566$ 14,670,196$  10%
Capital Assets 553,280,226$  536,761,589$ 16,518,637$  3%
Net Pension Asset -$                 -$               -$               0%
Lease Receivable 1,719,769$      1,925,885$     (206,116)$      -11%
Total Assets 718,323,757$  687,341,040$ 30,982,717$  5%

Total Defferred Outflows of Resources 4,919,410$      4,804,465$     114,945$       2%

Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities Outstanding 69,628,377$    84,302,027$   (14,673,650)$ -17%
Other Liabilities 30,622,742$    24,874,421$   5,748,321$    23%
Total Liabilities 100,251,119$  109,176,448$ (8,925,329)$   -8%

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 5,940,193$      6,519,478$     (579,285)$      -9%

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 472,382,722$  442,223,308$ 30,159,414$  7%
Restricted 5,509,878$      8,244,508$     (2,734,630)$   -33%
Unrestricted 139,159,255$  125,981,763$ 13,177,492$  10%
Total Net Position 617,051,855$  576,449,579$ 40,602,276$  7%

Business-Type Activities

Page 108 of 324



7 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Statement of Net Position 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The District’s net position increased $40.6 million during the year ended June 30, 2024, due mainly to 
the increase in capital assets and a decrease in bonds payable in passenger rail.   

Passenger and Freight Combined - Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 

Position
2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Operating Revenues
Passenger Fares 2,192,252$      1,800,747$     391,505$     22%
Freight Movement Revenue 683,148$    743,555$      (60,407)$      -8%
Other Operating Revenue 267,750$    972,974$      (705,224)$    -72%
Total Operating Revenue 3,143,150$      3,517,276$     (374,126)$    -11%

Operating Expenses
Salaries and Employee Benefits 25,837,387$    26,041,905$   (204,518)$    -1%
Depreciation and Amoritization 20,471,810$    19,377,343$   1,094,467$    6%
Other Operating Expenses 14,780,262$    16,544,635$   (1,764,373)$   -11%
Total Operating Expenses 61,089,459$    61,963,883$   (874,424)$    -1%

Operating Loss (57,946,309)$   (58,446,607)$  500,298$     -1%

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Sales & Use Taxes 48,837,349$    49,649,375$   (812,026)$    -2%
State and Federal Operating Assistance 13,267,742$    24,663,720$   (11,395,978)$ -46%
Other Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses 4,574,509$      (193,798)$       4,768,307$    -2460%
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 66,679,600$    74,119,297$   (7,439,697)$   -10%

Total Capital Contributions 31,868,985$    4,042,069$     27,826,916$  688%

Change in Net Position 40,602,276$    19,714,759$   20,887,517$  106%

Net Position - Beginning 576,449,579$  556,734,820$ 19,714,759$  4%

Net Position - Ending 617,051,855$  576,449,579$ 40,602,276$  7%

Business-Type Activities

Page 109 of 324



8 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Fiscal Year 2024 Revenues 

Combined Passenger and Freight 

The District’s revenues are categorized as either operating or non-operating. The chart below shows 
total revenues for both passenger and freight for both Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal Year 2023. Overall 
revenues increased by $20.1 million or 24% in Fiscal Year 2024 

Passenger 

Operating revenues of $2,857,823 consisting of fare, advertising, parking, and other revenues are
directly generated by operations and ownership of property within the District. This figure is
$537,498 higher than Fiscal Year 2023 which is due to higher fare revenues due to increased
ridership.

Non-operating revenues of $66,470,288 are comprised of sales tax, state and federal operating
assistance, investment income, and miscellaneous revenue.

o Sales tax, the District’s single largest ongoing source of revenue decreased by 2%.
o Investment earnings were significantly higher $5,181,447 in Fiscal Year 2024 than in Fiscal

Year 2023 due to an increased fund balance and much higher interest rates.

Capital contributions of $31.9 million are $27.8 million higher than the year ended June 30, 2023.  This is 
due to several large projects which are currently underway:  Windsor Extension, Petaluma North 
Station, Sonoma County Pathways, and McInnis to Smith Ranch Pathway. 

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %
Operating Revenues
Passenger Fares 2,192,252$       1,800,747$       391,505$           22%
Freight Movement Fees 683,148$      743,555$      (60,407)$           -8%
Other Services 267,750$      138,166$      129,584$           94%
Total Operating Revenues 3,143,150$       2,682,468$       460,682$           17%
Non-Operating Revenues
Sales & Use Tax 48,837,349$     49,649,375$     (812,026)$         -2%
State Operating Assistance 9,241,054$       13,307,756$     (4,066,702)$         -31%
Federal Operating Assistance 4,026,688$       11,355,964$     (7,329,276)$         -65%
Investment Earnings (loss) 5,181,447$       839,529$      4,341,918$           517%
Interest Earnings 40,586$        41,136$    (550)$        -1%
Miscellaneous 537,626$      711,820$      (174,194)$         -24%
Rent Income 699,927$      834,808$      (134,881)$         -16%
Gain/ Loss  on Sale of Asset (5,036)$     32,613$    27,577$        85%
Total Non-Operating Revenues 68,559,641$     76,773,001$     (8,148,134)$         -11%
Capital Contributions 31,868,985$     4,042,069$       27,826,916$         688%
Total Revenues 103,571,776$      83,497,538$     20,139,464$         24%

Page 110 of 324



9 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %
Operating Revenues
Passenger Fares 2,192,252$       1,800,747$       391,505$           22%
Rent Income 428,852$      390,448$      38,404$        10%
Other Services 236,719$      129,130$      107,589$           83%
Total Operating Revenues 2,857,823$       2,320,325$       537,498$           23%
Non-Operating Revenues
Sales & Use Tax 48,837,349$     49,649,375$     (812,026)$         -2%
State Operating Assistance 8,108,674$       9,883,519$       (1,774,845)$         -18%
Federal Operating Assistance 4,026,688$       11,355,964$     (7,329,276)$         -65%
Investment Earnings (loss) 5,181,447$       839,529$      4,341,918$           517%
Interest Earnings 34,950$        36,178$    (1,228)$         -3%
Miscellaneous 286,216$      454,896$      (168,680)$         -37%
Gain/ Loss  on Sale of Asset (5,036)$     32,613$    27,577$        85%
Total Non-Operating Revenues 66,470,288$     72,252,074$     (5,716,560)$         -8%
Capital Contributions 31,868,985$     4,042,069$       27,826,916$         688%
Total Revenues 101,197,096$      78,614,468$     22,647,854$         29%

Page 111 of 324



10

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Freight 

Operating revenues of $714,179 consisting of freight movement fees, storage fees, lease income,
and other revenues are directly generated by operations. This figure is $38,412 lower than Fiscal
Year 2023.  This is a result of lower expenditures; therefore, utilizing lower state operating
assistance.
Non-operating revenues of $1,609,377 is comprised of state grants and proceeds from the sale of
45(g) tax credits.
There were no capital contributions in Fiscal Year 2024.

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %
Operating Revenues
Freight Movement Fees 683,148$      743,555$      (60,407)$           -8%
Other Services 31,031$        9,036$      21,995$        243%
Total Operating Revenues 714,179$      752,591$      (38,412)$           -5%
Non-Operating Revenues
State Operating Assistance 1,132,380$       3,424,237$       (2,291,857)$         -67%
Interest Earnings 5,636$      4,958$      678$          14%
Rent Income/Expense 219,951$      444,360$      (224,409)$         -51%
Miscellaneous 251,410$      256,924$      (5,514)$         -2%
Total Non-Operating Revenues 1,609,377$       4,130,479$       (2,521,102)$         -61%
Total Revenues 2,323,556$       4,883,070$       (2,559,514)$         -52%

Page 112 of 324



11

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Fiscal Year 2024 Expenses 

The District’s largest operating expense is salaries and benefits which make up 64% of total operating 
less depreciation. The chart below shows total operating expenses for both passenger and freight for 
both Fiscal Year 2024 and Fiscal Year 2023. Overall operating expense (less depreciation) decreased by 
$2 million or 5% in Fiscal Year 2024.  Most of the decrease was in freight operations.  See explanation 
below. 

Combined Passenger and Freight 

Passenger 

The District’s passenger division had operating expenses of $58,764,024 tied to salaries,
benefits, services and supplies and depreciation and amortization.
Salaries and benefits were down slightly (1%) over ended June 30, 2023, by $242,005 mainly due
to some vacancy savings.
Services and supplies when combined with miscellaneous expenses were $13,365,350 or 1%
lower than Fiscal Year 2023.

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Salaries and Benefits 24,927,610$         25,169,615$         (242,005)$             -1%
Service and Supplies 13,003,636$         13,474,761$         (471,125)$             -3%
Miscellaneous 361,714$        33,729$          327,985$               100%
Total Operating Expense 38,292,960$         38,678,105$         (385,145)$             -1%
Depreciation 20,471,064$         19,377,343$         1,093,721$           6%
Total Operating + Depreciation 58,764,024$         58,055,448$         708,576$              1%

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Salaries and Benefits 25,837,387$         26,041,905$    (204,518)$        -1%
Service and Supplies 14,317,026$         16,544,635$    (2,227,609)$         -13%
Miscellaneous 463,236$       72,733$    390,503$          100%
Total Operating Expense 40,617,649$         42,659,273$    (2,041,624)$         -5%
Depreciation 20,471,810$         19,377,343$    1,094,467$           6%
Total Operating + Depreciation 61,089,459$         62,036,616$    (947,157)$        -2%

Page 113 of 324



12

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Freight 

The District’s freight operations had expenses of $2,325,435 tied to salaries, benefits, services,
supplies, and depreciation.
Salaries and benefits increased by 4% over the year ended June 30, 2023, by $37,487.
Services and supplies when combined with miscellaneous expenses decreased by $1,694,006.
This was due to an effort to only due the bare minimum required to operate and maintain the
freight system in order to reduce the amount of state grant funds that were utilized.

Category 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Salaries and Benefits 909,777$        872,290$        37,487$          4%
Service and Supplies 1,313,390$           3,069,874$           (1,756,484)$          -57%
Miscellaneous 101,522$        39,044$          62,478$          100%
Total Operating Expense 2,324,689$           3,981,208$           (1,656,519)$          -42%
Depreciation 746$        -$         746$               100%
Total Operating + Depreciation 2,325,435$           3,981,208$           (1,655,773)$          -42%

Page 114 of 324



13

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Capital Assets 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Capital Assets 

The District’s capital assets, as of June 30, 2024, are $541,563,377 (net of accumulated depreciation and 
amortization) which is an increase of $4.8 million over June 30, 2023.  This is due to a large number of 
projects in progress to include the Windsor Extension, the Petaluma North Station, and several pathway 
segments. 

Passenger and Freight Combined - Capital 
Assets 2024 2023 Inc/(Dec) $ Inc/(Dec) %

Assets
Land 43,563,026$    50,859,762$            (7,296,736)$     -14%
Intangible Assets 25,370$           4,019,770$              (3,994,400)$     -99%
Construction in Progress 67,668,776$    31,562,371$            36,106,405$     114%
Total Nondepreciable Captial Assets 111,257,172$  86,441,903$            24,815,269$     29%

Infrasturcture 297,864,585$  312,489,943$          (14,625,358)$   -5%
Buildings and Improvements 73,780,185$    77,871,372$            (4,091,187)$     -5%
Equipment 6,982,131$      6,323,304$              658,827$          10%
Non-Revenue Vehicles 1,162,594$      694,749$  467,845$          67%
Revenue Vehicles 48,609,717$    50,688,174$            (2,078,457)$     -4%
Intangible Assets 23,135$           62,795$  (39,660)$          -63%
Right-to-use Lease 1,883,858$      2,189,349$              (305,491)$        -14%
Total Net Depreciable Capital Assets 430,306,205$  450,319,686$          (20,013,481)$   -4%

Total Capital Assets, Net of Depreciation 541,563,377$  536,761,589$          4,801,788$       1%

Page 115 of 324



14

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Additional information on the District’s capital assets can be found in Note 3 of the notes to the basic 
financial statements. 

Debt 

The District had $77,545,000 in bonds outstanding June 30, 2024, compared to $92,310,000 on June 30, 
2023.  Additional information on the District’s long-term debt can be found in Note 4. 

Economy 

The District operations rely directly on the strength of its designated Measure Q sales and use tax 
receipts which provides approximately half of its total revenues on an ongoing basis. The strength of this 
revenue source is dependent on the economic health of the two counties of the District, particularly 
employment rates and job growth. While sales taxes have leveled out since the large percentage growth 
in Fiscal Years 2021 and 2022, both counties continue to have low unemployment rates and around 2% 
to 3% job growth. 

Request for Additional Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District’s finances. Questions 
concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information 
should be addressed to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District, Chief Financial Officer, 5401 Old 
Redwood Highway, Suite 200, Petaluma, CA 94954. 

Page 116 of 324



See Notes to Financial Statements 15 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Statement of Net Position 

As of June 30, 2024 

Passenger Freight Total
Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalent 100,698,818$      2,056,317$       102,755,135$    
Restricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments 5,957,530         - 5,957,530 
Sales tax receivables 8,572,259 - 8,572,259 
Due from other governments 37,627,258 33,490 37,660,748
Lease receivables 73,294        64,293  137,587 
Other receivables 759,723 231,573 991,296   
Deposits with others 1,419,152 - 1,419,152 
Inventory 2,787,504         - 2,787,504 
Interest receivable 2,745 1,085 3,830
Prepaid Expenses 3,029,680 9,041 3,038,721 

Total current assets 160,927,963    2,395,799   163,323,762   
Noncurrent Assets

Lease receivables 1,586,895   132,874   1,719,769   
Capital assets not depreciated 111,257,172 11,292,136 122,549,308   
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 430,306,205 424,713 430,730,918   

Total noncurrent assets 543,150,272    11,849,723   554,999,995   
Total assets 704,078,235    14,245,522   718,323,757   

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Pension related 3,528,454   - 3,528,454 
OPEB related 1,390,956   - 1,390,956 

 Total deferred ou lows of resources 4,919,410   - 4,919,410 
Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 11,542,817   67,284  11,610,101  
Accrued liabilities 377,020   366,310 743,330   
Bonds payable - current 15,580,000   - 15,580,000
Due to State 1,068 - 1,068 
Interest payable 447,652 - 447,652 
Unearned revenue 3,472  606,785   610,257 
Total OPEB liability - current 3,672  - 3,672 
Compensated absences 1,222,457 25,450 1,247,907 
Leases payable 382,427 - 382,427 

Total current liabilities 29,560,585   1,065,829   30,626,414  
Noncurrent Liabilities

Compensated absences 395,261 26,574 421,835   
Bonds payable 61,965,000   - 61,965,000
Leases payable 1,373,982 - 1,373,982 
Other noncurrent liabilities 186,472   - 186,472 
Net Pension liability 3,028,398 - 3,028,398 
Total OPEB liability 2,649,018 - 2,649,018 

Total noncurrent liabilities 69,598,131   26,574  69,624,705  
Total liabilities 99,158,716   1,092,403   100,251,119   

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Lease related 1,580,844   191,625   1,772,469   
OPEB related 4,143,648   - 4,143,648 
Pension related 24,076   - 24,076

 Total deferred in ows of resources 5,748,568   191,625   5,940,193   
Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 460,670,049    11,712,673   472,382,722   
Restricted for 

Debt service 5,509,878   - 5,509,878 
Unrestricted 137,910,434    1,248,821   139,159,255

Total net position 604,090,361$      12,961,494$     617,051,855$    

Page 117 of 324



See Notes to Financial Statements 16 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Passenger Freight Total 

Operating Revenues
Charges for services

Passenger fares 2,192,252$       -$   2,192,252$       
Other services 236,719 31,031     267,750    
Freight movement - 683,148 683,148    

Total Operating Revenues 2,428,971    714,179   3,143,150     

Operating Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 24,927,610 909,777   25,837,387  
Services and supplies 13,003,636     1,313,390    14,317,026  
Depreciation and amortization 20,471,064     746 20,471,810  
Miscellaneous 361,714 101,522 463,236    

Total Operating Expenses 58,764,024     2,325,435    61,089,459  

Operating Loss (56,335,053)    (1,611,256)   (57,946,309)     

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Sales and use taxes 48,837,349 - 48,837,349
State operating assistance 8,108,674 1,132,380 9,241,054 
Federal operating assistance 4,026,688 - 4,026,688 
Rent income 428,852 271,075   699,927 
Rent expense (77,285)    (51,124)    (128,409) 
Investment earnings 5,181,447 - 5,181,447 
Interest earnings 34,950 5,636 40,586
Miscellaneous revenues 286,216 251,410 537,626 
Loss on sale of asset (5,036)  - (5,036) 
Impairment of capital assets (237,008)  - (237,008) 
Interest expense (1,514,624)  - (1,514,624)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 65,070,223     1,609,377    66,679,600  

Income Before Capital Contributions 8,735,170    (1,879)  8,733,291     

Capital Contributions
State of California 25,292,092 - 25,292,092
State of Good Repair 330,712   - 330,712 
Sonoma County Transportation Authority - Measure M 974,254   - 974,254 
Federal 1,174,803 - 1,174,803 
Other governmental agencies 4,097,124 - 4,097,124 

Total Capital Contributions 31,868,985     - 31,868,985

Change In Net Position 40,604,155     (1,879)  40,602,276  

Net Position-Beginning 563,486,206 12,963,373 576,449,579    

Net Position-Ending 604,090,361$   12,961,494$    617,051,855$   

Page 118 of 324



See Notes to Financial Statements 17 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Passenger Freight Total

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Receipts from customers 2,192,252$      867,005$     3,059,257$      
Receipts from others 236,719  -  236,719 
Payments to suppliers for goods and services (5,775,246)   (1,963,314)  (7,738,560) 
Cash payments to employees for services (25,436,606)  (871,328)   (26,307,934)

Net Cash Used for Operating Activities (28,782,881)  (1,967,637)  (30,750,518)  

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities 
Sales tax received 49,083,420  -  49,083,420 
State operating assistance 8,533,505  33,490   8,566,995 
Federal operating assistance (21,416,108)  (33,490)   (21,449,598)
Miscellaneous Revenues -   -    -  
Cash paid on projects on behalf of other governments (5,036)   -  (5,036)
Cash receipts for third party infrastructure 283,426  251,410  534,836   

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital and Financing Activities 36,479,207  251,410  36,730,617  

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (38,289,993)  (425,459)   (38,715,452)  
Gain from sale of capital asset (237,008)  -  (237,008) 
Capital grants received restricted for capital purposes 31,868,985  -  31,868,985 
Interest received as lessor 34,950   5,636   40,586      
Cash received as lessor 392,626  269,374  662,000   
Cash paid as lessee (442,689)  (51,124)   (493,813)  
Principal payments on long-term debt (14,765,000)  -  (14,765,000)
Interest paid on capital debt (1,567,706)   -  (1,567,706) 

Net Cash Used for Capital and Related Financing Activities (23,005,835)  (201,573)   (23,207,408)  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
Investment income (loss) 4,928,638  182  4,928,820  

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities 4,928,638  182  4,928,820  

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (10,380,871)  (1,917,618)  (12,298,489)  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 117,037,219  3,973,935   121,011,154  

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 106,656,348$ 2,056,317$    108,712,665$ 

Reconciliation to the Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents 100,698,818$ 2,056,317$    102,755,135$ 
Restricted Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments with Trustee 5,957,530  -  5,957,530 

Total cash and cash equivalents 106,656,348$ 2,056,317$    108,712,665$ 

Page 119 of 324



See Notes to Financial Statements 18 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Reconciliation of the Operating Loss to Net Cash 
Used for operating activities Passenger Freight Total

Operating loss (56,335,053)$  (1,611,256)$    (57,946,309)$  
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used for operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 20,471,064  746   20,471,810     

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (478,088)  101,218     (376,870)  
(Increase) decrease in lease receivables

 and related deferred inflow of resources -  
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 766    152,826     153,592   
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable

and other accrued liabilities 6,540,165    (649,620)    5,890,545   
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences 208,987   38,449    247,436   
Increase (decrease) 

in net post-employment benefits obligation 286,765   -  286,765
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability

 and related deferred outflow/inflow of resources 522,513   -  522,513

Net cash used by operating activities (28,782,881)$  (1,967,637)$    (30,750,518)$  

Schedule of Non-Cash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities Passenger Freight Total
Unrealized loss on investments 1,839,094$      -$  1,839,094$      

Changes in operating assets, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and deferred outflows of resources

Page 120 of 324



19 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Note 1 -  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

A. Reporting entity

The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (District) was formed in January 2003 by provisions of
the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District Act, as successor to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit
Commission and the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Authority in the California Counties of Sonoma
and Marin. Its purpose, as defined by the State, is to provide for a unified, comprehensive
institutional structure for the ownership and governance of a passenger rail system within the
Counties of Sonoma and Marin that shall operate in concert with existing freight service that
operates upon the same rail line and serves the Counties of Humboldt, Marin, Mendocino, Napa and
Sonoma. The District also owns and is constructing additional portions of a multiuse non-motorized
pathway within its right-of-way. The District is governed by a 12-member Board of Directors
consisting of two supervisors each from the counties of Marin and Sonoma, two members from the
Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District, and six members representing
jurisdictions within the District.

B. Fund Accounting

The District uses proprietary (enterprise) funds to account for its activities. An enterprise fund may
be used to report any activity for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services.
Enterprise funds are required for any activity whose principal external revenue sources meet any of
the following criteria: (1) issued debt is backed solely by fees and charges, (2) the cost of providing
services for any activity (including capital costs such as depreciation or debt service) must be legally
recovered through fees or charges, or (3) if the government’s policy is to establish activity fees or
charges designed to recover the cost of providing services.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating from nonoperating revenues and expenses. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating
revenues of the District are charges for services for transit fares and freight operations. Operating
expenses for the District include operating and maintaining passenger railway and administrative
expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition
are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

C. Basis of Presentation

The District's financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the
District are included on the statement of net position. Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Sales taxes are recorded when earned and reported as non-operating revenue. Grants and similar
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have
been met.

Page 121 of 324



20 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

D. Cash Equivalents

The District considers highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents. The District’s cash and investments in the Sonoma County
Treasury Pool (Treasury Pool) are, in substance, demand deposits and are considered cash
equivalents.

E. Investments

The District measures its investments at fair value and categorizes its fair value measurements
within the fair value hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based
measurement, using observable market transactions or available market information. The District’s
investments in the Sonoma County investment pool are uncategorized because deposits to and from
the pool are made on the basis of $1 and not at fair value.

F. Restricted Cash and Investments with Trustee

Assets whose use is restricted to specific purposes by bond indenture or otherwise are segregated
on the statement of net position. These assets are primarily restricted for direct project-related
expenses and debt service purposes. Bond interest and redemption represent funds accumulated
for debt service payments due in the next twelve months and reserve funds set aside to make up
potential future deficiencies. Restricted accounts consisting of highly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash equivalents.

G. Receivables

Receivables consist of amounts owed to SMART by other governmental agencies and the public.
Amounts due from other governments are considered fully collectible. Accounts receivable from the
public include reimbursements from other entities for services provided or for use of SMART owned
assets. An allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is established when, based upon a review of
outstanding accounts and the failure of all collection efforts, management determines that
collection may not occur.

Page 122 of 324



21 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

H. Capital Assets

Capital assets are tangible and intangible assets which include land, facilities, infrastructure,
equipment, leases as lessee, easements, and construction in progress (CIP). It is the District’s policy
to capitalize qualifying assets with a cost of $5,000 or more and a useful life of more than one year.
Capital assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not
available (except for intangible right-to-use lease/SBITA assets, the measurement of which is
discussed in paragraph O below). Betterments and major improvements that significantly increase
value, change capacity, or extend the useful life are capitalized. Donated capital assets are reported
based on their acquisition value at the date of acquisition.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over their useful lives, except for land
and construction in progress, which are not depreciated. The useful life for revenue and non-
revenue vehicles is determined based on the Federal Transit Administration’s Default Useful Life
Benchmark. SMART uses the IRS Publication 946 for all other class lives. Land, CIP, and intangible
assets with an indefinite useful life are not depreciated.

I. Compensated Absences

It is the District’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay
benefits. All vacation pay reported in the basic financial statements is accrued when earned.
Twenty-five percent of sick leave is payable on termination and is accrued as it is earned.

Employee compensated absences liabilities as of June 30, 2024 are as follows:

Balance Balance Due in
July 1, 2023 Additions Deductions June 30, 2024 One Year

Compensated absences 1,447,505$      222,237$     -$   1,669,742$      1,247,907$      

Total 1,447,505$      222,237$     -$   1,669,742$      1,247,907$      

Page 123 of 324



22 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

J. Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the District carries commercial
insurance, including, but not limited to, comprehensive railroad liability and other relevant liability
policies, automobile, employment and workers compensation policies. In addition, the District has
policies and procedures that ensure appropriate insurance coverage and risk procedures for third-
party service providers doing work on behalf of the agency. The District did not settle any claims
that exceeded the District’s insurance coverage during the past three years, nor did it reduce its
insurance coverage from the prior year.

K. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts and disclosures at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

L. Deferred Inflow/Outflow of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position includes a separate section for deferred
outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of net assets that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until
then. The District has two items that qualify for reporting in this category; deferred amounts related
to pension and OPEB. The deferred amounts related to pension and OPEB relate differences
between estimated and actual investment earnings, changes in actuarial assumptions, and other
pension and OPEB related changes.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position includes a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until
that time. The District has three items that qualify for reporting in this category; deferred amounts
related to leases, pension and OPEB.

Page 124 of 324



23 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

M. Net Position

The difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources is called net position. Net position is comprised of three components: net
investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted.

Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization and reduced by outstanding balances of bonds, notes, lease liabilities and other debt
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt are included in this component of net
position.

Restricted net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources related to those assets. Assets are reported as restricted when constraints are placed on
asset use either by external parties or by law through constitutional provision or enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities,
and deferred inflows of resources that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories.

Sometimes the District will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted
bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as
restricted net position and unrestricted net position, a flow assumption must be made about the
order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the District’s policy to consider
restricted net position to have been depleted before unrestricted net position is applied.

N. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The District
categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy categorizes the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value into three levels based on the extent to which inputs used in
measuring fair value are observable in the market.

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 inputs are inputs – other than quoted prices included within level 1 – that are observable
for an asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

If the fair value of an asset or liability is measured using inputs from more than one level of the fair 
value hierarchy, the measurement is considered to be based on the lowest priority level input that is 
significant to the entire measurement. 

Page 125 of 324



24 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

O. Leases and Subscription Based Information Technology Arrangements

As Lessee: The District is a lessee for a noncancellable building lease. The District recognizes a lease
liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset (lease asset) in its financial statement.

At the commencement of a lease/subscription based information technology arrangement (SBITA),
the District initially measures the lease/SBITA liability at the present value of payments expected to
be made during the lease/SBITA term. Subsequently, the lease/SBITA liability is reduced by the
principal portion of lease/subscription payments made. The lease/SBITA asset is initially measured
as the initial amount of the lease/SBITA liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the
lease/subscription commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, the lease
asset/SBITA is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life.

Key estimates and judgments related to leases include how the District determines (1) the discount
rate it uses to discount the expected lease/subscription payments to present value, (2)
lease/subscription term, and (3) lease/subscription payments.

The District uses its estimated bond borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases with
adjustment for the applicable lease/subscription terms.
The lease/subscription term includes the noncancellable period of the lease/SBITA.
Lease/subscription payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are
composed of fixed payments and purchase option price that the District is reasonably
certain to exercise.

The District monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its 
lease/SBITA and will remeasure the asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to 
significantly affect the amounts. 

Lease/subscription assets are reported with noncurrent capital assets and lease/subscription 
liabilities are reported with long-term debt as current and noncurrent liabilities on the statement of 
net position. 

As Lessor: The District is a lessor for 10 noncancellable land leases and infrastructure related sites. 
Accordingly, the District recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. 

Page 126 of 324



25 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

At the commencement of a lease, the District initially measures the lease receivable at the present 
value of payments expected to be received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease 
receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflows of 
resources are initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable, adjusted for lease 
payments received at or before the lease commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow 
of resources is recognized as revenue over the life of the lease term. 

Key estimates and judgments include how the District determines (1) the discount rate it uses to 
discount the expected lease receipts to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease receipts. 

The District uses the U.S. Treasury state and local government securities (SLGS) rates as the
discount rate for leases with adjustment for applicable lease terms.
The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease receipts included in
the measurement of the lease receivable is composed of fixed payments from the lessee.

The District monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and 
will remeasure the lease receivable and deferred inflows of resources if certain changes occur that 
are expected to significantly affect the amount of the lease receivable. 

Note 2 -  Cash and Investments 

Cash and investments are carried at fair value and are categorized as follows on June 30, 2024: 

 Available for 
Operations 

 Held by 
Trustee  Total

Sonoma County Treasury Pool 89,244,595$    5,957,530$      95,202,125$    
Deposits with financial institutions 13,510,540      - 13,510,540 

Total cash and investments 102,755,135$  5,957,530$      108,712,665$  

A. Investments Authorized by the District’s Investment Policy

Investments are guided by the District investment policy adopted each year with the budget. The
policy outlines the guidelines and practices to be used in effectively managing the District’s available
cash and investment portfolio. District funds that are not required for immediate cash requirements
are to be invested in compliance with the California Code Section 53600, et seq. In accordance with
California Government Code Section 53600.5, and in order of importance, the Chief Financial Officer
is required to adhere to the following three criteria: (a) Safety of Principal (b) Liquidity (c) Return on
Investment.

The District’s investments beyond those needed for near-term requirements are invested with the
Sonoma County Treasury Pool which adheres to California Government Code.

Page 127 of 324



26 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

B. Investments Authorized by Debt Agreements

The District must maintain required amounts of cash and investments with fiscal agents under the
terms of certain debt issues. These funds are unexpended bond proceeds. The California
Government Code requires these funds to be invested per the District’s Policy, bond indentures or
State Statute. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for investments
held by fiscal agents. The table also identifies certain provisions of these debt agreements:

Maximum Minimum Maximum
Remaining Credit Percentage
Maturity Quality of Portfolio

Local Agency Bonds 5 Years None None 
U.S. Treasury Obligations 5 Years None None 
State Obligations: CA and Others 5 Years None None 
CA Local Agency Obligations 5 Years None None 
U.S. Agency Obligations 5 Years None None 
Bankers’ Acceptances 180 days None 40%
Commercial Paper: Non-pooled Funds (Under $100k) 270 days AAA 25%
Commercial Paper: Non-pooled Funds (Over $100k) 270 days AAA 40%
Commercial Paper: Pooled Funds 270 days AAA 40%
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 Years None 30%
Non-negotiable Certificates of Deposit 5 Years None None 
Placement Service Deposits 5 Years None 50%
Placement Service Certificates of Deposit 5 Years None 50%
Repurchase Agreements 1 year None None
Reverse Repurchase Agreements and Securities Lending Agreements 92 days None 20%
Medium-term Notes 5 years A 30%
Mutual Funds and Money Market Mutual Funds N/A Multiple 20%
Collateralized Bank Deposits 5 years None None
Mortgage Pass–through and Asset Backed Securities 5 years AA 20%
County Pooled Investment Funds N/A None None
Joint Powers Authority Pool N/A Multiple None
Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) N/A None None
Voluntary Investment Program Fund N/A None None
Supranational Obligations 5 years AA 30%
Public Bank Obligations 5 years None None

Authorized
Investment Type

Page 128 of 324



27 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

C. Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the fair value
of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of
its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The District manages its exposure to interest rate
risk by investing in the County of Sonoma Treasury Investment Pool. The sensitivity of the fair values
of the District's investments to market interest rate fluctuation is measured as the weighted average
maturity of the investment portfolio, which was 664 days on June 30, 2024.

D. Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the
holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized
statistical rating organization. The Treasury Pool does not have a rating provided by a nationally
recognized statistical rating organization.

E. Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial
institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The California Government Code
and the District’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the
exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the following provision: the California
Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made by state or local
governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a depository
regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value of the
pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the total amount deposited by
the public agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure deposits by pledging
first trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits.

As of June 30, 2024, $13,259,743 of depository balances were exposed to custodial credit risk
because they were uninsured and collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial
institution’s trust department or agent, but not in the name of the District.

F. Fair Value Hierarchy

The District categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments based on the hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy, which has three
levels, is based on the valuation inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value. The following provides
a summary of the hierarchy used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the District has the ability to
access at the measurement date. Level 1 assets may include debt and equity securities that are
traded in an active exchange market and that are highly liquid and are actively traded in over-the-
counter markets.

Page 129 of 324



28 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to Financial Statements 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, or other
inputs that are observable, such as interest rates and curves observable at commonly quoted
intervals, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. For financial reporting purposes, if an asset has a
specified term, a Level 2 input is required to be observable for substantially the full term of the
asset.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs should be developed using the best information available under the
circumstances, which might include the Commission’s own data.

Deposits and withdrawals in the Sonoma County Treasury Investment Pool are made on the basis of 
$1 and not fair value. Accordingly, the District’s proportionate share of investments on 
June 30, 2024, is an uncategorized input not defined as a Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 input. 

Page 130 of 324



29 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Note 3 -  Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024, was as follows: 

Passenger Fund Balance Balance
July 1, 2023 Additions Deductions Transfer June 30, 2024

Capital assets not being depreciated 
Land 43,567,626$      -$    -$  (4,600)$   43,563,026$       
Intangible assets 19,770   - -  5,600   25,370  
Construction in progress 31,562,371    36,106,405   -  -  67,668,776   

Total capital assets
not being depreciated 75,149,767    36,106,405   - 1,000 111,257,172   

Capital assets being depreciated 
Infrastructure 499,097,381  50,747   - (114,673,794) 384,474,334   
Buildings and improvements 24,868,302    -   -  75,678,950 100,547,252   
Equipment and vehicles 11,723,048    266,639   - (687,118) 11,302,569   
Revenue vehicles 62,353,699    -   -  -  62,353,699   
Non-Revenue vehicles - 614,548 (222,199)   2,003,002   2,395,351  
Intangible assets 387,672   -   -  -  387,672  
Right-to-use lease - Building 2,800,330    -   -  -  2,800,330  

Total capital assets being
depreciated 601,230,432  931,934   (222,199)   (37,678,960)  564,261,207   

Total capital assets 676,380,199  37,038,339   (222,199)   (37,677,960)  675,518,379   

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Infrastructure (127,828,783)   (13,210,977)  - 54,430,011 (86,609,749)  
Buildings and improvements (5,775,585)  (4,091,187)  - (16,900,295) (26,767,067)  
Equipment and vehicles (4,704,995)  (651,642)    - 1,036,199 (4,320,438)    
Revenue vehicles (11,665,525)   (2,078,457)  - - (13,743,982)  
Non-Revenue vehicles - (93,650)  222,199  (1,361,306)    (1,232,757)    
Intangible assets (324,877)    (39,660)    -  -  (364,537)  
Right-to-use lease - Building (610,981)    (305,491)    -  -  (916,472)  

Total accumulated
depreciation and amortization (150,910,746)   (20,471,064)  222,199  37,204,609  (133,955,002)  

Capital assets, net 525,469,453$        16,567,275$     -$   (473,351)$     541,563,377$         

Page 131 of 324



30 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Freight Fund Balance Balance
July 1, 2023 Additions Deductions Transfer June 30, 2024

Capital assets not being depreciated 
Land 7,292,136$     -$     -$  -$  7,292,136$     
Intangible assets 4,000,000    - -   - 4,000,000     

Total capital assets
not being depreciated 11,292,136     -    -   -     11,292,136   

Capital assets being depreciated 
Infrastructure -     -    -   37,508,834      37,508,834   
Non-Revenue Vehicles -     -    -   169,127   169,127     

Total capital assets being
depreciated -     -    -   37,677,961      37,677,961   

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Infrastructure -     -    -   (37,087,406)    (37,087,406)  
Non-Revenue Vehicles - (746) - (165,096) (165,842)   

Total accumulated
depreciation and amortization - (746) -   -     (37,253,248)  

Capital assets, net 11,292,136$      (746)$    -$  37,677,961$       11,716,849$   

Page 132 of 324



31 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Note 4 -  Long Term Debt  

A. Composition and Changes

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 was as follows:

Original  Balance Due in 
Borrowing July 1, 2023 Additions Reductions June 20, 2024 One Year

Long-Term Liabilities
Measure Q Sales Tax Revenue 

Series 2020A 0.45-2.09%, 
due 3/1/2029 122,970,000$    92,310,000$      -$    14,765,000$   77,545,000$     15,580,000$   

Leases 2,887,551    2,121,813           - 365,404 1,756,409     382,427   

Total 125,857,551$    94,431,813$      -$      15,130,404$   79,301,409$     15,962,427$   

Refunding Bonds (Green Bonds) 

B. Description of District’s Long-Term Debt Issues

Measure Q Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (Green Bonds) Series 2020A – In October 2020, the
District issued $122,970,000 in variable rate Measure Q Sales Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (Green
Bonds) Series 2020A. Although the Initial Series 2020A Bonds have a maturity date of March 1, 2029,
they had certain provisions that allowed the District to remarket them. The Bonds will bear interest
between 0.449%-2.088%% and mature by March 1, 2029.

The bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the District. The total
projected Measure Q sales tax revenue, as projected in the 2024 Capital Improvement Plan, is
expected to approximate $384 million over the eight-year life of the tax, which is sufficient to repay
the estimated debt service, including interest. The Measure Q Sales Tax revenue recognized during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024 was $48,837,349 whereas debt service on the Measure Q bonds
was $14,765,000 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024.

Page 133 of 324



32 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The following table presents the District’s aggregate annual amount of principal and interest 
payments required to amortize the outstanding debt as of June 30, 2024: 

For The Year
Ending June 30 Principal Interest

2025 15,580,000      1,324,116        
2026 15,860,000      1,136,844        
2027 16,105,000      893,869            
2028 16,385,000      614,931            
2029 13,615,000      284,281            

77,545,000$    4,254,041$      

Sales tax revenues are 100% pledged to pay the scheduled principal and interest payments. If an 
event of default shall occur and be continuing, the District shall immediately transfer to the Trustee 
all revenue held by it and the Trustee shall apply all revenue and any other funds then held or 
thereafter received by the Trustee under any of the provisions of the indenture to protect the 
interests of the Holders of the Bonds. 

Note 5 -  Lease 

The District has several leasing arrangements, summarized below. 

A. Lessee Activities

The District has accrued liabilities for one building lease. The discount rate used in the calculation of
the lease liability was 4.50%. The remaining liability for the lease is $1,756,409 as of June 30, 2024.
Right to use assets, net of amortization, for the lease is $1,883,858 as of June 30, 2024. The District
is required to make monthly principal and interest payments of $37,692. Interest expense
recognized on these leases was $86,956 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. Principal payments
of $365,404 were recognized in the years ended June 30, 2024. Final payment on these leases is
expected in fiscal year 2029.

Page 134 of 324



33 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The District’s schedule of future payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as 
follows:  

Fiscal Year Ending
June 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 382,427$         69,872$            452,299$         
2026 399,998      52,239   452,237       
2027 430,722      33,544   464,266       
2028 463,589      13,393   476,982       
2029 79,673        162        79,835         

1,756,409$      169,210$         1,925,619$      

B. Lessor Activities

The District has accrued a receivable for ten land and infrastructure leases. The remaining receivable
for these leases was $1,857,356 for the year ended June 30, 2024. Deferred inflows related to these
leases were $1,772,469 as of June 30, 2024. Interest revenue recognized on these leases was
$78,278 for the year ended June 30, 2024. Principal receipts of $174,161 were recognized as
revenue during the fiscal year. Final receipt is expected in fiscal year 2047.

Note 6 -  Pension Plans 

A. General Information about the Pension Plans

Plan Description

All full-time and certain other qualifying employees are eligible to participate in the District’s
employee pension plan, a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit pension plan administered
by California’s Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS). Benefit provisions under the Plan
are established by state statute and District resolution. CalPERS acts as a common investment and
administrative agent for its participating member employers. CalPERS issues publicly available
reports that include a full description of the pension plan regarding benefit provisions, assumptions,
and membership information which can be found on the CalPERS website:
https://www.calpers.ca.gov/page/investments/about-investment-office/investment-financial-
reports.

Page 135 of 324



34 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Benefits Provided 

CalPERS provides service retirement and disability benefits, annual cost of living adjustments, and 
death benefits to plan members, who must be public employees and beneficiaries. Benefits are 
based on years of credited service, equal to one year of full-time employment. Members with five 
years of total service are eligible to retire at age 50 or 52, depending on the hire date, with 
statutorily reduced benefits. All members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits after 10 years 
of service. The death benefit is one of the following: The Basic Death Benefit, the 1959 Survivor 
Benefit, or the Optional Settlement 2W Death Benefit. The cost of living adjustments for each plan 
are applied as specified by the Public Employees’ Retirement Law. Benefit provisions and all other 
requirements are established by state statue and may be amended by the District’s contract with 
the employees. 

The Plans’ provisions and benefits in effect on June 30, 2024, are summarized as follows: 

Tier I Tier II PEPRA

Prior to On or after On or after
Hire date September 1, 2011 September 1, 2011 January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2% at 55 2% at 60 2% at 62
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service 5 years of service 5 years of service
Benefit payments Monthly for life Monthly for life Monthly for life
Retirement age 55 60 62
Monthly benefits as a percentage of eligible compensation 1.426%-2.418% 1.426%-2.418% 1.000% - 2.500%
Required employee contribution rate 6.92% 6.93% 7.75%
Required employer contribution rate 11.84% 10.10% 7.68%

Miscellaneous

Safety
PEPRA

On or after
Hire date January 1, 2013
Benefit formula 2.7% at 57
Benefit vesting schedule 5 years of service
Benefit payments Monthly for life
Retirement age 57
Monthly benefits as a percentage of eligible compensation 2.000%-2.700%
Required employee contribution rate 13.75%
Required employer contribution rate 13.54%

Page 136 of 324



35 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Contributions  
Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law requires that the employer 
contribution rates for all public employers be determined on an annual basis by the actuary and 
shall be effective on the July 1, following notice of a change in the rate. Funding contributions for 
Plans are determined annually on an actuarial basis, as of June 30, by CalPERS. The actuarially 
determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The 
District is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the 
contribution rate of employees. For the year ended June 30, 2024, the employer contributions were 
$1,380,428 for the miscellaneous plan and $23,507 for the safety plan. 

B. Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to
Pension

As of June 30, 2024, the District reported its proportionate share of net pension liabilities, deferred
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and pension expense for each of the above
plans as follows:

Net Pension Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
Pension Plan Liability of Resources of Resources Pension Expense

Miscellaneous 2,995,908$             3,479,599$        23,742$     2,845,687$             
Safety 32,490 48,855  334        62,424      

Total 3,028,398$             3,528,454$        24,076$     2,908,111$             

The District’s net pension liability is measured as the proportionate share of the collective Plan’s net 
pension liability. The net pension liability of the plan is measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total 
pension liability for the plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2022, rolled forward to the June 30, 2023, measurement date 
using standard update procedures. The District’s proportion of the net pension liability was based 
on the District’s share of contributions to the pension plan, relative to the projected contributions of 
all participating employers, actuarially determined. The District’s proportionate share of the net 
pension liability as of June 30, 2023, and 2024 was as follows: 

Miscellaneous Safety

Proportion - June 30, 2022 measurement date 0.047170% 0.000291%
Proportion - June 30, 2023 measurement date 0.059910% 0.000435%

Change in proportion 0.012740% 0.000144%

Page 137 of 324



36 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized a pension expense of $1,894,362. At 
June 30, 2024, the District reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the miscellaneous plan from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

District contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,380,428$   -$     
Changes in proportion and differenes between District 

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 496,997  -  
Net di erences between projected and actual 

earnings on pension plan investments 485,065  -  
Differences between expected and actual experience 153,047  23,741  
Adjustment due to differences in proportions 783,186  -  
Changes of assumptions 180,876  -  

Total 3,479,599$   23,741$   

Miscellaneous

On June 30, 2024, the District reported $1,380,428 as deferred outflows of resources related to 
contributions paid subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2025. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 

Miscellaneous
Deferred

Year Ended Outflows/(Inflows)
June 30, of Resources

933,336$                
593,762    
534,414    

13,918      

Total 2,075,430$             

2025
2026
2027
2028

Page 138 of 324



37 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized a pension expense of $32,592 and 
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the safety plan 
from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

District contributions subsequent to measurement date 23,507$              -$              
Changes in proportion and differenes between District 

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 4,077         130      
Net di erences between projected and actual 

earnings on pension plan investments 4,446         -           
Differences between expected and actual experience 2,385         204      
Adjustment due to differences in proportions 12,544       -           
Changes of assumptions 1,896         -           

Total 48,855$              334$        

Safety

On June 30, 2024, the District reported $23,507 as deferred outflows of resources related to 
contributions paid subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2025. Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as 
pension expense as follows: 

Safety
Deferred

Year Ended Outflows/(Inflows)
June 30, of Resources

12,116$                  
7,103         
5,671         

124            

Total 25,014$                  

2026
2027
2028

2025

Page 139 of 324



38 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Actuarial Assumptions – The total pension liabilities was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 

Miscellaneous Safety

Valuation date June 30, 2022 June 30, 2022
Measurement date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2023
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal Entry age normal
Discount rate 6.90% 6.90%
Investment rate of return 6.90% 6.90%

(1) The mortality table used was developed based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 15 years of mortality improvements using 
Society of Actuaries Scale 90% of scale MP 2016. For more details on this table, please refer to the December 2017 experience study 
report (based on CalPERS demographic data from 1997 to 2015) that can be found on the CalPERS website. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.90%. To determine whether the 
municipal bond rate should be used in the calculation of the discount rate for each plan, CalPERS 
stress tested plans that would most likely result in a discount rate that would be different from the 
actuarially assumed discount rate. The tests revealed the assets would not run out. Therefore, the 
current 6.90% discount rate is appropriate, and the use of the municipal bond rate calculation is not 
deemed necessary. The long-term expected discount rate of 6.90% is applied to all plans in the 
Public Employees’ Retirement Fund (PERF). The cash flows used in the testing were developed 
assuming that both members and employers will make their required contributions on time and as 
scheduled in all future years. The stress test results are presented in a detailed report called “GASB 
Crossover Testing Report” that can be obtained at CalPERS website under the GASB 68 section. 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a 
building-block method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense, and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. 

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, staff took into account both short-term and 
long-term market return expectations, as well as the expected pension fund (PERF) cash flows. 
Taking into account historical returns of all the Public Employees Retirement Funds’ asset classes 
(which includes the agent plan and two cost-sharing plans or PERF A, B, and C funds), expected 
compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term (first 10 years) and the long-
term (11+ years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal returns for both 
short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each PERF fund. The 
expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected return that arrived at 
the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and 
long-term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equal to the single equivalent rate 
calculated above and rounded down to the nearest one quarter of one percent.

Page 140 of 324



39 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

The table below reflects long-term expected real rate of return by asset class. The rate of return was 
calculated using the capital market assumptions applied to determine the discount rate and asset 
allocation: 

Assumed Asset Real Return
Asset Class Allocation Years 1-10 (a)(b)

Global equity - cap weighted 30% 4.54%
Global equity non-cap weighted 12% 3.84%
Private equity 13% 7.28%
Treasury 5% 0.27%
Mortgage 5% 0.50%
Investment Grade Corporates 10% 1.56%
High Yield 5% 2.27%
Emerging Market Debt 5% 2.48%
Private Debt 5% 3.57%
Real Assets 15% 3.21%
Leverage -5% -0.59%

Total 100%
(a) An expected inflation of 2.30% used for this period.
(b) Figures are based on the 2021-22 Asset Liability Management study.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
The following presents the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset), as well 
as what the District’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher 
than the current rate: 

Miscellaneous Safety
Net Pension Net Pension

Discount Rate Liability Liability (Asset)

1% decrease (5.90%) 5,832,746$      78,197$    
Current discount rate (6.90%) 2,995,908        32,490   
1% increase (7.90%) 660,948        (4,879)    

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position – CalPERS issues a separate annual comprehensive financial 
report, copies of which may be obtained from the CalPERS Executive Offices, Lincoln Plaza East, 
400 Q Street, Sacramento, California 95814. 

Page 141 of 324



40 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Note 7 -  Other Post-Employment Health Care Benefits (OPEB) 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, the District reported total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of 
resources, deferred inflows of resources, and OPEB expense as follows: 

Total OPEB Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows OPEB
Liability of Resources of Resources Expense

2,652,690$      1,390,956$      (4,143,648)$        290,437$      

A. General Information about the District’s Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Plan

Plan administration The District’s governing board administers the Postemployment Benefits Plan
(Plan). The Plan is a single employer defined benefit plan that is used to provide postemployment
benefits other than pensions (OPEB) for eligible retirees and their spouses. The Plan provides
medical benefits to eligible retirees and their spouses. Benefits are provided through a third-party
insurer, and the District contributes to the cost of the plan as specified below. The District’s
governing board has the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms as contained within the
negotiated labor agreements. A separate report was not issued for the Plan.

Benefits provided The District sponsors healthcare coverage under the California Public Employees
Medical and Hospital Care Act ("PEMHCA"). Participation in PEMHCA is financed in part by District
contributions made to the plan. The District contributes a percentage of the PEMHCA minimum to
eligible retirees.

The District contributed $90.60 per month to PEMHCA on behalf of each eligible retiree in 2023. This
amount increased to $102.05 per month for calendar 2024. Each year, this contribution is increased
pursuant to the "unequal contribution method" under PEMHCA, whereby the District contribution
for retirees equals 5% of the District's contribution for active employees multiplied by the number of
years the District has participated in PEMHCA until such time as the contributions are equal. The
PEMHCA minimum was $151 in 2023 and $157 for 2024 in which the District contribution to retirees
was 60% and 65%, respectively. Additionally, the District pays the PEMHCA percentage-of-premiums
admin fee for all retirees participating in PEMHCA.

Page 142 of 324



41 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms Membership in the plan consisted of the following at the 
measurement date of June 30, 2023: 

Active employees 125  
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits payments 4    

Total 129  

Contributions The benefit payment requirements of the Plan members and the District are 
established and may be amended by the District. The required contribution is based on projected 
pay-as-you-go financing requirements. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria 
in Paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 

B. Total OPEB Liability

The District’s Total OPEB Liability was measured as of June 30, 2023 and was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2022. Standard actuarial update procedures were used to
project/discount from valuation to measurement dates.

Page 143 of 324



42 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

Actuarial Assumptions The total OPEB liability was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Actuarial cost method Entry Age, Level Percent of Pay

Recognition of deferred inflows and 
outflows of resources Closed period equal to the average of the expected remaining 

service lives of all employees provided with OPEB
Salary increases 3.00 percent
Inflation rate 2.50 percent

Healthcare cost trend rate
6.00 percent for 2023, 5.50 percent for 2024, 5.25 percent for 
2025-2029, 5.00 percent for 2030-2039, 4.75 precent for 2040-
2049, 4.50 percent for 2050-2069, and 4.00 percent for 2070 and 
later years; Medicare ages: 4.50 percent for 2023-2029 and 4.00 
percent for 2030 and later years.

Preretirement Mortality

Miscellaneous Preretirement Mortality Rates for Public Agency Miscellaneous 
from CalPERS Experience Study (2000-2019).

Safety Preretirement Mortality Rates for Public Agency Police and Fire 
from CalPERS Experience Study (2000-2019).

Postretirement Mortality

Miscellaneous Post-retirement Mortality Rates for Public Agency Miscellaneous 
from CalPERS Experience Study (2000-2019).

Safety Post-retirement Mortality Rates for Public Agency Police and Fire 
from CalPERS Experience Study (2000-2019).

Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023 valuation were based on a review of plan 
experience during the period June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023. 

Discount rate For OPEB plans that are not administered through trusts that meet the criteria in 
Paragraph 4, GASB 75 requires a discount rate that is a yield or index rate for 20-year, tax-exempt 
general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. The discount rate 
used to measure the District’s Total OPEB liability is based on the Fidelity GO AA 20 Years Municipal 
Index which was 3.69% as of the June 30, 2022 measurement date and 3.86% as of the June 30, 
2023 measurement date.

Page 144 of 324



43 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

C. Changes in Total OPEB Liability

The changes in the total OPEB liability follows:

Total OPEB
Liability

Balance, June 30, 2023 2,233,260$      

Service cost 409,238   
Interest 97,361     
Changes of assumptions and other inputs (79,112)    
Benefit payments (8,057)      

Net change 419,430   

Balance, June 30, 2024 2,652,690$      

D. Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Change in the Discount Rate and Healthcare Cost

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or
one percentage point higher than the current rate:

Total OPEB
Discount Rate Liability

1% decrease (2.86%) 3,165,264$      
Current discount rate (3.86%) 2,652,690        
1% increase (4.86%) 2,243,238        

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the District, as well as what the District's total OPEB 
liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost trend that is one percentage point 
lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate: 

Total OPEB
Healthcare Cost Trend Rate Liability

1% decrease (5.50%) 2,096,459$      
Current healthcare cost trend rate (6.50%) 2,652,690        
1% increase (7.50%) 3,401,635        

Page 145 of 324



44 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended June 30, 2024 

E. OPEB Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2024, the District recognized OPEB expense of $290,437 and reported
deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources

OPEB contributions subsequent to measurement date 3,672$     -$      
Differences between expected and actual experience 148,165    2,634,173  
Changes of assumptions 1,239,119     1,509,475  

Total 1,390,956$    4,143,648$      

Reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date is $3,672, which will be recognized as a reduction of the OPEB liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2025. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized as part of OPEB expense as follows: 

Deferred
Outflows/(Inflows)

of Resources

(211,777)$       
(211,777)   
(211,777)   
(211,777)   
(205,590)   

Thereafter (1,703,666)   

Total (2,756,364)$     

2028
2029

Year Ended
June 30,

2025
2026
2027

Note 8 - Commitments 

A. Purchase Commitments

At June 30, 2024, the District had outstanding purchase and contract commitments of $1,307,727
for passenger and $1,297,235 for freight.

Page 146 of 324



Required Supplementary Information 
June 30, 2024 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 147 of 324



See Notes to Required Supplementary Information          45 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Schedule of the District’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability – Pension Plan 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

CalPERS (Miscellaneous Plan)

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.0599% 0.0472% -0.0136% 0.0349% 0.0281% 0.0231% 0.0238% 0.0214% 0.0281% 0.0102%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 2,995,908$      2,207,036$      (257,780)$      1,473,514$      1,126,646$      870,893$     936,778$    742,146$    585,152$    633,530$    

Total 2,995,908$      2,207,036$      (257,780)$      1,473,514$      1,126,646$      870,893$     936,778$    742,146$    585,152$    633,530$    

Covered payroll 15,310,263$   12,545,318$   12,561,577$   13,265,008$   12,916,529$   11,175,297$   9,930,773$     6,017,592$     3,572,374$     3,073,231   

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
as a percentage of its covered payroll 19.57% 17.59% -2.05% 11.11% 8.72% 7.79% 9.43% 12.33% 16.38% 20.61%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of the total pension liability 78% 78% 86% 74% 75% 75% 73% 74% 78% 20%

Measurement Date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2016 June 30, 2015 June 30, 2014

CalPERS (Safety Plan)

Proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 0.0004% 0.0290% -0.0051% 0.0349% 0.2813% 0.0000%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) 32,490$     20,004$     (17,841)$      10,982$     4,177$     709$     

Covered payroll 129,822$         130,891$     122,516$     211,670$     195,041$     180,138   

Proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
as a percentage of its covered payroll 25.03% 15.28% -14.56% 5.19% 2.14% 0.39%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
of the total pension liability 75% 76% 86% 74% 75% 75%

Measurement Date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018

Note :  
1 In the future, as data becomes available, ten years of information will be presented.
2 Significant changes in assumptions: The discount rate was changed from 7.15% in fiscal year 2023 to 6.90%.

Page 148 of 324



See Notes to Required Supplementary Information          46 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Schedule of Contributions – Pension Plan 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

CalPERS - Miscellaneous Plan

Contractually required contribution 1,380,428$    1,143,753$    1,085,805$    1,016,119$    976,474$       910,518$       747,878$       699,783$     409,897$     347,672$       
Less contributions in relation to the contractually 

required contribution 1,380,428      1,143,753   1,085,805     1,016,119      976,474     910,518      747,878  699,783  477,840  347,672   

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$    -$ -$  -$  -$ -$  -$  -$ (67,943)$      -$    

Covered payroll 17,450,228$ 15,310,263$ 12,545,318$ 12,561,577$ 13,265,008$ 12,916,529$ 11,175,297$ 9,930,773$  6,017,592$  3,572,374$    

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 7.91% 7.47% 8.66% 8.09% 7.36% 7.05% 6.69% 7.05% 6.81% 9.73%

CalPERS - Safety Plan

Contractually required contribution 23,507$         16,591$         16,551$   16,454$         27,589$         23,680$         
Less contributions in relation to the contractually 

required contribution 23,507      16,591  16,551    16,454     27,589       23,680   

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                    -$                    -$        -$  -$ -$       

Covered payroll 174,040$       129,822$       130,891$       122,516$       211,670$       195,041$       

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 13.507% 12.780% 12.645% 13.430% 13.034% 12.141%

Note :  In the future, as data becomes available, ten years of information will be presented.

Page 149 of 324



See Notes to Required Supplementary Information          47 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

Fiscal year 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total OPEB Liability
Service cost 409,238$    726,098$    794,213$     638,813$    444,687$    438,273$     478,730$     
Interest 97,361    107,031   109,811  96,162    72,116   54,494  36,782    
Changes of benefit terms -   -  (1,316,588)  -   -  -    -   
Difference between expected and 

actual experience - (1,899,309) (1,290,966)  - 260,415 -    -   
Changes of assumptions (79,112)   (230,572) 760,464  682,576  308,419 (26,755)   (241,085)  
Benefit payments (8,057)  (3,672)  (10,671)   (4,806)  (6,257)    (2,891)   (3,801)  

Net change in total OPEB liability 419,430  (1,300,424)   (953,737)   1,412,745  1,079,380  463,121  270,626  

Total OPEB Liability - Beginning 2,233,260  3,533,684  4,487,421   3,074,676  1,995,296  1,532,175   1,261,549  

Total OPEB Liability - Ending 2,652,690$      2,233,260$      3,533,684$      4,487,421$   3,074,676$      1,995,296$    1,532,175$      

Covered-employee Payroll 14,074,763$    14,074,763$    12,684,093$    13,476,678$    18,840,794$    11,175,297$    9,930,773$      

Total OPEB Liability as a Percentage 
of Covered Payroll 19% 16% 28% 33% 16% 18% 15%

Measurement Date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 June 30, 2017

1  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of Statement 75.

Note:  In the future, as data becomes available, ten years of information will be presented.

Page 150 of 324



Statistical Section  
June 30, 2024 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 151 of 324



48 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Statistical Section 

June 30, 2024 

This part of the District’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed information as a context 
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required 
supplementary information says about the District’s overall financial health. In contrast to the financial 
section, the statistical section information is not subject to independent audit. 

Financial Trends 
These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the District’s financial 
performance and well-being have changed over time. 

Table 1- Net Position by Component
Table 2- Changes in Net Position
Table 3- Non-Capital Expenditures by Category

Revenue Capacity 
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the District’s most significant revenue source, 
capital grants and contributions. Also included in this section is current information on the District’s ongoing 
significant source of revenues, the sales tax. 

Table 4- General Revenue by Source
Table 5- Revenue Base and Revenue Rate
Table 6- Overlapping Governments and Sales Tax Rates
Table 7- Principal Revenue Payers

Debt Capacity 
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the District’s current levels 
of outstanding debt and the District’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

Table 8- Debt Service Coverage Ratios
Table 9- Ratios of Outstanding Debt

Demographic and Economic Information 
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment 
within which the District’s financial activities take place. 

Table 10- Demographic and Economic Statistics
Table 11- Principal Employers

Operating Information 
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information 
in the District’s financial report relates to the services the District provides and the activities it performs. 

Table 12- Operating Information
Table 13- Employees – Full-Time Equivalent

Sources 
Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Reports for the relevant year. 

Page 152 of 324



49 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Net Position by Component 

Last Ten Years 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Net investment in capital assets 228,244,612$  309,724,259$  353,088,871$  349,608,580$  384,506,952$  
Restricted -     -   -       22,575,206     23,255,790    
Unrestricted 115,465,740 76,452,056 56,892,973 55,996,479 59,801,398

Total net position 343,710,352$  386,176,315$  409,981,844$  428,180,265$  467,564,140$  

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
Net investment in capital assets 413,213,191$  433,487,686$  442,201,252$  442,223,308$  472,382,722$  
Restricted 22,946,005 6,662,863 7,440,671 5,018,975 5,509,878
Unrestricted 61,548,911 85,779,768 107,092,897 129,207,296 139,159,255

Total net position 497,708,107$  525,930,317$  556,734,820$  576,449,579$  617,051,855$  

Table 1
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT
Last Ten Fiscal Years

0

100,000,000

200,000,000

300,000,000

400,000,000

500,000,000

600,000,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Unrestricted Net investment in capital assets Restricted

Page 153 of 324



50 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Changes in Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Operating revenues:
Charges for services 640,249$      529,191$      588,402$      4,025,111$   5,036,875$   

Total operating revenues 640,249 529,191 588,402 4,025,111 5,036,875

Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 4,303,358 7,737,361 12,610,874 16,950,114 18,453,125
Services and supplies 5,275,106 5,252,012 6,717,902 8,080,825 10,690,334
Depreciation and amortization 4,575,530 4,610,295 4,716,779 17,800,126 19,033,577
Miscellaneous expense 380,000 7,541 212 672,332 203,883

Total operating expenses 14,533,994 17,607,209 24,045,767 43,503,397 48,380,919

Operating income/(loss) (13,893,745) (17,078,018) (23,457,365) (39,478,286) (43,344,044)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Sales and use taxes 33,845,426 34,776,012 36,061,895 37,135,476 41,241,140
Federal, state, and other operating assistance -   -  -    3,701,366 5,000,756
Investment earnings (loss) 1,384,557 585,178 366,748 724,313 1,974,246
Interest income -   -  -    -   -  
Miscellaneous revenues 49,351 2,264,334 438,639 2,236,508 4,174,454
Capital expense passed through to other agencies (1,557,743) (295,894) (62,636) (3,778,891) (770,156)
Gain (Loss) on sale of asset -   -  -    -   -  
Rent income -   -  -    -   -  
Rent expense - (746,718) (781,084) (796,640) (646,236)
Loss on impairment of assets -   -  -    -   -  
Interest expense (2,761,502) (805,558) (1,164,558) (5,819,778) (5,591,608)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 30,960,089 35,777,354 34,859,004 33,402,354 45,382,596

Income (loss) before capital contributions 17,066,344 18,699,336 11,401,639 (6,075,932) 2,038,552

Capital contributions
State of California 3,381 284,094 458,549 837,950 2,883,980
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 7,119,973 2,683,108 5,007,846 9,939,309 4,388,830
Sonoma County Transportation Authority 35,358 47,780 33,440 356,219 55,249
Federal 500,595 3,779,595 2,750,431 9,450,100 21,270,383
Donated asset - 16,222,106 1,116,726 -   -  
Other governmental agencies 1,534,698 749,376 3,036,898 4,357,881 8,746,881

Total capital contributions 9,194,005 23,766,059 12,403,890 24,941,459 37,345,323

Change in net position before restatement 26,260,349$ 42,465,395$ 23,805,529$ 18,865,527$ 39,383,875$ 

Restatement due to implementation of GASB 68 FY15 (443,320)
Restatement FY17 (666,637)
Special Item FY22

Change in net position, Restated 25,817,029$ 42,465,395$ 23,805,529$ 18,198,890$ 39,383,875$ 

Source:  SMART annual financial statements.     Continued on 

Table 2
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Page 154 of 324



51 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Changes in Net Position 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Operating revenues:
Charges for services 3,965,115$   1,271,706$   2,727,553$   2,682,418$   3,143,150$   

Total operating revenues 3,965,115 1,271,706 2,727,553 2,682,418 3,143,150

Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee benefits 19,295,606 18,354,310 17,437,640 26,041,905 25,837,387
Services and supplies 11,074,071 8,707,194 10,144,193 16,544,637 14,317,024
Depreciation and amortization 22,150,111 22,697,348 20,877,284 19,377,343 20,471,811
Miscellaneous expense 100,000 416 7,412 0 463,237

Total operating expenses 52,619,788 49,759,268 48,466,529 61,963,885 61,089,459

Operating income/(loss) (48,654,673) (48,487,562) (45,738,976) (59,281,467) (57,946,309)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Sales and use taxes 38,978,630 44,002,410 49,074,830 49,649,375 48,837,349
Federal, state, and other operating assistance 15,574,795 16,301,842 17,184,007 24,663,720 13,267,742
Investment earnings (loss) 338,227 628,728 (2,023,805)  839,528     5,181,447    
Interest income -   -     10,461 41,137 40,586
Miscellaneous revenues 1,438,087 4,588,714 46,229 744,433 537,626
Capital expense passed through to other agencies (918,506) (3,673,565) (27,758)   -  -    
Gain (Loss) on sale of asset -   -     -    -  (5,036)   
Rent income -   -     -    834,808.0     699,927    
Rent expense (550,406) (510,370) (103,576)     (72,732)  (128,409)  
Loss on impairment of assets -   -     -    -  (237,008)  
Interest expense (5,273,801) (3,374,308) (1,653,081) (1,746,162) (1,514,624)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 49,587,026 57,963,451 62,507,307 74,954,107 66,679,600

Income (loss) before capital contributions 932,353 9,475,889 16,768,331 15,672,640 8,733,291

Capital contributions
State of California 20,311,493 11,592,461 2,411,761 1,935,597 25,622,804
Metropolitan Transportation Commission 224,051 -     -    -  -    
Sonoma County Transportation Authority 22,632 109,468 8,768 1,025,746 974,254
Federal 2,609,220 2,500,000 104,623 1,050,726 1,174,803
Donated asset 1,327,565  -     -    -  -    
Other governmental agencies 4,716,659 4,544,490 218,419 30,000 4,097,124

Total capital contributions 29,211,620 18,746,419   2,743,571   4,042,069     31,868,985   

Change in net position before restatement 30,143,973$ 28,222,308$ 19,511,902$ 19,714,709$ 40,602,276$ 

Restatement due to implementation of GASB 68 FY15
Restatement FY17
Special Item FY22 11,292,136

Change in net position, Restated 30,143,973$ 28,222,308$ 30,804,038$ 19,714,709$ 40,602,276$ 

Source:  SMART annual financial statements.

Table 2
ONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRIC

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Page 155 of 324



52 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Non-Capital Expense by Category 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Loss on
Fiscal Year Salaries Services and Impairment

Ended June 30 and Benefits Supplies Miscellaneous of Assets Total
2015 4,303,358$     5,275,106$         380,000$       -$     9,958,464$    
2016 7,737,361 5,998,730 7,541 - 13,743,632
2017 12,610,874 7,498,986 212 - 20,110,072
2018 16,950,114 8,877,465 954 671,378    26,499,911
2019 18,453,125 11,336,570 203,883     - 29,993,578
2020 19,295,606 11,624,477 100,000     - 31,020,083
2021 18,354,310 9,217,564 416   - 27,572,290
2022 17,437,640 10,247,769 7,412     - 27,692,821
2023 26,041,905 16,617,369 -     -    42,659,274
2024 25,837,385 14,445,433 463,237     237,008    40,983,063

Source: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District  Financial Statements
2014  is the first year that the District presented financial reports in an enterprise format
2018 is the first year of Operations; Other Charges Net of Non-cash adjustments

Table 3
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

NON-CAPITAL EXPENSE BY CATEGORY
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Page 156 of 324



53 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
General Revenue by Source 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Capital Grants & Operating
Federal, State, 

Other Investment Miscellaneous
Year Sales Tax Contributions Revenue Nonoperating Earnings Revenue Total
2015 33,845,426$      7,636,262$        640,249$    -$   1,384,557$        49,351$     43,555,845$      
2016 34,776,012 23,470,165 529,191 -  585,178 2,264,334 61,624,880
2017 36,061,895 12,341,254 588,402 -  366,748 438,640 49,796,939
2018 37,135,476 21,162,568 4,025,111 3,701,366 724,313 2,236,508 68,985,342
2019 41,241,140 36,575,167 5,036,875 5,000,756 1,974,246 4,174,454 94,002,638
2020 38,978,630 28,293,114 3,965,115 15,574,795 338,227 1,438,087 88,587,968
2021 44,002,410 15,072,854 1,271,706 16,301,842 628,728 4,588,714 81,866,254
2022 49,074,830 2,715,813 2,727,553 17,184,007 (2,013,344) 46,229 69,735,088
2023 49,649,375 4,042,069 3,517,277 24,663,720 880,665 744,433 83,497,539
2024 48,837,349 31,868,984 3,843,077 13,267,742 5,222,033 553,592 103,592,777

Source:  Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District Financial Reports
Transit Operation began Fiscal Year 2018

Table 4
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

GENERAL REVENUE BY SOURCE
Last Ten Fiscal Years

-$20,000,000

$0

$20,000,000

$40,000,000

$60,000,000

$80,000,000

$100,000,000

$120,000,000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Sales Tax Capital Grants & Contributions Operating Revenue

Investment Earnings Miscellaneous Revenue Federal, State, Other Nonoperating

Page 157 of 324



54 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Revenue Base and Revenue Rate 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Marin County Total Sonoma County SMART District
SMART Sales Total Sales Tax Taxable Sales Total Taxable Sales Total Taxable Sales

Fiscal Year Tax Rate Revenue (In Thousands) (In Thousands) (In Thousands)
2015 0.25% 33,845,426$    4,957,364$   8,626,295$     13,583,659$      
2016 0.25% 34,776,012    5,091,014  8,843,184   13,934,198   
2017 0.25% 36,061,895    5,004,443  9,154,084   14,158,526   
2018 0.25% 37,135,476   5,343,038 9,444,873 14,787,910  
2019 0.25% 41,241,140   5,454,389  9,966,334   15,420,723  
2020 0.25% 38,978,630   5,148,864  9,113,111   14,261,975  
2021 0.25% 44,002,410   5,894,353  10,771,239   16,665,592  
2022 0.25% 49,074,830   6,437,421  11,924,130   18,361,551  
2023 0.25% 49,649,375 6,417,951 12,049,847 18,467,798
2024 0.25% 48,837,349 6,463,437 11,758,109 18,221,546

Source: www.cdtfa.ca.gov/DataPortal/dataset.htm?url=TaxSalesByCounty

Table 5
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

Last Ten Fiscal Years
REVENUE BASE AND REVENUE RATE

Page 158 of 324



55 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Overlapping Governments and Sales Tax Rates 

Last Ten Fiscal Years* 

Fiscal Year State(a) City County(b) SMART(d) Total
2015 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.75% 0.25% 8.5% to 9%
2016 7.50% 0 to 0.50% 0.75% 0.25% 8.5% to 9%
2017 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2018 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2019 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2020 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2021 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2022 7.25% 0 to 0.75% 0.75% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2023 7.25% 0.50% to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 8.25% to 9.25%
2024 7.25% 0.50% to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 8.25% to 9.25%

Fiscal Year State(a) City County( c) SMART(d) Total
2015 7.50% 0 to 0.75% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2016 7.50% 0 to 0.75% 0.50% 0.25% 8.25% to 9%
2017 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.625% 0.25% 8.125% to 9.125%
2018 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.625% 0.25% 8.125% to 9.125%
2019 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.625% 0.25% 8.125% to 9.125%
2020 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 0.750% 0.25% 8.25% to 9.25%
2021 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 8.50% to 9.50%
2022 7.25% 0 to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 8.50% to 9.50%
2023 7.25% 0.50% to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 8.50% to 9.50%
2024 7.25% 0.50% to 1.00% 1.00% 0.25% 9% to 10%

Source:  www.cdtfa.ca.gov/taxes-and-fees/sales-use-tax-rates.htm

Sonoma County

Table 6
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS AND SALES TAX RATES
Last Ten Fiscal Years*

Marin County

Page 159 of 324



56 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Principal Revenue Payers 

Current Year and Nine Years Ago 

Principal Revenue Payers:  Sales Tax Generators Total Receipts Percentage

General Retail 14,114,588$            29%
Transportation 9,623,001$              20%
Food Products 9,465,997$              20%
Business to Business 7,005,836$              15%
Construction 6,061,663$              13%
Miscellaneous 1,920,867$              4%
Total 48,191,952$            100%

Principal Revenue Payers:  Sales Tax Generators Total Receipts Percentage

General Retail 7,978,547$              31%
Transportation 5,597,576$              21%
Food Products 4,972,020$              19%
Business to Business 4,156,846$              16%
Construction 2,796,876$              11%
Miscellaneous 654,932$                 3%
Total 26,156,797$            100%
* First available year of SMART sales tax payer analysis
Source:  MuniServices, Categorizations and totals may differ from State of California

Fiscal Year 2011*

Fiscal Year 2024

Table 7
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District

Principal Revenue Payers

Page 160 of 324



57 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Debt Services Coverage-Pledged Sales Tax Revenue 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year Sales Tax
Ending Interest Principal Total Revenue Actual Coverage Ratio

6/30/2015 8,456,950$        -$  8,456,950$        33,845,426$      4.00
6/30/2016 8,456,950 4,540,000 12,996,950 34,776,012 2.68
6/30/2017 8,275,350 5,325,000 13,600,350 36,061,895 2.65
6/30/2018 8,009,100 6,195,000 14,204,100 37,135,476 2.61
6/30/2019 7,730,850 8,365,000 16,095,850 41,241,140 2.56
6/30/2020 7,312,600 9,435,000 16,747,600 38,978,630 2.33
6/30/2021 3,987,001 3,365,000 7,352,001 44,002,410 5.99
6/30/2022 1,656,756 13,280,000 14,936,756 49,074,830 3.29
6/30/2023 1,581,193 14,015,000 15,596,193 49,649,375 3.18
6/30/2024 1,479,444 14,765,000 16,244,444 49,649,375 3.06

Table 8
SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIOS

LAST TEN YEARS

Page 161 of 324



58 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt (Unaudited) 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year
Total Outstanding 

Debt Personal Income Population
Ratio of Debt to 

Personal 
Total Debt Per 

Capita

2015 190,096,688$ 56,512,049,000$  762,362$   0.34%  $       249 
2016 183,318,018 58,680,231,000 763,882 0.31%    240 
2017 175,819,899 63,211,402,000 762,971 0.28%    230 
2018 167,528,327 63,843,515,000    759,608 0.26%    221 
2019 157,163,502 69,657,112,000    753,162 0.23%    209 
2020 145,846,953 73,085,354,000    751,184 0.20%    194 
2021 119,605,000 82,064,055,000 741,726 0.15%    161 
2022 106,325,000 81,422,908,000 737,148 0.13%    144 

2023* 92,310,000 80,889,935,000 732,554 0.11%    126 
2024* 77,545,000 80,462,381,000 729,261 0.10%    106 

*2023 and 2024 personal income amount estimated.
Source:  California Employment Development Department https://labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/cgi/databrowsing/localAreaProfileQSMoreRes

Fiscal Year Total Debt Service

Non-Capital 
Expenditures Including 

Debt Service

Ratio Debt 
Service to Non-

Capital 

2015  $       8,456,950  $    18,415,414 46%
2016 12,996,950 26,740,582 49%
2017 13,600,350 33,710,422 40%
2018 14,204,100 40,704,011 35%
2019 16,095,850 46,089,428 35%
2020 16,747,600 47,767,683 35%

2021** 7,352,001 34,924,291 21%
2022 14,936,756 42,807,576 35%
2023 15,596,193 46,201,183 34%
2024 15,580,000 50,345,042 31%

** SMART's 2011A bonds were refunded in October 2020 with the Series 2020A bonds part of debt service is from 2011A bonds
Source:  Annual Comprehensive Financial Report

Table 9
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District

Debt Per Capita/Debt to Personal Income/Debt Service to Non-Capital Expenditures

Total Debt Service to Non-Capital Expenditures

Page 162 of 324



59 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Demographic and Economic Statistics (Unaudited) 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Personal Income Per Capita Unemployment
Year Population (in thousands) Personal Income Rate
2014 260,435 27,176,774$          104,319$               4.3%
2015 261,016 29,227,230$          114,455$               3.6%
2016 260,633 30,222,883$          117,552$               3.4%
2017 259,725 32,867,529$          124,552$               2.9%
2018 259,666 33,196,204$          134,275$               2.3%
2019 258,826 36,684,680$          138,903$               2.3%
2020 262,321 38,187,380$          145,575$               10.2%
2021 258,385 42,704,366$          164,118$               4.5%
2022 255,851 43,824,350$          171,177$               2.7%

2023* 253,292 44,973,707$          178,000$               2.7%
2024* 252,026 46,153,208$          183,000$               3.9%

Personal Income Per Capita Unemployment
Year Population (in thousands) Personal Income Rate
2014 498,803 25,224,331$          50,533$  5.6%
2015 501,346 27,284,819$          55,445$  4.5%
2016 503,249 28,457,348$          57,264$  4.1%
2017 503,246 30,343,873$          60,286$  3.4%
2018 499,942 30,647,311$          64,501$  2.7%
2019 494,336 32,972,432$          64,869$  2.7%
2020 488,863 34,897,974$          71,386$  11.4%
2021 483,341 39,359,689$          81,006$  5.5%
2022 481,297 37,598,558$          77,900$  3.1%

2023* 479,262 35,916,228$          75,000$  3.1%
2024* 477,235 34,309,173$          72,000$  4.1%

Source:  California Employment Development Department
https://labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/cgi/databrowsing/localAreaProfileQSMoreResult.asp?

Sonoma County

Marin County

Table 10
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Years (Unaudited)

*2023 & 2024 Personal Income and Per Capita Income estimated based on previous experience

Page 163 of 324



60 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Major Employers (Unaudited) 

Current Year* 

Employer 
Number of 
Employees Industry

Corrections Dept 1,000-4,999 Government Offices
Kaiser Permanente Novato 1,000-4,999 Clinics
Marinhealth Medical Center 1,000-4,999 Hospitals
Bay Equity 500-999 Real Estate Loans
Biomarin Pharmaceutical Inc 500-999 Laboratories - Research & Development
California Alpine Club 500-999 Clubs
College of Marin 500-999 Schools - Universities & Colleges
Glassdoor 500-999 Website Hosting
RH (restoration hardware) 500-999 Furniture
Bay Club 250-499 Health Club Studios & Gymnasiums
Braytom Purcell, LLP 250-499 Attorneys
Community Action Marin 250-499 Membership Organization
Embassy Suites by Hilton 250-499 Hotels & Motels
Hospice by the Bay Marin 250-499 Physicians & Surgeons
Kaiser Permanente San Rafael 250-499 Hospitals
Macy's 250-499 Deparment Stores
Managed Health Network 250-499 Health Plans
Marin County Public Works Dept 250-499 Public Work Department
Marin Independent Journal 250-499 Newspapers
San Rafael Human Services 250-499 City Government 
Sutter Care At Home 250-499 Home Health Services
Township Building Svc Inc 250-499 Janitor Services
Westamerica Bancorporation 250-499 Holding Companies
Whole Foods 250-499 Grocers- Retail
Y YMCA San Francisco 250-499 Youth Organizations

Employer 
Number of 
Employees Industry

Aabalat Fine & Rare Wines 1,000-4,999 Wineries
Medtronic 1,000-4,999 Physicians & Surgeons
Providence Santa Rosa Memorial Hospital 1,000-4,999 Hospitals
Amy's Kitchen, Inc 500-999 Frozen Food Processors
Coast Guard Training Center 500-999 Federal Government
County - Sonoma Trnsprtn-Pubc 500-999 Fire Departments
Fairmont Sonoma Msn Inn & Spa 500-999 Hotels & Motels
Protransport - 1 500-999 Transportation Services
Sonoma County Office of Education 500-999 County Government
Sonoma County Sheriff 500-999 County Government
Sutter Santa Rosa Regional Hospital 500-999 Hospitals
Army National Guard Recruiter 250-499 Government Offices - State
Clover Sonoma 250-499 Dry Condensed/ Evprtd Dairy Prod (mfrs)
First Security Svs 250-499 Security Guard & Patrol Service
Freeman Toyota 250-499 Automobile Dealers
Ghilotti Construction 250-499 Road Building Contractors
H2Hotel 250-499 Hotels & Motels
Macy's 250-499 Department Stores
Petaluma Valley Hospital 250-499 Hospitals
Santa Rosa Police Department 250-499 Police Departments
Solairus Aviation 250-499 Aircraft Charter Rental & Leasing
Sonoma County Water Agency 250-499 Water Companies - Bottled/Bulk & Etc.
Stockham Construction 250-499 General Contractors
Walmart - Rohnert Park 250-499 Department Stores
Walmart - Windsor 250-499 Department Stores
Source:  https://labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/majorer

Marin County 2024

Sonoma County 2024

Table 11
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District

Major Employers (Unaudited)

Page 164 of 324



61 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Operating Information (Unaudited) 

Current Year 

Fiscal Year Ridership
Fare 

Revenue
Average 

Fare

Revenue 
Vehicle 
Hours

Revenue 
Vehicle 
Miles

Annual  
Passenger 

Miles

2019 716,847 4,094,540 5.71$   32,890 923,002 18,371,183
2020 567,103 3,091,660 5.45$   28,993 82,145 13,516,234
2021 122,849 706,938 5.75$   13,298 398,291 3,148,345
2022 354,328 1,283,112 3.62$   23,174 679,245 7,855,912
2023 640,099 1,800,747 2.81$   34,099 974,008 13,921,410
2024 851,115 2,192,253 2.58$   38,172 1,019,822 18,405,491

Daily Fares Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5 Daily Max

Adult 1.50$   3.00$     4.50$   6.00$     7.50$     15.00$      
Disabled & START Program 0.75$   1.50$     2.25$   3.00$     3.75$     7.50$      
Youth & Senior -$     -$     -$     -$    -$    -$     

Passes Adult Discounted

31 Day Pass 117.00$    58.50$     

Source:  SMART National Transit Database Data & Fare Structure

Table 12
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District

Operation Information (Unaudited)

Page 165 of 324



62 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
Employees-Full-Time Equivalent (Unaudited) 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Division 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

General Manager 1.0 1.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0
Legal 1.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 4.0 4.0
Capital Projects 14.0 12.0 12.0 10.0 11.0 11.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 9.0 
Administration 20.0 20.0 18.0 18.0 19.0 21.0 18.0 20.0 17.0 19.0 
Finance 5.0 5.0 6.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 6.0 6.0 12.0 12.0
Operations 27.0 76.0 77.0 83.0 98.5 100.5 96.5 97.5 106.0 111.0 
Safety & Security 2.0 2.0 3.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 5.0 5.0 5.0 5.0
Freight 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 6.0 6.0
Total 70.0 119.0 121.5 127.5 145.0 149.0 136.5 140.5 158.0 167.0

Source:  SMART's Board Adopted Budget

Table 13
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District

Board Authorized Full Time Equivilents (FTE) Unaudited

Page 166 of 324



Federal Awards Reports in Accordance 
with the Uniform Guidance
June 30, 2024

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
District

Page 167 of 324



Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Table of Contents

June 30, 2024

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards ................................................................................................................................................................... 3

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on Internal Control over 
Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 3

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................................................................ 7

Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................................................. 8

Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs .............................................................................................................. 9

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results ............................................................................................................ 9
Section II – Financial Statement Findings ........................................................................................................... 10
Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs.............................................................................. 11

Page 168 of 324



3

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government

Auditing Standards

To the Governing Board of the 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Petaluma, California

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the passenger and freight enterprise funds of the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 
(District), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise District’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 
dated DRAFT.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered District’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of District’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of District’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of District’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a 
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance. 

Page 169 of 324



2

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether District's financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
District’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering District’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Menlo Park, California
DRAFT

Page 170 of 324



3

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; Report on Internal 
Control over Compliance; and Report on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by 

the Uniform Guidance

To the Governing Board of the 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Petaluma, California

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program

Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We have audited Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District’s (District) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could 
have a direct and material effect on the District’s major federal program for the year ended June 30,
2024. The District’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of 
the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year ended 
June 30, 2024.

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report.

We are required to be independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the
major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the District’s compliance 
with the compliance requirements referred to above.

Page 171 of 324



4

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements 
of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
District’s federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the District’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from 
fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the 
report on compliance about the District’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal 
program as a whole.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we:

Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the District’s compliance with the compliance
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.
Obtain an understanding of the District’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and
report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in 
internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit.

Page 172 of 324



5

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is 
less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified.

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Page 173 of 324



6

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance

We have audited the financial statements of the passenger and freight enterprise funds of the District as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the District’s basic financial statements. We issued our report thereon dated
DRAFT which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit was conducted 
for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the basic 
financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from 
and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements 
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.

Menlo Park, California
DRAFT

Page 174 of 324



See Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 7

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Federal Financial
Assistance Listing / Pass-through

Federal Grantor/Pass-through Grantor/ Federal CFDA Entity Identifying
Program Title or Cluster Title Number Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of Transportation

Federal Transit Cluster:
Federal Transit Formula Grants:

SMART 5307 - 3 - SMART Pathway - San Rafael 20.507 CA-2023-186-00 1,174,803$   
SMART 5307 - Preventive Maintenance 20.507 CA-2024-039-00 3,997,642            

Total Federal Transit Cluster 5,172,445            

SMART Suicide Prevention Program 20.301 69A36522403270RSPCA 29,046

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 5,201,491            

Total Federal Financial Assistance 5,201,491$   

Page 175 of 324



8

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Note 1 - Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (schedule) includes the federal award activity of 
the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (District) under programs of the federal government for the year 
ended June 30, 2024. The information is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for 
Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of 
the District, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash 
flows of the District.

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported in the schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting basis of accounting. 
When applicable, such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform 
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. No 
federal financial assistance has been provided to a subrecipient.

Note 3 - Indirect Cost Rate

The Organization does not draw for indirect administrative expenses and has not elected to use the 10% 
deminimus cost rate.

Page 176 of 324



9

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results

Financial Statements

Unmodified

No
None Reported

No

Federal Awards

No
None Reported

Unmodified
No

Name of Federal Program or Cluster
Federal Transit Cluster

750,000$   
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No

Identification of major federal programs:

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs:

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Internal control over major federal programs:
Material weakness(es) identified?  
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered to be material weaknesses?  

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major federal programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with

Federal Financial Assistance Listing Number
20.507

Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered to be material weaknesses?  

Type of auditor's report issued on whether the financial statements audited
  were prepared in accordance with GAAP:
Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness identified?  

Page 177 of 324



10

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section II – Financial Statement Findings

None reported.

Page 178 of 324



11

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2024

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs

None reported.

Page 179 of 324



12

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs

Year Ended June 30, 2023

None reported. 

Page 180 of 324



1

December XX, 2024

To the Governing Board of the
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Petaluma, California

We have audited the financial statements of Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (District) as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2024, and have issued our report thereon dated December XX, 2024. 
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards and Government Auditing Standards and our Compliance Audit under the Uniform 
Guidance

As communicated in our letter dated May 15, 2024, our responsibility, as described by professional 
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been 
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and to 
express an opinion on whether the District complied with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the 
District’s major federal program. Our audit of the financial statements and major program compliance 
does not relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal 
control of District solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any 
assurance concerning such internal control.

Page 181 of 324



2

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards as it relates to the audit of the District’s major 
federal program compliance, is to express an opinion on the compliance for the District’s major federal 
program based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. An audit of major 
program compliance includes consideration of internal control over compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, as a part of our major program compliance audit, we considered internal control 
over compliance for these purposes and not to provide any assurance on the effectiveness of the District’s 
internal control over compliance.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you. 

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent Auditor’s 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit 
of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards dated December XX, 
2024. We have also provided our comments regarding compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
referred to above and internal controls over compliance during our audit in our Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Compliance the Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the 
Uniform Guidance dated December XX, 2024.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate and our firm, have complied with all relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence. 

Significant Risks Identified

As stated in our auditor’s report, professional standards require us to design our audit to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement whether caused by fraud or error. In 
designing our audit procedures, professional standards require us to evaluate the financial statements and 
assess the risk that a material misstatement could occur. Areas that are potentially more susceptible to 
misstatements, and thereby require special audit considerations, are designated as “significant risks”. We have 
identified the following as significant risks.

Management Override of Controls – professional standards require auditors to address the possibility of
management overriding controls. Accordingly, we considered the possibility that management of the
organization may have the ability to override controls that the organization has implemented.
Management may override the organization’s controls in order to modify the financial records with the
intent of manipulating the financial statements to overstate the organization’s financial performance or
with the intent of concealing fraudulent transactions. We are pleased to report that no such matters
were identified during our audit.

Page 182 of 324



3

Improper Revenue Recognition – professional standards require auditors to presume that revenue
recognition is a fraud risk. Therefore, improper revenue recognition was identified as a fraud risk due to
possibility that revenue is not recorded in the proper period, in the incorrect amount, etc. either due to
error or fraud. We are pleased to report that no actual instances were identified during our audit.

Estimates – Generally Accepted Auditing Standards require a presumed risk of management bias when
assumptions are used to calculate significant account balances, which for the District applies to pension
and other post-employment benefits.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices

Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the 
significant accounting policies adopted by the District is included in Note 1 to the financial statements. There 
have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting policies or their 
application during fiscal year 2024. No matters have come to our attention that would require us, under 
professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 
transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which 
there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and experience 
about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are 
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of the possibility 
that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements is related to “pension” and “other 
post-employment benefits.”

Management’s estimates of the pension liability and other post-employment benefits liability, and related 
deferred inflows of resources and deferred outflows of resources are based on actuarial valuations. We 
evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates and determined that they are 
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Page 183 of 324



4

Financial Statement Disclosures 

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive because of 
their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the District’s financial 
statements relate to the following:

Note 1 summarizes the District’s significant accounting policies.

Note 2 describes the District’s investment portfolio, including certain risks required by the accounting
standards for disclosure.

Note 4 describes the District’s long-term debt activities including required principal and interest
payments for debt service.

Note 6 describes the valuation of the District’s net pension liability and related deferred outflows and
inflows of resources. Such amounts are sensitive to the underlying actuarial assumptions used including,
but not limited to, the investment rate of return and discount rate. As disclosed, a one percent increase
or decrease in the discount rate has a material effect on the District’s net pension liability.

Note 7 describes the District’s postemployment benefits liability and related deferred outflows and
inflows of resources are sensitive to the underlying actuarial assumptions used including, but not limited
to, the discount rate and healthcare cost trend rate. As disclosed, a one percent increase or decrease in
the discount rate or the healthcare cost trend rate has a material effect on the District’s post-
employment benefits liability.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 
audit.

Page 184 of 324



5

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 
misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 
them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us to also 
communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 
transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole. Uncorrected 
misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future-
period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the uncorrected misstatements are 
immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. 

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, 
which could be significant to the District’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such disagreements 
arose during the course of the audit.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the management 
representation letter dated December XX, 2024.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations with other 
accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the District, we generally discuss a variety of matters, 
including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or transactions that 
occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and 
strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a 
condition to our retention as the District’s auditors.

Other Information Included in Annual Reports 

Pursuant to professional standards, our responsibility as auditors for other information, whether financial or 
nonfinancial, included in the District’s annual report, does not extend beyond the financial information 
identified in the audit report, and we are not required to perform any procedures to corroborate such other 
information. However, in accordance with such standards, we have read the other information and 
considered whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report.

Page 185 of 324



6

Our responsibility also includes communicating to you any information which we believe is a material 
misstatement of fact. Nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that such information, or its 
manner of presentation, is materially inconsistent with the information, or manner of its presentation, 
appearing in the financial statements.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the governing board and management of the 
District and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Menlo Park, California

Page 186 of 324



SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT
Fiscal Year 2024 Required Auditor Communication Page 187 of 324



SCOPE OF THE AUDIT

• Audit of the District’s financial statements

• Amounts and disclosures in the financial statements

• Accounting principles used

• Significant estimates made by management

• Overall financial statement presentation

• Federal single audit

• Reporting on identified internal control deficiencies, if any

• Financial reporting

• Compliance with laws and regulations

Page 188 of 324



SCOPE OF THE AUDIT

Auditor’s responsibilities

Forming and expressing opinions based on 
the results of our audit of the financial 
statements, and audit of compliance.

Management's Responsibilities

Completeness and accuracy of the financial 
statements, maintenance of internal control 
over financial reporting, and compliance 

with laws and regulations.

Page 189 of 324



GFOA, CERTIFICATE OF EXCELLENCE

Page 190 of 324



OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

“…the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the District…”

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

No control deficiencies were identified.

FEDERAL COMPLIANCE

“…the District complied, in all material respects, with the compliance 

requirements referred to above that could have a direct and 

material effect on its major federal program…”

2

3

1
AUDIT RESULTS

Page 191 of 324



SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

Page 192 of 324



This presentation is presented with the understanding that the information contained does not constitute legal, accounting or other professional advice. It is not intended to be responsive to any individual situation or concerns, 
as the contents of this presentation are intended for general information purposes only. Viewers are urged not to act upon the information contained in this presentation without first consulting competent legal, accounting or other 
professional advice regarding implications of a particular factual situation. Questions and additional information can be submitted to your Eide Bailly representative, or to the presenter of this session. 

QUESTIONS?
Page 193 of 324



eidebailly.com

Find us online:

Page 194 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 8

December 18, 2024

Sonoma- Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year (FY) 2023-2024 Budget to Actual Comparison

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATIONS:  Information Item

SUMMARY:
Finance has finalized all the Fiscal Year 2023-2024 processes and has 
prepared a reconciliation of FY 2023-2024 budgeted revenues and 
expenditures verses actual revenues and expenditures. The attached 
reconciliations include a comment section, so the reader has an idea of the 
reason for the differences in budget verses actual of those line items that 
exceed +/- 20%.  

Passenger Revenues
Overall revenues were less than budgeted by approximately 13.4% or 
$15,350,782.  Sales tax was down 2.4% or $1,193,651.  Fare revenues were 
up 21.6% or $388,869.  Interest earnings were significantly higher than 
anticipated due to higher cash balances and interest rates.  Most of the 
differences are a result of spending less on projects than anticipated.  Most 
grant funds are received based on reimbursement of actual expenses.  If 
expenses aren’t incurred, reimbursement can’t be received from the 
granting agency.  

Passenger Expenses
Salaries and Benefits came in under budget by 5.9% or $1.5 million which 
is attributable to vacancy savings.  Services & supplies came in under 
budget by $9.2 million and capital expenditures came in $17.2 million 
under budget.  Total expenditures were $29.4 million less than budgeted 
or 24.1%.  Of the $29.4 million, $17.2 million was work that was budgeted 
in Fiscal Year 2023-24 but was not able to be completed and was carried 
forward to Fiscal Year 2024-25.  

Page 195 of 324



SMART Board of Directors 
December 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 2 

Freight Revenues 
Overall revenues were lower than anticipated by 16.3% or $463,167.  We collected less in freight 
movement fees due to less traffic and we spent less than anticipated in the state shortline grant due 
to lack of match available.   

Freight Expenditures 
Expenditures came in below budget by $564,219 or 19.9%.  Of that amount, $175,000 will be carried 
forward into FY 25 for expenditure, $82,001 is due to vacancy savings, and $287,530 is due to 
spending less than anticipated.  Every effort was made in Fiscal Year 2023-2024 to lower expenses 
as much as possible to limit the use of grant funds.   

FISCAL IMPACT:   No fiscal impact.   

REVIEWED BY:   [    ] Finance _________ [ x ] Counsel __/s/________ 

Sincerely, 

    /s/ 
Heather McKillop 
Chief Financial Officer 

Attachments: 
1) FY 24 Budget to Actual – Pass Revenues
2) FY 24 Budget to Actual – Pass Expenses
3) FY 24 Budget to Actual – Freight Revenues
4) FY 24 Budget to Actual – Freight Expense

Page 196 of 324



Passenger Revenues
Funding Source FY 24 Budget FY 24 Actual Difference % +/- Comments

Sales Tax 50,031,000$     48,837,349$   (1,193,651)$     -2.4% Actuals were less than anticipated.
Federal 
5307 - Urbanized Area Formula Funds (Preventative Maintenance) 3,997,642$       3,997,642$     (0)$  0.0%

FRA - Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and Safety Improvements (CRISI) 250,000$           -$                 (250,000)$        -100.0%
Had to utilize other funding sources on this project prior to billing 
FRA funds.  Will start billing these funds in FY 25.

FRA  - Suicide Prevention 78,902$             29,046$           (49,856)$           -63.2% Funds will be carryforward to FY 25 and spent then.
Quick Strike (CMAQ) - McInnis to Smith Ranch Road 1,422,537$       1,174,803$     (247,734)$        -17.4%
Total Federal 5,749,081$       5,201,491$     (547,590)$        -9.5%
State

AHSC - Roseland Village/ Kashia Tribe/ Petaluma 3,433,676$       1,652,011$     (1,781,665)$     -51.9%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

ATP - SoCo Pathway - CTC/Caltrans/MTC 4,138,101$       4,842,352$     704,251$          17.0%
Caltrans Sustainability Communities Competitive Planning Grant 400,000$           -$                 (400,000)$        -100.0% Didn't start the project until FY 25.
Clean California Transit Grant 1,000,000$       -$                 (1,000,000)$     -100.0% Didn't start the project until FY 25.
LCTOP - Low Carbon Transit  Operating 520,218$           533,987$        13,769$            2.6%

LPP - Local Partnership Program 1,422,537$       1,090,497$     (332,040)$        -23.3%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

ITIP - Windsor Systems 6,966,677$       2,575,265$     (4,391,412)$     -63.0%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

SCCP - Windsor 16,658,614$     13,557,220$   (3,101,394)$     -18.6%

SRA - State Rail Assistance 5,026,754$       3,669,739$     (1,357,015)$     -27.0%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

STA - Population/ Revenue/ SOGR 4,154,517$       4,156,985$     2,468$              0.1%

State Funds - Shuttle Service 500,000$           -$                 (500,000)$        -100.0%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

TIRCP - Petaluma North and McDowell Crossing 3,325,343$       1,574,747$     (1,750,596)$     -52.6%
Spent less on the projects than anticipated; therefore, could not 
bill grantor.

TIRCP - Windsor to Healdsburg 200,000$           -$                 (200,000)$        -100.0% Didn't start the project until FY 25.
Total State 47,746,437$     33,652,803$   (14,093,634)$   -29.5%
Other Sources
Advertising 70,000$             120,509$        50,509$            72.2% Generated more revenues in ads than anticipated.
Charges for Services 75,637$             176,811$        101,174$          133.8% Generated more revenues in services than anticipated.
Fare Revenues 1,803,384$       2,192,253$     388,869$          21.6% Exceeded ridership and fare revenues for FY 24.
Interest Earning 627,926$           3,100,838$     2,472,912$      393.8% Higher cash balances and interest rates than anticipated.
Misc. 5,659$               291,034$        285,375$          5042.9% More insurance recovery than anticipated.
Parking 15,000$             12,197$           (2,803)$             -18.7%
Rent - Real Estate 423,721$           463,802$        40,081$            9.5%

Shuttle Revenue -$  1,040$             1,040$              #DIV/0!
Didn't originally budget for shuttle revenues.  Did budget for them 
in FY 25.

Total Other Sources 3,021,327$       6,358,485$     3,337,158$      110.5%
Regional Funds

Regional Funds 8,221,921$       5,368,857$     (2,853,064)$     -34.7%
Spent less on projects than originally anticipated therefore couldn't 
bill the local governments for these costs.

Total Revenues 114,769,766$   99,418,984$   (15,350,782)$   -13.4%

Page 197 of 324



Passenger Expenses
Account FY 24 Budget FY 24 Actuals Difference +/- % Comments

Expenses - Administration & Operations
Salaries & Benefits 25,277,730$    23,807,760$    (1,469,970)$         -5.8%

Expenses - Administration 11,165,281$    7,158,757$      (4,006,524)$         -35.9%
No claims paid, lower legal expenses, and lower contracted 
services

Expenses - Operations 6,453,524$     4,958,484$      (1,495,040)$         -23.2%

Lower cost for maintenance of equipment, maintenance of 
facilities, maintenance of revenue vehicles, and contracted 
services.

Total 42,896,535$        35,925,001$        (6,971,534)$         -16.3%

Expenses - Shuttle 1,000,000$      391,571$         (608,429)$       -60.8%

This is an emerging technology and we are still exploring new 
ways  to expand the program and provide flexibility to partner 
with other agencies.

Total Administration & Operations 43,896,535$        36,316,572$        (7,579,963)$         -17.3%
Expenses - Engineering
Salaries & Benefits 704,575$        653,722$         (50,853)$     -7.2%

Expenses - Engineering 4,157,170$     1,088,051$     (3,069,120)$         -73.8%
Less was spent on Pathway Engineering than was anticipated in 
the budget.

Total Engineering 4,861,746$     1,741,773$    (3,119,973)$         -64.2%
Expenses - Capital & State of Good Repair Projects

Non-Revenue Vehicles 1,037,906$     614,549$        (423,358)$       -40.8%
Vehicles were supposed to come be June 30, 2024 but didn't 
come until FY 25.  Funds were carryforward to FY 25.

Equipment 2,201,503$     -$      (2,201,503)$         -100.0%
Didn't spend as much on projects as anticipated, will be spent in 
FY 25.

Information Technology/ Systems 524,102$        233,258$         (290,844)$       -55.5%
Longer lead times created delay in receiving equipment.  Funds 
will be carried forward and spent in FY 25.

Facilities 46,807,112$    34,738,367$     (12,068,745)$       -25.8%
Didn't spend as much on projects as anticipated, will be spent in 
FY 25.

Infrastructure 2,580,325$     1,377,562$     (1,202,763)$         -46.6%
Didn't spend as much on projects as anticipated, will be spent in 
FY 25.

Other Governments 1,293,812$     297,479$        (996,333)$       -77.0%
Didn't spend as much on projects as anticipated, will be spent in 
FY 25.

Total Capital & State of Good Repair 54,444,760$        37,261,215$        (17,183,545)$       -31.6%
Debt Service & Reserves
Contribution to Reserves 2,778,617$      2,778,617$      -$      0.0%
Debt Service 16,296,220$     14,765,000$     (1,531,220)$         -9.4%
Total Debt Service & Reserves 19,074,837$        17,543,617$        (1,531,220)$         -8.0%
Total Expenses 122,277,878$      92,863,177$        (29,414,701)$       -24.1%

Page 198 of 324



Freight Revenues
Funding Source FY 24 Budget FY 24 Actual Difference % +/-

State Grant (42341) 1,373,606$      1,098,890$             (274,716)$      -20.0%

State Shortline Grant 115,000$         33,490$  (81,510)$        -70.9%
Freight Movement Fees 800,000$         683,148$                (116,852)$      -14.6%
Leases 270,000$         276,710$                6,710$            2.5%
Storage 26,200$           31,031$  4,831$            18.4%
45(g) Tax Credit & Misc. Revenues 253,040$         251,410$                (1,630)$          -0.6%
Total 2,837,846$      2,374,679$             (463,167)$      -16.3%

Page 199 of 324



Comments

Didn't incur expenses due to inability to provide match for this 
grant.

Page 200 of 324



Freight Expenses
Account FY 24 Budget FY 24 Expenditures Difference % +/- Comments

Salaries & Benefits 920,876$           838,864$  (82,011)$    -8.9%
Expenses
Cost Allocation 120,000$           123,025$  3,025$       2.5%
51042 - Insurance 108,704$           109,931$  1,227$       1.1%
51061 - Maintenance of Equipment 35,250$             8,641$  (26,609)$    -75.5% Had to perform less maintenance on equipment than anticipated.
51062 - Maintenance of Radio 2,034$                -$  (2,034)$      -100.0% Didn't have to spend funds on maintenance of radios n FY 24.

51063 - Maintenance of Signals 9,082$                -$  (9,082)$      -100.0%
Signal work for freight is contracted out.  These funds are for internal 
signal maintenance costs.  None were incurred in FY 24.

51064 - Maintenance of Revenue Vehicles 95,000$             36,574$  (58,426)$    -61.5%
Had to perform less maintenance on revenue vehicles than 
anticipated.

51071 - Maintenance of Facilities 15,000$             8,007$  (6,993)$      -46.6% Had to perform less maintenance on facilities than anticipated.
51074 - Maintenance of Railway 110,000$           108,326$  (1,674)$      -1.5%
51225 - Training & Travel Expense 9,900$                1,792$  (8,108)$      -81.9% Not traveling due to lack of funding.
51244 - Permits and Fees 70,000$             35,803$  (34,197)$    -48.9% Were able to cut car hire fees in half in FY 24.
51401 - Rent/Lease Equip 55,000$             51,124$  (3,876)$      -7.0%
51605 - Mileage Reimbursement & Auto Tolls 1,389$                385$  (1,004)$      -72.3% Not traveling due to lack of funding.

51802 - Contract Services - Administrative 246,797$           166,872$  (79,926)$    -32.4%
Didn't have to use emergency call out services, therefore saved 
money on contracted services.

51902 - Communications 15,050$             6,960$  (8,090)$      -53.8% Didn't need full budget in FY 24.
52021 - Uniform Expenses 3,957$                845$  (3,112)$      -78.6% Had less new employees in FY 24 requiring uniforms.

52061 - Fuel and Lubricants 114,211$           75,835$  (38,376)$    -33.6%
Utilized less fuel than anticipated and was lower priced than previous 
year.

52091 - Memberships 2,043$                2,043$  (1)$              0.0%
52101 - Miscellaneous Expense 3,300$                456$  (2,843)$      -86.2% The entire budget was not needed in FY 24.
52141 - Small Tools & Equipment's 20,000$             17,583$  (2,417)$      -12.1%
52143 - Computer Software 8,640$                4,305$  (4,335)$      -50.2% Thought cost of software we going to increase but it did not
52191 - Utilities 15,918$             15,240$  (678)$         -4.3%
Total 1,061,275$        773,744$  (287,530)$ -27.1%
Projects
Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs - High Priority 660,696$           661,019$  323$           0.0%
Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs - Phase II 95,000$             20,000$  (75,000)$    -78.9% Deferred work due to lack of funding.

Grade Crossing Repairs 100,000$           -$  (100,000)$  -100.0%
Caltrans did the work for SMART in FY 25.  Funds carried forward to FY 
25.

Prior Year Adjustment -$  (20,000)$  (20,000)$    #DIV/0!
Total Projects 855,696$           661,019$  (194,677)$ -22.8%
Total Expenses 2,837,846$        2,273,628$               (564,219)$ -19.9%

Page 201 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 9 

December 18, 2024

Sonoma- Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Budget Amendment #9 - Amends the Fiscal Year 2025 Adopted 
Budget 

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
Adopt Resolution No. 2024-40, amending Resolution No. 2024-19, the 
Fiscal Year 2025 Adopted Budget to increase expenditure authority and 
modify the position authorization for Freight.

SUMMARY:
We are shifting dispatch duties for freight services to freight employees in 
order to completely separate the Passenger and Freight Divisions. One-
half (.5) Full Time Equivalent (FTE) must be added in order to achieve this. 
Four and a half of the six FTEs that we currently have authorized are freight 
utility workers. There will be five freight utility worker positions overall 
with the addition of .5 FTE. We want to take two of those positions out of 
the five and rename them "Freight Utility Worker/Dispatcher." A 
competitive hiring process will be used to fill these two positions.

In addition to their regular duties, these two freight employees will provide
dispatching services when required by freight.  This is estimated to be 
around (4) four hours per week.  While the employee is performing 
dispatching duties, they will receive a 15% premium for those hours 
worked.  

FISCAL IMPACT:  The estimated fully loaded cost for the .5 FTE annually is 
$77,575.  Since we are budgeting this position mid-year, we are only 
budgeting half of that amount or $38,787.50. 

In addition, we had the existing .5 FTE authorized but not budgeted.  We 
also need to fund this position.  Since we are budgeting this position mid-
year, we are only budgeting half of that amount or $38,787.50. 

Page 202 of 324



SMART Board of Directors 
December 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 2 

The total amount for this change is $77,575.  In order to fund this change, we are reducing service 
and supplies by $15,791 and reducing the fund balance by $61,784.  This leaves a fund balance of $0. 

REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance _________ [ x ] Counsel ____/s/____ 

Sincerely, 

     /s/ 
Heather McKillop 
Chief Financial Officer 

Attachment(s): 
1) Resolution No. 2024-40, Budget Amendment #9 – Freight FTE
2) Appendix B to the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget
3) Appendix C to the Fiscal Year 2025 Budget

Page 203 of 324



Resolution No. 2024-40 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

December 18, 2024 

Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT 
DISTRICT, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AMENDING RESOLUTION NO. 2024-19, THE ANNUAL 
BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 TO PROVIDE FOR REVISED EXPENDITURE AUTHORITY 
AND A CHANGE IN POSITION AUTHORITY FOR THE FREIGHT BUDGET 

WHEREAS, as part of its approval of the Annual Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025, the 
Board of Directors considered the annual expenditures necessary for the Sonoma-Marin Area 
Rail Transit District; and  

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #1 which modified the expenditure 
authority and provided for revised position authority; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #2, which modfied the expenditure 
authority to provide for the purchase of land; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #3, to modify expenditure authority 
for the rollforward of funds; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #4, to program Local Partnership 
Program funds to partially fund the purchase of Hi-Rail vehicles; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #5, to modify expenditure authority 
to reflect the reduction of Federal 5337 State of Good Repair funds; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #6, to program new revenues and 
increase expenditure authority for the freight; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #7, to modify expenditure authority 
to adjust funding to the Windsor Extension Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Board approved Budget Amendment #8, to program revenues and 
increase expenditure authority for freight; and 

WHEREAS, the Board desires to Amend the Annual Budget Resolution No. 2024-19 to 
increase expenditure authority and modify the position authority for freight. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that expenditure authority in Resolution No. 2024-
19, Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Adopted Budget,  Appendix B, and Appendix C are hereby amended.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED except as specifically amended or supplemented by this 
Resolution, Resolution No. 2024-19, together with all supplements, amendments, and exhibits 
thereto is, and shall continue to be, in full force and effect as originally adopted, and otherwise 

Page 204 of 324



Resolution No. 2024-40 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

December 18, 2024 

contained herein shall, or shall be construed to, modify, invalidate, or otherwide affect and 
provision of Resolution No. 2024-19. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Sonoma-Marin 
Area Rail Transit District held on the 18th day of December, 2024, by the following vote:  

DIRECTORS: 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

 ________________________________   

Eric Lucan, Chair, Board of Directors         
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

ATTEST: 

 

_____________________________________________ 
Leticia Rosas, Clerk of the Board of Directors  
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District 

Page 205 of 324



A B C

FY25 Budget

Budget 
Amendment 

#6

Budget 
Amendment 

#8

Budget 
Amendment 

#9
Amended 

Budget
1 Beginning Fund Balance -$  -$  213,236$         -$  213,236$            
2 Revenues
3 State Grant (42341) 393,549$              -$  -$  -$  393,549$            
4 State Shortline Grant 83,960$                45,816$           270,000$         -$  399,776$            
5 Freight Movement Fees 700,000$              -$  -$  -$  700,000$            
6 Leases 270,000$              -$  -$  -$  270,000$            
7 Storage 104,800$              -$  -$  -$  104,800$            
8 45(g) Tax Credit & Misc. Revenues 253,000$              340,000$         -$  -$  593,000$            
9 Total Revenues 1,805,309$           385,816$         270,000$         -$  2,461,125$         

10 Total Revenues + Fund Balance 1,805,309$           385,816$         483,236$         -$  2,674,361$         
11
12 FY25 Budget Difference Difference
13
14 Salaries & Benefits 870,099$              -$  -$  77,575$           947,674$            
15 Service & Supplies 767,290$              175,635$         -$  (15,791)$          927,134$            
16 Total Salaries, Benefits, Services, & Supplies 1,637,389$           175,635$         -$  61,784$           1,874,808$         
17 Balance 167,920$              210,181$         483,236$         (61,784)$          799,553$            
18
19 FY25 Budget Difference Difference
20
21 Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs (High Priority) -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  
22 Brazos Branch Bridge Repairs - Phase II 67,920$                -$  540,000$         -$  607,920$            
23 Tie Replacement -$  50,000$           -$  -$  50,000$               
24 Grade Crossing Repair 100,000$              41,633$           -$  -$  141,633$            
25 Total Capital & State of Good Repair 167,920$              91,633$           540,000$         -$  799,553$            
26 Balance -$  118,548$         (540,000)$        (61,784)$          -$  

Appendix B - Freight Sources and Uses 
Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget 

Page 206 of 324



Appendix C - Position Authorization
Number of Positions Position Title

Administration Min Max Min Max
1 Accountant I 37.27$    46.59$    77,521.60$     96,907.20$     
1 Accounting Manager 65.76$    82.20$    136,780.80$   170,976.00$   
1 Accounts Payable Technician 31.35$    39.19$    65,208.00$     81,515.20$     
3 Administrative Assistant 32.14$    40.18$    66,851.20$     83,574.40$     
1 Assistant General Counsel 90.66$    113.33$  188,572.80$   235,726.40$   
1 Assistant Planner 40.13$    50.16$    83,470.40$     104,332.80$   
1 Budget and Finance Manager 65.76$    82.20$    136,780.80$   170,976.00$   
1 Chief Financial Officer 118.88$  148.60$  247,270.40$   309,088.00$   
1 Clerk of the Board/ Executive Assistant 46.54$    58.18$    96,803.20$     121,014.40$   
1 Communications and Marketing Coordinator 40.13$    50.16$    83,470.40$     104,332.80$   
1 Communications and Marketing Manager 74.41$    93.01$    154,772.80$   193,460.80$   
1 Communications and Marketing Specialist 59.54$    74.43$    123,843.20$   154,814.40$   
1 Communications and Marketing Specialist - Limited Term Position 55.32$    69.15$    115,065.60$   143,832.00$   
1 General Counsel 118.95$  148.69$  247,416.00$   309,275.20$   
1 General Counsel - Limited Term Position 118.95$  148.69$  247,416.00$   309,275.20$   
1 General Manager 152.35$  316,888.00$   -$                 
2 Grants and Budget Analyst 52.66$    65.83$    109,532.80$   136,926.40$   
1 Grants and Legislative Affairs Manager 76.23$    95.29$    158,558.40$   198,203.20$   
1 Human Resources Manager 74.41$    93.01$    154,772.80$   193,460.80$   
1 Human Resources Specialist 38.20$    47.75$    79,456.00$     99,320.00$     
1 Information Systems Analyst 46.54$    58.18$    96,803.20$     121,014.40$   
1 Information Systems Manager 76.27$    95.34$    158,641.60$   198,307.20$   
1 Information Systems Technician 41.14$    51.43$    85,571.20$     106,974.40$   
1 Legal Administrative Assistant 37.27$    46.59$    77,521.60$     96,907.20$     
1 MMIS Analyst 58.09$    72.61$    120,827.20$   151,028.80$   
1 Payroll Technician 33.08$    41.35$    68,806.40$     86,008.00$     
1 Planning Manager 74.41$    93.01$    154,772.80$   193,460.80$   
1 Procurement and Contracts Analyst 48.90$    61.13$    101,712.00$   127,150.40$   
1 Procurement and Contracts Manager 69.09$    86.36$    143,707.20$   179,628.80$   
1 Procurement Technician 32.14$    40.18$    66,851.20$     83,574.40$     
1 Real Estate Manager 82.09$    102.61$  170,747.20$   213,428.80$   
1 Regulatory Compliance & Civil Rights Manager 74.41$    93.01$    154,772.80$   193,460.80$   
1 Senior Buyer 53.98$    67.48$    112,278.40$   140,358.40$   
1 Senior Management Analyst 59.54$    74.43$    123,843.20$   154,814.40$   
1 Senior Planner 55.32$    69.15$    115,065.60$   143,832.00$   
1 Senior Real Estate Officer 55.29$    69.11$    115,003.20$   143,748.80$   

Interns (Multiple) 18.00$    
39

# of Positions Position Title
Capital Min Max Min Max

2 Assistant Engineer 48.90$    61.13$    101,712.00$   127,150.40$   
1 Associate Engineer 56.71$    70.89$    117,956.80$   147,451.20$   
1 Chief Engineer 97.54$    121.93$  202,883.20$   253,614.40$   
2 Junior Engineer 42.17$    52.71$    87,713.60$     109,636.80$   
1 Manager Train Control Systems 97.54$    121.93$  202,883.20$   253,614.40$   
1 Principal Engineer 76.27$    95.34$    158,641.60$   198,307.20$   
1 Senior Engineer 65.76$    82.20$    136,780.80$   170,976.00$   
9

Hourly Annual

Hourly Annual

Page 207 of 324



# of Positions Position Title
Operations Min Max Min Max

1 Administrative Services Specialist 46.53$    58.16$    96,782.40$     120,972.80$   
3 Bridge Tender 35.83$    -$                 74,526.40$     
1 Chief Operating Officer 102.57$  128.21$  213,345.60$   266,676.80$   
1 Chief of Police 88.39$    110.49$  183,851.20$   229,819.20$   
3 Code Compliance Officer 36.36$    45.45$    75,628.80$     94,536.00$     
1 Code Compliance Officer - Limited Term 36.36$    45.45$    75,628.80$     94,536.00$     
6 Conductor * 45.52$    -$                 94,681.60$     

Conductor Trainee* 38.70$    -$                 80,496.00$     
28 Engineer * 54.73$    -$                 113,838.40$   

Engineer Trainee* 46.52$    -$                 96,761.60$     
1 Facilities Maintenance Supervisor 52.80$    64.18$    109,824.00$   133,494.40$   
3 Facilities Maintenance Technician 44.81$    -$                 93,204.80$     
2 Inventory and Parts Clerk 33.08$    41.35$    68,806.40$     86,008.00$     
1 Materials Sourcing Specialist 36.36$    45.45$    75,628.80$     94,536.00$     
1 Inventory Manager / Asset Management Specialist 56.71$    70.89$    117,956.80$   147,451.20$   
1 Lead Facility Maintenance Engineer 49.29$    -$                 102,523.20$   
1 Maintenance of Way Manager 78.17$    97.71$    162,593.60$   203,236.80$   
1 Maintenance of Way Superintendent 65.76$    82.20$    136,780.80$   170,976.00$   
2 Operation Communication Specialist 37.27$    46.59$    77,521.60$     96,907.20$     
1 Safety & Compliance Officer 67.38$    84.23$    140,150.40$   175,198.40$   
1 Senior Administrative Assistant 35.47$    44.34$    73,777.60$     92,227.20$     
2 Signal Supervisor 56.31$    68.43$    117,124.80$   142,334.40$   
8 Signal Technician ** 59.34$    -$                 123,427.20$   

Signal Technician Trainee (2) ** 44.50$    -$                 92,560.00$     
2 Track Maintenance - Laborers 33.50$    -$                 69,680.00$     
5 Track Maintainer I 44.38$    -$                 92,310.40$     
1 Track Maintainer II 48.82$    -$                 101,545.60$   
2 Track Maintenance Supervisor 52.67$    64.03$    109,553.60$   133,182.40$   
1 Transportation Manager 78.17$    97.71$    162,593.60$   203,236.80$   
1 Transportation Superintendent 65.76$    82.20$    136,780.80$   170,976.00$   

12 Transportation Supervisor 58.13$    72.66$    120,910.40$   151,132.80$   
10 Vehicle Maintenance - Laborers 34.31$    -$                 71,364.80$     
1 Vehicle Maintenance Manager 78.17$    97.71$    162,593.60$   203,236.80$   
5 Vehicle Maintenance Supervisor 58.13$    72.66$    120,910.40$   151,132.80$   

12 Vehicle Maintenance Technician *** 54.23$    -$                 112,798.40$   
Vehicle Maintenance Tech Trainee (2) *** 40.67$    -$                 84,593.60$     

121
Freight Min Max Min Max

0.5 Administrative Assistant 32.14$    40.18$    66,851.20$     83,574.40$     
1 Freight Manager 78.17$    97.71$    162,593.60$   203,236.80$   
3 Freight Utility Worker 36.36$    45.45$    75,628.80$     94,536.00$     
2 Freight Utility Worker/ Dispatcher 36.36$    45.45$    75,628.80$     94,536.00$     

6.5

Total FTE 175.5

* Total positions cannot exceed 34.
** Total positions cannot exceed 8.
*** Total positions cannot exceed 12.

AnnualHourly

Page 208 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 10

December 18, 2024 

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: Approve Contract No. OP-SV-24-013 with GrayMar Environmental
Services, LLC 

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize the General Manager to execute Contact No. OP-SV-24-013 with 
GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC in an amount not to exceed 
$227,595. This is a three-year contract with provisions for two (2) optional 
one-year extensions. 

SUMMARY
The nature of passenger and freight railroad operations requires SMART to 
contract with an on-call hazardous materials removal, remediation, and 
disposal service contractor.  While it is always SMART’s intent to never 
have to use these services, they are occasionally required.  
SMART issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) to solicit a Contractor to 
provide as-needed removal, remediation, and disposal of hazardous 
materials, including biohazardous materials, on an emergency or non-
emergency basis under Solicitation No. OP-SV-24-013.  Three (3) Proposals 
were received from the following firms:  

1. Clean Harbors Environmental Services, Inc.
2. GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
3. HCI Environmental and Engineering.

The Proposals were evaluated by a Selection Committee using the criteria 
established in the RFP, which included the Proposer’s service approach, 
qualification of personnel, prior experience, and pricing.  

BACKGROUND: 
Historically, SMART has had an on-call contract in place for hazardous 
materials removal services from railroad property. To expedite and 
facilitate a timely response to certain emergency situations, SMART must 
have an as-needed service in place. Having a contract of this nature in place 
helped to expedite the restoration of passenger service on multiple 
occasions over the last 7 years. 

Page 209 of 324



SMART Board of Directors 
December 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 2 

This contract also includes removal and disposal of hazardous materials, including biohazardous 
materials, on a non-emergency basis. 

Staff recommends authorizing the General Manager to execute Contract No.  OP-SV-24-013 with 
GrayMar Environmental Services LLC in the amount of $227,595. 

FISCAL IMPACT: The Fiscal impact of the project is $227,595. The funds are budgeted in the Fiscal 
Year 2025. 

REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance ___/s/______    [ x ] Counsel ___/s/_______ 

Respectfully, 

   /s/ 
Marc Bader 
Chief Operating Officer 

Attachment:  GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC Contract No. OP-SV-24-013 

Page 210 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 1 of 55

SERVICE AGREEMENT

This agreement (“Agreement”), dated as of December 18, 2024 (“Effective Date”) is 
by and between the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (hereinafter “SMART” or
“District”), and GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC (hereinafter “Service Provider”).

R E C I T A L S

WHEREAS, Service Provider represents that it is a duly qualified and experienced in
the area of hazardous materials services; and

WHEREAS, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of SMART or District, it is 
necessary and desirable to employ the services of Service Provider for on call removal, 
remediation, and disposal of hazardous materials.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the mutual 
covenants contained herein, the parties hereto agree as follows:

A G R E E M E N T

ARTICLE 1. RECITALS.

Section 1.01 The above Recitals are true and correct.

ARTICLE 2. LIST OF EXHIBITS.

Section 2.01 The following exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated herein:

(a) Exhibit A:  Scope of Work & Timeline

(b) Exhibit B: Schedule of Rates

(c) Exhibit C:  FTA & DOT Requirements

(d) Exhibit D:  Federal Wage Determination

ARTICLE 3. REQUEST FOR SERVICES.

Section 3.01 Initiation Conference. SMART’s Vehicle Maintenance Manager,
Freight Manager or Maintenance of Way Manager or their designees (hereinafter “SMART 
Manager”) will initiate all requests for services through an Initiation Conference, which may be 
in person, by telephone, or by email.  

Section 3.02 Amount of Work. SMART does not guarantee a minimum or 
maximum amount of work under this Agreement.

Page 211 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 2 of 55

ARTICLE 4. SCOPE OF SERVICES.

Section 4.01 Scope of Work. Service Provider shall perform services within the 
timeframe outlined in Exhibit A (cumulatively referred to as the “Scope of Work”).

Section 4.02 Cooperation With SMART. Service Provider shall cooperate with 
the SMART Manager in the performance of all work hereunder.  

Section 4.03 Performance Standard. Service Provider shall perform all work 
hereunder in a manner consistent with the level of competency and standard of care normally 
observed by a person practicing in Service Provider’s profession.  If SMART determines that 
any of Service Provider’s work is not in accordance with such level of competency and standard 
of care, SMART, in its sole discretion, shall have the right to do any or all of the following:  (a) 
require Service Provider to meet with SMART to review the quality of the work and resolve 
matters of concern; (b) require Service Provider to repeat the work at no additional charge until it 
is satisfactory; (c) terminate this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Article 7; or (d) pursue 
any and all other remedies at law or in equity.

Section 4.04 Assigned Personnel.  

(a) Service Provider shall assign only competent personnel to perform work hereunder.  In
the event that at any time SMART, in its sole discretion, desires the removal of any
person or persons assigned by Service Provider to perform work hereunder, Service
Provider shall remove such person or persons immediately upon receiving written notice
from SMART.

(b) Any and all persons identified in this Agreement or any exhibit hereto as the project
manager, project team, or other professional performing work hereunder on behalf of the
Service Provider are deemed by SMART to be key personnel whose services were a
material inducement to SMART to enter into this Agreement, and without whose services
SMART would not have entered into this Agreement.  Service Provider shall not remove,
replace, substitute, or otherwise change any key personnel without the prior written
consent of SMART.  Key personnel shall be as listed in the applicable Task Order.

(c) In the event that any of Service Provider’s personnel assigned to perform services under
this Agreement become unavailable due to resignation, sickness or other factors outside
of Service Provider’s control, Service Provider shall be responsible for timely provision
of adequately qualified replacements.

(d) Service Provider shall assign the following key personnel for the term of this Agreement:
Matt Musolf, Lori Bateman.

ARTICLE 5. PAYMENT. 

For all services required hereunder, Service Provider shall be paid in accordance with the 
following terms: 

Page 212 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 3 of 55

Section 5.01 Service Provider shall invoice SMART on a monthly basis, 
detailing the tasks performed pursuant to the Scope of Work requested by the SMART Manager
and the hours worked.  SMART shall pay Service Provider within 30 days after submission of 
the invoices. 

Section 5.02 Service Provider shall be paid in accordance with the rates 
established in Exhibit B; provided, however, that total payments to Service Provider shall not 
exceed $227,595.00, without the prior written approval of SMART.  Service Provider shall 
submit its invoices in arrears monthly in a form approved by the Chief Financial Officer.  The 
invoices shall show or include: (i) the task(s) performed; (ii) the time in quarter hours devoted to 
the task(s); (iii) the hourly rate or rates of the persons or the Initial Response Team performing
the task(s); (iv) certified payroll reports for covered work, and (v) copies of receipts for 
reimbursable materials/expenses, if any.  All reimbursable expenses must comply with 
SMART’s Travel Guidelines and must receive prior approval.  Service Provider’s reimbursement 
for materials/expenses shall not include items already included in Service Provider’s overhead as 
may be billed as a part of its labor rates set forth in Exhibit B.  SMART does not reimburse 
Service Provider for travel time unless authorized in advance.

Section 5.03 Service Provider agrees that 48 CFR Part 31, Contract Cost 
Principles and Procedures and 2 CFR Part 200 shall be used to determine the allowability of 
individual terms of cost.  Any costs for which payment has been made to the Consultant that are 
determined by subsequential audit to be unallowable under 48 CFR Part 31 or 2 CFR Part 200 
are subject to repayment by the Consultant to SMART.

Section 5.04 Service Provider must submit all invoices on a timely basis, but no 
later than thirty (30) days from the date the services/charges were incurred. District shall not 
accept invoices submitted by Service Provider after the end of such thirty (30) day period 
without District pre-approval. Time is of the essence with respect to submission of invoices and 
failure by Service Provider to abide by these requirements may delay or prevent payment of 
invoices or cause such invoices to be returned to the Service Provider unpaid.

ARTICLE 6. TERM OF AGREEMENT.  

Section 6.01 The term of this Agreement shall remain in effect until December 
18, 2027, with two (2) one-year options to extend thereafter at SMART’s sole discretion unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the provisions of Article 7 below.  

ARTICLE 7. TERMINATION.

Section 7.01 Termination Without Cause.  Notwithstanding any other provision 
of this Agreement, at any time and without cause, SMART shall have the right, at their sole
discretion, to terminate this Agreement by giving 30 days written notice to the other party.

Section 7.02 Termination for Cause. The District’s obligation under this 
contract is contingent upon the availability of appropriated funds from which payment for 
contract purposes can be made.  No legal liability on the part of the District for any payment may 

Page 213 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 4 of 55

arise until funds are made available by the District for this contract and until the Contractor or 
Consultant receives notice of such availability, as such and notwithstanding any other provision 
of this Agreement, should Service Provider fail to perform any of its obligations hereunder, 
within the time and in the manner herein provided, or otherwise violate any of the terms of this 
Agreement, SMART may immediately terminate this Agreement by giving Service Provider
written notice of such termination, stating the reason for termination. 

Section 7.03 Delivery of Work Product and Final Payment Upon Termination.
In the event of termination by either party, Service Provider, within 14 days following the date of 
termination, shall deliver to SMART all materials and work product subject to Section 12.08 and 
shall submit to SMART an invoice showing the services performed, hours worked, and copies of 
receipts for reimbursable expenses up to the date of termination.

Section 7.04 Payment Upon Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement 
by SMART, Service Provider shall be entitled to receive as full payment for all services 
satisfactorily rendered and expenses incurred hereunder, an amount which bears the same ratio to 
the total payment specified in the Agreement as the services satisfactorily rendered hereunder by
Service Provider bear to the total services otherwise required to be performed for such total 
payment; provided, however, that if services are to be paid on an hourly or daily basis, then 
Service Provider shall be entitled to receive as full payment an amount equal to the number of 
hours or days actually worked prior to termination times the applicable hourly or daily rate; 
provided further that if SMART terminates the Agreement for cause pursuant to Section 7.02,
SMART shall deduct from such amount the amount of damage, if any, sustained by SMART by 
virtue of the breach of the Agreement by Service Provider.

Section 7.05 Authority to Terminate. The Board of Directors has the authority 
to terminate this Agreement on behalf of SMART.  In addition, the General Manager, in 
consultation with SMART Counsel, shall have the authority to terminate this Agreement on 
behalf of SMART.

ARTICLE 8. INDEMNIFICATION

Service Provider agrees to accept all responsibility for loss or damage to any person or 
entity, including SMART, and to indemnify, hold harmless, and release SMART, its officers, 
agents, and employees, from and against any actions, claims, damages, liabilities, disabilities, or 
expenses, that may be asserted by any person or entity, including Service Provider, to the extent 
caused by the Service Provider’s negligence, recklessness or willful misconduct in its 
performance or obligations under this Agreement. Service Provider agrees to provide a complete 
defense for any claim or action brought against SMART based upon a claim relating to Service 
Provider’s performance or obligations under this Agreement. Service Provider’s obligations 
under this Section 8 apply whether or not there is concurrent negligence on SMART’s part, but 
to the extent required by law, excluding liability due to SMART’s conduct. SMART shall have 
the right to select its legal counsel at Service Provider’s expense, subject to Service Provider’s 
approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. This indemnification obligation is not 
limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages or compensation payable 

Page 214 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 5 of 55

to or for Service Provider or its agents under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefits acts, 
or other employee benefit acts.

ARTICLE 9. INSURANCE.  

With respect to performance of work under this Agreement, Service Provider shall 
maintain and shall require all of its Subcontractors, Service Providers, and other agents to 
maintain, insurance as described below. If the Service Provider maintains broader coverage 
and/or higher limits than the minimums shown below, SMART requires and shall be entitled to 
the broader coverage and/or the higher limits maintained by the Service Provider.  Any available 
insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be 
available to SMART.

Section 9.01 Workers’ Compensation Insurance. Workers’ Compensation as 
required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and Employer’s Liability insurance 
with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury or disease.

Section 9.02 General Liability Insurance. Commercial General Liability 
insurance covering products-completed and ongoing operations, property damage, bodily injury 
and personal injury using an occurrence policy form, in an amount no less than $2,000,000 per 
occurrence, and $4,000,000 aggregate.  Said policy shall include a Railroads CG 24 17 
endorsement removing the exclusion of coverage, if applicable, for bodily injury or property 
damage arising out of operations within 50 feet of any railroad property and affecting any 
railroad bridge, trestle, tracks, roadbeds, tunnel, underpass or crossing.

Section 9.03 Automobile Insurance. Automobile Liability insurance covering 
bodily injury and property damage in an amount no less than $2,000,000 combined single limit 
for each occurrence.  Said insurance shall include coverage for owned, hired, and non-owned 
vehicles. The Automobile Liability policy shall be endorsed to include Transportation Pollution 
Liability insurance, covering materials to be transported by the Service Provider pursuant to the 
Agreement.  Said policy shall also include a CA 20 70 10 13 endorsement removing the 
exclusion of coverage for bodily injury or property damage arising out of operations within 50 
feet of any railroad bridge, trestle, track, roadbeds, tunnel, underpass or crossing. 

Section 9.04 Pollution Liability Insurance. Contractors Pollution Liability 
insurance in an amount no less than $2,000,000 per incident. The Contractor’s Pollution Liability 
policy may be written on an occurrence or claims made basis with coverage for bodily injury, 
property damage and environmental damage, including cleanup costs arising out of third-party 
claims, for pollution conditions, and including claims of environmental authorities, for the 
release of pollutants caused by activities related to the Contract.  Coverage shall include the 
Service Provider as the named insured and shall include coverage for acts by others for whom 
the Service Provider is legally responsible. 

Coverage to be provided for bodily injury to or destruction of tangible property, including the 
resulting loss of use thereof, loss of use of tangible property that has been physically injured, and 
natural resource damage. There shall be no exclusions or limitations regarding damages or injury 

Page 215 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 6 of 55

from existence, removal or abatement of lead paint. There shall be no insured vs. insured 
exclusion in the policy.

Section 9.05 Endorsements. Prior to commencing work, Service Provider shall 
file Certificate(s) of Insurance with SMART evidencing the required coverage and 
endorsement(s) and, upon request, a certified duplicate original of any of those policies.  Said 
endorsements and Certificate(s) of Insurance shall stipulate:

(a) SMART, its officers, and employees shall be named as additional insured on all policies
listed above, with the exception of the workers compensation insurance policy and the
professional services liability policy (if applicable).

(b) That the policy(ies) is Primary Insurance and the insurance company(ies) providing such
policy(ies) shall be liable thereunder for the full amount of any loss or claim which
Service Provider is liable, up to and including the total limit of liability, without right of
contribution from any other insurance effected or which may be effected by the Insureds.

(c) Inclusion of the Insureds as additional insureds shall not in any way affect its rights either
as respects any claim, demand, suit or judgment made, brought or recovered against
Service Provider.  Said policy shall protect Service Provider and the Insureds in the same
manner as though a separate policy had been issued to each, but nothing in said policy
shall operate to increase the insurance company’s liability as set forth in its policy beyond
the amount or amounts shown or to which the insurance company would have been liable
if only one interest had been named as an insured.

(d) Service Provider hereby grants to SMART a waiver of any right to subrogation which
any insurer of said Service Provider may acquire against SMART by virtue of the
payment of any loss under such insurance. Service Provider agrees to obtain any
endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision
applies regardless of whether or not SMART has received a waiver of subrogation
endorsement from the insurer.

(e) The insurance policy(ies) shall be written by an insurance company or companies
acceptable to SMART.  Such insurance company shall be authorized to transact business
in the state of California.

SMART reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the 
nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other circumstances.

Section 9.06 Deductibles and Retentions. Service Provider shall be responsible 
for payment of any deductible or retention on Service Provider’s policies without right of 
contribution from SMART.  Deductible and retention provisions shall not contain any 
restrictions as to how or by whom the deductible or retention is paid.  Any deductible of 
retention provision limiting payment to the name insured is not acceptable.

Page 216 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 7 of 55

Section 9.07 Claims Made Coverage. If any insurance specified above is 
written on a claims-made coverage form, Service Provider shall:

(a) Ensure that the retroactive date is shown on the policy, and such date must be before the
date of this Agreement or beginning of any work under this Agreement;

(b) Maintain and provide evidence of similar insurance for at least three (3) years following
project completion, including the requirement of adding all additional insureds; and

(c) If insurance is cancelled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy
form with a retroactive date prior to Agreement effective date, Service Provider shall
purchase “extending reporting” coverage for a minimum of three (3) years after completion
of the work.

Section 9.08 Documentation. The following documentation shall be submitted 
to SMART:

(a) Properly executed Certificates of Insurance clearly evidencing all coverages and limits
required above.  Said Certificates shall be submitted prior to the execution of this
Agreement.  At SMART’s request, Service Provider shall provide certified copies of the
policies that correspond to the policies listed on the Certificates of Insurance.  Service
Provider agrees to maintain current Certificates of Insurance evidencing the above-
required coverages and limits on file with SMART for the duration of this Agreement.

(b) Copies of properly executed endorsements required above for each policy.  Said
endorsement copies shall be submitted prior to the execution of this Agreement.  Service
Provider agrees to maintain current endorsements evidencing the above-specified
requirements on file with SMART for the duration of this Agreement.

(c) After the Agreement has been signed, signed Certificates of Insurance shall be submitted
for any renewal or replacement of a policy that already exists, at least ten (10) days
before expiration or other termination of the existing policy.

Please email all renewal certificates of insurance and corresponding policy documents to
InsuranceRenewals@sonomamarintrain.org.

Section 9.09 Policy Obligations. Service Provider’s indemnity and other 
obligations shall not be limited by the foregoing insurance requirements.

Section 9.10 Material Breach. If Service Provider, for any reason, fails to 
maintain insurance coverage, which is required pursuant to this Agreement, the same shall be 
deemed a material breach of this Agreement.  SMART, in its sole option, may terminate this 
Agreement and obtain damages from Service Provider resulting from said breach.  Alternatively, 
SMART may purchase such required insurance coverage, and without further notice to Service 
Provider, SMART may deduct from sums due to Service Provider any premium costs advanced 

Page 217 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 8 of 55

by SMART for such insurance.  These remedies shall be in addition to any other remedies 
available to SMART.

Section 9.11 Notice of Cancellation. Each insurance policy required above shall 
provide that coverage shall not be cancelled, except with notice to SMART.

ARTICLE 10. PROSECUTION OF WORK.

When work is requested of Service Provider by SMART, all due diligence shall be 
exercised and the work accomplished without undue delay, within the performance time 
specified in the Task Order.  Performance of the services hereunder shall be completed within 
the time required herein, provided, however, that if the performance is delayed by earthquake, 
flood, or wildfire, the time for Service Provider’s performance of this Agreement shall be 
extended by a number of days equal to the number of days Service Provider has been delayed.

ARTICLE 11. EXTRA OR CHANGED WORK.  

Extra or changed work or other changes to the Agreement may be authorized only by 
written amendment to this Agreement, signed by both parties.  Minor changes, which do not 
increase the amount paid under the Agreement, and which do not significantly change the scope 
of work or significantly lengthen time schedules may be executed by the SMART Manager in a 
form approved by SMART Counsel.  The Board of Directors or General Manager must authorize 
all other extra or changed work.  The parties expressly recognize that SMART personnel are 
without authorization to order extra or changed work or waive Agreement requirements.  Failure 
of Service Provider to secure such written authorization for extra or changed work shall 
constitute a waiver of any and all right to adjustment in the Agreement price or Agreement time 
due to such unauthorized work and thereafter Service Provider shall be entitled to no 
compensation whatsoever for the performance of such work.  Service Provider further expressly 
waives any and all right or remedy by way of restitution and quantum meruit for any and all 
extra work performed without such express and prior written authorization of SMART.

ARTICLE 12. REPRESENTATIONS OF SERVICE PROVIDER.

Section 12.01 Standard of Care. SMART has relied upon the professional ability 
and training of Service Provider as a material inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Service 
Provider hereby agrees that all its work will be performed and that its operations shall be 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted and applicable professional practices and 
standards as well as the requirements of applicable federal, state and local laws, it being 
understood that acceptance of Service Provider’s work by SMART shall not operate as a waiver 
or release.  

Section 12.02 Status of Service Provider. The parties intend that Service 
Provider, in performing the services specified herein, shall act as an Independent Contractor and 
shall control the work and the manner in which it is performed.  Service Provider is not to be 
considered an agent or employee of SMART and is not entitled to participate in any pension 
plan, worker’s compensation plan, insurance, bonus, or similar benefits SMART provides its 

Page 218 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 9 of 55

employees.  In the event SMART exercises its right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to 
Article 7, above, Service Provider expressly agrees that it shall have no recourse or right of 
appeal under rules, regulations, ordinances, or laws applicable to employees.  

Section 12.03 Taxes. Service Provider agrees to file federal and state tax returns 
and pay all applicable taxes on amounts paid pursuant to this Agreement and shall be solely 
liable and responsible to pay such taxes and other obligations, including but not limited to state 
and federal income and FICA taxes.  Service Provider agrees to indemnify and hold SMART 
harmless from any liability which it may incur to the United States or to the State of California as 
a consequence of Service Provider’s failure to pay, when due, all such taxes and obligations.  In 
case SMART is audited for compliance regarding any withholding or other applicable taxes, 
Service Provider agrees to furnish SMART with proof of payment of taxes on these earnings.

Section 12.04 Records Maintenance. Service Provider shall keep and maintain 
full and complete documentation and accounting records concerning all services performed that 
are compensable under this Agreement and shall make such documents and records available to 
SMART for inspection at any reasonable time. Service Provider shall maintain such records for 
a period of four (4) years following completion of work hereunder. Service Provider and 
Subcontractors shall permit access to all records of employment, employment advertisements, 
employment application forms, and other pertinent data and records by the State Fair 
Employment Practices and Housing Commission, or any other agency of the State of California 
designated by the State, for the purpose of any investigation to ascertain compliance with this 
document.

Section 12.05 Conflict of Interest. Service Provider covenants that it presently 
has no interest and that it will not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that represents a 
financial conflict of interest under state law or that would otherwise conflict in any manner or 
degree with the performance of its services hereunder.  Service Provider further covenants that in 
the performance of this Agreement no person having any such interests shall be employed.  In 
addition, if requested to do so by SMART, Service Provider shall complete and file and shall 
require any other person doing work under this Agreement to complete and file a “Statement of 
Economic Interest” with SMART disclosing Service Provider’s or such other person’s financial 
interests.

Section 12.06 Nondiscrimination. Service Provider shall comply with all 
applicable federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations in regard to nondiscrimination in 
employment because of race, color, ancestry, national origin, religion, sex, marital status, age, 
medical condition (including cancer), pregnancy, physical disability (including HIV and AIDS), 
mental disability, denial of family care leave, sexual orientation or other prohibited basis, 
including without limitation, SMART’s Non-Discrimination Policy.  All nondiscrimination rules 
or regulations required by law to be included in this Agreement are incorporated herein by this 
reference.  Service Provider shall also comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and 
Housing Act (California Government Code, Section 12900 et seq.) and applicable regulations 
promulgated thereunder (California Code of Regulations, Title 2, Section 11000 et seq).

Page 219 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 10 of 55

Section 12.07 Assignment Of Rights. Service Provider assigns to SMART all 
rights throughout the world in perpetuity in the nature of copyright, trademark, patent, right to 
ideas, in and to all versions of the plans and specifications, if any, now or later prepared by 
Service Provider in connection with this Agreement.  Service Provider agrees to take such 
actions as are necessary to protect the rights assigned to SMART in this Agreement, and to 
refrain from taking any action which would impair those rights.  Service Provider’s 
responsibilities under this provision include, but are not limited to, placing proper notice of 
copyright on all versions of the plans and specifications as SMART may direct, and refraining 
from disclosing any versions of the plans and specifications to any third party without first 
obtaining written permission of SMART.  Service Provider shall not use or permit another to use 
the plans and specifications in connection with this or any other project without first obtaining 
written permission of SMART.

Section 12.08 Ownership And Disclosure Of Work Product. Any and all work 
product resulting from this Agreement is commissioned by SMART as a work for hire.  SMART 
shall be considered, for all purposes, the author of the work product and shall have all rights of 
authorship to the work, including, but not limited to, the exclusive right to use, publish, 
reproduce, copy and make derivative use of, the work product or otherwise grant others limited 
rights to use the work product.  To the extent Service Provider incorporates into the work 
product any pre-existing work product owned by Service Provider, Service Provider hereby 
acknowledges and agrees that ownership of such work product shall be transferred to SMART.
All reports, original drawings, graphics, plans, studies, and other data or documents 
(“documents”), in whatever form or format, assembled or prepared by Service Provider and other 
agents in connection with this Agreement shall be the property of SMART.  SMART shall be 
entitled to immediate possession of such documents upon completion of the work pursuant to 
this Agreement.  Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, Service Provider shall 
promptly deliver to SMART all such documents, which have not already been provided to 
SMART in such form or format, as SMART deems appropriate.  Such documents shall be and 
will remain the property of SMART without restriction or limitation. Service Provider may retain 
copies of the above- described documents but agrees not to disclose or discuss any information 
gathered, discovered, or generated in any way through this Agreement without the express 
written permission of SMART.

ARTICLE 13. DEMAND FOR ASSURANCE.  

Each party to this Agreement undertakes the obligation that the other’s expectation of 
receiving due performance will not be impaired.  When reasonable grounds for insecurity arise 
with respect to the performance of either party, the other may in writing demand adequate 
assurance of due performance and until such assurance is received may, if commercially 
reasonable, suspend any performance for which the agreed return has not been received.  
“Commercially reasonable” includes not only the conduct of a party with respect to performance 
under this Agreement, but also conduct with respect to other agreements with parties to this 
Agreement or others.  After receipt of a justified demand, failure to provide within a reasonable 
time, but not exceeding thirty (30) days, such assurance of due performance as is adequate under 
the circumstances of the particular case is a repudiation of this Agreement.  Acceptance of any 

Page 220 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 11 of 55

improper delivery, service, or payment does not prejudice the aggrieved party’s right to demand 
adequate assurance of future performance.  Nothing in this Article 13 limits SMART’s right to 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article 7.

ARTICLE 14. ASSIGNMENT AND DELEGATION.  

Neither party hereto shall assign, delegate, sublet, or transfer any interest in or duty under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other, and no such transfer shall be of 
any force or effect whatsoever unless and until the other party shall have so consented.

ARTICLE 15. METHOD AND PLACE OF GIVING NOTICE, SUBMITTING 
INVOICES AND MAKING PAYMENTS.  

All notices, invoices, and payments shall be made in writing and shall be given by personal 
delivery, U.S. Mail or email.   Notices, invoices, and payments shall be addressed as follows:

If to SMART Manager: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
(Passenger Operations) Attn: Marc Bader, Chief Operating Officer

3748 Regional Parkway
Santa Rosa, CA 95403
mbader@sonomamarintrain.org
707-890-8613

If to SMART Manager: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
(Freight Operations) Attn: Jon Kerruish, Freight Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
jkerruish@sonomamarintrain.org
415-717-2547

If to SMART Billing: Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
Attn: Accounts Payable
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
billing@sonomamarintrain.org
707-794-3330

If to Service Provider: GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Attn: Matt Musolf, 
General Manager – Sacramento
5600 Food Link St., Bldg. 200
Sacramento, CA 95828
mmusolf@graymarenv.com
530-202-9256

Page 221 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 12 of 55

When a notice, invoice or payment is given by a generally recognized overnight courier service, 
the notice, invoice or payment shall be deemed received on the next business day.  When a copy 
of a notice, invoice or payment is sent by facsimile or email, the notice, invoice or payment shall 
be deemed received upon transmission as long as (1) the original copy of the notice, invoice or
payment is promptly deposited in the U.S. mail and postmarked on the date of the facsimile or 
email (for a payment, on or before the due date), (2) the sender has a written confirmation of the 
facsimile transmission or email, and (3) the facsimile or email is transmitted before 5 p.m. 
(recipient’s time).  In all other instances, notices, invoices and payments shall be effective upon 
receipt by the recipient.  Changes may be made in the names and addresses of the person to 
whom notices are to be given by giving notice pursuant to this paragraph.

ARTICLE 16. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.  

Section 16.01 Use of Recycled Paper. SMART requires that all printing jobs 
produced under this Agreement be printed on recycled content papers.  Recycled-content papers 
are defined as papers containing a minimum of 30 percent postconsumer fiber by weight.  All 
papers used in the performance of a print job for SMART shall be recycled-content paper.  The 
recycle logo or “chasing arrows” cannot be used on printed material unless the paper contains a 
minimum of 30 percent postconsumer material.  If paper meets the 30 percent requirement, ask 
that the recycling logo be printed on the project.

Section 16.02 No Waiver of Breach. The waiver by SMART of any breach of 
any term or promise contained in this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of such term 
or provision or any subsequent breach of the same or any other term or promise contained in this 
Agreement. 

Section 16.03 Construction. To the fullest extent allowed by law, the provisions 
of this Agreement shall be construed and given effect in a manner that avoids any violation of 
statute, ordinance, regulation, or law.  The parties covenant and agree that in the event that any 
provision of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and 
shall in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated thereby.  Service Provider and SMART 
acknowledge that they have each contributed to the making of this Agreement and that, in the 
event of a dispute over the interpretation of this Agreement, the language of the Agreement will 
not be construed against one party in favor of the other. Service Provider and SMART 
acknowledge that they have each had an adequate opportunity to consult with counsel in the 
negotiation and preparation of this Agreement.

Section 16.04 Prevailing Wages. Service Provider and all Subcontractors shall 
pay to all workers employed not less than the prevailing rate of wages as determined in 
accordance with the Labor Code as indicated herein.

All Service Providers, contractors, and subcontractors doing business with public agencies 
through the State of California (including SMART) shall comply with applicable labor 
compliance requirements including, but not limited to prevailing wages, SB 854, Labor Code 

Page 222 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 13 of 55

Sections 1725.5, 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815.  Public Works Contractor 
Registration Programs, Electronic Certified Payroll Records submission to the State Labor 
Commissioner and other requirements, described at http://www.dir.ca.gov/Public-
Works/Contractors.html.

Applicable projects are subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the California 
Department of Industrial Relations.

This project is subject to the Federal Wage determination.  Whenever the Federal Wage 
determination and the California Prevailing Wage determinations conflict, the higher rate shall 
be paid.

Section 16.05 Licensing Laws. The Service Provider shall comply with the 
provisions of Chapter 9 Division 3 of the Business and Professions code concerning the licensing 
of contractors.  All Service Providers shall be licensed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
California and any Service Provider not so licensed is subject to the penalties imposed by such 
laws.  Prior to commencing any work under contract, all Service Providers and subcontractors 
must show that they hold appropriate and current Contractor Licenses in the State of California.  
The Service Provider shall provide such subcontractor information, including the class type, 
license, number, and expiration date to SMART.

Section 16.06 Drug-Free Workplace. Service Provider certifies that it will 
provide a drug-free workplace in compliance with Government Code §8350-§8357.

Section 16.07 Claims Made Against Service Provider. Service Provider shall 
provide SMART with copies of all correspondence and records relating to any claims made 
against the Service Provider while working on SMART’s property by SMART employees or 
third-party on a monthly basis.

Section 16.08 Consent. Wherever in this Agreement the consent or approval of 
one party is required to an act of the other party, such consent or approval shall not be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed.

Section 16.09 Relationships of the Parties: No Intended Third-Party 
Beneficiaries. The Parties intend by this Agreement to establish a cooperative funding 
relationship, and do not intend to create a partnership, joint, venture, joint enterprise, or any other 
business relationship. There is no third person or entity who is an intended third-party 
beneficiary under this Agreement. No incidental beneficiary, whatever relationship such person 
may have with the Parties, shall have any right to bring an action or suit, or to assert any claim 
against the Parties under this Agreement. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed 
to create and the Parties do not intend to create any rights in third parties.

Section 16.10 Applicable Law and Forum. This Agreement shall be construed 
and interpreted according to the substantive law of California, regardless of the law of conflicts 
to the contrary in any jurisdiction.  Venue for any action to enforce the terms of this Agreement 
or for the breach thereof shall be in the Superior Court of the State of California in the County of 

Page 223 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 14 of 55

Marin.

Section 16.11 Captions. The captions in this Agreement are solely for 
convenience of reference.  They are not a part of this Agreement and shall have no effect on its 
construction or interpretation.

Section 16.12 Merger. This writing is intended both as the final expression of the 
Agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the included terms and as a complete and 
exclusive statement of the terms of the Agreement, pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure Section 
1856.  No modification of this Agreement shall be effective unless and until such modification is 
evidenced by a writing signed by both parties.

Section 16.13 Acceptance of Electronic Signatures and Counterparts. The parties 
agree that this Contract, Agreements ancillary to this Contract, and related documents to be 
entered into this Contract will be considered executed when all parties have signed this 
Agreement.  Signatures delivered by scanned image as an attachment to electronic mail or
delivered electronically through the use of programs such as DocuSign must be treated in all 
respects as having the same effect as an original signature.  Each party further agrees that this 
Contract may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which constitute one and the same 
instrument.

Section 16.14 Time of Essence. Time is and shall be of the essence of this 
Agreement and every provision hereof.

Page 224 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 15 of 55

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the 
Effective Date.

GRAYMAR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, LLC

By: ___________________________________
Michael Gray, President

Date:

SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT (SMART)

By: ___________________________________
Eddy Cumins, General Manager

Date: ___________________________________

CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE ON FILE WITH AND 
APPROVED AS TO SUBSTANCE FOR SMART: 

By: ___________________________________
Ken Hendricks, Procurement Manager

Date:  ____________________________________

APPROVED AS TO FORM FOR SMART:

By:  ___________________________________
District Counsel

Date: ___________________________________

Page 225 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 16 of 55

EXHIBIT A
SCOPE OF WORK & TIMELINE

I. Overview

The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) is contracting with GrayMar 
Environmental Services, LLC (Service Provider) to provide as-needed removal, 
remediation, and disposal of hazardous material, including biohazards, from SMART 
equipment, facilities, and locations anywhere on SMART property, including the 
right-of-way. 

Service requests may be made on an emergency or non-emergency basis through the 
issuance of Task Orders.

Service Provider shall be available to respond to emergency service requests at any 
time, 24 hours a day, every day of the year, including holidays.

Objectives

SMART’s objective during an emergency incident is to resume operations as quickly, 
safely, and efficiently as possible.

II. Contract Management

All work shall be initiated, scheduled, and reviewed by the SMART Manager issuing 
the Task Order.  The following SMART Managers may issue Task Orders: Vehicle 
Maintenance Manager, Freight Manager, Maintenance of Way Manager (hereinafter 
“SMART Manager”), or their designees.

All service requests shall be by written Task Order. In an emergency, work may be 
initiated by the SMART Manager via teleconference to be followed by a formal Task 
Order.

III. Scope of Work

A. Services

The following services may be requested through the issuance of a Task Order:

1) Biohazard Remediation

a) Service Provider shall assess, contain, remove, clean, disinfect and
properly dispose of biohazardous material from SMART equipment,
facilities, and property.

Page 226 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 17 of 55

b) Service Provider shall assess, contain, remove, clean, disinfect, remediate
and properly dispose of biohazards associated with an encampment
located on SMART property.

2) Non-Biological Hazardous Materials Remediation

a) Service Provider shall assess, contain, remove, remediate, and dispose of
hazardous substances on SMART property, including substances onboard
trains and at facilities.

B. Service Request and Task Order Initiation

a. When service is required, the SMART Manager shall initiate a Task Order
to include, at a minimum, the following information:
(i) Description and nature of the service requirement (emergency or non-

emergency, pedestrian strike, spill response, medical waste pick up
etc.)

(ii) Location of work site or incident location, site conditions and site
access limitations as required.

(iii) Identification of potential staging locations.
(iv) Identification of SMART’s on-site point of contact and contact

information.

SMART will send the Task Order to the following Service Provider’s 
personnel who are authorized to sign Task Orders, including Task Orders 
issued after regular business hours and to initiate response:

Matt Musolf
General Manager, Sacramento Branch
Telephone: (530) 202-9256
mmusolf@graymarenv.com

Michael Algots
Regional Vice President
malgots@graymarenv.com

C. Emergency Service Requests

24-Hour Emergency Response Number: 1-866-472-9627
Service Provider shall respond immediately upon receipt of an emergency service 
request. Service Provider personnel and equipment shall be onsite, mobilized and 
ready to commence work at the designated staging location as quickly as possible 

Page 227 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 18 of 55

but no longer than two hours after receipt of an emergency service request by the 
SMART Manager.

Emergencies may include biohazard or hazardous conditions resulting from a 
SMART railcar involved in an accident (e.g., pedestrian struck by train or 
railcar/vehicle collision).

D. Non-emergency Service Requests

Service Provider shall respond within two days upon receipt of a non-emergency 
service request. Service Provider personnel and equipment shall be onsite,
mobilized and ready to commence work at the time and location as mutually 
agreed in the Task Order.  

E. General Conditions Applicable to All Requests

Service Provider shall:

(a) Possess all necessary City, County, State and Federal permits and licenses
for Service Provider’s activities, equipment, and operations.

(b) Ensure that all Service Provider personnel are trained and possess all
required certifications to safely perform the work.

(c) Provide transportation for Service Provider’s personnel and equipment to
and from the jobsite and for travel around the jobsite, if required.

(d) Follow the instructions of the SMART Manager who will authorize access
to the right of way and provide oversight for all activities. Service
Provider personnel shall not access the right of way without authorization
from the SMART Manager.

(e) Provide all labor, equipment, materials and supervision required to
perform the work.

(f) Use protective clothing and equipment as required by Cal/OSHA and
other regulatory agencies.

(g) Perform all necessary cleaning and remediation of SMART’s equipment,
including railcars, and SMART’s right of way and facilities to restore
them to a condition acceptable to the SMART Manager and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations.

(h) Ensure that, in the execution of all services, cross-contamination does not
occur between the affected SMART equipment and SMART’s Rail
Operations Center and associated vehicle maintenance equipment and
personnel.

(i) Provide security for all Service Provider’s equipment and material used at
the jobsite while equipment and materials are onsite.

Page 228 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 19 of 55

(j) Prepare, package and label hazardous materials for disposal. Provide
interim storage as necessary in a permitted storage facility. Provide final
disposal of all hazardous materials at a permitted disposal facility. All
preparation, packaging, transportation, storage and disposal of hazardous
material shall be in compliance with applicable State, Federal and local
laws and regulations.

(k) Any reporting or documentation required by regulation to be provided to
SMART shall be submitted by Service Provider to the SMART Manager
on a timely basis.  Any additional reporting requirements will be specified
in each Task Order issued.

IV. Acceptance Criteria

When the work is complete, the SMART Manager and Service Provider’s Designated
Manager will perform a site inspection and equipment evaluation to ensure all work 
has been completed and in conformance with the SMART Manager’s directions and 
requirements.

Any work not in conformance with the SMART Manager’s directions and 
requirements shall be corrected to the satisfaction of the SMART Manager at Service 
Provider’s expense. Upon successful completion and acceptance of the work, the 
SMART Manager shall provide written acceptance of the work and recommend 
submission of the invoice for review.

Page 229 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 20 of 55

EXHIBIT B
SCHEDULE OF RATES

1. Time and Materials Rates – Hourly Personnel, Equipment and Materials

Personnel Hourly Rate
Technician- Regular time $84.57

Technician-OT (Daily/Saturday) $108.17

Technician- Sunday/Holiday  $131.76

Supervisor- Regular Time $84.57

Supervisor- OT (Daily/Saturday) $108.17

Supervisor- Sunday/Holiday $131.76

Driver- Regular Time (offsite) $78.00

Driver-OT (Daily/Saturday) (offsite) $117.00

Driver-Sunday/Holiday (offsite) $156.00

Driver- Regular Time (onsite) $96.96

Driver-OT (Daily/Saturday) (onsite) $124.17

Driver-Sunday/Holiday (onsite) $151.38

Page 230 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 21 of 55

Equipment and Materials Unit Hourly Rate
70bbl Vac truck w/o driver Hourly $125.00
120bbl Vac truck w/o driver Hourly $130.00
Gear Truck Hourly $45.00
10-wheel Bin Truck Hourly $120.00
Box Truck Hourly $95.00
PPE Level D Each $30.00
PPE Level C Each $155.00
20yd Bins Per Day $22.00
55 gal. drum Each $59.72
5 gal. pail Each $8.38
Tri-wall Box Each $46.00
Labels Per 50 Roll $18.62
Plastic Bags -33 gal. Per 25 $16.46
Absorbent Per Bag $10.91
Duct Tape Per Roll $6.50
Rags Per 25 Box $55.60
Biosafe Cleaner Per 1 gal $13.65
Pressure Washer Per Day $325.00
Guzzler Trailer Hourly $105.00
Emergency Response Trailer Per Day $495.00
Confined Space Equipment Per Day $250.00
Generator (3.5-7kw) Per Day $295.00
Bio-Hazard Bags Each $6.00
4 gas/5 gas meter Per Day $325.00
70bbl Vac truck w/o driver Hourly $125.00
120bbl Vac truck w/o driver Hourly $130.00
Gear Truck Hourly $45.00
10-wheel Bin Truck Hourly $120.00
Box Truck Hourly $95.00
PPE Level D Each $30.00
PPE Level C Each $155.00
20yd Bins Per Day $22.00
55 gal. drum Each $59.72
5 gal. pail Each $8.38
Tri-wall Box Each $46.00
Labels Per 50 Roll $18.62
Plastic Bags -33 gal. Per 25 $16.46
Gold Crew Per 1 gal $60.00
Micro Blaze Per 1 gal $60.00
Citrus Cleaner Degreaser Per 1 gal $50.00
Disinfectant Solution Per 1 gal $50.00

Page 231 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 22 of 55

Hydrochloric Acid Per 1 lb. $4.00
Citric Acid Per 1 lb. $6.00
Decontamination Solution Per 1 gal $50.00
Neutralizing Solution Per 1 gal $50.00
Soda Ash Per 50lb bag $60.00
Sodium Bicarbonate Per 1 lb. $5.00
Sodium Hypochlorite, 15% Per 1 gal $10.00
Hand Tools Per day $25.00

2. Package Rates for Initial Response Teams

In certain circumstances, the following package rates may be suitable for an incident response.  
If a package rate will be used, it will be stated in the Task Order and mutually agreed upon.

Package Description Hourly 
Rate

Initial Site Evaluation/Light Cleanup Incident $182.00

Package consists of One Technician, One Gear Truck, Two Level D PPE, One set of Hand 
Tools, Two five-gallon pails, one cleaning supplies, one roll of labels, five biohazard bags

Package Description Hourly 
Rate

Large Response/Heavy Cleanup Incident $583.71

Package consists of One Supervisor, Two Technicians, Two Gear Trucks, Three Level D 
PPE, Four 55-gallon drums, Three sets of Hand Tools, Two bags of Absorbent, One pressure 
washer, One mini guzzler trailer, Two five-gallon pails, Two cleaners, one roll of labels, one 
box of biohazard bags

3. Waste Disposal

If Service Provider is asked to profile waste, a profile acceptance fee and e-manifest 
fee will be applied. Actual labor/transportation charges for the delivery/disposal of 
waste will be charged based on facility/properly profiled rates.

Any materials or fees not identified in this Exhibit B that are required to complete a task 
order service, if any, shall be invoiced at cost. Receipts shall be included with the monthly 
invoice for services for these materials.

4. General Rate Information

The fees shall be fixed for the first three years.  Upon completion of the initial three-year 
term, and prior to the commencement of each subsequent year, Service Provider may, upon 

Page 232 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 23 of 55

60 days written notice to SMART, request an increase in the rates equal to the Consumer 
Price Index, San Francisco Area, as reported by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. 
Department of Labor, using the month of August for the most recent year.  The maximum
increase shall be 5%.  If Service Provider does not submit a request at least 60 days before 
the start of the succeeding Agreement year, Service Provider waives any CPI increase for 
that year.

All time for labor/transportation will be charged “port to port” and will include 
transit times to job site/delivery/pick up locations. 

All invoices will be subject to an 18% Energy Surcharge that will be reflected upon 
the total amount invoiced. 

Page 233 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 24 of 55

EXHIBIT C
FTA & DOT REQUIREMENTS

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (DOT),
FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION (FTA) AND

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION REQUIREMENTS

1. General.

In performance of its obligations pursuant to this Agreement or Purchase Order
[Hereinafter “Agreement”], the Contractor, Seller, or Consultant [Hereinafter
“Contractor”] agrees to comply with all applicable provisions of federal, state and local
law, regulations, and FTA directives.  The terms of the most recent amendment to any
federal, state or local laws, regulations, FTA directives, and amendments to the grant or
cooperative agreement providing funding for this Agreement that may be subsequently
adopted, are applicable to the Agreement to the maximum extent feasible, unless the FTA
provides otherwise in writing.  The Federal or State regulations set forth in this
Agreement to be observed in the performance of the Agreement are subject to change,
and such changed requirements will apply to this Agreement as required.  Contractor
shall include in its subcontracts, and require its subcontractors of every tier to include in
their respective subcontracts, provisions incorporating the requirements of this
Attachment.  Contractor’s failure to comply with these requirements shall constitute a
material breach of this Agreement and may result in the withholding of progress
payments to the Contractor, in addition to other remedies.

It is the responsibility of the Contractor and its subcontractors to ensure that all clauses
included in this Exhibit applicable to the work specified within the Agreement are
adhered to by the Contractor and its subcontractors.

2. Access To Records and Reports.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor shall comply with the following requirements:

(a) Record Retention.  Contractor will retain, and will require its subcontractors of all
tiers to retain, complete and readily accessible records related in whole or in part to the
contract, including, but not limited to, data, documents, reports, statistics, sub-Contracts,
leases, subcontracts, arrangements, other third-party Contracts of any type, and
supporting materials related to those records.

(b) Retention Period. The Contractor agrees to comply with the record retention
requirements in accordance with 2 C.F.R. §200.333. The Contractor shall maintain all
books, records, accounts and reports required under this Contract for a period of at not
less than three (3) years after the date of termination or expiration of this Contract, except
in the event of litigation or settlement of claims arising from the performance of this

Page 234 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 25 of 55

Contract, in which case records shall be maintained until the disposition of all such 
litigation, appeals, claims or exceptions related thereto.

(c) Access to Records. The Contractor agrees to provide access to SMART, FTA and
its contractors to inspect and audit records and information related to performance of this
contract as reasonably may be required. Contractor shall also permit SMART, the
Secretary of Transportation and the Comptroller General of the United States, or their
authorized representatives, to inspect all project work, materials, payrolls, and other data,
and to audit the books, records, and accounts of Contractor and its subcontractors
pertaining to the Agreement.  In accordance with 49 U.S.C. § 5325(g), Contractor shall
require each subcontractor to permit SMART, the Secretary of Transportation and the
Comptroller General of the United States, or their duly authorized representatives, to
inspect all work, materials, payrolls, and other data and records involving that
subcontractor agreement and to audit the books, records, and accounts involving that
subcontractor agreement as it affects the Agreement.

(d) Access to the Site of Performance.  The Contractor agrees to permit FTA and its
contractors access to the sites of performance under this contract as reasonably may be
required.

(e) State Audit, Inspection, Access to Records and Retention of Records
Requirements.  Contractor and its subcontractors shall establish and maintain an
accounting system and records that properly accumulate and segregate incurred costs by
line item for the project. Contractor and its subcontractors’ accounting systems shall
conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and all records shall
provide a breakdown of total costs charged to the project, including properly executed
payrolls, time records, invoices and vouchers as well as all accounting generated reports.
Contractor and its subcontractors shall permit representatives of the State and State
Auditor to inspect, examine, make excerpts or transcribe Contractor and its
subcontractors’ work, documents, papers, materials, payrolls, books, records, accounts,
any and all data relevant to this Agreement at any reasonable time and to audit and verify
statements, invoices or bills submitted by Contractor and its subcontractors pursuant to
this Agreement, and shall provide copies thereof upon request and shall provide such
assistance as may be reasonably required in the course of such audit or inspection.

The State, its representatives and the State Auditor further reserve the right to examine, 
inspect, make copies, or excerpts of all work, documents, papers, materials, payrolls, 
books and accounts, and data pertaining to this Agreement and to inspect and re-examine 
said work, documents, papers, materials, payrolls, books, records, accounts and data 
during the life of the Agreement and for the three (3) year period following the final 
payment under this Agreement, and Contractor and its subcontractors shall in no event 
dispose of, destroy, alter or mutilate said work, documents, papers, materials, payrolls, 
books, records, accounts and data in any manner whatsoever for three (3) years after final 
payment under this Agreement and all pending matters are closed. 

Page 235 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 26 of 55

Any costs for which Contractors and its subcontractors have received payment that are 
determined by subsequent audit to be unallowable under the terms of this agreement may 
be required to be repaid to SMART by the Contractors and its subcontractors. Should 
Contractor and its subcontractors fail to reimburse money due SMART within 30 days of 
demand, or within such other period as may be agreed between the parties hereto, 
SMART is authorized to withhold future payments due Contractor and its subcontractors
from any source. 

The Contractor agrees that the Contract Cost Principles and Procedures at least as 
restrictive as 48 CFR, Federal Acquisition Regulations System, Chapter 1, Part 31 et seq.,
shall be used to determine the allowability of individual items of costs. 

The Contractor agrees to comply with Federal procedures in accordance with 49 CFR, 
Part 18, Uniform Administrative Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements 
to State and Local Governments.

Any costs for which payments have been made to the Contractor, which are determined 
by subsequent audit to be unallowable under 48 CFR, Federal Acquisition Regulations 
System, Chapter 1, Part 31 et seq., or 49 CFR, Part 18, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements for Grants and Cooperative Agreements to State and Local Governments, 
are subject to repayment by Contractor to SMART.

Any subcontract entered into as a result of this Agreement shall contain all the provisions 
of this section.

3. ADA Access

Applicability:  All Construction, Architecture & Engineering, Operations Management,
and Rolling Stock Contracts

The contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. § 5301 (d), which 
states that the elderly and persons with disabilities have the same right as other persons to 
use mass transportation service and facilities, and that special efforts shall be made in 
planning and designing those services and facilities to implement that policy. The 
contractor also agrees to comply with all applicable requirements of Section 504 of the 
Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, which prohibits discrimination 
on the basis of handicaps, and the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 12101 et seq., which requires that accessible facilities and 
services be made available to persons with disabilities, including any subsequent 
amendments thereto.

Page 236 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 27 of 55

4. Buy America.

Applicability:  All Rollingstock Purchases, Materials and Supplies Contracts, and
Construction Contracts >$150,000.

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(j) and 49 C.F.R. part 661 and 2 CFR 
§200.322 Domestic preferences for procurements, which provide that Federal funds may not
be obligated unless all steel, iron, and manufactured products used in FTA funded projects
are produced in the United States, unless a waiver has been granted by FTA or the product is
subject to a general waiver. General waivers are listed in 49 C.F.R. § 661.7.

Construction materials used are subject to the domestic preference requirement
of the Build America, Buy America Act, Pub. L. 117-58, div. G, tit. IX, §§ 70911 – 70927
(2021), as implemented by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget, the U.S. Department 
of Transportation, and FTA. The Service Provider acknowledges that this agreement is 
neither a waiver of §70914(a) nor a finding under §70914(b).

Separate requirements for rolling stock are set out at 49 U.S.C. 5323(j)(2)(C), 49 U.S.C.
§5323(u) and 49 C.F.R. § 661.11, Domestic preferences for procurements.

The bidder or offeror must submit to SMART the appropriate Buy America certification. For 
more information, please see the FTA’s Buy America webpage at: 
https://www.transit.dot.gov/buyamerica.

5. Lobbying

Applicability:  All Contracts > $100,000

Byrd Anti-Lobbying Amendment, 31 U.S.C. 1352, as amended by the Lobbying
Disclosure Act of 1995, P.L. 104-65 - Contractors who apply or bid for an award of
$100,000 or more shall file the certification required by 49 CFR Part 20, “New
Restrictions on Lobbying”. Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not
used Federal appropriated funds to pay any person or organization for influencing or
attempting to influence an officer or employee of a Federal agency, a member of
Congress, officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a member of Congress in
connection with obtaining any Federal contract, grant or any other award covered by 31
U.S.C. 1352.  Each tier certifies to the tier above that it will not and has not taken any
action involving the Project or the Underlying Agreement for the Project, including any
award, extension, or modification.  Each tier shall also disclose the name of any registrant
under the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 1995 who has made lobbying contacts on its behalf
with non-Federal funds with respect to that Federal contract, grant or award covered by
31 U.S.C. 1352.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up to SMART.

Page 237 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 28 of 55

6. Cargo Preference Requirements.

Applicability:  All Rolling Stock Purchases, Materials & Supplies, and Construction
Contracts which require transportation by ocean vessels.

The Contractor agrees to:

(a) to use privately owned United States flag commercial vessels to ship at least 50
percent of the gross tonnage (computed separately for dry bulk carriers, dry cargo liners,
and tankers) involved, whenever shipping any equipment, material, or commodities
pursuant to the underlying Agreement to the extent such vessels are available at fair and
reasonable rates for United States flag commercial vessels;

(b) to furnish within 20 working days following the date of loading for shipments
originating within the United States or within 30 working days following the date of
leading for shipments originating outside the United States, a legible copy of a rated,
“on-board” commercial ocean bill-of -lading in English for each shipment of cargo
described in the preceding paragraph, to the Division of National Cargo, Office of Market
Development, Maritime Administration, Washington, DC 20590 and to the FTA recipient
(through the Contractor in the case of a subcontractor’s bill-of-lading); and

(c) to include these requirements in all subcontracts issued pursuant to this Agreement
when the subcontract may involve the transport of equipment, material, or commodities
by ocean vessel.

7. Charter Service.

Applicability:  All Operations & Management Contracts

The contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 5323(d) and 49 C.F.R. part 604, which
provides that recipients and subrecipients of FTA assistance are prohibited from
providing charter service using federally funded equipment or facilities if there is at least
one private charter operator willing and able to provide the service, except as permitted
under one of the exceptions at 49 CFR 604.9.  Any charter service provided under one of
the exceptions must be “incidental”, i.e., it must not interfere with or detract from the
provision of mass transportation.

8. Civil Rights.

Applicability:  All Contracts

The following Federal Civil Rights laws and regulations apply to the Agreement:

1. Federal Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements. These include,
but are not limited to:

Page 238 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 29 of 55

a) Nondiscrimination in Federal Public Transportation Programs. 49 U.S.C. § 5332,
covering projects, programs, and activities financed under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53,
prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex
(including sexual orientation and gender identity), disability, or age, and prohibits
discrimination in employment or business opportunity.

b) Prohibition against Employment Discrimination. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act
of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, and Executive Order No. 11246, “Equal
Employment Opportunity,” September 24, 1965, as amended, prohibit
discrimination in employment on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national
origin.

2. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex. Title IX of the Education Amendments of
1972, as amended, 20 U.S.C. § 1681 et seq. and implementing Federal regulations,
“Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Sex in Education Programs or Activities
Receiving Federal 8 Financial Assistance,” 49 C.F.R. part 25 prohibit discrimination
on the basis of sex.

3. Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age. The “Age Discrimination Act of 1975,” as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., and Department of Health and Human Services
implementing regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age in Programs or
Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part 90, prohibit
discrimination by participants in federally assisted programs against individuals on
the basis of age. The Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), 29 U.S.C. §
621 et seq., and Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) implementing
regulations, “Age Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, also
prohibit employment discrimination against individuals age 40 and over on the basis
of age.

4. Federal Protections for Individuals with Disabilities. The Americans with
Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended (ADA), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., prohibits
discrimination against qualified individuals with disabilities in programs, activities,
and services, and imposes specific requirements on public and private entities. Third
party contractors must comply with their responsibilities under Titles I, II, III, IV, and
V of the ADA in employment, public services, public accommodations,
telecommunications, and other provisions, many of which are subject to regulations
issued by other Federal agencies.

Civil Rights and Equal Opportunity

The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District is an Equal Opportunity Employer. As 
such, the Agency agrees to comply with all applicable Federal civil rights laws and 
implementing regulations. Apart from inconsistent requirements imposed by Federal 
laws or regulations, the Agency agrees to comply with the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 
§ 5323(h) (3) by not using any Federal assistance awarded by FTA to support
procurements using exclusionary or discriminatory specifications. Under this

Page 239 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 30 of 55

Contract, the Contractor shall at all times comply with the following requirements 
and shall include these requirements in each subcontract entered into as part thereof.

1. Nondiscrimination. In accordance with Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332,
the Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or
applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, sex,
disability, or age. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with applicable
Federal implementing regulations and other implementing requirements FTA may
issue.

2. Race, Color, Religion, National Origin, Sex. In accordance with Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., and Federal transit laws
at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable equal
employment opportunity requirements of U.S. Department of Labor (U.S. DOL)
regulations, "Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs, Equal
Employment Opportunity, Department of Labor," 41 C.F.R. chapter 60, and
Executive Order No. 11246, "Equal Employment Opportunity in Federal
Employment," September 24, 1965, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e note, as amended by any
later Executive Order that amends or supersedes it, referenced in 42 U.S.C. §
2000e note. The Contractor agrees to take affirmative action to ensure that
applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during employment,
without regard to their race, color, religion, national origin, or sex (including
sexual orientation and gender identity). Such action shall include, but not be
limited to, the following: employment, promotion, demotion or transfer,
recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or termination; rates of pay or other
forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. In
addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing requirements
FTA may issue.

3. Age. In accordance with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C.
§§ 621- 634, U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (U.S. EEOC)
regulations, “Age Discrimination in Employment Act,” 29 C.F.R. part 1625, the
Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., U.S.
Health and Human Services regulations, “Nondiscrimination on the Basis of Age
in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal Financial Assistance,” 45 C.F.R. part
90, and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332, the Contractor agrees to refrain
from discrimination against present and prospective employees for reason of age.
In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any Implementing requirements
FTA may issue.

4. Disabilities. In accordance with section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., the Architectural Barriers Act of 1968, as
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4151 et seq., and Federal transit law at 49 U.S.C. § 5332,
the Contractor agrees that it will not discriminate against individuals on the basis
of disability. In addition, the Contractor agrees to comply with any implementing

Page 240 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 31 of 55

requirements FTA may issue. 

5. Promoting Free Speech and Religious Liberty. The Contractor shall ensure that
Federal funding is expended in full accordance with the U.S. Constitution, Federal
Law, and statutory and public policy requirements: including, but not limited to,
those protecting free speech, religious liberty, public welfare, the environment,
and prohibiting discrimination.

The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract financed in 
whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.

9. Clean Air Act

Applicability:  All Contracts > $150,000

The Contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations
issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act , as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7401-7671(q) et seq.
The Contractor agrees to report each violation to SMART, the FTA, and the Regional
Office of the Environmental Protection Agency.

The Contractor also agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by the FTA.

10. Clean Water Act

Applicability:  All Contracts > $150,000

(1) The contractor agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations
issued pursuant to the Clean Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 - 1377 et seq.

(2) The contractor agrees to report each violation to the SMART and understands and
agrees
that SMART will, in turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to
the FTA, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office in
compliance with the notice of violating facility provisions in section 508 of the Clean
Water Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1368.

(3) The Contractor agrees to protect underground sources of drinking water in
compliance with the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 300f-
300j-6.

(4) The contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding
$150,000 financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA.”

Page 241 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 32 of 55

11. Conformance with National ITS Architecture

Applicability:  All ITS Contracts

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) property and services must comply with the
National ITS Architecture and Standards to the extent required by 23 U.S.C Section
517(d) and FTA Notice, “FTA National ITS Architecture Policy on Transit Projects”,
66FR 1455 et seq., January 8, 2001, and later published policies or implementing
directives FTA may issue.  Conformance with the National ITS Architecture is
interpreted to mean the use of the National ITS Architecture to develop a regional ITS
architecture in support of integration and the subsequent adherence of all ITS projects to
that regional ITS architecture.

12. Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.

Applicability:  All Operations Management, Rolling Stock Purchases, and Construction
Contracts >$100,000.

a. Where applicable (see 40 U.S.C. § 3701 et seq), all contracts awarded by the non-
Federal entity in excess of $100,000 that involve the employment of mechanics or
laborers must include a provision for compliance with 40 U.S.C. §§ 3702 and 3704,
as supplemented by Department of Labor regulations at 29 C.F.R. Part 5. See 2
C.F.R. Part 200, Appendix II.

b. Under 40 U.S.C. § 3702, each contractor must be required to compute the wages of
every mechanic and laborer on the basis of a standard work week of 40 hours. Work
in excess of the standard work week is permissible provided that the worker is
compensated at a rate of not less than one and a half times the basic rate of pay for all
hours worked in excess of 40 hours in the work week.

c. The requirements of 40 U.S.C. § 3704 are applicable to construction work and
provide that no laborer or mechanic must be required to work in surroundings or
under working conditions which are unsanitary, hazardous or dangerous. These
requirements do not apply to the purchases of supplies or materials or articles
ordinarily available on the open market, or contracts for transportation or
transmission of intelligence.

Compliance with the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act.

(1) Overtime requirements - No contractor or subcontractor contracting for any part of
the contract work which may require or involve the employment of laborers or
mechanics shall require or permit any such laborer or mechanic in any workweek in
which he or she is employed on such work to work in excess of forty (40) hours in
such workweek unless such laborer or mechanic receives compensation at a rate not
less than one and one-half (1.5) times the basic rate of pay for all hours worked in
excess of forty (40) hours in such workweek.

Page 242 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 33 of 55

(2) Violation; liability for unpaid wages; liquidated damages - In the event of any
violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this section the contractor and any
subcontractor responsible therefor shall be liable for the unpaid wages. In addition,
such contractor and subcontractor shall be liable to the United States (in the case of
work done under contract for the District of Columbia or a territory, to such District
or to such territory), for liquidated damages. Such liquidated damages shall be
computed with respect to each individual laborer or mechanic, including watchmen
and guards, employed in violation of the clause set forth in paragraph (1) of this
section, in the sum of $10 for each calendar day on which such individual was
required or permitted to work in excess of the standard workweek of forty (40) hours
without payment of the overtime wages required by the clause set forth in paragraph
(1) of this section.

(3) Withholding for unpaid wages and liquidated damages. SMART shall upon its own
action or upon written request of an authorized representative of the Department of
Labor withhold or cause to be withheld, from any moneys payable on account of
work performed by the contractor or subcontractor under any such contract or any
other Federal contract with the same prime contractor, or any other federally-assisted
contract subject to the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act, which is held
by the same prime contractor, such sums as may be determined to be necessary to
satisfy any liabilities of such contractor or subcontractor for unpaid wages and
liquidated damages as provided in the clause set forth in paragraph (2) of this section.

(4) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the
clauses set forth in paragraph (1) through (4) of this section and also a clause
requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier subcontracts.
The prime contractor shall be responsible for compliance by any subcontractor or
lower tier subcontractor with the clauses set forth in paragraphs (1) through (4) of this
section.”

13. Davis Bacon Act and Copeland Anti-Kickback Act

Applicability:  All Construction Contracts > $2,000

The Davis-Bacon and Copeland Acts are codified at 40 USC 3141, et seq. and 18 USC 
874. The Acts apply to SMART’s construction contracts and subcontracts that “at least
partly are financed by a loan of grant from the Federal Government”.  40 USC 3145(a),
29 CFR 5.2(h), 49 CFR 18.36(i)(5).  The Acts apply to any construction contract over
$2,000.  Construction for purposes of the Acts, include “actual construction, alteration,
and/or repair, including painting and decorating” as defined by 29 CFR 5.5(a).

Contractors and subcontractors at any contract tier agree to comply with the Davis-Bacon 
Act 40 USC 3141, et seq and implementing DOL regulations “Labor Standards 
Provisions Applicable to Contracts Governing Federally Financed and Assisted 
Construction” 29 CFR Part 5.  

Page 243 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 34 of 55

In accordance with the statute, contractors must be required to pay wages to laborers and 
mechanics at a rate not less than the prevailing wages specified in a wage determination 
made by the Secretary of Labor. In addition, contractors must be required to pay wages 
not less than once a week. 

SMART has attached to the Agreement a copy of the current prevailing wage 
determination issued by the Department of Labor which must be adhered to by the 
Contractor and all subcontractors.  Contractor shall report all suspected or reported 
violations to the SMART who will intern report all violations to the Federal awarding 
agency. 

“Compliance with the Copeland “Anti-Kickback” Act. 

(1) Contractor. The contractor shall comply with 18 U.S.C. § 874, 40 U.S.C. § 3145, and
the
requirements of 29 C.F.R. pt. 3 as may be applicable, which are incorporated by
reference into this contract.

(2) Subcontracts. The contractor or subcontractor shall insert in any subcontracts the
clause
above and such other clauses as the FTA may by appropriate instructions require, and
also a clause requiring the subcontractors to include these clauses in any lower tier
subcontracts. The prime contractor shall be responsible for the compliance by any
subcontractor or lower tier subcontractor with all of these contract clauses.

(3) Breach. A breach of the contract clauses above may be grounds for termination of the
contract, and for debarment as a contractor and subcontractor as provided in 29
C.F.R. § 5.12.

14. Debarment and Suspension

Applicability:  All Contracts > $25,000

(1) This contract is a covered transaction for purposes of 49 CFR Part 18. As such the
contractor is required to verify that none of the contractor, its principals (defined
at 2 C.F.R. § 180.995), or its affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.905) are
excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R. § 180.940) or disqualified (defined at 2 C.F.R. §
180.935).

(2) C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must include a requirement to comply with these
regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it enters into.

(3) By signing the Agreement or accepting the Purchase Order, the Contractor
certifies as follows:

Page 244 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 35 of 55

The certification in this clause is a material representation of fact relied upon by 
the SMART. If it is later determined that the contractor knowingly rendered an 
erroneous certification, in addition to remedies available to SMART, the Federal 
Government may pursue available remedies, including but not limited to 
suspension and/or debarment. The Contractor agrees to comply with the 
requirements of 2 CFR 180 throughout the period of this contract.  

15. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE)

Applicability:  All Contracts

Article 15 Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 

Applicability:  All Contracts

It is the policy of SMART and the United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) that 
Disadvantaged Business Enterprises (“DBE’s”), as defined herein and in the Federal 
regulations published at 49 C.F.R. part 26, shall have an equal opportunity to participate in 
DOT-assisted contracts. 

The contractor, subrecipient or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, 
color, national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The contractor shall carry 
out applicable requirements of 49 C.F.R. part 26 in the award and administration of DOT 
assisted contracts. Failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material 
breach of this contract, which may result in the termination of this contract or such other 
remedy as SMART deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to: 

(1) Withholding monthly progress payments;
(2) Assessing sanctions;
(3) Liquidated damages; and/or
(4) Disqualifying the contractor from future bidding as non-responsible.
(5) Termination of the Contract

The Prime Contractor must utilize the specific DBE(s) listed in the contract to perform the 
work and supply the materials for which each is listed unless the Contractor obtains written 
consent by SMART’s Disadvantaged Business Enterprise Liaison Officer (hereinafter 
“DBELO”).  Unless written consent is provided, the Prime Contractor is not entitled to any 
payment for work or materials unless it is performed or supplied by the listed DBE(s). 

SMART’s DBELO may provide written consent only if SMART’s DBELO agrees that the 
Prime Contractor has good cause to terminate the listed DBE or any portion of its work.  

Good cause does not exist if the Prime Contractor seeks to terminate a DBE or any portion of 
the work that it relied upon to obtain the contract so that the Prime Contractor can self-
perform the work for which the DBE contractor was engaged, or so that the prime contractor 
can substitute another DBE or non-DBE contractor after contract award.  

Page 245 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 36 of 55

Good cause includes the following circumstances:

1. The listed DBE subcontractor fails or refuses to execute a written contract.
2. The listed DBE subcontractor fails or refuses to perform the work in a way consistent

with normal industry standards.
3. The listed DBE subcontractor fails or refuses to meet the prime contractor’s

reasonable, nondiscriminatory bond requirements.
4. The listed DBE becomes bankrupt, insolvent, or exhibits credit unworthiness.
5. The listed DBE subcontractor is ineligible to work on public works projects because

of suspension or debarment.
6. SMART has determined that the listed DBE subcontractor is not a responsible

contractor.
7. The listed DBE Contractor voluntarily withdraws from the project and provides a

written notice of withdrawal to SMART’s DBELO.
8. A DBE owner dies or becomes disabled with the result that the listed DBE

subcontractor is unable to complete its work under the contract.
9. Any other documented good cause determined by the DBELO.

Before transmitting to SMART’s DBELO the request to terminate a DBE subcontractor or 
any portion of its work, the Prime Contractor must give written notice in writing to the DBE 
subcontractor, with a copy to SMART’s DBELO concurrently of the Prime Contractor’s 
intent to request to terminate and give the reason for the proposed request.

The Prime Contractor’s written notice must give the DBE (5) five days to respond, advising 
SMART and the contractor of the reasons, if any, why it objects to the proposed termination 
of its subcontract/ or portion and why SMART should not approve the Prime Contractor’s 
request.

In addition to post-award terminations, these provisions apply to pre-award deletions or 
changes to DBE or their listed work put forward by offerors in negotiated procurements.

When a DBE subcontractor or any portion of its work is terminated by the Prime Contractor 
or the firm fails to complete its work on the contract for any reason, including when work 
committed to a DBE is not countable or reduced to overestimations made prior to award, the 
Prime Contractor must use good faith efforts to include additional DBE participation to the 
extent needed to meet the contract goal.

For purposes of determining whether a DBE bidder/offeror for a Prime Contract has met a 
contract goal, SMART will count the work the DBE has committed to performing with its 
own forces as well as the work that it has committed to be performed by DBE subcontractors 
and DBE suppliers.

The Prime Contractor shall make available to SMART upon request, a copy of all DBE 
subcontractors.

Failure by the Contractor to carry out the requirements of 49 CFR 26.53 is a material breach 

Page 246 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 37 of 55

of the contract and may result in the termination of the contract.

Reference the section “Prompt Payment” for additional requirements.”

16. DHS Seal, Logo, and Flags.

Applicability:  All Contracts

The contractor shall not use the DHS seal(s), logos, crests, or reproductions of flags or
likenesses of DHS agency officials without specific FTA pre-approval.

17. Energy Conservation.

Applicability:  All Contracts

The Consultant agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to
energy efficiency which are contained in the State energy conservation plan issued in
compliance with the Energy Policy and Conservation Act. The consultant agrees to
perform an energy assessment for any building constructed, reconstructed, or modified
with FTA funds required under FTA regulations, “Requirements for Energy
Assessments,” 49 CFR part 622, subpart C.

18. Federal Changes.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor shall at all times comply with all applicable FTA regulations, policies,
procedures and directives, including without limitation those listed directly or by
reference in the Master Agreement between the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District
and FTA, as they may be amended or promulgated from time to time during the term of
this contract. Contractor's failure to so comply shall constitute a material breach of this
contract.

19. Fly America.

Applicability:  All Contracts

The Contractor agrees to comply with 49 U.S.C. 40118 (the “Fly America” Act) in
accordance with the General Services Administration’s regulations at 41 CFR Part 301-
10.131 – 301-10.143, which provide that recipients and sub-recipients of Federal funds
and their consultants are required to use U.S. Flag air carriers for U.S. Government-
financed international air travel and transportation of their personal effects or property, to
the extend such service is available, unless travel by foreign air carrier is a matter of
necessity, as defined by the Fly America Act.  The Contractor shall submit, if a foreign
air carrier was used, an appropriate certification or memorandum adequately explaining
why service by a U.S. flag air carrier was not available or why it was necessary to use a

Page 247 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 38 of 55

foreign air carrier and shall, in any event, provide a certificate of compliance with the Fly 
America requirements.  The Contractor agrees to include the requirements of this section 
in all subcontracts that may involve international air transportation.

20. Incorporation of Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Terms.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Incorporation of Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Terms - The provisions within
include, in part, certain Standard Terms and Conditions required by DOT, whether or not
expressly set forth in the preceding contract provisions. All contractual provisions
required by DOT, as set forth in the current FTA Circular 4220 are hereby incorporated
by reference. Anything to the contrary herein notwithstanding, all FTA mandated terms
shall be deemed to control in the event of a conflict with other provisions contained in
this Contract. The Contractor shall not perform any act, fail to perform any act, or refuse
to comply with any request which would cause a violation of the FTA terms and
conditions.

21. No Obligation by the Federal Government.

Applicability:  All Contracts

The Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART) and Contractor acknowledge
and agree that, notwithstanding any concurrence by the Federal Government in or
approval of the solicitation or award of the underlying Contract, absent the express
written consent by the Federal Government, the Federal Government is not a party to this
Contract and shall not be subject to any obligations or liabilities to the Agency,
Contractor or any other party (whether or not a party to that contract) pertaining to any
matter resulting from the underlying Contract. The Contractor agrees to include the above
clause in each subcontract financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided
by the FTA. It is further agreed that the clause shall not be modified, except to identify
the subcontractor who will be subject to its provisions.

22. Notice of Legal Matters.

Applicability:  All Contracts > $25,000

If a current or prospective legal matter that may affect the Federal Government emerges,
the Contractor must promptly notify the FTA Chief Counsel and FTA Regional Counsel
for the Region in which the SMART is located. The Contractor must include a similar
notification requirement in its subagreements at every tier, for any agreement that is a
“covered transaction” according to 2 C.F.R. §§ 180.220 and 1200.220.

(1) The types of legal matters that require notification include, but are not limited
to, a major dispute, breach, default, litigation, or naming the Federal

Page 248 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 39 of 55

Government as a party to litigation or a legal disagreement in any forum for 
any reason. 

(2) Matters that may affect the Federal Government include, but are not limited
to, the Federal Government’s interests in the Award, the accompanying
Underlying Agreement, and any Amendments thereto, or the Federal
Government’s administration or enforcement of federal laws, regulations, and
requirements.

(3) Additional Notice to the U.S. DOT Inspector General. The Recipient must
promptly notify the U.S. DOT Inspector General in addition to the FTA Chief
Counsel or Regional Counsel for the Region in which the Recipient is located,
if the Recipient has knowledge of potential fraud, waste, or abuse occurring
on a Project receiving assistance from FTA. The notification provision applies
if a person has or may have submitted a false claim under the False Claims
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., or has or may have committed a criminal or
civil violation of law pertaining to such matters as fraud, conflict of interest,
bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct.  This responsibility occurs whether
the Project is subject to this Agreement or another agreement between the
Recipient and FTA, or an agreement involving a principal, officer, employee,
agent, or Third-Party Participant of the Recipient. It also applies to
subcontractors at any tier. Knowledge, as used in this paragraph, includes, but
is not limited to, knowledge of a criminal or civil investigation by a Federal,
state, or local law enforcement or other investigative agency, a criminal
indictment or civil complaint, or probable cause that could support a criminal
indictment, or any other credible information in the possession of the
Recipient.

23. Patent Rights and Rights in Data and Copyrights Requirements.

Applicability:  All Research Project Contracts

Intellectual Property Rights

This Project is funded through a Federal award with FTA for experimental, developmental, 
or research work purposes. As such, certain Patent Rights and Data Rights apply to all 
subject data first produced in the performance of this Contract. The Contractor shall grant the 
Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District intellectual property access and licenses deemed 
necessary for the work performed under this Contract and in accordance with the 
requirements of 37 C.F.R. part 401, “Rights to Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations 
and Small Business Firms Under Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative 
Agreements,” and any implementing regulations issued by FTA or U.S. DOT. 

The terms of an intellectual property agreement and software license rights will be finalized 
prior to execution of this Contract and shall, at a minimum, include the following restrictions: 

Page 249 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 40 of 55

Except for its own internal use, the Contractor may not publish or reproduce subject data in 
whole or in part, or in any manner or form, nor may the Contractor authorize others to do so, 
without the written consent of FTA, until such time as FTA may have either released or 
approved the release of such data to the public. This restriction on publication, however, does 
not apply to any contract with an academic institution. 

For purposes of this Contract, the term “subject data” means recorded information whether or 
not copyrighted, and that is delivered or specified to be delivered as required by the Contract. 
Examples of “subject data” include, but are not limited to computer software, standards, 
specifications, engineering drawings and associated lists, process sheets, manuals, technical 
reports, catalog item identifications, and related information, but do not include financial 
reports, cost analyses, or other similar information used for performance or administration of 
the Contract.

1. The Federal Government reserves a royalty-free, non-exclusive and
irrevocable license to reproduce, publish, or otherwise use, and to authorize
others to use for “Federal Government Purposes,” any subject data or
copyright described below. For “Federal Government Purposes,” means use
only for the direct purposes of the Federal Government. Without the copyright
owner’s consent, the Federal Government may not extend its Federal license
to any other party.

a. Any subject data developed under the Contract, whether or not a
copyright has been obtained; and

b. Any rights of copyright purchased by the Contractor using Federal
assistance in whole or in part by the FTA.

2. Unless FTA determines otherwise, the Contractor performing experimental,
developmental, or research work required as part of this Contract agrees to
permit FTA to make available to the public, either FTA’s license in the
copyright to any subject data developed in the course of the Contract, or a
copy of the subject data first produced under the Contract for which a
copyright has not been obtained. If the experimental, developmental, or
research work, which is the subject of this Contract, is not completed for any
reason whatsoever, all data developed under the Contract shall become subject
data as defined herein and shall be delivered as the Federal Government may
direct.

3. Unless prohibited by state law, upon request by the Federal Government, the
Contractor agrees to indemnify, save, and hold harmless the Federal
Government, its officers, agents, and employees acting within the scope of
their official duties against any liability, including costs and expenses,
resulting from any willful or intentional violation by the Contractor of
proprietary rights, copyrights, or right of privacy, arising out of the
publication, translation, reproduction, delivery, use, or disposition of any data
furnished under that contract. The Contractor shall be required to indemnify

Page 250 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 41 of 55

the Federal Government for any such liability arising out of the wrongful act 
of any employee, official, or agents of the Federal Government.

4. Nothing contained in this clause on rights in data shall imply a license to the
Federal Government under any patent or be construed as affecting the scope
of any license or other right otherwise granted to the Federal Government
under any patent.

5. Data developed by the Contractor and financed entirely without using Federal
assistance provided by the Federal Government that has been incorporated
into work required by the underlying Contract is exempt from the
requirements herein, provided that the Contractor identifies those data in
writing at the time of delivery of the Contract work.

6. The Contractor agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract for
experimental, developmental, or research work financed in whole or in part
with Federal assistance.

24. Pre-Award and Post Delivery Audits Requirements.

Applicability:  All Rolling Stock/Turnkey Acquisition Contracts

A Buy America certification under this part shall be issued in addition to any certification
which may be required by 49 CFR Part 661.  Nothing in this part precludes the FTA from
conducting a Buy America investigation under part 661 of this title “Pre-Award and Post-
Delivery Audit Requirements”.

The Contractor agrees to comply with “Buy America Requirements-Surface
Transportation Assistance Act of 1982, as amended by 49 CFR 661.12, but has been
modified to include FTA’s Buy America requirements codified at 49 U.S.C. A 5323(j).

Pre-Award and Post-Delivery Audit Requirements – The Contractor agrees to comply
with 49 U.S.C. 5323(I) and FTA’s implementing regulation at 49 CFR Part 663 and to
submit the following certifications:

1) Buy America Requirements:  The Contractor shall complete and submit a declaration
certifying either compliance or noncompliance with Buy America.  If the firm
certifies compliance with Buy America, it shall submit documentation which lists
1)component and subcomponent parts of the rolling stock to be purchased identified
by manufacturer of the parts, their country of origin and costs; 2) the location of the
final assembly point for the rolling stock, including a description of the activities that
will take place at the final assembly point and the cost of final assembly.

2) Solicitation Specification Requirements:  The Contractor shall submit evidence that it
will be capable of meeting the solicitation specifications.

Page 251 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 42 of 55

3) Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS): The Contractor shall submit a)
manufacturer’s FMVSS self-certification sticker information that the vehicle
complies with relevant FMVSS or b) manufacturer’s certified statement that the
contracted buses will not be subject to FMVSS regulations.

25. Recycled Products.

Applicability:  All Contracts > $10,000

The Contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 6002 of the Solid
Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
(RCRA), as amended (42 U.S.C. 6962), including but not limited to the regulatory
provisions of 40 CFR Part 247, and Executive Order 12873, as they apply to the
procurement of the items designated in Subpart B of 40 CFR Part 247.  The Contractor
agrees to comply with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA),
“Comprehensive Procurement Guideline for Products Containing Recovered Materials”,
40 CFR Part 247.

26. Program Fraud and False or Fraudulent Statements and Related Acts

Applicability:  All Contracts

(a) The Contractor acknowledges that the provisions of the Program Fraud Civil
Remedies Act of 1986, as amended, 31 U.S.C. § 3801 et seq. and U.S. DOT regulations,
“Program Fraud Civil Remedies,” 49 C.F.R. Part 31, apply to its actions pertaining to this
project.  Upon execution of the Agreement, the Contractor certifies or affirms the
truthfulness and accuracy of any statement it has made, it makes, it may make, or causes
to be made, pertaining to the underlying Agreement or the FTA assisted project for which
this Agreement work is being performed.  In addition to other penalties that may be
applicable, the Contractor further acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a
false, fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification, the Federal
Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of the Program Fraud Civil
Remedies Act of 1986 on the Contractor to the extent the Federal Government deems
appropriate.

(b) The Contractor also acknowledges that if it makes, or causes to be made, a false,
fictitious, or fraudulent claim, statement, submission, or certification to the Federal
Government under a contract connected with a project that is financed in whole or in part
with Federal assistance originally awarded by FTA under the authority of 49 U.S.C. §
5307, the Government reserves the right to impose the penalties of 18 U.S.C. § 1001 and
49 U.S.C. § 5307(n)(1) on the Contractor, to the extent the Federal Government deems
appropriate.

(c) The Contractor agrees to include the above two clauses in each subcontract financed
in whole or in part with Federal assistance provided by FTA. It is further agreed that the

Page 252 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 43 of 55

clauses shall not be modified, except to identify the subcontractor who will be subject to 
the provisions.

27. Prompt Payment.

Applicability:  All Non-Public Works Contracts

The contractor shall promptly pay any and all subcontractor invoices by an instrument
that guarantees availability of funds immediately upon deposit of said instrument. The
Prime Contractor is required to pay subcontractors for satisfactory performance of their
contracts no later than (30) thirty days from receipt of payment by SMART.

If the Contractor determines the work of the subcontractors to be unsatisfactory, the
Contractor must immediately notify in writing the SMART project manager, with a
separate notice to the DBELO if the subcontractor is a DBE and state the reasons.
Failure by the Contractor to comply with this requirement will be construed to be a
breach of the contract and may be subject to sanctions as specified in the contract.

SMART will not withhold retainage from the Prime Contractor and the Prime Contractor
is prohibited from withholding retainage from the subcontractor.

Prime contractors shall provide proof of subcontractor payment to SMART for the
previous payment period.”

28. Safe Operation of Motor Vehicles.

Applicability:  All Contracts

(a) Seat Belt Use.  Contractor agrees to implement Executive Order No. 13043,
“Increasing Seat Belt Use in the United States,” April 16, 1997, 23 U.S.C. §402 note,
(62 Fed Reg. 19217), by:

Adopting and promoting on-the-job seat belt use policies and programs for its
employees and other personnel that operate company-owned vehicles, company-
rented vehicles, or personally operated vehicles.

(b) Distracted Driving, Including Text Messaging While Driving.  Contractor agrees to
comply with Executive Order No. 13513, “Federal Leadership on Reducing Text
Messaging While Driving,”, 23 U.S.C. §402, U.S. DOT Order 3902.10, “Text
Messaging While Driving”, and U.S. DOT Special Provision pertaining to Distracted
Driving:

a. Safety.  The Contractor agrees to adopt and enforce workplace safety policies
to decrease crashes caused by distracted drivers, including policies to ban text
messaging while using an electronic device supplied by an employer, and
driving a vehicle the driver owns or rents, a vehicle the company owns, leases,

Page 253 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 44 of 55

or rents, or a privately-owned vehicle when on official business in connection 
with the Agreement, or when performing any work for or on behalf of 
SMART.

b. Contractor agrees to conduct workplace safety initiatives in a manner
commensurate with its size, such as establishing new rules and programs to
prohibit text messaging while driving, re-evaluating the existing programs to
prohibit text messaging while driving, and providing education, awareness,
and other outreach to employees about the safety risks associated with texting
while driving.

29. Seismic Safety.

Applicability:  All A&E and Construction Contracts

The contractor agrees that any new building or addition to an existing building will be
designed and constructed in accordance with the standards for Seismic Safety required in
Department of Transportation (DOT) Seismic Safety Regulations 49 C.F.R. part 41 and
will certify to compliance to the extent required by the regulation. The contractor also
agrees to ensure that all work performed under this contract, including work performed
by a subcontractor, is in compliance with the standards required by the Seismic Safety
Regulations and the certification of compliance issued on the project. The Contractor
will facilitate and follow Executive Order No. 12699, “Seismic Safety of Federal and
Federally-Assisted or Regulated New Building Construction,” 42 U.S.C. 7704 note,
except as the Federal Government determines otherwise in writing.

30. Transit Employee Protective Agreements

Applicability:  All Transit Operations Contracts

The Transit Employee Protective Provisions apply to each contract for transit operations
performed by employees of a Contractor recognized by FTA to be a transit operator.

i. General Transit Employee Protective Requirements – To the extent that FTA
determines that transit operations are involved, the Contractor agrees to carry out the
transit operations work on the underlying contract in compliance with terms and
conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary of Labor to be fair and equitable to
protect the interests of employees employed under this contract and to meet the
employee protective requirements of 49 U.S.C. A 5333(b), and U.S. DOL guidelines
at 29 CFR Part 215, and any amendments thereto. The requirements of this subsection
however do not apply to any contract financed with Federal assistance provided by
FTA either for projects for elderly individuals and individuals with disabilities
authorized by 49 U.S.C. 5310(a)(2), or for projects for non-urbanized areas
authorized by 49 U.S.C. 5311.  Alternate provisions for those projects are set forth in
subsections (B) and (C) of this clause.

Page 254 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 45 of 55

ii. Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C.
5310(a)(2) for Elderly Individuals and Individuals with Disabilities – If the contract
involves transit operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance
authorized by 49 U.S.C. 5310(a)(2), and if the U.S. Secretary of Transportation has
determined or determines in the future that the employee protective requirements of
49 U.S.C. 5333(b) are necessary or appropriate for the state and SMART for which
work is performed on the underlying contract, the Contractor agrees to carry out the
Project in compliance with the terms and conditions determined by the U.S. Secretary
of Labor to meet the requirements of 49 U.S.C. 5333(b), U.S. DOL guidelines at 29
CFR Part 215, and any amendments thereto.

iii. Transit Employee Protective Requirements for Projects Authorized by 49 U.S.C.
5311 in Non-Urbanized Areas – If the contract involves transit operations financed in
whole or in part with Federal assistance authorized by 49 U.S.C. 5311, the Contractor
agrees to comply with the terms and conditions of the Special Warranty for the Non-
urbanized Area Program agreed to by the U.S. Secretaries of Transportation and
Labor dated May 31, 1979, and the procedures implemented by U.S. DOL or any
revision thereto.

iv. The Contractor also agrees to include any applicable requirements in each subcontract
involving transit operations financed in whole or in part with Federal assistance by
FTA.

31. Special DOL EEO Clause

Applicability:  All Construction Contracts > $10,000

The contractor and subcontractor shall abide by the requirements of 41 CFR 60-1.4(a),
60-300.5(a) and 60- 741.5(a). These regulations prohibit discrimination against qualified
individuals based on their status as protected veterans or individuals with disabilities and
prohibit discrimination against all individuals based on their race, color, religion, sex,
sexual orientation, gender identity or national origin. Moreover, these regulations require
that covered prime contractors and subcontractors take affirmative action to employ and
advance in employment individuals without regard to race, color, religion, sex, sexual
orientation, gender identity, national origin, disability or veteran status.

32. Drug and Alcohol Testing

Applicability:  All Transit Operations Service Contracts

The Contractor agrees to establish and implement a drug and alcohol testing program that
complies with 49 C.F.R. part 655, produce any documentation necessary to establish its
compliance with part 655, and permit any authorized representative of the United States
Department of Transportation or its operating administrations, the State Oversight
Agency, or the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District, to inspect the facilities and
records associated with the implementation of the drug and alcohol testing program as

Page 255 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 46 of 55

required under 49 C.F.R. part 655 and review the testing process. The Contractor agrees 
further to certify annually its compliance with part 655 before June 30 and to submit the 
Management Information System (MIS) reports to the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit 
District. To certify compliance the Contractor shall use the “Substance Abuse 
Certifications” in the “Annual List of Certifications and Assurances for Federal Transit 
Administration Grants and Cooperative Agreements”, which is published annually in the
Federal Registrar.

33. Termination.

Applicability:  All Contracts > $10,000

In addition to the Termination provisions contained in the Agreement, the following 
Termination provisions apply.

(a) Termination for Convenience. SMART may terminate this Agreement, in whole or in
part, at any time by written notice to the Contractor when it is in SMART’s best interest.
The Contractor shall be paid its costs, including Agreement close-out costs, and profit on
work performed up to the time of termination.  The Contractor shall promptly submit its
termination claim to SMART to be paid the Contractor.  If the Contractor has any
property in its possession belonging to SMART, the Contractor will account for the same,
and dispose of it in the manner SMART directs.

(b) Termination for Default [Breach or Cause]. If the Contractor does not deliver
supplies in accordance with the Agreement delivery schedule, or, if the Agreement is for
services, the Contractor fails to perform in the manner called for in the contract, or if the
Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of the contract, SMART may
terminate this Agreement for default.  Termination shall be effected by serving a Notice
of Termination on the Contractor setting forth the manner in which the Contractor is in
default.  The Contractor will only be paid the Contract price for supplies delivered and
accepted, or services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth
in the contract. If it is later determined by SMART that the Contractor had an excusable
reason for not performing, such as a strike, fire, or flood, events which are not the fault of
or are beyond the control of the Contractor, then SMART, after setting up a new delivery
of performance schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the
termination as a Termination for Convenience.

(c) Opportunity to Cure. SMART in its sole discretion may, in the case of a termination
for breach or default, allow the Contractor up to ten (10) calendar days in which to cure
the defect.  In such case, the notice of termination will state the time period in which cure
is permitted and other appropriate conditions.

If Contractor fails to remedy to SMART’s satisfaction the breach or default of any of the 
terms, covenants, or conditions of this Agreement within ten (10) calendar days after 
receipt by Contractor of written notice from SMART setting forth the nature of said 
breach or default, SMART shall have the right to terminate the Agreement without any 

Page 256 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 47 of 55

further obligation to Contractor.  Any such termination for default shall not in any way 
operate to preclude SMART from also pursuing all available remedies against Contractor 
and its sureties for said breach or default.

(d) Waiver of Remedies for any Breach. In the event that SMART elects to waive its
remedies for any breach by Contractor of any covenant, term or condition of this
Agreement, such waiver by SMART shall not limit SMART’s remedies for any
succeeding breach of that or of any other term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement.

(e) Termination for Convenience (Professional or Transit Service Contracts) SMART, by
written notice, may terminate this contract, in whole or in part, when it is in SMART’s
best interest. If this contract is terminated, SMART shall be liable only for payment under
the payment provisions of this contract for services rendered before the effective date of
termination.

(f) Termination for Default (Supplies and Service) If the Contractor fails to deliver
supplies or to perform the services within the time specified in this contract or any
extension, or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provisions of this contract,
the Agency may terminate this contract for default. The Agency shall terminate by
delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature of the default.
The Contractor will only be paid the contract price for supplies delivered and accepted, or
services performed in accordance with the manner or performance set forth in this
contract. If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined
that the Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the
same as if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Agency.

(g) Termination for Default (Transportation Services) If the Contractor fails to pick up
the commodities or to perform the services, including delivery services, within the time
specified in this contract or any extension, or if the Contractor fails to comply with any
other provisions of this contract, the Agency may terminate this contract for default. The
Agency shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination
specifying the nature of default. The Contractor will only be paid the contract price for
services performed in accordance with the manner of performance set forth in this
contract.

If this contract is terminated while the Contractor has possession of Agency goods, the 
Contractor shall, upon direction of the Agency, protect and preserve the goods until 
surrendered to the Agency or its agent. The Contractor and Agency shall agree on 
payment for the preservation and protection of goods. Failure to agree on an amount will 
be resolved under the Dispute clause.

If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the 
Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as 
if the termination had been issued for the convenience of the Agency.

(h) Termination for Default (Construction) If the Contractor refuses or fails to prosecute

Page 257 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 48 of 55

the work or any separable part, with the diligence that will ensure its completion within 
the time specified in this contract or any extension or fails to complete the work within 
this time, or if the Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of this contract, 
Agency may terminate this contract for default. The Agency shall terminate by delivering 
to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the nature of the default. In this 
event, the Agency may take over the work and compete it by contract or otherwise, and 
may take possession of and use any materials, appliances, and plant on the work site 
necessary for completing the work. The Contractor and its sureties shall be liable for any 
damage to the Agency resulting from the Contractor's refusal or failure to complete the 
work within specified time, whether or not the Contractor's right to proceed with the 
work is terminated. This liability includes any increased costs incurred by the Agency in 
completing the work.

The Contractor's right to proceed shall not be terminated nor shall the Contractor be 
charged with damages under this clause if: 

1. The delay in completing the work arises from unforeseeable causes beyond the
control and without the fault or negligence of the Contractor. Examples of such
causes include: acts of God, acts of Agency, acts of another contractor in the
performance of a contract with Agency, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, strikes,
freight embargoes; and

2. The Contractor, within [10] days from the beginning of any delay, notifies Agency in
writing of the causes of delay. If, in the judgment of Agency, the delay is excusable,
the time for completing the work shall be extended. The judgment of Agency shall be
final and conclusive for the parties, but subject to appeal under the Disputes clause(s)
of this contract.

3. If, after termination of the Contractor's right to proceed, it is determined that the
Contractor was not in default, or that the delay was excusable, the rights and
obligations of the parties will be the same as if the termination had been issued for the
convenience of Agency.

(i) Termination for Convenience or Default (Architect and Engineering Contracts).
SMART may terminate this contract in whole or in part, for the Agency’s convenience or
because of the failure of the Contractor to fulfill the contract obligations. The Agency
shall terminate by delivering to the Contractor a Notice of Termination specifying the
nature, extent, and effective date of the termination. Upon receipt of the notice, the
Contractor shall (1) immediately discontinue all services affected (unless the notice
directs otherwise), and (2) deliver to the Agency ‘s Contracting Officer all data,
drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries, and other information and
materials accumulated in performing this contract, whether completed or in process.
Agency has a royalty-free, nonexclusive, and irrevocable license to reproduce, publish or
otherwise use, all such data, drawings, specifications, reports, estimates, summaries, and
other information and materials.

If the termination is for the convenience of the Agency, the Agency’s Contracting Officer 
shall make an equitable adjustment in the contract price but shall allow no anticipated 

Page 258 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 49 of 55

profit on unperformed services. 

If the termination is for failure of the Contractor to fulfill the contract obligations, the 
Agency may complete the work by contact or otherwise and the Contractor shall be liable 
for any additional cost incurred by the Agency. 

If, after termination for failure to fulfill contract obligations, it is determined that the 
Contractor was not in default, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the same as 
if the termination had been issued for the convenience of Agency.

(j) Termination for Convenience or Default (Cost Type Contracts) The Agency may
terminate this contract, or any portion of it, by serving a Notice of Termination on the
Contractor. The notice shall state whether the termination is for convenience of Agency
or for the default of the Contractor. If the termination is for default, the notice shall state
the manner in which the Contractor has failed to perform the requirements of the
contract. The Contractor shall account for any property in its possession paid for from
funds received from the Agency, or property supplied to the Contractor by the Agency. If
the termination is for default, the Agency may fix the fee, if the contract provides for a
fee, to be paid the Contractor in proportion to the value, if any, of work performed up to
the time of termination. The Contractor shall promptly submit its termination claim to the
Agency and the parties shall negotiate the termination settlement to be paid the
Contractor.

If the termination is for the convenience of Agency, the Contractor shall be paid its 
contract close-out costs, and a fee, if the contract provided for payment of a fee, in 
proportion to the work performed up to the time of termination. 

If, after serving a Notice of Termination for Default, the Agency determines that the 
Contractor has an excusable reason for not performing, the Agency, after setting up a new 
work schedule, may allow the Contractor to continue work, or treat the termination as a 
Termination for Convenience.

34. Veterans Hiring Preference.

Applicability:  All Contracts

As provided in 49 U.S.C. §5325(k), the Contractor, to the extent practicable, agrees and
assures that each subcontractor:

1. Will give a hiring preference to veterans, as defined in 5 U.S.C. §2108, who
have the skills and abilities required to perform construction work required
under Agreement in connection with a Capital Project supported with federal
assistance appropriated or made available for 49 U.S.C. chapter 53; and

Page 259 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 50 of 55

2. Will not require an employer to give a preference to any veteran over any
equally qualified applicant who is a member of any racial or ethnic minority,
female, an individual with a disability, or a former employee.

35. Violation and Breach of Contract.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Rights and Remedies of SMART

The duties and obligations imposed by the Agreement and the rights and remedies
available thereunder shall be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations,
rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law.  No action or failure to act by
SMART or Contractor shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded any of them
under the Contract, nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or
acquiescence in any breach thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

Rights and Remedies of Contractor
Inasmuch as the Contractor can be adequately compensated by money damages for any
breach of this Contract, which may be committed by SMART, the Contractor expressly
agrees that no default, act or omission of SMART shall constitute a material breach of
this Contract, entitling Contractor to cancel or rescind the Contract (unless SMART
directs Contractor to do so) or to suspend or abandon performance.

Remedies
Unless this Agreement provides otherwise, all claims, counterclaims, disputes and other
matters in question between SMART and the Contractor arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or its breach will be decided by arbitration if the parties mutually agree, or in
a court of competent jurisdiction within California.

Disputes
Disputes arising in the performance of this Agreement which are not resolved by
agreement of the parties shall be decided in writing by SMART’s General Manager. This
decision shall be final and conclusive unless within ten (10) days from the date of receipt
of its copy, the Contractor mails or otherwise furnishes a written appeal to the General
Manager. In connection with any such appeal, the Contractor shall be afforded an
opportunity to be heard and to offer evidence in support of its position. The decision of
the General Manager shall be binding upon the Contractor and the Contractor shall abide
by the decision.

Performance during Dispute
Unless otherwise directed by Agency, Contractor shall continue performance under this
Contract while matters in dispute are being resolved.

Claims for Damages
Should either party to the Contract suffer injury or damage to person or property because

Page 260 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 51 of 55

of any act or omission of the party or of any of its employees, agents or others for whose 
acts it is legally liable, a claim for damages therefor shall be made in writing to such 
other party within a reasonable time after the first observance of such injury or damage.

36. Geographic Restrictions.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor shall refrain from using state or local geographic preferences, except those
expressly mandated or encouraged by Federal statute.

37. Metric System.

Applicability:  All Contracts

To the extent required by U.S. DOT or FTA, Contractor shall use the metric system of
measurement in its project activities pursuant to the Metric Conversion Act, as amended
by the Omnibus Trade and Competitiveness Act, 15 U.S.C.  205a et seq.; Executive
Order No 12770 “Metric Usage in Federal Government Programs, 15 U.S.C. § 205a note;
and other regulations, guidelines, and policies issued by U.S. DOT or FTA. To the extent
practicable and feasible, SMART agrees to accept products and services with dimensions
expressed in the metric system of measurement.

38. Environmental Protection.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor shall comply with the following requirements:

(a) Contractor shall comply with all applicable requirements of the National
Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq. consistent with
Executive Order. No. 11514, as amended, “Protection and Enhancement of
Environmental Quality,” 42 U.S.C. § 4321 note; PTA statutory requirements on
environmental matters at 49 U.S.C. § 5324(b); Council on Environmental Quality
regulations on compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, as
amended, 40 C.F.R. Part 1500 et seq.; and joint FHWA/FTA regulations, “Environmental
impact and Related Procedures,” 23 C.F.R. Part 771 and 49 C.F.R. Part 622.

(b) Contractor shall comply with all Federal transit laws, such as 49 U.S.C. §5323(c)(2)
and 23 U.S.C. §139, as applicable.

(c) Contractor shall report and require each subcontractor at any tier to report any
violation of these requirements resulting from any Contract activity of Contractor or
subcontractor to FTA and the appropriate U.S. EPA Regional Office.

Page 261 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 52 of 55

39. Privacy Act.

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor agrees to comply with and assures the compliance of its employees with the
information restrictions and other applicable requirements of the Privacy Act of 1974, 5
U.S.C § 552. Among other things, the Contractor agrees to obtain the express consent of
the Federal Government before the Contractor or its employees operate a system of
records on behalf of the Federal Government before the Contractor or its employees
operate a system of records on behalf of the Federal Government.  Contractor
understands that the requirements of the Privacy Act, including civil and criminal
penalties for violation of the Act, apply to those individuals involved, and that failure to
comply with the terms of the Privacy Act may result in termination of the underlying
contract.

40. Transit Vehicle Manufacturer (TVM) Certifications

Applicability:  All Rolling Stock Contracts

49 CFR 26.49 – Contractor must submit to SMART a certification from each transit
vehicle manufacture that desires to bid or propose upon a DOT-assisted transit vehicle
procurement that it has complied with the requirements of 49 CFR 26.49.  SMART may,
however, with FTA approval, establish project-specific goals for DBE participation in the
procurement of transit vehicles in lieu of complying through the overall goal setting
procedures.

41. Federal Tax Liability and Recent Felony Convictions

Applicability:  All Contracts

A. Contractor certifies that it does not have any unpaid Federal tax liability that has been
assessed, for which all judicial and administrative remedies have been exhausted or
have lapsed, and that it is not being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement
with the authority responsible for collecting the tax liability; and

B. Contractor certifies that it was not convicted of felony criminal violation under any
Federal law within the preceding twenty-four (24) months.

42. Rights to Inventions Made Under a Contract or Agreement.

Applicability:  All Research and Development Contracts

Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements of 37 C.F.R. §401.2(a), “Rights to
Inventions Made by Nonprofit Organizations and Small Business Firms under
Government Grants, Contracts and Cooperative Agreements” and any implementing
regulations issued by SMART.

Page 262 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 53 of 55

Prohibition on Certain Telecommunications and Video Surveillance Services or 
Equipment. 

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor certifies and confirms that no services provided or supplies installed or 
utilized under this contract constitute telecommunications services, equipment or systems 
prohibited under Section 889 of the John S. McCain National Defense Authorization Act 
for Fiscal Year 2019 (P.L. 115-232), and as may be implemented by 2 C.F.R. 200.216.  If 
Contractor later learns that prohibited telecommunications services, equipment or 
systems have been supplied, installed, or utilized under this Contract, Contractor shall 
immediately inform SMART in writing. SMART may require the Contractor to promptly 
replace such prohibited service, equipment and systems at the Contractor's sole cost.

43. Domestic Preferences for Procurements

Applicability:  All Contracts

Contractor shall make every effort to provide a preference for the purchase, acquisition,
or use of goods, products, or materials produced in the United States (including but not
limited to iron, aluminum, steel, cement, and other manufactured products).  This section
must be included in all subcontracts.

For the purposes of this section:

1) “Produced in the United States” means, for iron and steel products, that all
manufacturing processes, from the initial melting stage through the application of
coatings, occurred in the United States.

2) “Manufactured products” means items and construction materials composed in whole
or in part of non-ferrous metals such as aluminum; plastics and polymer-based products
such as polyvinyl chloride pipe; aggregates such as concrete; glass, including optical
fiber; and lumber.

44. Whistleblower Protections

Applicability:  All Contracts

An employee of the Contractor or Subcontractor must not be discharged, demoted, or
otherwise discriminated against as a reprisal for disclosing to a person or body described
in paragraph (a)(2) of 41 U.S.C. 4712 information that the employee reasonably believes
is evidence of gross mismanagement of a Federal contract or grant, a gross waste of
Federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a Federal contract or grant, a substantial
and specific danger to public health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or regulation
related to a Federal contract (including the competition for or negotiation of a contract) or
grant. The Contractor and their subcontractors must inform their employees in writing of

Page 263 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 54 of 55

employee whistleblower rights and protections under 41 U.S.C. 4712. See statutory 
requirements for whistleblower protections at 10 U.S.C. 4701, 41 U.S.C. 4712, 41 U.S.C. 
4304, and 10 U.S.C. 4310.

Page 264 of 324



GrayMar Environmental Services, LLC
Agreement
Contract # OP-SV-24-013 Page 55 of 55

EXHIBIT D
FEDERAL WAGE DETERMINATION

(On file with the Clerk of the Board)

Page 265 of 324



Eric Lucan, Chair
Marin County Board of Supervisors 

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Kate Colin
Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac
Transportation Authority of Marin

Debora Fudge
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Patty Garbarino
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Barbara Pahre
Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway/Transportation District

Gabe Paulson
Marin County Council of Mayors and 
Councilmembers

David Rabbitt
Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers
Sonoma County Mayors’ and 
Councilmembers Association

Mary Sackett
Marin County Board of Supervisors

Eddy Cumins
General Manager

5401 Old Redwood Highway
Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954
Phone: 707-794-3330
Fax: 707-794-3037
www.SonomaMarinTrain.org

AGENDA ITEM 11

December 18, 2024

Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit Board of Directors 
5401 Old Redwood Highway, Suite 200
Petaluma, CA 94954

SUBJECT: FY2025-FY2030 Strategic Plan Final Draft

Dear Board Members:

RECOMMENDATION: Adoption of the FY2025-FY2030 SMART Strategic 
Plan

SUMMARY
SMART has prepared the Final FY2025-FY2030 Strategic Plan, following the 
process previously outlined to the Board. The Strategic Plan is an 

mission. The previous plan was adopted by the Board of Directors on 
September 18, 2019, for the period 2019 – 2024.  This Strategic Plan is for 
the period 2025 – 2030, which will carry SMART through the 

segments and rail extensions to the north, and into a new period of growth 

The outreach and community engagement conducted as part of the FY25-
FY30 strategic planning process was vital to ensure that the investments 

community. Input received through the community outreach process has 
been merged with ongoing local, regional, State, and Federal goals to 

SMART’s four goal areas: Ridership, Pathway, Extensions, and Freight.

guides the annual budget by 

co

Page 266 of 324



SMART Board of Directors 
December 18, 2024 

Page 2 of 2 

will ensure that the agency’s resources are put to work to achieve the goals that SMART and the 
public established in this plan.  

 
and to your Board on November 20th, 2024; it was posted on the SMART website for public comment 
through November 30, 2024. SMART received over 50 comments from the COC, advocacy groups, 
and other community members, which 
Plan. The public comments and responses the 

 1 below. Final 
SMART FY2025 – FY2030 Strategic Plan.  

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

REVIEWED BY:   [ x ] Finance __  _/s/______    [ x ] Counsel ____/s/______ 

Respectfully, 

   /s/ 
Emily Betts 
Planning Manager 

Attachment(s): 
1) Revisions to Draft Strategic Plan
2) Final SMART FY2025 – FY2030 Strategic Plan

Page 267 of 324



P a g e  | 1 OF 2 

Attachment 2 – Revisions to Draft SMART Strategic Plan FY2024 – FY2030 

PAGE REVISIONS 

3 Added the detailed goal statements to the executive summary 
4 Added “In relation to the Plan’s stated goals, SMART has identified numerous 

strategies the agency can implement through discrete actions in the next five 
years. Some of these strategies are currently being pursued by the agency 
and will continue to be critical to supporting further progress towards 
SMART’s goals. Other strategies and actions expand on existing SMART 
initiatives or are newly introduced as a part of this update to the Strategic 
Plan.” 

25 Added to the Insight sidebar “Increases in frequency by SMART and 
connecting services is the most e ective way long-term to improve 
transfers.” 

26 Added action under strategy #8 “Expand outreach to seniors and persons 
with disabilities and provide information to organizations that provide 
services to these groups.” 

27 Added action under strategy #8 “Coordinate with other transit agencies in 
the North Bay to provide joint marketing of services and improve the legibility 
of the system” 

28 Added action under strategy #13 “Pursue operating funds for continuation or 
expansion of services to meet customer demand” 

28 Explore adding solar panels at the Rail Operations Facility or other SMART-
owned facilities 

30 Amended the action as follows: "Evaluate the feasibility of providing 
additional pathway amenities such as lighting, benches, and art, including 
potential sponsorship by local businesses.” 

30 Added action under strategy #9 “Complete the environmental clearance and 
the preliminary engineering for the Puerto Suello Hill Pathway in San Rafael” 

31 Revised “The Windsor Station and 3 new miles of parallel pathway are 
anticipated to open Spring 2025.” 

31 Revised "passenger rail system" to “passenger rail service" 

31 Added "station" after "Novato Downtown" and "Petaluma North" 

31 Revised the action as follows: “Pursue addition of a Geyserville station 
halfway between Cloverdale and Healdsburg to enhance value of the 
investment in the railroad through northern Sonoma County” 

38 Fare revenues were updated from $14,712,735 to $18,179,357 

38 Revenue subtotal was updated from $453,718,542 to $457,185,164 

Page 268 of 324



P a g e  | 2 OF 2 

PAGE REVISIONS 

46 Added the following under Fare Revenues: “SMART fare policy post-
pandemic has prioritized removing barriers to ridership rather than 
increasing revenue by raising fares. The fare discounts put into place since 
2020 have resulted in strong post-pandemic ridership recovery while 
simultaneously reducing SMART’s investment per passenger mile 
(IPPM).  These results confirm that increased boardings have a greater 
impact on reducing the overall IPPM than the farebox recovery ratio.  The 
SMART Board of Directors have continued to prioritize ridership over the 
farebox recovery ratio to ensure the community benefits of SMART are 
maximized.  This Strategic Plan assumes the continuation of fare policies 
that prioritize ridership and ease of access to the system.” 

46 Added under the Sales and Use Tax (Measure Q) section “However, in 
September 2023, SMART did present the Board of Directors with potential 
scenarios for continuing operations beyond the April 2029 sales tax 
expiration date, which included scenarios where a sales tax was not 
approved prior to 2029. Those scenarios can be found in Appendix C.” 

47 Estimated revenues were adjusted from $64,249,084 to $60,782,462 
47 The fund balance was adjusted from $7,947,288 to $11,413,910 
48 Replaced "received" with "receives" 

Appendix 
A 

Updated with comments received on Draft Plan 

Appendix 
B 

Updated to reflect the revised fare revenue assumptions, total revenues 
assumed, and fund balance 

Appendix 
C 

New appendix added with information on potential scenarios beyond April 
2029. 

Page 269 of 324



SONOMA-MARIN AREA RAIL TRANSIT DISTRICT

DRAFT STRATEGIC PLAN 
2025-2030

Page 270 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n2

SMART Board of Directors
Eric Lucan, Chair, Marin County Board of Supervisors

Melanie Bagby, Vice Chair, Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers’ Association

Kate Colin, Transportation Authority of Marin

Chris Coursey, Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Rachel Farac, Transportation Authority of Marin Board of Commissioners

Debora Fudge, Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers’ Association

Patty Garbarino, Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District

Barbara Pahre, Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation District

Gabe Paulson, Marin County Council of Mayors and Councilmembers

David Rabbitt, Sonoma County Board of Supervisors

Chris Rogers, Sonoma County Mayors’ and Councilmembers’ Association

Mary Sackett, Marin County Board of Supervisors

Citizens Oversight Committee
Dani Sheehan-Meyer, Chair, Sonoma County

Thomas Engdahl, Vice Chair, Marin County

Sherry Adams, Sonoma County

Lucy Dilworth, Marin County

Kevin Hagerty, Marin County

Zachary Kushel, Marin County

Sandi McCubbin, Sonoma County

Conor McKay, Sonoma County

Anthony Nachor, Marin County

Page 271 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 1

TA B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................................................3

Background ..................................................................................................................................................................................6

Plan History and Measure Q  ...........................................................................................................................................6

2019-2024 Achievements ..........................................................................................................................................................9

Ridership  ............................................................................................................................................................................. 10

SMART Pathway and the Great Redwood Trail  ....................................................................................................... 13

Extensions ............................................................................................................................................................................ 13

Freight ................................................................................................................................................................................... 14

Strategic Plan Framework ...................................................................................................................................................... 15

Vision, Mission, Values, and Strategic Objectives  .................................................................................................... 15

Planning and Policy Context  ......................................................................................................................................... 16

Plan Development Process ................................................................................................................................................... 20

Outreach Summary ..................................................................................................................................................................21

Project Website ....................................................................................................................................................................21

Community Workshops .....................................................................................................................................................21

SMART Citizens Oversight Committee .........................................................................................................................22

Summary of Input Received ...........................................................................................................................................22

Goals, Strategies, Actions .......................................................................................................................................................24

Ridership: Strategies and Actions .................................................................................................................................25

Pathway: Strategies and Actions...................................................................................................................................29

Extensions: Strategies and Actions ............................................................................................................................... 31

Freight: Strategies and Actions ......................................................................................................................................32

Funding Sources, Financial Plan and How We Fund Plan Implementation ............................................................ 34

Funding Sources – Passenger Rail ................................................................................................................................35

SMART’s Flow of Funding ................................................................................................................................................42

Expenditures .......................................................................................................................................................................42

Financial Plan Assumptions – Revenues .................................................................................................................... 46

Financial Plan Assumptions – Expenditures .............................................................................................................. 46

Fund Balance ......................................................................................................................................................................47

Funding Sources – Freight .............................................................................................................................................. 48

Expenditures - Freight ..................................................................................................................................................... 48

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................................................... 51

Appendices .................................................................................................................................................................................53

Page 272 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n2

Page 273 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 3

E x e c u t i v e  S u m m a r y

The Strategic Plan is an opportunity to define the 
strategic direction of the organization, and to 
establish goals, objectives, and actions in line with 
SMART’s vision and mission. The previous plan was 
adopted by the Board of Directors on September 
18, 2019, for the period 2019 – 2024. This Strategic 
Plan is for the period 2025 – 2030, which will carry 
SMART through the reauthorization of a sales tax 
measure, the construction of pathway segments and 
rail extensions to the north, and into a new period 
of growth as the primary regional transit service in 
Marin and Sonoma Counties. 

SMART had only been in revenue service for two 
years when the last Strategic Plan was completed, 
and those two years had seen multiple fire and 
flood disasters that negatively impacted ridership. 
The beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic created 
unprecedented challenges for all transit systems. 
As of Fall 2024, SMART is operating more services 
than ever before and is more affordable than pre-
pandemic. Ridership is hitting record highs, with 

SMART achieving the highest ridership recovery 
rate in the Bay Area, and the second highest rate 
for commuter rail in the nation. SMART carried over 
850,000 passengers in FY24, exceeding the highest 
year pre-pandemic, and is anticipated to carry over 
1 million riders in FY25, with the opening of Petaluma 
North and Windsor Stations. In addition, the SMART 
pathway averaged 63,610 users per month in FY24, 
for a total count of 763,325 for the year. 

The outreach and community engagement 
conducted as part of the FY25-FY30 strategic 
planning process was vital to ensure that the 
investments SMART makes over the next five years 
align with the priorities of the community. Input 
received through the community outreach process 
has been merged with ongoing local, regional, 
State, and Federal goals to create a series of 
Strategies and Actions designed to move the needle 
on SMART’s four goal areas: Ridership, Pathway, 
Extensions, and Freight.

RIDERSHIP
INCREASE RIDERSHIP TO 5,000+ 
RIDERS PER DAY

ENSURE LONG-TERM SUSTAINABILITY 
OF FREIGHT OPERATIONS

COMPLETE SYSTEM EXTENSIONS TO 
CLOVERDALE AND PURSUE PROJECT 
DEVELOPMENT OF EAST/WEST 
ALIGNMENT

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCT PLANNED 
PATHWAY, MAINTAIN EXISTING PATHWAY, 
AND ENHANCE USER EXPERIENCE

FREIGHTPATHWAYS

EXTENSIONS

Page 274 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n4

In relation to the Plan’s stated goals, SMART has 
identified numerous strategies the agency can 
implement through discrete actions in the next 
five years. Some of these strategies are currently 
being pursued by the agency and will continue to 
be critical to supporting further progress towards 
SMART’s goals. Other strategies and actions 
expand on existing SMART initiatives or are newly 
introduced as a part of this update to the Strategic 
Plan.

The Strategic Plan directly influences SMART’s 
financial plan by providing the roadmap for 
achieving SMART’s goals, which informs the 
allocation of resources, investment decisions, and 
budgeting strategies needed to execute those goals. 
The financial plan guides the annual budget by 
identifying key priorities and challenges that need 
to be addressed over a longer timeframe. While 
many of the strategic plan’s actions are currently 
funded fully or partially, other activities and 
initiatives in this plan do not have committed funds. 
Using the Strategic Plan to shape SMART’s annual 
budgeting process and ongoing grant applications 
ensures that the agency’s resources are put to work 
to achieve the goals that SMART and the public 
fortified in this plan. 

SMART is in a period of rapid expansion, active 
construction, and ridership growth. By the 
conclusion of this Strategic Plan period in 2030, 
the system is envisioned to be nearly complete, 
with long-term operating funds secured. Agency 
and community priorities will continue to shift as 
the SMART system approaches buildout, expands 
services for the community, and matures as the 
leading transit system in the North Bay. 

Page 275 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 5

Page 276 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n6

In 2002, the California State Legislature created 
the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit (SMART) 
District under Assembly Bill (AB) 2224, formally 
establishing SMART as a special district within 
Marin and Sonoma counties. AB2224, also known 
as the Sonoma-Marin Area Rail Transit District Act 
was codified in the Public Utilities Code section 
105000, et. seq., effective January 1, 2003. Under 
the enabling legislation, SMART was required to 
create a 12-member governing board of directors 
and carry out its newly established authorities in the 
pursuit of creating passenger rail service in Marin 
and Sonoma counties. Among the responsibilities 
granted to the District were the authorizations to 
impose voter-approved taxes and to accept grants. 

Following the creation of the District, the rail system 
right-of-way assets which had been held by several 
public agencies along the corridor, including the 
Golden Gate Bridge Highway and Transportation 
District, were transferred to SMART for the purposes 
outlined in AB2224. In 2006, SMART secured 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
clearance of SMART’s project that included the 
rebuilding and operation of 70 miles of passenger 
rail service within the publicly owned SMART right-
of-way through Marin and Sonoma counties as well 
as the provision of a parallel ancillary multi-use 
pathway to facilitate first/last mile connections to 
SMART’s passenger rail system. This was followed by 
a Supplemental EIR in 2008 that included weekend 
rail service. With an environmentally cleared project 
in hand, the District was able to put Measure Q 

(2008) before the voters seeking approval of a sales 
tax that would:

“provide funding for the design, construction, 
implementation, operation, financing, 
maintenance and management of a passenger 
rail system and a bicycle/ pedestrian pathway 
connecting the 14 rail stations from Cloverdale to 
Larkspur.”

In 2021, the State of California and the North Coast 
Railroad Authority (NCRA) transferred the right-
of-way between Healdsburg and the Mendocino 
County line from NCRA to SMART. Additionally, 
SMART took over freight responsibilities in the 
corridor and the Brazos Branch (east-west line) as 
the public short line freight rail operator, having 
received Surface Transportation Board approval to 
assume common carrier responsibilities from the 
private freight operator. 

Plan History and Measure Q 
SMART’s ¼ cent sales tax (Measure Q) was enacted 
in 2008 by 70% of voters in Sonoma and Marin 
counties. This stable revenue stream has allowed 
SMART to both build and operate the current 
commuter rail service and pathway connections 
between Larkspur in Marin to Airport Boulevard in 
Sonoma. 

Since the passage of Measure Q in 2008, SMART 
has completed a Strategic Plan every five years. 
In 2009, SMART prepared and approved its first 

B a c k g r o u n d

Page 277 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 7

Strategic Plan, which focused on initiation of the 
SMART capital project and the funding available for 
that project. The Great Recession was just beginning 
to make its impacts felt, affecting the sales tax 
starting in 2008 through 2010; this initial reduction 
meant an overall reduction in the sales tax revenue 
stream for bonding purposes in 2011. Ultimately 
the difference in the 20-year stream between 
the SMART initial sales tax proposal and later 
plans meant a loss of over $100 million for SMART. 
This fact led SMART to reevaluate the capacity 
to deliver the full 70-mile system, in the face of a 
falling revenue stream, cost increases tied to new 
regulatory requirements, the realities of construction 
in an active freight corridor, and significant 
environmental mitigation expectations. Board policy 
conversations with regional input outlined the initial 
plan for SMART’s phasing. With that consensus, 
SMART proceeded with steps to secure the grants, 
financing and contracts needed to build the first 
operating segment.

The 2014 Strategic Plan summarized the subsequent 
decision-making by the Board to build the SMART 
project in phases and provided updates on the 
decisions made as part of the capital buildout. The 
initial operating segment was under construction 
at that time, from downtown San Rafael to Railroad 
Square in Santa Rosa. SMART’s ability to move 
quickly during a slow economic time led to favorable 
bid results, construction savings, greater confidence 
in the success of the project and ultimately further 
project expansions. Favorable contract negotiations 
resulted in the expansion of the first phase project to 
include the Novato San Marin Station and the Santa 
Rosa North Station. State and regional funding 
agencies were willing to grant more funds to SMART 
as a “shovel-ready” project with momentum and 
the track was able to be fully rebuilt between 
Santa Rosa North and the SMART Rail Operations 
Center with a station added at Airport Boulevard in 
Sonoma County. The 2014 Strategic Plan included 
more informed estimates for the cost of opening and 
operating rail passenger service utilizing state of the 
art trains, tracks, signals and related infrastructure. 
Between the 2014 Strategic Plan and its successor 
document, SMART secured funding to add two 
additional miles and two stations (Larkspur and 
Downtown Novato) into the system. These projects 

were being brought online for passenger use as the 
2019 Strategic Plan was being finalized.

The 2019 Strategic Plan was the first plan since 
SMART completed construction of the initial 
operating segment and began operating passenger 
rail service in August of 2017. The Plan documented 
the progress to date and focused on a path forward, 
which included plans to seek voter approval to 
extend the current sales tax past its 2029 expiration 
date through a 2020 ballot initiative. Consistent 
with the direction of the 2019 Strategic Plan, SMART 
placed the sales tax reauthorization ballot initiative, 
Measure I, on the March 2020 ballot, just as the 
pandemic arrived. The reauthorization effort failed 
to receive the two-thirds super majority required 
to pass, instead receiving 54% across the SMART 
District of Sonoma and Marin counties. In addition 
to the unfavorable outcome of the 2020 ballot 
initiative, the COVID-19 Pandemic dramatically 
altered conditions for SMART’s transit services as 
extended stay-at-home mandates and prolonged 
social distancing protocols altered the public’s travel 
behavior and required SMART operations to adjust 
to the reduced travel and increased public health 
and safety protocols. 

Since March 2020, SMART has seen a remarkable 
recovery, with ridership in 2024 exceeding pre-
COVID by 30%. SMART’s deliberate and responsive 
improvements to the rider experience and incentives 
to return to transit have paid off, with record-
breaking ridership in 2024 and strengthened 
relationships with our partners and community. 
Funding agencies have also recognized SMART’s 
progress and potential for growth, with over 
$413 Million in outside grant funding secured for 
passenger rail, pathways, and freight since July 
2020. The FY25 – FY30 Strategic Plan builds on 
these successes, and on extensive public outreach 
conducted over the last three years, to create a five-
year plan for the agency to meet the strategic goals 
set by the Board in the areas of ridership, pathway, 
extensions, and freight. 

Page 278 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n8

SMART TODAY
People RIDE SMART for 

different tripS

Work Commutes ............49%
School Commutes .......... 15%
Social/Recreational ...... 29%
Errands/Shopping ........... 7%

Passengers travel
long distances 

The average 
passenger travels 

22 miles
on SMART one-way

as many people
travel on the Pathway

as on the Train

In the second half of 2024, 
there were 85,000 average 
monthly pathway users and 

86,000 average monthly train 
passengers

In FY24
SMART carried

18.4 million
passenger miles

on the train

 42 weekday train trips 
and 16 weekend trips; 
running two shuttles; 

and 29 miles of pathway

SMART IS providING 
more service

THAN EVER BEFORE

Page 279 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 9

SMART had only been in revenue service for two 
years when the last Strategic Plan was completed, 
and those two years had seen multiple fire and 
flood disasters that negatively impacted ridership. 
The beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic created 
unprecedented challenges for all transit systems. 
As of Fall 2024, SMART is operating more service 
than ever before and is more affordable than pre-
pandemic. Ridership is hitting record highs, with 
SMART achieving the highest ridership recovery 
rate in the Bay Area, and the second highest rate for 
commuter rail in the nation. Unlike many rail systems 
nationwide, which are designed to carry commuters 
into a central business district, SMART’s ability 
to serve origins and destinations throughout the 
corridor, with strong bidirectional travel, enabled 
the system to recover from the pandemic and begin 
expanding into new markets. 

SMART carried over 850,000 passengers in FY24, 
which exceeded the highest year pre-pandemic, 
FY19, by 19%. Ridership is anticipated to exceed 
1 million riders in FY25, with the opening of 
Petaluma North and Windsor Stations. On the 
SMART Pathway, the installation of 10 bicycle and 
pedestrian counters has enabled data tracking on 
pathway usage; in FY24 the pathway averaged 
63,610 users per month, for a total count of 763,325 
for the year. 

Both pathway and train users have been recently 
surveyed to ensure that SMART is meeting the 
community’s needs. In 2023, an intercept survey 
of pathway users was conducted both in person 

2 0 1 9 - 2 0 2 4  A c h i e v e m e n t s

and online, in both English and Spanish. The survey 
had 429 total responses and provided insights into 
frequency of pathway use, trip purpose, whether 
people use the pathway and train, and what types 
of improvements they would like to see. The majority 
of the respondents (72%) indicated they used the 
pathway at least once a week or more frequently. 
The pathway serves multiple trips needs including 
recreational trips (36%), connecting to recreational 
destinations (24%), commuting to work or school 
(22%), running errands (16%), and other trips (2%). 
Most (54%) pathway users indicated that they use 
the train and pathway together to complete their 
trip with varying degrees of frequency between 
monthly to daily.

MTC conducted an onboard survey on SMART 
between September 2023 and February 2024; the 
last onboard survey had been done in 2018. Overall, 
the survey found that SMART Riders represent a 
range of ages, income levels, employment status, 
genders, trip purposes, and race/ethnicities. Less 
than half of the riders identified as white-only, with 
21% of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish origin. Riders 
were split nearly evenly by gender and distributed 
broadly across the age ranges. Just over half of 
the riders were employed full time, and 50% of 
trips were for the work commute. A third of riders 
indicate that they were transit-dependent, or did not 
have access to a vehicle for their trip. The median 
household income for riders was $110,000, with a 
third of respondents indicating a household income 
of less than $60,000.

Page 280 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n10

Ridership 

SERVICE HISTORY
SMART initiated service in August 2017 with 34 
trips/weekday, and increased to 38 trips/weekday 
in January 2020, with the opening of the Larkspur 
extension. SMART modified services in March 
2020 due to the pandemic, with weekend service 
annulled, and weekday service reduced to 16 trips. 
In May 2021, SMART added back 10 weekday trips. 
Saturday service was restored in May 2021, and 
Sunday service in May 2022. In June 2022, SMART 
added 10 additional weekday trips, and in October 
2022, SMART added two additional midday trips, for 
a schedule of 38 trips per weekday. During Summer 
2023, SMART ran a pilot weekend evening service, 
known as the Starlighter, in response to rider 

requests. In October 2023, again increased weekend 
service, running 16 trips total on both Saturday and 
Sunday. On August 12, 2024, SMART added four 
additional trips for a total of 42 trips each weekday.

As ridership on SMART has grown and exceeded 
pre-COVID levels, the need to improve coordination 
with neighboring agencies has increased. SMART 
has taken a proactive approach to schedule 
coordination with Golden Gate Ferry at Larkspur 
and with Golden Gate Transit at Downtown San 
Rafael, resulting in several schedule adjustments 
designed to improve connections between SMART, 
the Larkspur Ferry, and Golden Gate Route 101. 
Coordination continues through several regional 
and North Bay transit corridor coordination 
processes.

pre-COVID average

100,000

80,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

0

SMART MONTHLY RIDERSHIP

Page 281 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 11

FARES AND PARKING POLICY
SMART initiated service with the regional Clipper 
fare collection system and the most progressive 
transfer credit policy in the Bay Area, intentionally 
designed to incentivize regional connectivity 
through bus, ferry and rail fare integration. SMART 
and Golden Gate Ferry services implemented a 
Sail and Rail pass to further incentivize the rail and 
ferry connection created when SMART’s Larkspur 
Extension was opened. 

SMART has adjusted fares in response to rider 
feedback and to encourage a return to transit post-
pandemic. In June 2021, fares were reduced by 40%, 
to $1.50 per zone; the monthly pass was reduced 
from $200 to $135. In January 2023, a program was 
launched to offer free field trips for school groups; 
in FY24, SMART carried over 1,700 students free of 
charge through this program. In July 2023, SMART 
developed an innovative monthly pass price based 
on the new 3-day workweek, reducing the monthly 
pass from $135 to $117. During Summer 2023, SMART 
partnered with other North Bay transit agencies 
to offer a free fare program for youth; the youth 
ridership increased over the previous summer by 
over 150%. Based on the success of this program, 
and in response to community requests, in April 
2024, SMART launched a Free Fare Pilot Program for 
youth and seniors; this is currently in place through 
June 2025. The program has been extremely 
successful; for the period April to July 2024, SMART 
saw a 99% increase in Youth ridership and 144% 
increase in Senior ridership over the same time 
period in 2023.

SMART reduced barriers to parking in SMART-
owned lots and created incentives for riders to 
utilize these lots. In 2021, SMART made day-use 
parking free in all SMART-owned lots (Sonoma 
County Airport, Rohnert Park, Petaluma Downtown, 
Novato San Marin, Novato Hamilton, and Larkspur). 
In June 2023, in response to rider requests to use 
SMART for overnight trips, an overnight parking 
policy was created to permit riders to park for $5 
per night, using the Park Mobile app. SMART has 
also partnered with the City of Santa Rosa to offer 
a discounted commuter parking lot pass, for riders 
who travel regularly out of the Downtown Santa 
Rosa Station. 

MICROTRANSIT
On-demand or microtransit shuttles have 
been identified as a potential first-and-last 
mile solution for SMART since the inception of 
service. In June 2023, after an extensive planning 
process that included competitive procurements 
for microtransit software and shuttle operating 
services, SMART launched its first shuttle pilot, 
known as SMART Connect. SMART Connect serves 
the SMART Sonoma County Airport station, the 
Charles M. Schultz Sonoma County Airport, and 
the surrounding business and industrial area. In 
addition to offering app and phone-based hailing, 
the shuttle meets every inbound train, offering riders 
a seamless walk-on experience from train to shuttle. 
Boardings on the shuttle have seen slow but steady 
growth, with ridership increasing 107% year-over-
year and a monthly ridership of 505 passengers 
in August 2024. The shuttle is being funded for a 
3-year pilot period through a state grant.

Following the success of its first shuttle, SMART 
launched the second SMART Connect at Larkspur in 
June 2024, in partnership with Golden Gate Bridge, 
Highway and Transportation District (GGBHTD) and 
the Transportation Authority of Marin (TAM). SMART 
Connect Larkspur serves the SMART Larkspur 
station, the Golden Gate Larkspur Ferry Terminal, 
and the surrounding area. The shuttle currently 
operates four days per week, Thursday – Sunday, 
but may be expanded based on rider demand. 
Ridership for the Larkspur shuttle has been high 
with 813 passengers per month in August 2024. 
The shuttle is currently funded as a 1-year pilot by 
SMART, GGBHTD and TAM.

Page 282 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n12

Figure 1: Pathway Map

Page 283 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 13

SMART Pathway and the Great 
Redwood Trail 
SMART’s initial operating segment included 
completion of several segments of pathway, 
connecting SMART stations in San Rafael, Novato, 
Cotati, Rohnert Park and Santa Rosa. As of the 
2019 Strategic Plan, SMART and its local partners 
had completed 27 miles of Pathway. Since the 2019 
Strategic Plan, SMART has opened segments of 
completed pathway in Petaluma, is completing 
construction of 9 miles of pathway, and has 
advanced all remaining planned pathway segments 
through sufficient engineering such that they are 
ready-to-go for a mix of project delivery methods 
(see Figure 1: Pathway Map showing status of 
pathway segments).

In 2021, Senate Bill 69 (McGuire) transferred the 
railroad right-of-way publicly owned by NCRA 
to SMART and officially designated the SMART 
Pathway as the southern portion of the Great 
Redwood Trail.

Extensions

PETALUMA NORTH STATION
Between 2022 and 2023, SMART secured full 
funding for the Petaluma North Station. Funds 
include two state grants - Transit and Intercity 
Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) and Affordable 
Housing Sustainable Communities Program 
(AHSC) - and a grant directly from the City of 
Petaluma and Measure M funds from Sonoma 
County Transportation Authority. In addition, 
long term financial plans for the project include 
reimbursement for land for SMART station parking 
from the affordable housing developer on the 
adjacent property (Danco). Construction on the 
station and amenities, freight gauntlet track at the 
station, and rail safety systems, began in January 
2024, with completion expected by January 2025. 

WINDSOR STATION
Between 2018 and 2024, SMART secured full funding 
for the Windsor rail and pathway extension. Funds 
include a Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) 
grant - five state grants - TIRCP, two AHSC grants, 
Interregional Transportation Improvement Program 
(ITIP), and Solutions for Congested Corridors (SCC) 
– and a combination of the Town of Windsor and
Regional Measure 3 Bridge Toll funds and SMART’s
sales and use tax. The Windsor extension scope
includes just over 3 miles of rehabilitated track, 1
mile of new (double) track, rail safety systems, a
second/new entrance to the SMART Rail Operations
Center, just over 3 miles of pathway (including the
Town of Windsor/Bridge Toll funded enhancement
of a pedestrian/bicycle grade separated crossing of
the tracks connecting the pathway to Windsor High
School), corridor broadband capacity increases,
and one station with amenities. Construction
originally began in 2020, and was put on hold
due to Regional Measure 3 Bridge Toll litigation
unrelated to SMART. The project was re-activated
in November 2023, with construction beginning
in January 2024. The extension is anticipated to
be completed and open for passenger service by
Spring 2025 and is expected to be one of the highest
ridership stations in the system.

Page 284 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n14

Freight
SMART was granted freight common carrier status 
by the Surface Transportation Board in June 2021 
and began operating those services in 2022. SMART 
was granted ownership of the railroad between 
the Mendocino County line and Healdsburg in 2021 
from the State of California and maintains freight 
accommodations on the SMART-owned rail line 
between American Canyon and through Novato 
northward, as authorized in SMART’s enabling and 
subsequent legislation.

In 2022, SMART assumed the freight operations 
from the Northwestern Pacific Railroad Company 
(NWP Co), which had been operating service from 
American Canyon in Napa County to Petaluma since 
2011. SMART has provided accommodation to freight 
along the corridor including gauntlet tracks at each 
station, upgraded freight rail sidings, passenger 
rail vehicles that meet applicable Federal Railroad 
Administration safety standards for interaction with 
freight equipment, and installation of “positive train 
control” equipment on all SMART-owned freight 
locomotives and along the entire right-of-way. 
SMART became the freight common carrier on 
the railroad with a Surface Transportation Board 
approval to assume freight operator responsibilities 
from the private freight operator on the corridor 
(June 11, 2021, STB Docket 1310X). SMART’s Board 
authorized the hiring of freight-only employees 
to operate the short-line freight services; SMART 
began operations with our own staff on July 1, 2022.

SMART is unique nationally as a public owner 
operator of both the freight and passenger railroad. 
Currently, SMART provides service coverage from 
Napa Junction/Lombard to Sonoma County Airport. 
At Napa Junction the California Northern Railroad 
Company (CFNR) provides connecting service to the 
national rail network with a connection to the Union 
Pacific Railroad at Suisun-Fairfield. SMART currently 
provides two operating transload service locations: 
Petaluma and Schellville. These facilities allow trucks 
to transfer freight onto the rail network and vice 
versa. 

SMART currently has four contracted customers 
shipping feed grain and hops. Periodic additional 
customers have included delivery of PGE Substation 

equipment and prefabricated lumber trusses. 
Storage of freight cars is done at the Schellville 
yard. The current regularly scheduled service 
consists of two round trips to Petaluma customers 
a week, as well as two round trips to the California 
Northern Railroad to receive and deliver rail cars to 
and from the interchange. SMART has additional 
track storage capacity and leases the capacity for 
customers such as Caltrain, currently storing retired 
passenger rail fleet on the SMART-owned freight 
storage tracks. 

SMART has secured grant funds to procure new, 
lower emission freight switcher locomotives and 
retire the current freight locomotive fleet. 

Page 285 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 15

Vision, Mission, Values, and 
Strategic Objectives 
In 2022, SMART’s Board of Directors created Vision 
and Mission Statements to help guide the agency’s 
path forward. 
Vision: Smarter Transportation for a Smarter Future. 
SMART envisions an innovative transportation 
system that provides integrated mobility solutions, 
promotes sustainable growth, and enhances quality 
of life. 
Mission: We Connect Communities. SMART provides 
safe, reliable, and environmentally responsible 
transportation options. 
The vision and mission were supported by four 
Values that are foundational to all of SMART’s 
work: Safety, Integrity, Stewardship, Continuous 
Improvement. 

SAFETY 
Safety is integral to SMART’s core values and is 
considered a fundamental aspect of the operational 
and strategic goals. It is embedded in every aspect 
of the SMART’s work. SMART prioritizes safety 
in all aspects of operations, decision-making, 
and behaviors. It encompasses the collective 
commitment of all employees, from leadership to 
frontline workers, to prioritize safety, adhere to 
safety procedures, and continuously improve safety 
practices. 

INTEGRITY 
SMART is committed to adhering to high ethical 
principles and moral standards in all actions, 
decisions, and interactions. SMART will conduct 
business with honesty, transparency, fairness and 

S t r at e g i c  P l a n  F r a m e w o r k

consistency both internally and externally. SMART is 
accountable to the public and will take responsibility 
for actions and decisions, acknowledge mistakes, 
and make necessary corrections when required. 

STEWARDSHIP 
SMART is dedicated to responsible financial 
management and sustainability. SMART will 
effectively manage resources, assets, and 
responsibilities entrusted to the district, with a 
focus on sound financial decisions, sustainability, 
ethical practices, and long-term value. SMART will 
make informed and thoughtful decisions to ensure 
resources are used effectively, preserved for future 
generations, and aligned with overarching goals 
and values that meet the needs of the community. 

CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT 
SMART will continuously seek opportunities 
to enhance processes, schedules, and service 
incrementally and systematically over time. This will 
include regularly evaluating and refining methods 
and practices to achieve higher efficiency, quality, 
and performance, fostering a culture of innovation 
and excellence. 

The Vision, Mission, and Values are the structures 
that guide every decision and project at SMART. 
The work of the agency can be seen as comprised 
of four parts: ridership, pathways, extensions, 
and freight. Envisioning these as the pillars of the 
agency, these components come together in the 
“SMART House,” which has served as a decision-
making framework and the outline for this Strategic 
Plan (see Figure 2: SMART House). Additionally, 
SMART’s values are woven into all of the strategies 
and actions details in this Strategic Plan and 
described in more detail below. 

Page 286 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n16

Planning and Policy Context 
This planning effort not only builds upon prior 
SMART Strategic Plans, but also is grounded in other 
state, regional and local planning efforts. As such, 
SMART’s implementation of this plan will contribute 
to SMART’s goal attainment while also helping 
to make progress on local, regional, and state 
objectives. Additionally, there are other planning 
efforts underway currently that this Strategic Plan 
will inform. The section below is an describes some 
of the other related plans, programs and policies. 

RIDERSHIP 

Marin-Sonoma Coordinated Transit Service 
Plan (MASCOTS) 
In September 2023, North Bay transit operators 
initiated a comprehensive coordinated service 
planning for Marin and Sonoma counties, 

particularly for the services along the Highway 101 
corridor where there is overlap between operators. 
Two major factors that led to this effort were 1) the 
operators in Marin and Sonoma counties have 
not reconsidered the regional service structure 
comprehensively since SMART came into service, 
and 2) the pandemic has changed regional travel 
demand and service levels/options to/from San 
Francisco and the East Bay. The Marin-Sonoma 
Coordinated Transit Service Plan (MASCOTS) kicked 
off in Spring 2024. The effort will pull together an 
understanding of the travel markets that exist, the 
scale of those markets, and then determine which 
type of service and providers can best serve those 
markets; the assessment of how best to serve 
demands will consider rider needs, operational cost 
effectiveness, and funding availability. The service 
alternatives are being developed during Fall 2024, 
with proposals for public review anticipated in early 
2025. 

Figure 2: SMART House

Page 287 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 17

Quality of Life and Economic Impact 
Assessment 
In July 2024, SMART began developing a Caltrans-
funded study to evaluate the benefits of the system 
that exists today and the prospective benefits that 
would result with the full build out of the planned 
rail and pathway system. This Quality of Life and 
Economic Impact Assessment has the goal of 
providing SMART and its patrons, community 
members, and partners with a more comprehensive, 
data-driven picture of what benefits are generated 
for Sonoma and Marin by completing and operating 
SMART. It is anticipated that this study, to be 
completed in Fiscal Year 2025-26, will provide new 
analytical tools and data points to capture current 
and future benefits. 

SB 904 (Dodd) 
In September 2024, Governor Newsom signed 
into law, SB 904 (Dodd), a bill updating SMART’s 
enabling statute that created the SMART special 
district. The update included raising bidding 
procurement thresholds from their 2002 levels, 
aligning state law with SMART’s new dual status 
as a freight operator, and eliminating obsolete 
references to NCRA (no longer in existence). This 
bill also confirmed the voters of the district’s right 
to pursue their own ballot measure through a voter 
initiative, as a voter-approved qualified initiative 
process has the potential to provide an opportunity 
to enhance community engagement, provide 
greater accountability, and enable the community 
an opportunity to protect their investment. Finally, 
SB904 removes the restriction against constructing 
passenger stations in the unincorporated areas 
north of Healdsburg. As part of the legislative 
discussion regarding an unincorporated station 
north of Healdsburg, various community boards 
and elected officials submitted support letters 
for removing the prohibition specifically so that a 
station could be considered in the community of 
Geyserville. Geyserville is within an unincorporated 
services district, located half-way along the 13.5 
miles between the northern limits of Healdsburg and 
Cloverdale. 

PATHWAY 

Marin County North - South Bikeway 
Feasibility Study 
This study was prepared in 1994 by Marin County 
Department of Parks, Open Space and Cultural 
Services and it formally detailed conceptual plans 
for a north-south pathway alignment along the 
historic Northwestern Pacific Railroad between 
Sausalito and Novato. This initial plan largely 
informed what would become the SMART Pathway 
and Great Redwood Trail, and within Marin what 
is also referred to as the North-South Greenway. 
SMART’s Pathway aligns with the portion of the 
North-South Greenway from its northernmost extent 
in Unincorporated Marin County to Larkspur, at 
which point the North-South Greenway alignments 
continues south to Sausalito. Since 1994, SMART and 
local jurisdictions have made significant progress 
delivering the North-South Greenway. In 2023, 
the Transportation Authority of Marin, with input 
from SMART, prepared a status report to identify 
the remaining gaps in the North-South Greenway. 
SMART’s continued progress on the Pathway is 
helping to close remaining gaps and deliver on the 
long-envisioned connection to the North-South 
Greenway. 

Bay Trail Gap Closure Implementation Plan 
In 2005, MTC and the Association of Bay Area 
Governments conducted an evaluation of the Bay 
Trail network titled “The San Francisco Bay Trail 
Project Gap Analysis Study, ” which identified gaps 
in the Bay Trail network and prioritized them for 
delivery to work towards the completion of the 
full 500-mile vision of the Bay Trail. In 2024, MTC 
published the Bay Trail Gap Closure Implementation 
Plan that builds upon the prior 2005 study, to 
identify and evaluate existing missing segments of 
Bay Trail (trail gaps) and prioritize their construction 
in the remaining build-out of the Bay Trail. SMART’s 
Pathway in Marin County carries the Bay Trail 
designation and completion of the Pathway 
support’s MTC’s efforts to complete the 500-mile 
Bay Trail. 

Page 288 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n18

Great Redwood Trail Master Plan 
Through the passage of Senate Bill (SB) 69 in 
2021, the SMART Pathway officially became co-
designated as the southern portion of the Great 
Redwood Trail. Once complete, the Great Redwood 
Trail will be a 307-mile multiuse path connecting 
California’s San Francisco and Humboldt Bays. In 
2024, the Great Redwood Trail Agency published 
their Draft Great Redwood Trail Master Plan, and 
the document aims to serve as the roadmap for 
planning, constructing, and managing the future 
Great Redwood Trail. SMART’s Pathway aligns with 
and connects with the Great Redwood Trail. As such, 
advancing the Pathway and progressing towards 
completion supports the implementation and 
execution of the Great Redwood Trail Master Plan. 

Active Transportation/Bicycle and Pedestrian 
Plans 
The SMART Pathway is included as a key active 
transportation project priority in various local and 
regional active transportation plans, including: 
the Marin County Unincorporated Area Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Master Plan, San Rafael’s Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Master Plan, Novato’s Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Plan, SCTA’s Countywide Active 
Transportation Plan (underway), Petaluma’s 
Active Transportation Plan (underway), Cotati’s 
Active Transportation Plan, Rohnert Park’s Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Master Plan, Santa Rosa’s Active 
Transportation Plan, Windsor’s Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Plan, and Coverdale’s Circulation 
Element of their General Plan. 

Sonoma County Vision Zero Action Plan 
The Sonoma County Transportation Authority 
(SCTA), in partnership with local jurisdictions, 
law enforcement, health care providers, transit 
operators, climate change leaders, and advocacy 
groups, came together to create the Sonoma 
County Vision Zero Action Plan (VZAP) to identify 
local safety obstacles and outline the strategies and 
specific actions needed to meet the goal to end 
traffic deaths and severe injuries on Sonoma County 
roadways by 2030. As both a transit builder and 
operator, and a pathway builder and maintainer 
in Sonoma County, SMART is delivering low stress 
facilities as well as safe and sustainable transit 
options that contribute to building safer streets 

for all and curbing private vehicle use, which will 
ultimately help the county move toward meeting the 
goals of their VZAP. 

SMART’s Bicycle Parking Investment Plan 
In 2016, SMART prepared a Bicycle Parking 
Investment Plan that aimed to anticipate bike 
parking demand to plan for bike parking needs at 
each of SMART’s stations. The plan was developed 
with input from members of the public as well as the 
bicycle coalitions. The plan led to SMART’s current 
bike parking accommodations. 

EXTENSIONS 

State Route 37 
SMART owns and operates the East-West railroad, 
known as the Brazos line, that cross State Route 
37 near State Route 121. In March 2023, SMART 
entered into an MOU with Caltrans, Metropolitan 
Transportation Commission (MTC), Bay Area 
Infrastructure Financing Authority (BAIFA), 
Transportation Authority of Marin (TAM), Sonoma 
County Transportation Authority (SCTA), Napa 
Valley Transportation Authority (NVTA) and Solano 
Transportation Authority (STA) to cooperatively 
deliver the Resilient State Route 37 Program. The 
Program aims to address resiliency of transportation 
to sea level rise and flooding, traffic congestion, 
and opportunities for ecological enhancements, 
transit, multimodal use and public access along the 
SR 37 corridor. SMART has participated in multiple 
SR 37 planning processes, including the Resilient 
37 Design Alternatives Assessment, Comprehensive 
Multimodal Corridor Plan, and Planning and 
Environmental Linkages Study. 

Plan Bay Area 
Plan Bay Area is a long-range Regional 
Transportation Plan and Sustainable Communities 
Strategy jointly developed and adopted by the 
Metropolitan Transportation Commission (MTC) and 
the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) 
every four years. The latest version of the plan, 
Plan Bay Area 2050, is made up of 35 strategies 
across four key elements: housing, the economy, 
transportation, and the environment. Plan Bay 
Area 2050+ is the next long-range plan currently in 
development; it is a limited and focused update that 

Page 289 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 19

builds on Plan Bay Area 2050, adopted by MTC and 
ABAG in October 2021. Projects must be included in 
Plan Bay Area in order to compete for most State 
and Federal funding. The Healdsburg extension 
was successfully amended into Plan Bay Area 2050 
in October 2024. SMART and partners continue to 
advocate for inclusion of completion of the SMART 
system to Cloverdale into the Plan. 

FRA Corridor ID Program 
In December 2023, the Federal Railroad 
Administration (FRA) selected eight California 
corridors for inclusion in the Corridor Identification 
and Development (Corridor ID) Program, including 
the SMART-owned east-west rail corridor, 
connecting the City of Novato to Suisun City as 
part of the Capitol Corridor. This achievement is a 
significant step forward for intercity passenger rail 
development in the region, with Caltrans to receive 
and administer $500,000 in initial Corridor ID funds 
to scope planning and project development work for 
passenger rail expansion in the region. 

Groundwork was laid for this federal decision 
through legislative action taken by the State of 
California through the 2022 passage of Senator 
McGuire’s Senate Bill 1175, designating SMART’s 
track as a state-recognized intercity passenger 
rail service corridor. Caltrans followed this change 
by including SMART in a State-prioritized list of 
passenger rail corridors for consideration through 
the federal Corridor ID process. 

The Corridor ID Program is intended to develop a 
sustained, comprehensive intercity passenger rail 
planning and development program, and set forth 
a capital project pipeline ready for Federal funding. 
The Program is intended to become the primary 
means for directing Federal financial support and 
technical assistance toward the development of 
proposals for new or improved intercity passenger 
rail services throughout the United States. The 
first Step of the program is to scope the Service 
Development Plan that will be developed in Step 
2 and will identify a phased implementation 
with priority capital projects ready to move onto 
final design and NEPA; the scoping process is 
underway. Caltrans is the California program 
lead, which will allow for improved efficiencies, 

standardized methodologies across the state, 
reduced administrative burden on partner agencies, 
overarching policy guidance and streamlined 
coordination. 

State Rail Plan 
The California State Rail Plan lays out the vision for 
an integrated rail and transit network that supports 
California’s economic, environmental, and equity 
goals. Included in the Rail Plan is the full SMART Rail 
project between Larkspur and Cloverdale, as well as 
East-West Passenger Rail, by 2050. 

FREIGHT 

Short Line Rail Improvement Plan 
In 2021, Caltrans published the Short Line Rail 
Improvement Plan was developed to identify the 
role short line freight operations play in California as 
“first mile” and “last mile” solutions of the freight rail 
system as well as the value they provide to smaller 
markets that otherwise would not have access to 
rail service. The plan also focused on the operations 
and oversight models of short line freight and 
recognized SMART’s unique position as a publicly-
owned freight operator. SMART’s freight operations 
meet the intent of the Short Line Rail Improvement 
Plan, which aims to make sure these freight 
operations continue to serve local markets and 
contribute to a robust network of good movement 
infrastructure. 

Page 290 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n20

SMART began the 2024 Strategic Plan update in 
earnest in December 2023, with the proposed plan 
development timeline. Since January 2024, SMART 
has worked to refine the plan’s objective areas 
and identify the appropriate goals, strategies, and 
actions to feed into the Draft and Final Strategic 
Plan.

Each Strategic Plan is guided by SMART’s Citizen’s 
Oversight Committee (COC), and the COC is 
required to review and provided input on the plan 
before it is advanced to the SMART Board for 
approval and adoption. In anticipation of this plan 
update, SMART staff engaged COC members to get 
input on the proposed plan development process 
and public engagement for the plan in December 
2023. The COC participated in two focused 
workshops on March 13, 2024, and August 14, 2024, 
where members provide their input and direction 
on the plan’s structure; specific goal areas and the 
draft strategies; and the assessment of the agency’s 
current strengths, weakness, opportunities, and 
threats. 

P l a n  D e v e l o p m e n t  P r o c e s s

CITIZENS OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
The 2008 Board-approved “Measure Q Expenditure 
Plan” called for the formation of a Citizens Oversight 
Committee to “provide input and review on the 
Strategic Plan and subsequent updates.” Following 
the passage of Measure Q, the Citizens Oversight 
Committee was established in 2009. In December 
2022, the SMART Board approved the Citizen 
Oversight Committee (COC) bylaws expanding the 
Committee’s role in reviewing and providing input 
on budgetary and financial matters, capital projects, 
and major strategic initiatives in addition to SMART’s 
five-year Strategic Plan. SMART’s COC consists of 
nine members of the public, who independently 
applied to join the committee and who were then 
subsequently recommended by an ad-hoc selection 
committee of the SMART Board of Directors. 
Recommended candidates were then appointed by 
the full SMART Board of Directors. COC members 
serve a three-year term.

In addition to the COC’s guidance, SMART relied on 
an iterative public engagement process to inform 
the plan and to help identify and refine the Plan’s 
strategies and actions. The following section details 
the outreach conducted.

Refine
Objective

Areas

GOALs 
STRATEGIES

ACTIONS

DRAFT 
STRATEGIC

PLAN

FINAL
STRATEGIC 

PLAN

Strategic  Plan Process

Page 291 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 21

As part of the planning process for the Strategic 
Plan, SMART conducted extensive community 
outreach over the course of the year in order to 
understand community priorities for the strategic 
direction of the District. This included online and 
in-person community workshops, community 
presentations to key stakeholders, workshops with 
SMART’s Citizens Oversight Committee, and the 
receiving of written, verbal, and electronic public 
comments throughout the year. The Outreach 
approach is summarized below, with more detailed 
results shown in Appendix A. 

Project Website
SMART maintained a webpage dedicated to 
the Strategic Plan update, inviting members 
of the public to submit comments and request 
presentations throughout the course of the planning 
process. SMART received over 160 comments 
through the website form on a wide range of topics 
and conducted many presentations to community 
groups, business groups, local governments, and 
other interested parties. 

Community Workshops
SMART began the public outreach process with a 
series of online community workshops aimed at 
gathering input on the strategic direction of the 
organization. At each of the workshops, the live-
polling service Mentimeter was utilized, and SMART 
staff polled the participants on important issues 

O u t r e a c h  S u m m a r y

during the workshops. For the full results of the 
community engagement process, see Appendix A. 

WORKSHOP 1: SWOT ANALYSIS
On January 31, 2024, SMART conducted its first 
online community workshop, aimed at gathering 
community feedback on the strengths, weaknesses, 
opportunities, and threats (SWOT) of the agency. 
Staff introduced the Strategic Plan update planning 
process and presented a review of SMART’s recent 
accomplishments, previously stated strategic 
objectives, and current challenges. Members of 
the public were then asked to submit their thoughts 
on the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and 
threats of the organization using the Mentimeter 
software. After community members had given 
their input on the SWOT Analysis, people had the 
opportunity for public feedback in a live dialogue 
section of the workshop. 

WORKSHOP 2: RIDERSHIP 
On February 7, 2024, SMART conducted its second 
online community workshop, aimed at gathering 
community feedback on themes related to SMART’s 
ridership. Staff presented the current SMART 
ridership strategies and highlighted successes. 
Members of the public were then asked to submit 
their feedback on ridership strategies using the 
Mentimeter software. People were asked what 
strategies SMART should use to increase ridership 
in an open-answer format, and people were also 
asked to rank strategies in order of importance. 

Page 292 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n22

WORKSHOP 3: PATHWAYS
On February 28, 2024, SMART conducted its third 
online community workshop, themed around 
the SMART Pathway/Great Redwood Trail. Staff 
summarized the current state of the Pathway 
and members of the public were then asked to 
submit their feedback on pathway strategies, first 
in an open-answer format, and then by ranking 
preselected strategies from most to least important. 

WORKSHOP 4: EXTENSIONS
On March 14, 2024, SMART held its fourth 
community workshop, centered around the SMART 
rail and Pathway extensions. SMART staff presented 
an overview of the current system and detailed the 
Windsor, Healdsburg, and Cloverdale extensions, 
as well as East-West rail, which is currently under 
study by Caltrans. For the interactive portion of the 
workshop, the public was invited to weigh in on a 
few questions, including: the biggest obstacles to 
SMART completing extensions, how SMART can 
best meet passenger needs with extensions of the 
system, and what benefits SMART extensions will 
bring to the community. 

WORKSHOP 5: FREIGHT
On March 27, 2024, the final virtual community 
workshop that SMART conducted was centered 
around the future of SMART’s freight service. 
SMART staff began the workshop by giving a 
short history and describing the current SMART 
freight operations. For the interactive portion of the 
workshop, SMART solicited opinions on its freight 
strategy using the live-polling service Mentimeter. 
SMART asked community members three freight-
related questions: the biggest challenges facing 
SMART Freight; how the North Bay can make the 
most of its existing freight infrastructure; and how 
SMART should engage businesses to start thinking 
about freight service. 

OPEN HOUSE: DRAFT PLAN AND STRATEGIES 
(IN-PERSON WORKSHOP)
On September 25, 2024, SMART conducted an 
in-person open house public workshop at the 
Petaluma Arts Center, located adjacent to the 
SMART Petaluma Downtown Station. The event was 
well attended, with around 150 participants joining 

staff for updates on SMART and interactive exhibits 
related to the Strategic Plan.

SMART presented the draft strategies and actions 
for each goal area (Ridership, Pathways, Extensions, 
Freight) that were generated from input received 
through the prior Strategic Plan Workshops, and 
invited participants to place dots next to their 
highest priority strategies and actions. Community 
members could also write comments on sticky notes 
corresponding to each goal area. SMART staff 
was available to answer questions regarding the 
strategic plan and the future of SMART. Community 
members placed over seven hundred dots on the 
various posters and left over sixty comments on 
sticky notes. The comments are summarized in 
Appendix A: Public Outreach.

SMART Citizens Oversight Committee
The SMART Citizens’ Oversight Committee is tasked 
with providing input and review for the SMART 
strategic plan. Accordingly, SMART Planning 
Department staff engaged the COC three times 
over the course of the year, first getting general 
input on direction for the plan presenting the results 
of the initial workshops. In August, staff presented 
the draft Strategies and Actions the proposed 
framework for the plan. In November, the Draft 
Strategic Plan was brought to the COC for review.

Summary of Input Received

RIDERSHIP
Input on the best way to grow ridership covered a 
wide range of strategies. Overall, riders prioritized 
improving the convenience of taking SMART by 
adjusting and increasing service levels, as well as 
coordinating with buses and ferries to improve 
connection times. They also emphasized the 
importance of enhancing first-last mile connections, 
such as bikeshare, shuttles, and auto and bike 
parking options. There was also support for onboard 
improvements such as restoring Wi-Fi, re-opening 
the café car, and increasing bicycle capacity, as well 
as longer-term initiatives such as facilitating Transit-
Oriented Development at our stations and long-
term fleet transition to zero-emission technology. 

Page 293 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 23

PATHWAY
The community has clearly communicated that 
SMART needs to prioritize pathway design and 
construction. The completion of existing gaps in 
the planned pathway system and the construction 
of new segments alongside SMART rail extensions 
has been a clear priority in every form of input 
received regarding the pathway. There is also 
interest in SMART pursuing construction of a number 
of pathway segments that were not included in 
the EIR. Second to pathway completion, pathway 
users also value improving the ease of using 
the pathway, including wayfinding, mapping, 
lighting, maintenance, safety, and improved local 
connections. All of these improvements are being 
included in the Strategies and Actions listed below. 

EXTENSIONS
Similar to the Pathway focus area, the public has 
voiced clear and strong support for SMART to 
deliver the extensions. Public input strongly supports 

the agency’s focus on aggressively pursuing grant 
funding for the construction of the extensions and 
pathway, and delivering passenger rail service and 
pathway to Healdsburg, Geyserville, and Cloverdale. 
There is also broad support for SMART continuing 
to participate in the State Route 37 coordination 
efforts and Caltrans-led FRA Corridor ID process to 
advance east-west passenger rail. 

FREIGHT
Public input affirms SMART’s role in operating 
Freight rail in the North Bay and the potential this 
service has for stimulating economic growth while 
taking truck traffic off of our roads. There is strong 
public support for prioritizing ways to increase the 
freight revenue to close the funding gap, including 
expanding service to new customers and increasing 
fees. Expanding the freight territory with the 
northern extensions, working with the private sector, 
and improving the freight marketing all received 
high levels of positive support.

Page 294 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n24

Creating an actionable Strategic Plan ensures 
that the Plan’s implementation is in alignment 
with the agency’s ultimate goals. Through this 
strategic planning process, SMART created more 
definition around the agency’s goals and developed 
goal statements for SMART’s four focus areas of 
ridership, pathways, extensions, and freight.

G o a l s ,  S t r at e g i e s ,  A c t i o n s

In the service of these stated goals, SMART has 
identified several strategies the agency could take 
to advance our progress in meeting these goals, 
as well as the respective actions that need to be 
taken to carry out these strategies. This laddered 
approach is intended to clearly outline the specific 
activities SMART will execute, while also providing 
an overarching strategic vision over the Plan’s 
5-year horizon.

RIDERSHIP

PATHWAYS 

EXTENSIONS 

FREIGHT

INCREASE RIDERSHIP TO 5,000+ RIDERS PER DAY

ENSURE LONG-TERM SUSTAINABILITY OF FREIGHT OPERATIONS 

COMPLETE SYSTEM EXTENSIONS TO CLOVERDALE AND PURSUE 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT OF EAST/WEST ALIGNMENT

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCT PLANNED PATHWAY, MAINTAIN EXISTING 
PATHWAY, AND ENHANCE USER EXPERIENCE

Page 295 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 25

Ridership: Strategies and Actions
Ridership is a standard measure for how effectively a transit 
service is serving the community. While there are many other 
benefits to Marin and Sonoma counties from the SMART system, 
such as reduced emissions, health benefits, improved access 
to opportunities, and economic impacts, SMART is focused on 
increasing ridership as a proxy indicator of how well we are 
meeting the needs of the community. 

GOAL: Increase ridership to 5,000 riders per day. 

1. Ensure clean, safe, reliable and accessible service

• Monitor on-time performance and pro-actively
address operational issues causing delays

• Continue to work with various first responder agencies
to minimize externally created delays

• Continue onboard and station safety monitoring

2. Provide an affordable and user-friendly fare program

• Continue free fares for youth and seniors through FY25

• Work with regional partners to streamline transfers
between agencies

• Work with MTC to implement Clipper 2.0

3. Improve first/last mile connections

• Continue SMART Connect Shuttle Program at Airport
and Larkspur stations; expand service as demand
warrants

• Explore offering SMART Connect Shuttle service
to new stations

• Support implementation of Bikeshare Program at
SMART stations

• Install pathway wayfinding to stations

• Work with MTC to implement station area wayfinding
at all SMART Stations

4. Work with local partners to improve transit connections

• Work with partners to improve local bus and ferry
connections and transfer times

5. Work to maintain and expand auto and bike parking
options where appropriate

• Continue free daytime parking program

The Connect shuttle carried 2,899 
passengers in Fiscal Year 2024.
The Redwood Bikeshare program, led 
by SCTA and TAM, with funding from 
MTC, launched at most SMART stations 
in October 2024.
Santa Rosa Downtown and Larkspur 
Stations will be pilot locations for the 
prototype MTC Regional Wayfinding 
Standards in 2025.
Increases in frequency by SMART 
and connecting services is the most 
effective way long-term to improve 
transfers.

SMART achieved 98% on-time 
performance in FY24.

The Free Fare program has boosted 
youth ridership on SMART by 99% and 
senior ridership by 144%.
In June, SMART approved a free and 
reduced transfer agreement with 
MTC that provides for free transfers 
on all Bay Area transit systems up to 
a maximum of $2.50. This will go into 
effect with Clipper 2.0.
Clipper 2.0 will transition users to 
an account-based fare system and 
enable riders to use credit cards for 
payment.

Insights

Page 296 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n26

• Continue overnight paid parking program through
FY25 and consider for future extension

• Offer improved information on bike and auto parking
options at all SMART stations

• Explore shared auto parking arrangements with
public and private entities around SMART stations

• Ensure a sufficient range of bicycle parking facilities at
each station

• Explore ways to support bicycle use within the system,
including additional station area bicycle parking, full-
service bike stations, and station-based bicycle service
providers

• Plan for future Electric Vehicle (EV) charging
needs at SMART-owned parking lots

6. Adjust service levels to meet demand (frequency, span
of service, etc.)

• Partner to offer special event service

• Add train service as resources permit, including
weekend, midday, earlier morning or later night service

• Explore adding double track or sidings to decrease
travel time

7. Enrich customer experience (information and amenities)

• Install real-time message signs on platforms

• Explore re-opening the onboard snack bar

• Explore adding Wi-Fi to trains

• Explore ways to increase bicycle capacity on board

• Explore partnering with local communities to
integrate art into SMART facilities

8. Enhance marketing, outreach, and communications

• Promote connections to SF Giants games and other
events accessible by train

• Conduct targeted marketing to larger user groups
and non-commute travelers

• Update SMART website to provide better
customer information

• Expand outreach to seniors and persons with disabilities
and provide information to organizations that provide
services to these groups

SMART will install 10 EV charging 
locations at the Petaluma North station 
to serve as a pilot program to evaluate 
future EV charging demand and 
infrastructure provision.

In 2023 and 2024, SMART partnered 
with the County of Marin to offer 
special night service following the 
Marin County Fair.
Additional double track or siding 
locations will be needed for SMART to 
reach “clockface” 30-minute headways.

SMART has partnered with the City 
of Santa Rosa to offer a discounted 
monthly parking pass for SMART 
commuters.

In 2022, SMART removed the flip seats 
along the windows to make more 
room for bicycles. We are evaluating 
removing additional seating by the 
bicycle hooks.

Updating the SMART website to 
improve ease of use and provide better 
customer information is a priority for 
2025.

Insights

Page 297 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 27

• Submit schedule data to trip planning tools; work with
partner agencies to streamline messaging

• Coordinate with other transit agencies in the North Bay
to provide joint marketing of services and improve the
legibility of the system

9. Maintain system in a state of good repair

• Continue to perform State of Good Repair activities

• Continue to perform train inspections and preventative
maintenance at manufacturer recommended and
regulatory required intervals

• Continue daily, weekly, and monthly scheduled
maintenance activities at all station facilities

• Continue to perform proactive maintenance activities and
regulatory required inspections to the track, signal system,
and right of way

• Ensure that non-operating segments of the SMART
railroad are maintained to minimize impacts to the
surrounding communities

Page 298 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n28

10. Plan for fleet needs, including fleet expansion and
replacement needed to expand service

• Conduct service planning for potential service expansions
to determine fleet needs as feasible

11. Support climate friendly practices within SMART’s standard
operating procedures, including acquiring low and zero-
emission fleet technology

• Integrate sustainability into operating and business
practices

• Plan for transition to a zero-emission revenue and non-
revenue fleet

• Explore adding solar panels at the Rail Operations Facility
or other SMART-owned facilities

12. Ensure resilience of system by planning for sea level
rise and weather events

• Work with partner agencies to assess the threat of sea
level rise and weather events to SMART and develop plans
and projects to create resiliency in the system

13. Continue to secure grant revenue to support transit
operations and projects needed to support ridership

• Pursue funding for train sidings to support travel time and
operational improvements

• Pursue funds needed to support a State of Good Repair

• Pursue operating funds for continuation or expansion of
services to meet customer demand

14. Support locally-sponsored Transit-Oriented
Development in collaboration with local jurisdictions

• Work with cities and counties to explore transit-oriented
development (TOD) opportunities along the SMART
alignment

15. Continue to support workforce development

• Partner with local colleges and universities on
career technical programs

• Utilize the Certification Training Programs created by
SMART to advance new hires and staff promotions into
qualified operating positions

• Partner with Career Technical Education Foundation
Sonoma Corps Program to host high school graduate
interns for one-year rotations

SMART has been participating in the 
Sea Level Rise Planning efforts for 
Marin County led by the Transportation 
Authority of Marin, and the Sea Level 
Rise Adaptation Vision for the North 
Bay Water Reuse Authority (NBWRA),to 
identify vulnerabilities and adaptation 
strategies.

The new Transit-Oriented Communities 
policy approved by MTC provides a 
framework and guidelines to support 
TOD in station areas.

SMART began partnering with SRJC in 
2017 to develop education programs 
that would be beneficial to people 
seeking a career in rail.

Insights

Page 299 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 29

Pathway: Strategies and Actions
The SMART Pathway is a key component of SMART’s transit 
system. Closing the pathway gaps and completing the 
remaining segments are critical to supporting SMART’s mission 
to connect communities and to maximizing the utility of this 
multimodal system. SMART aims to enhance user experience 
by closing gaps to create more continuity along the Pathway 
and by making improvements to Pathway information and 
wayfinding. 

GOAL: Design and construct planned pathway, 
maintain existing pathway and enhance user 
experience.

1. Construct segments of the SMART Pathway

• Complete segments of the SMART Pathway currently
under construction

• Construct funded segments of the SMART Pathway

2. Continue building pathway with rail extensions

• Include pathway design and construction as a
component of all extension projects and grant 
applications

3. Ensure adequate wayfinding on the Pathway

• Implement Pathway Wayfinding Program on the
pathway and support coordinated wayfinding in
surrounding communities

4. Improve pathway website with enhanced information

• Continue to enhance and support the online
interactive SMART Pathway map

5. Aggressively pursue grant funding for pathway
construction

• Continue to make the remaining pathway segments
shovel-ready and position them for funding

• Seek funding in partnership with local jurisdictions
and countywide transportation agencies to
construct planned Pathway segments

• Utilize local/state/federal partnerships to fund projects

6. Ensure pathway is safe and user-friendly

• Support bicycle services around stations

• Conduct patrols of SMART-owned pathway to
monitor conditions

Funded:
Guerneville Rd. to Airport 
Blvd. between Santa Rosa and 
unincorporated Sonoma County
Joe Rodota Trail to 3rd Street in Santa 
Rosa
Hanna Ranch Rd. To Vintage Way S./
Rowland Way in Novato
Windsor River Road to Front Street, and 
Grove to Lytton Springs Road, as part 
of the Healdsburg Extension to connect 
to the Foss Creek Path

Unfunded:
Smith Ranch Rd. to Main Gate Rd. 
between San Rafael and Novato 
State Access Rd. to Frosty Ln. in Novato
Vintage Way N. to Novato Creek/Sutter 
Health in Novato
Grant Ave. to Rush Creek Pl. in Novato
Main St. to E. Railroad Ave. between 
Penngrove and Rohnert Park 
W. 6th St. to Downtown Santa Rosa
Station in Santa Rosa
Lytton Springs Rd. to 1st St. between 
Healdsburg and Cloverdale

Under Construction:
McInnis Pkwy. to Smith Ranch Road in 
San Rafael
Southpoint Blvd. to Main St. between 
Petaluma and Penngrove
Golf Course Drive to Bellevue Avenue 
between Rohnert Park and Santa Rosa
Airport Blvd. to Windsor Road between 
unincorporated Sonoma County and 
Windsor

Insights

Page 300 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n30

• Evaluate the feasibility of providing additional
pathway amenities such as lighting, benches, and art,
including potential sponsorship by local businesses

7. Support local efforts to improve connections to pathway

• Work with local jurisdictions to add enhancements or
amenities for bicyclists and pedestrians

• Support local efforts to improve connections to the
SMART pathway

8. Maintain existing pathway in a state of good repair

• Continue to perform State of Good Repair maintenance
activities on SMART-owned segments of the pathway

9. Develop plan for future pathway segments/enhancements

• Complete the environmental clearance and the
preliminary engineering for the Puerto Suello Hill
Pathway in San Rafael

• Evaluate the feasibility and conceptual planning for
those future segments of the Pathway that were not
originally environmentally cleared as part of the
SMART Rail and Pathway project

Future Segments:
Water St. Pathway between Oak St. and 
Lakeville St. in Petaluma
1st St. to the County line between 
Cloverdale and Mendocino County

SMART’s new pathway wayfinding 
program will enhance the user 
experience by making it easier 
to navigate the pathway and to 
destinations around the pathway.

Insights

Page 301 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 31

Extensions: Strategies and Actions
Since the start of revenue service in 2017, SMART has been 
providing both passenger rail service and delivering major 
capital projects, as the Novato Downtown station, Larkspur 
extension, Petaluma North station, Windsor extension, and 
multiple pathway projects, have been underway. Completing 
the full system buildout remains a priority for the public and 
the agency.

GOAL: Complete system extensions to Cloverdale and 
pursue project development of east/west alignment.

1. Complete funded rail and pathway extensions:

• Petaluma North Station

• Windsor Extension and Station

2. Complete funding of partially funded extensions

• Aggressively pursue grant funding for the construction
of extensions and pathway

• Pursue addition of a Geyserville station halfway
between Cloverdale and Healdsburg to enhance
value of the investment in the railroad through
northern Sonoma County

3. Work with funding agencies to prioritize SMART projects
and needs in long range planning documents

• Work with MTC to get completion to Cloverdale
added to the Regional Transportation Plan,
Plan Bay Area 2050+

4. Aggressively pursue grant funding for the construction of
extensions and pathway

5. Continue development of east/west passenger rail project

• Participate in Caltrans-led FRA Corridor ID process

• Participate in Hwy 37 coordination efforts and work
with partners to incorporate rail into Hwy 37 projects

6. Increase rail car fleet, yard and facilities as needed to
support service

• Procure additional train cars needed to support
SMART’s expanding system and growing ridership

• Pursue grant funding to expand SMART revenue fleet,
replace SMART revenue fleet when the useful life is
complete, and prepare for future transition to zero-
emission technology for SMART’s rail fleet, each while
maintaining system performance

7. Plan for growth of freight rail services in coordination with
passenger rail expansion

The Windsor Station and 3 new miles 
of parallel pathway are anticipated to 
open Spring 2025.

Healdsburg northern city limit extension 
and station has secured 70% of funding 
needed for the nearly 9-mile project 
between Windsor and Alexander Valley.

The Cloverdale extension includes 
13.5 miles of rail and pathway, from 
Lytton Springs Road to 1st Street in 
Cloverdale.

The east-west rail line is 46 miles and 
provides a connection to the national 
rail network.

SMART’s 18 DMU rail cars were 
received in 2017 and 2019 and have Tier 
4 engines, the cleanest diesel engine 
available, with a selective catalytic 
reduction system that helps reduce 
emissions. These cars have a useful life 
of 39 years, with replacement in 2056 
and 2058.

Insights

Page 302 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n32

Freight: Strategies and Actions
Since the SMART was granted freight common carrier status 
by the Surface Transportation Board in June 2021 and began 
operating those services in 2022, SMART has been working to 
create a fiscally sustainable freight business for the North Bay.

GOAL: Ensure long-term sustainability of freight 
operations.

1. Increase freight revenue to close funding gap

• Develop railcar storage business to maximize revenue
of storage track

• Expand service to new and existing customers

• Examine freight tariffs and consider increasing fees

• With completion of Northern extensions, explore
new potential customers north of Airport station

2. Assess potential rail spurs and new transload sites

• Identify and develop a transload facility

3. Explore public-private partnerships

• Work with the private sector to rehabilitate/construct
rail spurs for freight

• Develop relationships within business oversight/
certification/evaluation organizations like B-Corps

4. Market advantages of shipping by rail

• Develop marketing materials and business
development plan for freight

5. Ensure state of good repair

• Repair and maintain bridges, tracks and locomotives

6. Seek and secure freight capital and operating grants

• Pursue grant funding to improve track and bridge
conditions

• Pursue grant funding to acquire replacement and
expansion of non-revenue vehicles and locomotives

7. Meet CARB requirements for freight locomotives

The northern extension will facilitate 
short line rail transport of goods 
and materials between adjacent 
rural areas, with economies reliant 
on agriculture, tourism, beverage 
production, lumber processing, and 
national markets.

SMART delivers over 600 rail cars per 
year – offsetting emissions/vehicle 
miles equivalent to 1,800 trucks 
transporting goods and materials 
from Minnesota, South Dakota, and 
Canada.

The 24-mile Brazos Branch, owned 
by SMART, faces challenges from 
sea level rise and recurring winter 
storm damage, leading to a 20-day 
closure during the Winter of 2022-23. 
Lacking dedicated funding source for 
railroad investment, SMART inherits a 
maintenance backlog on the Brazos 
Branch track along with winter storm 
damage.

Insights

Page 303 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 33

Page 304 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n34

F u n d i n g  S o u r c e s ,  F i n a n c i a l  P l a n  a n d 
H o w  W e  F u n d  P l a n  I m p l e m e n tat i o n

Figure 3: Strategic Plan-Budget Feedback Loop

The strategic plan directly influences SMART’s 
financial plan by providing the roadmap for 
achieving SMART’s goals, which informs the 
allocation of resources, investment decisions, and 
budgeting strategies needed to execute those 
goals. The financial plan then guides the annual 
budget by identifying key priorities and challenges 
that need to be addressed over a longer timeframe 
and promoting proactive decision making in the 
budgeting process.

With each annual budget, SMART assesses the 
planned revenues available after SMART meets 
its obligations that include debt service, funding 
reserves, operations and maintenance expenditures 
in order to determine the funding capacity for 
capital and state of good repair projects and 
specific projects and initiatives. 

While many of the strategic plan’s actions are 
currently funded fully or partially, other activities 
and initiatives in this plan do not have committed 

funds. Carrying out the strategies and actions 
of this strategic plan will depend on the 
availability of resources and funding. At the 
outset of the annual budget development 
process, SMART will use this Strategic Plan to 
inform funding priorities in order to ensure that 
SMART’s budget advances the implementation 
of the Strategic Plan. Where funding capacity 
is identified, SMART will incorporate the 
Strategic Plan’s actions into SMART’s capital, 
operating and administrative budget (see 
Figure 3: Strategic Plan-Budget Feedback 
Loop). Additionally, where there is synergy 
between the discretionary grants available 
and the plan’s actions, SMART can pursue 
additional fund sources to deliver the projects 
and initiatives in this plan. Using the Strategic 
Plan to shape SMART’s annual budgets ensures 
that the agency’s resources are put to work to 
achieve the goals that SMART and the public 
fortified in this plan. 

FY 30
Budget

FY 29
Budget

FY 28
Budget

FY 27
Budget

FY 26
Budget

StrateGic Plan

FY 25 - FY 30

Page 305 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 35

Figure 4: Estimated Revenues by Source

Funding Sources – Passenger Rail
SMART receives funding from a variety of sources 
including local sales tax, state, federal, and local/
regional grant programs (see Figure 4: Esitmated 
Revenues).

SALES AND USE TAX (MEASURE Q)
On November 4, 2008, more than two-thirds of the 
voters in Sonoma and Marin counties approved 
Measure Q implementing the 2008 Measure Q 
Sales Tax. The 2008 Measure Q Sales Tax is a sales 
and use tax of one quarter of one percent (1/4%) 
imposed for a period of 20 years beginning April 
1, 2009, on the gross receipts from all tangible 
personal property sold at retail businesses in the 
counties and a use tax at the same rate on the 
storage, use, or other consumption in the counties of 

such property purchased from any retailer, subject 
to certain exceptions. While we saw a decrease of 
revenues in Fiscal Year 2020, subsequent growth 
was in the double digits for Fiscal Year 2021 and 
2022. While Fiscal Year 2023 finished out a little over 
a percentage point above Fiscal Year 2022, in Fiscal 
Year 2024 growth slowed even further. Based on 
current projections, Fiscal Year 2025 appears to be 
flat. Between 2025 and 2030 growth is expected 
to average 2.1%. Sales and Use taxes are the most 
flexible funding source that SMART receives (see 
Figure 5: Sales and Use Tax Trend).

SMART’s sales and use tax is currently scheduled 
to sunset in the Spring of 2029. For purposes of this 
financial plan, SMART has assumed that the sales 
and use tax will be reauthorized by the voters prior 
to that date. 

Estimated Revenues
FY 25 -  FY  30

Unfunded / 
Future Grants

42%

Other
2%

Regional Funds
4%

Federal Funds
8%

State Funds
18%

Measure Q
26%

Page 306 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n36

OPERATIONS – STATE REVENUES
SMART receives formula allocation from three state 
revenue programs itemized below that can be 
utilized for operations. 

State Transit Assistance
A portion of the revenues derived from the sales 
tax on diesel fuel purchases and registration fees 
is appropriated by the State Legislature to the 
State Transit Assistance Program (STA) for public 
transportation purposes. These STA revenues are 
allocated to public transit agencies throughout the 
State based on population and operating revenues 
by formula. This fund source increased through 2017 
Senate Bill 1, the Road Repair and Accountability Act. 

State Rail Assistance
Another new funding source created by SB 1 is the 
State Rail Assistance (SRA) program. SRA directs 
a 0.5% portion of new diesel sales tax revenue for 
allocation: half to the five (including, Altamont 
Corridor Express Authority (ACE), North County 
Transit Development Board (Coaster), Peninsula 
Corridor Joint Powers Board (Caltrain), Sonoma-
Marin Area Rail Transit District (SMART), Southern 
California Regional Rail Authority (Metrolink) 
commuter rail providers and half to intercity rail 
corridors.

Low Carbon Transit Operations Program 
(LCTOP)
LCTOP was created to provide operating and 
capital assistance for transit agencies to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and improve mobility, 
with a priority on serving disadvantaged 
communities. Funds for this program come from 
State Cap and Trade auctions. Approved projects 
in LCTOP will support new or expanded bus or 
rail services, expand intermodal transit facilities, 
and may include equipment acquisition, fueling, 
maintenance and other costs to operate those 
services or facilities, with each project reducing 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

OPERATIONS – FEDERAL REVENUES
SMART is a direct recipient of Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) funds.

5307 Funds
FTA Urbanized Area Formula Funds that can be used 
for capital projects, operating assistance, job access, 
reverse commute projects, and transportation 
related planning. SMART uses these funds for 
preventative maintenance.

$60 million 

$50 million

$40 million

$30 million

$20 million

$10 million

$0

Sales AND Use Tax Trend

Actuals

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

Figure 5: Sales and Use Tax Trend

projected

Page 307 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 37

OPERATIONS – OTHER REVENUES

Farebox Revenues
SMART passengers pay for their rides using the fare 
structure approved by the SMART Board in 2015 and 
2016. SMART participates in the regional Clipper 
fare system that allows riders to transfer seamlessly 
among Bay Area operators using one fare media 
card. SMART also has its own mobile ticket app that 
provides easy purchasing of multiple or discounted 
tickets without purchasing a Clipper card. The fares 
are based on the distance travelled by a rider, like 
other commuter rail services. 

Shuttle Revenues
SMART passengers pay a one-way fare of $1.50 for 
adults or $0.75 for persons with a disability. Youth 
and seniors ride for free. 

Parking Revenue
Parking fees are suspended during the hours of 4:00 
am and 11:59 pm. Overnight parkers pay a fee of 
$5.00 between the hours of 12:00 am and 3:59 am. 

Advertising Revenues
These revenues are generated from advertising 
space sold onboard trains and station platform 
shelter panels.

Charges for Services
These revenues come from fees that we charge for 
services such as flagging or permits.

ADMINISTRATION AND OPERATIONS – 
OTHER REVENUES
The following revenues can be used to fund 
administration or operation costs.

• Interest Earnings: Are earnings related to funds
held with either the Sonoma County Treasurer or
the Bank of Marin.

• Lease Revenues: These revenues are generated
by leasing real estate holdings that SMART is not
currently utilizing.

• Miscellaneous Revenues: Miscellaneous
revenues are those revenues such as insurance
reimbursements, restitution, or other revenues
that cannot be classified in one of the other
revenue categories.

STATE OF GOOD REPAIR – FEDERAL AND 
STATE

5337 Funds
FTA Formula funds providing capital assistance 
for maintenance, replacement, and rehabilitation 
projects of fixed guideway systems to help transit 
agencies maintain assets in a state of good repair 
in urbanized areas. Fiscal Year 2026 is the first year 
that SMART is eligible for this fund source.

Page 308 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n38

Flexible Revenue  FY 2025-FY 2030 

Measure Q  $324,860,000 

Measure Q Cost of Collection  $(4,897,286)

Net Sales and Use Tax  $319,962,714 

Measure Q Roll forward  $2,291,677 

Administration (1010)

Interest Earning  $3,250,000 

Rent - Real Estate  $3,102,482 

Misc.  $350,957 

Operations (3010)

5307 - Urbanized Area Formula Funds 
(Preventative Maintenance)

 $23,783,458 

LCTOP - Low Carbon Transit Operating  $3,512,903 

LCTOP - Population Marin Allocation  $23,270 

SB1 - SRA - State Rail Assistance  $22,200,000 

STA - State Transit Assistance (Revenue)  $15,466,295 

STA - State Transit Assistance (Population)  $7,331,443 

Fare Revenues  $18,179,357 

Parking  $73,740 

Advertising  $898,533 

Charges for Services  $708,705 

State of Good Repair 

5337 - Federal State of Good Repair Funds  $32,391,382 

STA - State of Good Repair (SGR)  $2,148,760 

Shuttle 

State Funds - Shuttle Service  $1,500,000 

Shuttle Revenues  $9,488 

Subtotal $457,185,164

Page 309 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 39

SGR Funds
California SB1 created an additional STA program, 
the STA State of Good Repair (SGR) Program 
to provide annual funding to transit operators 
in California for eligible transit maintenance, 
rehabilitation, and capital projects.

PROJECT SPECIFIC FUNDING - STATE

Affordable Housing and Sustainable 
Communities (AHSC)
This funding source provides grants and/or loans, 
or a combination thereof, to projects that seek to 
integrate low-carbon transportation and affordable 
housing, with an emphasis on providing benefits 
to Disadvantaged and Low-Income Communities. 
Funding for this program is provided from the 
Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund established to 
receive Cap-and-Trade auction proceeds.

Active Transportation Program (ATP)
This funding source was created by SB 99 to 
encourage increased use of active modes of 
transportation such as biking and walking. The goals 
of the program include increasing the proportion 
of trips accomplished by walking and biking, 
increasing the safety and mobility of non-motorized 
users, advancing efforts of regional agencies to 
achieve greenhouse gas reduction goals, enhancing 
public health, and providing broad spectrum of 
project to benefit many types of users including 
disadvantaged communities.

Clean California Transit Grant
These funds go to communities to beautify and 
improve local streets, roads, tribal lands, parks, 
pathways, and transit centers. AB 149 created this 
program, and it was codified under Streets and 
Highway Code § 91.41 et al.

State Local Partnership Program (LPP)
 SB 1 created the Local Partnership Program 
Formula fund source. This program continuously 
appropriates funding annually from the Road 
Maintenance and Rehabilitation Account to local 
and regional transportation agencies that have 
sought and received voter approval of taxes or 
that have imposed fees, which taxes or fees are 
dedicated solely for transportation improvements. 

The funds are managed by the California 
Transportation Commission, which also manages 
a Competitive portion of the Local Partnership 
Program.

Interregional Transportation Improvement 
Program (ITIP)
As specified by California law, using its 25 percent 
share of the STIP, Caltrans nominates ITIP projects 
that improve the Interregional Transportation 
System between regions for the movement of 
people and goods as outlined in the Interregional 
Transportation Strategic Plan (ITSP). Project 
selection for the ITIP is guided by State Statutes, the 
ITSP, and Commission STIP Guidelines. In particular, 
Caltrans’ ITSP provides the framework to identify 
strategic corridors for the investment of ITIP funds 
and the facility concepts that the investments are 
intended to achieve. Caltrans works with Regional 
and local agencies to identify those projects.

Regional Measure 3 (RM3)
RM3 finances a comprehensive suite of highway 
and transit improvements through an increase of 
tolls on the region’s seven state-owned toll bridges. 

Solutions for Congested Corridors (SCCP)
SCCP is a statewide, competitive program that 
provides funding to achieve a balanced set of 
transportation, environmental and community 
access improvements to reduce congestion 
throughout the state. The program was created by 
the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 (SB1).

Sustainable Transportation Planning Grant
Planning projects funded from this program are 
expected to directly benefit the multi-modal 
transportation system. Grants from this program 
are also expected to improve public health, social 
equity, environmental justice, the environment, and 
provide other important community benefits.

Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program 
(TIRCP)
The TIRCP program funds transformative capital 
improvements that modernize California’s intercity 
rail, bus, ferry, and rail transit systems to achieve the 
objectives of (1) reducing emissions of greenhouse 
gasses (2) expanding and improvement transit 

Page 310 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n40

services to increase ridership (3) integrating rail 
service to the state’s various rail operation to include 
integration with the high-speed rail system (4) 
improving transit safety.

PROJECT SPECIFIC FUNDING – FEDERAL
SMART is a direct recipient of Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) and Federal Rail Administration 
(FRA) Funds.

Community Project Funds (Discretionary 
Earmark)
 The Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023 
appropriated $360.46 million in Community Project 
Funding (CPF), also known as Congressionally 
Directed Spending (CDS). The SMART Rail Extension 
to Healdsburg – Preliminary Design was nominated 
by U.S. Congressman Jared Huffman. 

FRA CRISI Funds
Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and Safety 
Improvements Program, which provides funding 
for projects that improve safety, efficiency, and 
reliability of intercity passenger and freight rail. 
These grant funds are specifically to fund the 
Windsor Systems and Healdsburg Systems projects 
to implement positive train control (PTC) on the 
extensions. 

FTA/ One Bay Area Grant Program (OBAG 2)
 A Metropolitan Transportation Commission 
(MTC) program that continues to integrate the 
region’s federal transportation program with 
California’s climate statutes and the Sustainable 
Communities Strategy (SCS) and contributes to 
the implementation of the goals and objectives of 
the Regional Transportation Plan. The program 
encourages land-use, housing and complete streets 
policies that support the production of housing with 
supportive transportation investments. 

FTA/ One Bay Area Grant Program (OBAG 3)
 A MTC program that distributes federal 
transportation funding from the Federal Highway 
Administration (FHWA) to project and programs 
that improve safety, spur economic development, 
and help the Bay Area meet climate change and air 
quality improvement goals.

FTA/ Quick-Strike Funds
The Safe and Seamless Mobility Quick-Strike 
program is a one-time, competitive grant program 
established by the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission. Federal funding was made available 
to support local and regional projects that could 
be implemented quickly to benefit communities 
responding and adapting to the COVID-19 
environment. The program emphasizes bicycle/
pedestrian safety and mobility, connections to 
transit, and projects that advance equitable mobility. 
SMART was awarded these funds and transferred 
them to the FTA for execution into a grant.

USDOT Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A)
This program funds regional, local, and Tribal 
initiatives through grants to prevent roadway deaths 
and serious injuries.

Page 311 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 41

Project Specific Funding Sources FY 2025-FY 2030

Community Project Funds - Discretionary Earmark $1,800,000

FTA/ OBAG 2 Funds $500,000

FTA/ OBAG 3 Funds $3,000,000

FTA - Quick Strike - McInnis to Smith Ranch Road $997,143

FRA - CRISI - Windsor $1,749,298

FRA- CRISI - Healdsburg $28,140,000

FRA - Suicide Prevention Grant $15,943

USDOT Safe Streets and Roads for All (SS4A) $7,000,000

AHSC - Roseland Village (Round 5) - Windsor (Mid-Pen) 3,817,891

AHSC - Kashia Tribe (Round 7) - Windsor $750,000

AHSC - Petaluma (Danco) Petaluma North Station $3,849,485

ATP - SoCo Pathway $6,789,381

Caltrans Sustainability Communities Competitive Planning Grant $400,000

Clean California Transit Grant $1,000,000

LPP - Local Partnership Program $4,732,281

ITIP - Windsor Systems $6,624,890

ITIP Complete Streets Funds - Pathways $6,097,000

RM3 - Civic Center Kiss-n-Ride $1,719,000

RM3 - Hanna Ranch to Vintage Way $4,713,180

RM3 - Windsor to Healdsburg $40,000,000

RM3 - Windsor Ped Undercrossing $1,276,000

SCCP - Windsor $13,023,322

TIRCP - Petaluma North and McDowell Crossing $8,559,722

TIRCP - Windsor to Healdsburg (Design) $34,338,000

TIRCP - Windsor to Healdsburg (Construction) $81,000,000

Measure M Sonoma County - Windsor to Healdsburg $2,000,000

Other Goverments $2,029,915

Subtotal - Project Specific $265,922,451

Grants - Pending

RM3 SR2TBT Grant $13,528,000

Future Windsor to Healdsburg $81,000,000

Healdsburg to Cloverdale $401,735,661

Future Pathway Grants $18,430,807

Total Grants Pending $514,694,469

Page 312 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n42

LOCAL GOVERNMENTS
Local and Regional Government such as cities 
and counties, the Sonoma County Transportation 
Authority, or the Transportation Authority of Marin 
participate in some of SMART’s projects by granting 
funds for specific improvements or activities. In 
some cases, local governments want additional 
improvements done while SMART is building a 
project, and they fund those improvements that 
SMART undertakes on their behalf.

SMART’s Flow of Funding
SMART’s Strategic Plan provides guidance for 
directing funding to projects and programs, as 

The Flow of Funding

SMART-administered funding/revenue

Federal/State/Regionally-administered formula or discretionary funding

Operations and Maintenance

Capital and State of Good Repair

Specific Projects

Fund Balance

Debt Service

Reserves

Federal
5307

STA/SRA/
LCTOP

Sales and 
Use Tax

Other 
Sources

Federal
5337

SB1
SGR
LPP

Project 
Specific
Funding

well as what additional funds need to be pursued 
in order to achieve SMART’s short- and long-term 
goals. Funding is then allocated based on the 
eligible activities provided for by the respective 
funding sources (see Figure 6: Flow of Funding).

Expenditures
Expenditures consist of both recurring expenses, 
such as operating expenses, as well as non-
recurring outlays such as projects, debt service and 
capital expenditures. SMART’s largest expenditures 
are related to providing transit-related operations 
(see Figure 7: Esitmated Expenditures by Expense 
Type). These costs include compensation, materials 
and supplies, contracted services, insurance, utilities, 
and other such expenses. 

Figure 6: Flow of Funding

Page 313 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 43

SMART also has outstanding debt which was used to 
fund construction of the passenger rail system and 
rolling stock. SMART’s debt will be fully repaid in FY 
29. No additional issuance of debt is contemplated
in this planning horizon.

DEBT SERVICE
SMART’s first lien on our sales and use tax is debt 
service. Prior to receiving our sales and use tax 
each month, one twelfth of the annual debt service 
is taken off the top and set aside in a separate 
account held by the Sonoma County Treasurer to 
be used to pay the debt service. SMART has $81.8 
million in outstanding debt. This debt will be entirely 
paid off in 2029 (see Figure 8: Debt Service).

Fiscal 
Year

Debt Service

FY 25 $ 16,904,116
FY 26 $ 16,996,844
FY 27 $ 16,998,869
FY 28 $ 16,999,931
FY 29 $ 13,899,281
Total $ 81,799,041

Figure 8: Debt Service

RESERVES
SMART has four (4) reserves that have been 
established for very distinct purposes:

1. Pension and OPEB Liability Reserve: This reserve
is to ensure that we have funds set aside for
future pension costs. We contribute $750,000 per
year to this reserve.

2. Vehicles and Capital Reserve: This reserve is
used to accumulate funds for future capital
needs such as DMU replacement. We contribute
$1.5 million per year to this reserve.

3. Corridor Completion Reserve: This reserve
was established in the FY 2020/2021 amended
budget to set aside funds for design,
environmental, or leveraging grants. The current
balance is $7,000,000.

4. Operating Reserve: The operating reserve is set
aside to stabilize finances by providing a cushion
against temporary unexpected events or losses
of funding. The Board of Director’s policy for this
reserve is 25% of operating costs or $10 million
whichever is greater.

Estimated Expenditures 
FY 25 -  FY  30

Capital Projects 
63%

Debt Service 
6%

Non-Capital Projects 
1%

State of Good Repair
3%

Operations and 
Maintenance 

26%

Total Reserves
1%

Figure 7: Estimated Expenditures by Expense Type

Page 314 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n44

Contributions to Reserves FY25-FY30

Contribution to OPEB/CalPers 
Liaibility Fund

 $4,750,000 

Contribution to Capital (Revenue 
Vehicles)

 $8,192,250 

Operating Reserve (25% of Operating)  $4,128,246 

Total Reserves  $17,070,496 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE
Operations and maintenance include the activities 
that ensure the safe and efficient operation of 
SMART’s system of passenger rail and pathways. 
Also included is administration of the system as well 
as non-capitalized projects such as mitigation and 
monitoring and planning projects. 

Operations and Maintenance FY25-FY30

Salaries and Benefits  $184,784,062 

Services and Supplies  $143,841,703 

Total Maintenance and Operations  $328,625,765 

NON-CAPITAL PROJECTS
The following are operational activities that SMART 
has deemed to be set up and tracked as projects 
but don’t meet the definition or dollar threshold of a 
project that can be capitalized.

Non-Capital Projects FY25-FY30

Ongoing Mitigation and Monitoring  $2,750,831 

Quality of Life and Economic Analysis  $436,403 

State Route 37  $9,000 

Suicide Prevention  $15,943 

Pathway Design  $6,065,058 

Maintenance Projects  $500,000 

Civic Center Kiss-n-Ride (Design) $1,719,000

Subtotal Expense Projects  $11,496,235 

Subtotal Expense Projects with 
Inflation

 $11,706,403 

STATE OF GOOD REPAIR
Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 
625.5 defines State of Good Repair (SGR) as the 
condition in which a capital asset can operate at 
a full level of performance. Per FTA, “having well 
maintained, reliable transit infrastructure – track, 
signal systems, bridges, tunnels, vehicles and 
stations – will help ensure safe, dependable and 
accessible services.”

State of Good Repair expenditures are those costs 
that keep our assets in a condition where the asset 
can operate at a full level of performance. This 
requires regular repairs and replacement of those 
assets. 

State of Good Repair Projects FY25-FY30

Bridges  $8,801,495 

DMUs  $16,781,436 

MOW Projects  $11,195,827 

Train Control Systems and 
Communications

 $2,887,500 

Safety and Security  $81,060 

Subtotal SGR  $39,747,318 

Subtotal SGR with Inflation  $43,198,729 

Page 315 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 45

CAPITAL PROJECTS
Capital projects are defined as those projects that 
are over $5,000 in cost and that have a useful life 
of more than one year. Capital projects include but 
are not limited to equipment, computers, pathway 
projects, and expansion projects. 

Project/ Capital FY25-FY30

Buildings  $6,830,000 

DMUs  $7,925,000 

Energy Cushion Device Crash System  $150,000 

Equipment  $214,650 

IT Equipment  $2,188,050 

Land Acquisition  $1,307,750 

Larkspur Train and Ferry Shuttle 
Electrification Project

 $100,000 

Non-Revenue Vehicles  $1,400,654 

Pathways  $18,430,807 

Subtotal Capital  $38,596,911 

Subtotal with Inflation  $41,948,797 

Pathways

Guerneville Road to Airport Blvd.  $16,626,430 

Hanna Ranch Road to Vintage Way  7,690,648 

Joe Rodota Trail to 3rd Street  $465,986 

McInnis to Smith Ranch Pathway  $3,073,668 

Smith Ranch to Main Gate Road 
(Hamilton Station)

 $13,528,000 

Sonoma County Pathway  $16,847,271 

Wayfinding  $803,605 

Windsor - Ped Grade Separation  $2,172,876 

Extensions/ Expansions

Santa Rosa to Windsor - Civil  $18,337,042 

Santa Rosa to Windsor - 
Systems Work

 $9,709,262 

Windsor to Healdsburg  $268,278,000 

Healdsburg to Cloverdale  $401,735,662 

Other Capital Improvements

Petaluma North Station  $10,754,722 

McDowell Crossing  $2,490,586 

Real Time Signage  $602,504 

Work for Other Governments

McDowell Paving  $711,952 

Utility Crossings  $407,100 

Subtotal Project Specific  $774,235,314 

Page 316 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n46

Financial Plan Assumptions – 
Revenues

SALES AND USE TAX (MEASURE Q)
Sales and Use Tax is SMART’s largest funding 
source. SMART utilizes MuniServices to forecast this 
revenue source. This voter authorized tax will sunset 
in the Spring of 2029. For purposes of this financial 
plan, it is assumed that the voters will reauthorize 
this funding source prior to the sunset date. 
However, in September 2023, SMART did present 
the Board of Directors with potential scenarios for 
continuing operations beyond the April 2029 sales 
tax expiration date, which included scenarios where 
a sales tax was not approved prior to 2029. Those 
scenarios can be found in Appendix C.

FEDERAL 5337 STATE OF GOOD REPAIR 
FUNDS
Fiscal Year 2026 will be the first year that SMART 
receives these funds. The funding estimates were 
based on information received from FTA. Based on 
MTC’s current policy, SMART would only receive 
a portion of the funds estimated by FTA. The rest 
of the funds would be allocated based on MTC’s 
policy. If SMART does not receive these funds as 
forecasted, State of Good Repair projects will have 
to be delayed. 

FARE REVENUES
SMART fare policy post-pandemic has prioritized 
removing barriers to ridership rather than 
increasing revenue by raising fares. The fare 
discounts put into place since 2020 have resulted 
in strong post-pandemic ridership recovery while 
simultaneously reducing SMART’s investment per 
passenger mile (IPPM).  These results confirm that 
increased boardings have a greater impact on 
reducing the overall IPPM than the farebox recovery 
ratio.  The SMART Board of Directors have continued 
to prioritize ridership over the farebox recovery 
ratio to ensure the community benefits of SMART 
are maximized.  This Strategic Plan assumes the 
continuation of fare policies that prioritize ridership 
and ease of access to the system.

Fare revenues assume the following:

• The opening of Windsor in FY 2025
• The opening of Healdsburg in FY 2028
• No fare increases
• The continuation of free fares for youth and

seniors
Project Specific Grants: The grants have already 
been approved for specific projects.

GRANTS – NOT YET RECEIVED
These are grants that have either been applied for 
but not yet granted or grants that still need to be 
applied for.

Financial Plan Assumptions – 
Expenditures

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE
Salaries and benefits grow at 5% and service 
and supplies grow by estimated inflation of 3%. 
Additional operating costs for Windsor are assumed 
in FY 25 and for Healdsburg in FY 28. Additional 
service beyond Windsor and Healdsburg are not 
funded in this plan. 

STATE OF GOOD REPAIR
As was mentioned under revenues, federal funding 
is assumed each year. If these funds are not 
received, State of Good Repair projects will have to 
be deferred. 

CAPITAL PROJECTS
Grant funding will be required for the following 
projects be completed by FY 30:

• Pathway projects not already funded
• Remaining 30% of funding from Windsor to

Healdsburg
• Healdsburg to Cloverdale pathway and rail

extension

Page 317 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 47

Fund Balance
In this plan period (FY 25 – FY 30), planned 
expenditures exceed estimated revenues by 
$60,782,462, which will come from the fund 
balance. At the end of FY 30, it is estimated the 
fund balance will be $11,413,910. See Appendix B for 
SMART’s assumed FY2025-FY2030 Revenues and 
Expenditures.

Revenues vs.  Expenditures 
FY 25 -  FY  30

$300,000,000

$250,000,000

$200,000,000

$150,000,000

$100,000,000

$50,000,000

$0

FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30

Page 318 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n48

Funding Sources – Freight

OPERATING REVENUE
Operating revenue for Freight services comes from 
the following sources:

• Freight Movement Fees: Fees charged to the
shipper for the cost associated with transporting
goods. These funds are estimated to remain flat
through FY 30.

• Storage Fees: Fees charged to customers to
store cars on SMART’s tracks. Fee revenues are
expected to increase between FY 25 and FY 30 as
SMART continues to get new customers.

• Leases: Rental income from customers that utilize
SMART’s property associated with freight.

GRANTS AND MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE
• AB 157: This funding source can be used

for operations, maintenance, and capital
expenditures.

• CalSTA 19-003 Grant: These funds were
available from SB 170 the Budget Act of 2021 for
administration, maintenance, and security.

• Short-Line Railroad Improvement Program
(SLRIP): This program funds infrastructure
improvement projects designed to enable
Class III/ short-line railroads to improve freight
mobility, efficiency, reliability, sustainability,
safety, and load capacity.

• Tax Credits: SMART is eligible to receive a tax
credit under 26 U.S. Code § 45G. This tax credit
is equal to 40% of the qualified railroad track
maintenance expenditures paid or incurred by
an eligible taxpayer during the taxable year.
Since SMART does not pay income tax, the tax
credit can be sold by a broker and SMART freight
receives the revenues from that sale.

Expenditures - Freight
• Salaries and Benefits: The Freight Division has

six employees. These costs have been inflated
8% per year based on estimated benefit cost
increases.

• Services and Supplies: Included in these costs
are activities such as maintenance of the railway,
maintenance of signals, maintenance of the
locomotives and fuel. These costs have been
inflated 3% per year.

• Capital and State of Good Repair: Due to limited
funding, SMART is doing the minimal amount
of capital and state of good repair to keep the
system safe and functional. The work includes
crossings, bridges, and tie replacement.

LOCOMOTIVES
SMART has secured the following grants to fund the 
purchase of (2) two Tier IV locomotives.

• FRA – CRISI Grant: This grant will provide
$3,750,000 towards the purchase.

• California Volkswagen Mitigation Settlement: This
grant will provide $3,240,000 towards the match
and purchase.

Locomotive - Funding FY26

FRA - CRISI Grant  $3,750,000 

California Volkswagen Mitigation Funds  $3,240,000 

Locomotive - Expenditures

2 Tier IV  $6,990,000 

Page 319 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 49

Freight FY 25 FY 26 FY 27 FY 28 FY 29 FY 30

Beginning Fund Balance  $213,236  $61,784 $3,241,864 $2,339,632  $1,651,198  $874,167 

Revenues 

State Grant (42341)  $393,549  $-    $-    $-    $-    $-   

State Grant - AB 157  $-    $4,000,000  $-    $-    $-    $-   

State Shortline Grant  $399,776  $225,000  $-    $-    $-    $-   

Freight Movement Fees  $700,000  $700,000  $700,000  $700,000  $700,000  $700,000 

Leases  $270,000  $270,000  $270,000  $270,000  $270,000  $270,000 

Storage  $104,800  $150,000  $190,000  $215,000  $245,000  $275,000 

45(g) Tax Credit and Misc.  $593,000  $253,000  $253,000  $253,000  $253,000  $253,000 

Total Revenues  $2,461,125  $5,598,000  $1,413,000 $1,438,000 $1,468,000 $1,498,000 

Expenditures

Salaries and Benefits  $870,099  $939,707  $1,014,883  $1,096,074  $1,183,760  $1,278,461 

Service and Supplies  $942,925  $971,213 $1,000,349 $1,030,360  $1,061,270  $1,093,109 

Subtotal  $1,813,024  $1,910,920  $2,015,233  $2,126,434 $2,245,030 $2,371,569 

Brazos Branch Bridges - Phase II  $607,920  $250,000  $250,000  $-    $-    $-   

Tie Replacement  $50,000  $50,000  $50,000  $-    $-    $-   

Grade Crossing Repair  $141,633  $150,000  $-    $-    $-    $-   

Equipment and Non-Revenue 
Vehicles

 $-    $57,000  $-    $-    $-    $-   

Subtotal State of Good Repair/ 
Capital  $799,553  $507,000  $300,000  $-    $-    $-   

Total Need  $2,612,577  $2,417,920  $2,315,233  $2,126,434 $2,245,030  $2,371,569 

Remaining Balance  $61,784  $3,241,864 $2,339,632  $1,651,198  $874,167  $598 

Unfunded FY 25 FY 26 FY 27 FY 28 FY 29 FY 30

Facilities  $-    $500,000  $500,000 

Bridge Replacement  $-    $250,000  $250,000  $500,000  $500,000  $500,000 

Tie Replacement  $-    $50,000  $50,000  $100,000  $100,000  $100,000 

Track Surfacing  $-    $200,000  $200,000  $200,000  $200,000  $200,000 

Equipment and Vehicles  $-    $50,000  $50,000 

Total Unfunded  $-    $1,000,000 $1,000,000  $850,000  $800,000  $850,000 

Page 320 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n50

Page 321 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 51

The Strategic Plan is an opportunity to define 
the strategic direction of the organization, and 
to establish goals, objectives, and actions in line 
with SMART’s vision and mission. The outreach 
and community engagement conducted as part 
of the FY25-FY30 strategic planning process have 
been invaluable in ensuring that the investments 
SMART makes over the next five years align with the 
priorities of the community. 

The Strategic Plan directly influences SMART’s 
financial plan by providing the roadmap for 
achieving SMART’s goals, which informs the 
allocation of resources, investment decisions, and 
budgeting strategies needed to execute those 
goals. The financial plan then guides the annual 
budget by identifying key priorities and challenges 
that need to be addressed over a longer timeframe 
and promoting proactive decision making in the 
budgeting process.

While many of the strategic plan’s actions are 
currently funded fully or partially, other activities 
and initiatives in this plan do not have committed 
funds. Carrying out the strategies and actions of 
this strategic plan will depend on the availability of 
resources and funding. At the outset of the annual 
budget development process, SMART will use this 
Strategic Plan to inform funding priorities within 
SMART’s constrained resources to ensure that 
SMART’s budget advances the implementation of 
the Strategic Plan. Using the Strategic Plan to shape 

C o n c l u s i o n

SMART’s annual budgets ensures that the agency’s 
resources are put to work to achieve the goals that 
SMART and the public fortified in this plan. 

SMART is in a period of rapid expansion, active 
construction, and ridership growth. By the 
conclusion of this Strategic Plan period in 2030, 
the system is envisioned to be nearly complete, 
with long-term operating funds secured. Agency 
and community priorities will continue to shift as 
the SMART system approaches buildout, expands 
services for the community, and matures as the 
leading transit system in the North Bay. 

Page 322 of 324



D R A F T  2 0 2 5 - 2 0 3 0  S T r at e g i c  P L A n52

Page 323 of 324



S O N O M A- M A R I N  A R E A  R A I L  T R A N S I T  D I S T R I C T 53

A p p e n d i c e s

Appendix A – Outreach Summary

Appendix B – SMART Revenues and Expenditures FY 2025 -2030

Appendix C – Financial Scenarios Beyond April 2029 Sales Tax Expiration

Page 324 of 324


